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FOREWORD 

EARLY in 1918, President Wilson told me that he 
was being urged to contribute American military 

forces to combined Allied expeditions to North Russia 
and Siberia, and asked me to consider what reply he 
should make to the French and British representations 
in that behalf. The reasons given him, and by him to 
me, for these proposals were, with regard to North 
Russia, that vast accumulations of military stores had 
been made in the neighbourhood of Archangel which 
would fall into German hands unless they were pro­
tected by the Allies and that there were great bodies 
of North Russian people loyal to the Allied cause and 
eager to form themselves about an Allied military nu­
cleus for the purpose of reestablishing an Eastern mili­
tary front or at least obliging the Germans to retain 
great bodies of troops in the East. With regard to 
Siberia one reason was that a large body of Czech 
soldiers had broken away from the Austrian Armies 
on the Russian Front and were making their way over­
land to Vladivostok with the intention of going by sea 
from that port to France and reentering the War on 
the Allied side. These Czechs were said to be inade­
quately armed and without subsistence, except such as 
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they could gather on the march, and to be in need of 
protection from organized bodies of German and Aus­
trian prisoners who, after the November Revolution in 
Russia, had been released from the restraints of their 
prison camps and organized, by German officers, into 
effective military units for the purpose of making Rus­
sian resources available to Germany and Austria, and, 
where possible, harassing Russians favourable to the 
Allied cause. In addition to this it was urged that 
Russian sacrifices in the War entitled her people to 
whatever sympathetic aid the Allies could give in the 
maintenance of internal order while they were engaged 
in the establishment of their new institutions. This con­
sideration had already led to the dispatch of the so­
called Stevens Commission to Siberia to assist in the 
rehabilitation and operation of the railroads upon 
which the life of the country depended. 

Some days later, the President and I discussed the 
matter very fully. I urged the view of my military asso­
ciates that the War had to be won on the Western 
Front, that every effort should be made to concentrate 
there the overwhelming force necessary to early suc­
cess, and that all diversions of force to other theatres 
of action merely delayed final success without the pos­
sibility of accomplishing any relatively important result 
elsewhere. The President was impressed with this view 
to such an extent that he sent for the Chief of Staff and 
discussed with him both the possibility of reestablish­
ing any effective Eastern Front and the effect of the 
propf?sed expeditions upon the strength of the Allied 
Arrnies on the Western Front. At a third conference 
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the President told me that he was satisfied with the 
soundness of the War Department's view but that, for 
other than military reasons, he felt obliged to cooper· 
ate in a limited way in both proposed expeditions. The 
reasons moving the President to this determination 
were diplomatic and I refrain from discussing them. 
The circumstances, as represented to him, seemed to 
me then and seem to me now to have justified the de­
cision, although subsequent events, in both instances, 
completely vindicated the soundness of the military 
opinion of the General Staff. 

The Siberian Expedition described in . America's 
Siberian Adventure by Major General William S. 
Graves, who commanded the American Forces there, 
was the more important of these two undertakings and 
it presented, almost daily, situations of the greatest 
delicacy and danger. To some extent, though I must 
confess not fully, these possibilities were foreseen, and 
the selection of General Graves to command the 
American contingent, suggested by General March, 
Chief of Staff, met with my instant and complete ap­
proval. General Graves was Secretary of the General 
Staff when I became Secretary of War and I was thus 
brought into constant contact with him. From this con­
tact I knew him to be a self-reliant, educated, and 
highly trained soldier, endowed with common sense 
and self-effacing loyalty, the two qualities which would 
be most needed to meet the many difficulties I could 
foresee. Now that this strange adventure is over, I am 
more than ever satisfied with the choice of the American 
Commander. A temperamental, rash, or erratic officer 
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in command of the American force in Siberia might well 
have created situations demanding impossible military 
exertions on the part of the Allies, and particularly of 
the United States, and involved our country in compli­
cations of a most unfortunate kind. These possibilities 
are suggested on every page of the straightforward 
narrative in this book. 

President Wilson personally wrote the so-called 
Aide Memoire which General Graves sets out on page 
five of his story, a copy of which I personally delivered 
to the General, as he says, in the railroad station in 
Kansas City. As I was thoroughly aware of the limita­
tions imposed by the President upon American par­
ticipation in the Siberian venture, and of the whole 
purpose and policy of our Government in joining it, I 
was unwilling to have General Graves leave the coun­
try without a personal interview in which I could im­
press upon him some of the difficulties he was likely 
to meet and the firmness with which the President ex­
pected him to adhere to the policy outlined in advance. 
I, therefore, made a trip of inspection to the Leaven­
worth Disciplinary Barracks and directed General 
Graves to meet me in Kansas City, thus saving part of 
the delay in his preparation which would have arisen 
if he had come all the way to Washington. Unfor­
tunately, his train was late and our interview was 
briefer than I had planned, but it was long enough. 
From that hour until the Siberian Expedition returned 
to the United States, General Graves carried out the 
policy of his Government without deviation, under cir­
cumstances always perplexing and often irritating. Fre-
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quently in Washington I heard from Allied miiitary 
attaches, and sometimes from the State Department, 
criticism to the effect that General Graves would not 
cooperate, but when I asked for a bill of particulars, I 
invariably found that the General's alleged failure was 
a refusal on his part to depart from the letter and spirit 
of his instructions. In June, 1919, I saw President 
Wilson in Paris and he discussed with me representa­
tions made to him from French and British sources to 
the effect that General Graves was an obstinate, diffi­
cult, and uncooperative Commander. When I recalled 
to the President the policy laid down in the Aide 
M emoire and gave him the details of similar com­
plaints made to me in Washington, I was able to 
reassure him of the complete fidelity of General Graves 
to his policy, in the face of every invitation and induce­
ment qn the part of the Allied Commanders to convert 
the Siberian Expedition into a military intervention in 
Russia's affairs against which the President had set his 
face from the first. At the conclusion of our interview, 
the President smiled and said, " I suppose it is the old 
story, Baker, men often get the reputation of being 
stubborn merely because they are everlastingly right." 
At all events, the President then and later gave his full 
approval to the conduct of General Graves, ahd if the 
Siberian Expedition was in fact unjustified and if it 
really failed to accomplish substantially helpful results, 
this much is true of it - it was justified by conditions 
as they appeared to be at the time, it refrained from 
militaristic adventures of its own, it restrained such 
adventures on the part of others, and it created a situa-
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tion which made necessary the withdrawal of all Allied 
forces from Siberian soil when it was withdrawn, thus 
making impossible territorial conquests and acquisitions 
on Russian soil by other nations whose interests in 
the Far East might easily have induced them to take 
over for pacification, and ultimately for permanent 
colonial administration, vast areas of Russia's Far 
East. 

Detached from its world implications, the Siberian 
adventure seems mystifying. Indeed, even General 
Graves himself has "never been able to come to any 
satisfying conclusions as to why the United States ever 
engaged in such intervention." But if one looks at the 
world situation, the explanation is adequate if not 
simple. The world was at war. The major focus of the 
terrific military impact was on the Western Front, from 
the English Channel to the Swiss Frontier, but the 
shock of the conflict reached throughout the world, and 
in outlying places, everywhere, strange collateral ad­
ventures were had. All of these " side shows " were, 
in one way or another, peripheral spasms from the pro­
found disturbance at the centre of the world's nervous 
system. Some of them were deliberately planned to dis­
tract enemy concentrations of force or to interrupt the 
fl.ow of enemy supplies. Some of them were designed to 
sustain Allied morale, during the stagnation of the 
long-drawn-out stalemate on the Western Front, with 
the thrill of romance, as when Allenby captured Jeru­
salem and swept the infidel from the holy places of 
Palestine. Some of them were mere surgings of re­
strained feeling, in semi-civilized populations, due to 
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the withdrawal of customary restraints by remote gov­
ernments which were centring their efforts on the battle 
in Europe and had neither time nor strength to police 
far-away places. The successive revolutions in Russia 
had withdrawn effective authority from Moscow over 
the Far East and had given free rein to the ambitions 
of predatory Cossack chieftains like Semeonoff and 
Kalmikoff. The fringes of Siberia had long been the 
scene of commercial and military adventure and con­
flict by the Germans, English, French, and Japanese. 
Siberia itself was inhabited in part by semi-civilized 
natives and in part by political exiles and there were 
now added great bodies of liberated prisoners of war. 
The changing governments at Moscow had changing 
attitudes toward the World War, and toward Russia's 
part in it, and these conflicting opinions, but dimly 
understood in remote Siberia, confused there the 
already faint sense of Russia's national purpose. On. 
the Western Front the nations engaged were domi­
nated by a single objective, but in places like Siberia 
both the comprehension and concentration of European 
opinion was absent. Siberia was like Sergeant Grischa, 
who had no conception of what it was all about but 
knew that the once orderly world was in a state of 
complete and baffling disorder. 

The intervention of an Allied military force, under 
such conditions as have been described, was not un­
n_atur~lly beset by the difficulties which belong to such 
situations. It was very easy for the nations interested 
to find, from day to day, new circumstances inviting if 
not requiring changes in their policy. Most of the na-
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tions having armed forces in Siberia were too much 
occupied at home to pay very much attention to what 
went on around Lake Baikal. As a consequence, their 
military commanders were left largely free to deter­
mine questions of political policy and if General Oi or 
General Knox conceived the notion that, by taking ad­
vantage of some new development, they could make a 
bold stroke in behalf of the Allied cause, and, inci­
dentally, further the commercial and territorial aspira­
tions which their governments ought, in their opinion, 
to entertain, it is not to be wondered at. Indeed, there 
is evidence in 9eneral Graves' book that even in the 
United States similar ideas every now and then took 
root in official minds. I cannot even guess at the ex­
planation of the apparent conflict between the War 
Department and the State Department of the United 
States with regard to the Siberian venture, nor can I 
understand why the State Department undertook to 
convey its ideas on Siberian policy, as it seems occa­
sionally to have done, directly to General Graves. Per­
haps the State Department was more impressed than 
I was with some of the Allied views as to the desira­
bility of cooperation beyond the scope of the Aide 
Memoire. Possibly some of these comments were mere 
reflections of Allied criticism, forwarded for what they 
were worth, but without being first presented to the 
Secretary of State or considered by him as affecting 
the maturely formulated policy of the United States in 
the adventure. No doubt some day all this will be care­
fully studied and research scholarship will find docu­
ments and papers, reports of conversations and invita-
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tions to new policies, based upon supposed new facts, 
but when all has been disclosed that can be, Siberia will 
remain Sergeant Grischa. The Siberian situation will 
always illustrate the eccentricities of a remote and irra­
tional emanation from the central madness of a w::i.r­
ring world. 

I cannot close this foreword, however, without ex­
pressing, so far as I properly may, the gratitude of our 
common country t~ those soldiers who uncomplainingly 
an~ bravely bore_, m that remote and mystifying place, 
their part of their country's burden. Even the soldiers 
of a Democracy cannot always understand the reasons 
back of strategic situations. Political and military 
reasons ~re worked out in cabinets and general staffs 
and soldiers obey orders. Thus those on the White and 
Yellow Seas did their part equally with those on the 
Marne and the Meuse. And if it should turn out that 
the:e ~s wa~ting son_ie detail of justification, from the 
nat10n s pomt of view, for the Siberian adventure 
nevertheless, those who took part in it can have th; 
satisfaction of knowing that the American force in 
Siberia bore itself humanely and bravely under the 
orders of a Commander who lived up to the high 
~urpose "'.~ic_h led their country to attempt to estab­
lish a stab1hzmg and helpful influence in remote wastes 
inhabited by a confu~ed and pityful but friendly people. 
They can too, I thmk, have the reassurance that if 
t~ere was a defect of affirmative achievement, history 
will find benefits from the negative results of American 
participation in Siberia; things which might have hap­
pened, had there been no American soldiers in the 
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Allied force, but which did not happen because t~ey 
were there, would have complicated the whole Russian 
problem and affected seriously the future peace of 
the world. 

NEWTON D. BAKER 
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INTRODUCTION 

I T is difficult to write or even to speak of Russia with­
out being charged with having some bias relative to 

the Soviet Government. During my service in Siberia, 
the Russian Far East was completely cut off from any 
part of Russia controlled by the Soviet Government. I, 
therefore, had no dealings with the Soviet Govern­
ment or with any individual claiming to represent that 
Government. 

The only Government with which I came in contact 
during my entire service in Siberia was the Kolchak 
Government, if that may be called a Government. 
Without the support of foreign troops, I doubt if Kol­
chak or his Government ever possessed sufficient 
strength to exercise sovereign powers. In what was 
known as the Inter-Allied Railroad Agreement, relat­
ing to the maintenance and operation of the railroads 
in Siberia, all nations with troops in Siberia recognized 
Kolchak as representing Russia, and this is as far as 
any recognition of the Kolchak Government ever ex­
tended. No nation ·ever recognized Kolchak as being 
the head of any de facto or de ju re Government of 
Russia. 

My principal reason for recording the facts and cir­
cumstances connected with intervention is the belief 
that there is an erroneous impression, not onry in the 

[xix] 



INTRODUCTION 

United States but elsewhere, as to the orders under 
which American troops operated while in Siberia. ~n­
other reason for recording the facts is that an English­
man, Colonel John Ward, M.P., has written a book 
which gives and, in my judgement, is intended to. give, 
erroneous impressions as to the conduct and faithful 
performance of duty of America~ tro?ps i~ Siberia. 
This book can be found in American hbranes, and I 

. do not believe it is just to the Americans whom I had 
the honour to command, to let such unjust implications 
be handed down to posterity without refut~tion. . . 

I have not written this book with the object of Justi­
fying any act of mine or of the American Military in 
Siberia. Indeed, the Secretary of War, Honorable 
Newton D. Baker, and the Chief of Staff, General 
Peyton C. March, who were in o:ffi~e d?rin~ the entire 
period the American troops were m Siberia, have, as 
shown by the following co~~unicat~ons, made any 
justification superfluous by givmg their gen~rous a~? 
unstinted approval to the acts of the American Mili­
tary. Under date of August 31, 1920, I received the 
following personal letter from the Secretary of War: 

"I have just finished reading you: comprehen~ive 
report of May 26, cov~rin~ th~ operations of American 
Expeditionary Forces m Siben~'. from J~ly 1, 1919, to 
March 31, 1920. The Expedition havmg been c_om­
pletely withdrawn from Siberia, a~d its final operations 
now being a matter of record, I give myself the pleas­
ure of congratulating you upon the tact, _energy and 
success, with which you, as the Commandmg General 
of this Expedition, uniform~y acted. 

Iu 1 

INTRODUCTION 

" The instructions given you were to pursue the ob­
jects set forth in the Aide Memoire issued by the State 
Department, announcing to the world the purposes and 
limitations on the American use of troops in Siberia. 
In a vastly confused situation your duties were fre­
quently delicate and difficult; because of the remote­
ness of your field of action from the United States, you 
were thrown completely upon your own resources and 
initiative, and because of the difficulties of communi­
cations and publicity, and particularly because of in­
terested misrepresentations affecting conditions in Si­
beria, and the activities of your command, the situation 
was made more complex. 

" You will be glad to know that from the beginning 
the War Department relied upon your judgment with 
complete confidence, and I am happy to be able at this 
time to assure you that your conduct throughout has 
the approval of the. Department." . 

The Chief of Staff, in his report to the Secretary of 
War for the fiscal year ending June 30, 1920, stated 
with reference to the Siberian Expedition: 

"The situation which confronted the Commanding 
General, his subordinate commanders and troops was 
a peculiarly difficult and hazardous one. The manner 
in which this difficult and arduous task was performed 
is worthy of the best traditions of the Army." 

W.S.G. 
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PURPOSE OF MILITARY INTERVENTION IN SIBERIA 

ON April 6, I9I7, the date on which the United 
States entered the World War, I was on duty in 

the War Department, as Secretary of the General 
Staff. I was, at that time, Lieutenant Colonel, General 
Staff, and had been Secretary since August, I9I4, and 
also had previously been Secretary, from January, 
I9I I, to July, I9I2. 

In common with all officers of the War Department, 
I hoped to be relieved and given duty in France, but 
my request was disapproved by the Chief of Staff, 
Major General Hugh L. Scott. On September 22, 

1917, General Scott reached the age where the law is 
mandatory that an Army officer pass from the active 
to the retired list of the Army, and General Tasker 
H. Bliss, who had been the Assistant Chief of Staff, 
took his place. General Bliss retired December 3 l, 
I9l7, and Major General Peyton C. March soon 
thereafter became Chief of Staff. He was in France, 
when notified of his selection, and assumed his new 
duties about March l, l9I8. 

As soon as General March arrived he told me that 
he wanted me to remain in my present duties for about 
four months and then he intended to permit me to go 

( I ) 
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to France; but in May, 1918, he said," If any one has 
to go to Russia, you're it." This remark rathe~ s~~nned 
me, but as it was spoken of as only a poss1b1hty, I 
made no comment, as I knew General March was 
aware of my desire for service in Europe, and any 
opportunity I had to devote to anything other tha_n. the 
duties of my desk, was given to study of the conditions 
and operations in France. I had no~ even thou$ht ?f 
the possibility of American troops bemg sent to S1ber1~, 
and after General March made this remark, I gave it 
very little consideration, because I did not believe any 
one would be selected to go. 

The latter part of June, I 9 I 8, General March told 
me I was to be made a Major General, National Army, 
and that I could have the command of any Division in 
the United States, that did not have a permanent Com­
mander. This made me feel quite sure that the idea of 
sending troops to Siberia had been given up, or that I 
would not be sent, and the next morning I told him 
I would prefer the 8th Division at Camp Fremont, 
Palo Alto, California. He assented and soon thereafter 
my name was sent to the Senate for confirmation as 
Major General, National Army. I was confirmed on 
July 9, 1918, immediately told ~eneral March I 

. wanted to join the Division to which I had been as­
signed and on the 13th of July, I left Washington. 
I assu~ed command of the 8th Division on July ~8, 
191 8, began familiarizing myself with my new duties, 
and felt very happy and contented as I kn~w the 8th 
Division was scheduled to leave for France m October. 

On the afternoon of August 2, 1918, my Chief of 
[ 2] 
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Staff told me that a code message was received from 
Washington and the first sentence was - " You will 
not tell any member of your staff or anybody else of 
the contents of this message." I asked the Chief of Staff 
who signed it and he said" Marshall." I told the Chief 
of Staff Marshall had nothing to do with me and for 
him and the Assistant Chief of Staff to decode the 
message. The message directed me " to take the first 
and fastest train out of San Francisco and proceed to 
Kansas City, go to the Baltimore Hotel, and ask for 
the Secretary of War, and if he was not there, for me 
to wait until he arrived." I look upon this telegram as 
one of the most remarkable communications I ever saw 
come out of the War Department, and if it had not 
been for the mistake that the designation for signature 
stood for Marshall instead of March, I would have 
been put in the embarrassing position of disobeying the 
order or leaving my station without telling anyone my 
authority for absence or my destination. 

The telegram gave me no information as to why I 
had been summoned to Kansas City, the probable time 
of absence, or whether or not I would return. Some 
of this information seemed essential for my personal 
preparation. I did not know what clothing to take, and 
I was also in doubt as to whether the order meant a 
permanent change of station. I looked at a schedule, 
and found the Santa Fe train left San Francisco in two 
hours, so I put a few things in my travelling bag and 
a few more in a small trunk locker and started for San 
Francisco. I made the train, but could get no Pullman 
accomm.odations. On the way to Kansas City, I tele-
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graphed Mr. Baker, Secretary of War, at the Balti­
more Hotel telling him what train I was on. During the 
trip, I tried to figure out what this very secret mission 
could be, and feared it meant Siberia, although I had 
seen nothing in the press indicating that the United 
States would possibly send troops to Russia. 

When I arrived in Kansas City, about IO P.M., a red 
cap man met me and told me Mr. Baker was waiting 
in a room in the station. As Mr. Baker's train was 
leaving very soon he at once said he was sorry he had 
to send me to Siberia. As always, he was very generous 
and expressed his regrets and said he knew I did not 
want to go and he might, some day, tell me why I had 
to go. He also wanted me to know that General March 
tried to get me out of the Siberian trip and wanted me 
to go to France. He said: " If in future you want to 
cuss anybody for sending you to Siberia I am the man." 
He had, by this time, handed me a sealed envelope, 
s~ying: "This contains the policy of the United States 
in Russia which you are to follow. Watch your step; 
you will be walking on eggs loaded with dynamite. God 
bless you and good-bye." 

As soon as I could get to the hotel I opened the en­
velope and saw it was a paper of seven pages, headed 
" Aide Memoire " without any signature, but at the 
end appeared, " Department of State, Washington, 
July 17, 1918." After carefully reading the document 
and feeling that I understood the policy, I went to bed, 
but I could not sleep and I kept wondering what other 
nations were doing and why I was not given some 
information about what was going on in Siberia. The 
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following day I read this document several times and 
tried to analyse and get the meaning of each and every 
sen~ence. I felt t~ere could be no misunderstanding the 
policy of the United States, and I did not feel it was 
necessary for me to ask for elucidation of any point. 
The policy as given to me was as follows: 

AIDE MEMOIRE 

. _The wh?le _heart of the people of the United States 
is in the wmnmg of this war. The controlling purpose 
of_ the Gov_ernment of the United States is to do every­
thmg that is necessary and effective to win it. It wishes 
to cooperate in every pi'acticable way with the allied 
governments, a~d to cooperate ungrudgingly; for it 
has no ends of its own to serve and believes that the 
war can be won only by common council and intimate 
con~ert of ac.tio~. It h~s s~:mght to study every proposed 
polic:f or ~c~10n m which its cooperation has been asked 
m this spmt, and states the following conclusions in 
the ~o.nfid_enc~, that if it find~ itself obliged to decline 
p~rt1c1pat10n m any undertakmg or course of action, it 
~ill be understood that it does so only because it deems 
itself precluded from participating by imperative con­
siderations either of policy or fact. 

In full agreement with the allied governments and 
upon the unanimous advice of the Supreme War Coun­
cil, t~e Governm~nt of the United States adopted, 
~po~ its en~rance mto the war, a plan for taking part 
m tne fighting on the western front into which all its 
resour~es of men ~nd mate~ial were to be put, and put 
as. rapidly as possible, and it has carried out this plan 
with energy and success, pressing its execution more 
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and more rapidly forward and literally putting into it 
the .entire energy and executive force of the nation. 
This was its response, its very willing and ,hearty re­
sponse, to ·what was the unhesitating judgment alike of 
its own military advisers and of the advisers of the 
allied governments. It is now consid:ring, at th: ~~g­
gestion of the Supreme War Council, the poss1b1hty 
of making very considerable additions even to this im­
mense programme which, if they should prove feasible 
at all, will tax the industrial processes of the United 
States and the shipping facilities of the whole group 
of associated nations to the utmost. It has thus con­
centrated all its plans and all its resources upon this 
single absolutely necessary object. 

In such circumstances it feels it to be its duty to say 
that it cannot, so long as the military situation on the 
western front remains critical, consent to break or 
slacken the force of its present effort by diverting any 
part of its military force to other points or objectives. 
The United States is at a great distance from the field 
of action on the western front; it is at a much greater 
distance from any other field of action. The instru­
mentalities by which it is to handle its armies and its 
stores have at great cost and with great difficulty bee.n 
created in France. They do not exist elsewhere. It is 
practicable for her to do a great deal in France; it is 
not practicable for her to do anything of importance or 
on a large scale upon any other field. The American 
Government, therefore, very respectfully requested i~s 
Associates to accept its deliberate judgme?t that 1t 
should not dissipate its force by attemptmg important 
operations elsewhere. 

It regards the Italian front as cl?sely .coordin.ated 
with the western front, however, and IS w1llmg to divert 
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a portion of its military forces from France to Italy 
if it is the judgment and wish of the Supreme Com­
mand that it should do so. It wishes to defer to the 
decision of the Commander-in-Chief in this matter, as 
it would wish to defer in all others, particularly because 
i~ considers these two fronts so .related as to be prac­
~1cally but separate parts of a smgle line and because 
It would be necessary that any American troops sent 
to Italy should be subtracted from the number used in 
1:rance and be actually transported across French ter­
ritory from the ports now used by armies of the United 
States. 

It is the clear and fixed judgment of the Government 
of the Uni~ed States! arri~ed at after repeated and 
very searchmg recons1derat10ns -of the whole situation 
in Russia, that military intervention there would add 
to the present sad confusion in Russia rather than cure 
it, injure her rather than help her, and that it would 
be of no advantage in the prosecution of our main de­
sign, to win the war against Germany. It cannot, there­
fore, take part in such intervention or sanction it in 
principle. Military intervention would, in its judgment", 
even supposing it to be efficacious in its immediate 
avowed object of delivering an attack upon Germany 
from the east, be merely a method of making use of 
Russia, not a .m~thod of serving her: Her pe?ple. could 
not profit by It, If they profitted by It at all, in time to 
save them from their present distresses, and their sub­
stance wo~ld be used to maintain foreign armies, not 
~o reco~stitute their own. Military action is admissible 
m Russia, as the Government of the United States sees 
the ci:cumstan~es, only to help the Czecho-Slovaks 
consolidate their ·forces and get into successful co­
operation with their Slavic kinsmen and to steady any 
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efforts at self-government or _se_lf-defense in w~ich the 
Russians themselves may be willmg to accept assistance. 
Whether from Vladivostok or from Murmansk an? 
Archangel, the only legitimate object for :vhich Afner.i­
can or allied troops can be employed, it submits, is 
to guard military stores which may subseq~ently be 
needed by Russian forces and to.render such ~id ~s may 
be acceptable to the Russians ~n the orgamzat10n of 
their own self-defense. For helpmg the Czecho-Slovaks 
there is immediate necessity and sufficient justification. 
Recent developments have made. it evident that that 
is in the interest of what the RuSSlan people themselves 
desire and the Government of the United States is glad 
to co~tribute the small force at its disposal for that 
purpose. It yields, also, to the judg~ez:it of the Supreme 
Command in the matter of estabhshmg a small force 
at Murmansk, to guard the military stores at Kola a~d 
to make it safe for Russian forces to come together m 
organized bodies in the north. But it owes it to frank 
counsel to say that it can go no .furthe.r than ~~ese 
modest and experimental pla~s. I~ is not ~~ a position, 
and has no expectation of bemg m a position, to take 
part in organized intervention in adequate force from 
either Vladivostok or Murmansk and Archangel. It 
feels that it ought to add, also, that it will feel at liberty 
to use the few troops it can spa;e only to: the purposes 
here stated and shall feel obliged to withdraw these 
forces in order to add them to the forces at the western 
front, 'if the plans in whose execution i~ is no~ inten~ed 
that they should develop into others inconsistent 'Yith 
the policy to which the Government of the Umted 
States feels constrained to restrict itself. 

At the same time the Government of the United 
States wishes to say with the utmost cordiality and 
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good will that none of the conclusions here stated is 
meant to wear the least color of criticism of what the 
other governments associated against Germany may 
think it wise to undertake. It wishes in no way to em­
barrass their choices of policy. All that is intended 
here is a perfectly frank and definite statement of the 
policy which the United States feels obliged to adopt 
for herself and in the use of her own military forces. 
The Government of the United States does not wish it 
to be understood that in so restricting its own activities 
it is seeking, even by implication, to set limits to the 
action or to define the policies of its Associates. 

It hopes to carry out the plans for safeguarding the 
rear of the Czecho-Slovaks operating from Vladi­
vostok in a way that will place it and keep it in close 
cooperation with a small military force like its own 
from Japan, and if necessary from the other Allies, and 
that will assure it of the cordial accord of all the allied 
powers; and it proposes to ask all associated in this 
course of action to unite in assuring the people of Rus­
sia in the most public and solemn manner that none of 
the governments uniting in action either in Siberia or in 
northern Russia contemplates any interference of any 
kind with the political sovereignty of Russia, any in­
tervention in her internal affairs, or any impairment of 
her territorial integrity either now or hereafter, but 
that each of the associated powers has the single ob­
ject of affording such aid as shall be acceptable, and 
only such aid as shall be acceptable, to the Russian 
people in their endeavour to regain control of 
their own affairs, their own territory, and their own 
destiny. 

It is the hope and purpose of the Government of the 
United States to take advantage of the earliest oppor-
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tunity to send to Siberia a commission of merchants, 
agricultural experts, labour advisers, Red ~ross ~ep.re­
sentatives, and agents of the Young Men s Christian 
Association accustomed to organizing the best methods 
of spreading useful informati_?n and r~ndering educa­
tional help of a modest sort, in order m some system­
atic manner to relieve the immediate economic ne­
cessities of the people there in e':"ery way. for whi~h 
opportunity may open. The execution of this plan ~i!l 
follow and will not be permitted to embarrass the mili­
tary assistance rendered in the rear of the westward­
moving forces of the Czecho-Slovaks. 
Department of State, 

Washington, July 17, 1918. 

The following part of the policy will bear repeating 
as it governed the American troops during our entire 
nineteen months in Siberia; viz., the solemn assurance 
to the people of Russia, in the most publ~c. an~ sole~n 
manner, that none of the Governments uniting m action 
in either Siberia or in Northern Russia contemplates 
any interference of any ~ind wit? th~ politi~al sov­
ereignty of Russia, any intervention in her internal 
affairs .... 

This clearly committed the agents of the United 
States to a specific line of action as long as this ~olemn 
assurance held good and one of these two questions or 
both came. up in the consideration of practically every 
dealing I had with the different Russian factions. These 
assurances of our Government were always brought to 
the forefront in the consideration of all controversial 
questions with other nations. In fact they entered into 
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the consideration of all controversial questions in 
Siberia. 

In order to give proper consideration to any history 
of the Siberian Expedition it is necessary briefly to 
summarize the conditions in Russia which led to the 
decision for Allied intervention. 

With the fall of the Romanoff dynasty in March, 
I 9 I 7, the mass of the people, so long oppressed and 
suppressed by their Government, showed little interest 
in the continuation of the War. Russian soldiers under 
the corrupt leadership of the Czarists had suffered 
greater hardships and privations than those of any 
nation, had lost more in killed and wounded, and were 
weary of the horrors of War which they had experi­
enced in such measure. 

Although the revolutionary spirit had long been 
alive in Russia, the War greatly accelerated the disin­
tegration of the Czarist regime and with the final col­
lapse grave anxiety was felt by the Allies as to the 
result of this debade on the outcome of the struggle. 

The usual line of propaganda given out by the Allies 
as to the imminence of autocracy and the loss of " Self 
Determination of Government" in case the Central 
Powers were successful, could not be used irt Russia 
before the Revolution as the Czar's Government was 
the most autocratic in the world. 

After March, I 9 I 7, this propaganda was partly 
successful for a short time among intellectuals but the 
masses could not have been induced to continue the 
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struggle unless the War was regarded by them as a 
revolutionary conflict which was not .the case.. . 

The revolutionary movement m Russia, which 
started in the first quarter of the nineteenth centu:y, 
culminated in the revolutions of 1905 and 1917, with 
the opposition to the Czarist Gover?ment widespread, 
including even a part of the propertied classes. 

The peasant had been kept in ignorance an~ poverty 
by the landed nobility and the :vorker mercilessly ex­
ploited. Naturally, under these circumstances, the most· 
influential groups with the mass of the peopl.e were t~e 
various socialist parties, that showed ~n mterest m 
improving their lot as most of these parties demanded 
free land for the peasants, and improved conditions for 
the workers. The advocates of these changes in the 
Government had been compelled to work in foreign 
countries or under ·cover in Russia, but apparently had 
had grea~er success in instilling their socialistic ideas in 
the minds of the bulk of the Russian people than the 
world realized. 

The Government established after the downfall of 
the Czar known as the Kerensky Government, was 
liberal a~d democratic and very popular in the begin­
ning, but due to delay in the s~lution of the land prob­
lem, so important to the Russian peasants, and to the 
announcements that this Government intended to con­
tinue in the War, it became less and less in favour until 
it was easily overthrown by the socialists of the ex­
treme left, the Bolsheviks. 

The initial anxiety of the Allied representatives was 
somewhat ameliorated by the announcement of the 
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Minister of Foreign Affairs in th~ Kerensky Govern­
ment, on March 18, which read: 

Faithful to the pact which unites her indissolubly to 
her glorious Allies, Russia is resolved like them to fight 
against the common enemy until the end without cessa­
tion and without faltering.1 

This statement of the New Government of Russia 
was consoling, but the Allied representatives began 
preparing for eventualities, as the workers and soldiers 
began to assert themselves. 

On Mai:ch 22, 1917, the United States extended 
recognition to the Kerensky Government, and a mission 
composed of prominent Americans, headed by the 
Honorable Elihu Root, was sent to Russia for the 
announced purpose of discussing " the best and most 
practical means of cooperation between the two peoples 
in carrying the present struggle for the freedom of all 
the peoples to a successful consummation." 

Mr. Root, as head of the American mission, assured 
the representatives of the New Provisional Govern­
ment of Russia, that that Government could count on 
the steadfast friendship of the United States. Other 
Allied Governments, as well as the United States,1were 
trying to show their friendship for the New Provi­
sional Government of Russia, but subsequent events 
have shown that these representations were of little 
avail as they were too conservative for the revolu­
tionary mass of the people. 

1 Current History, Vol. V. Part 1, page 13. 
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The more radicalism appearing in the Russian ranks, 
the greater the anxiety felt by the Allies and the United 
States. 

The most important feature of the situation was the 
demoralization of the Army and the entire economic 
life of the Country which was clearly shown by the ap­
peal of Prince G. E. Lvov, Prime Minister of Russia, 
who stated on April 9, 1917: 

Citizens: The Provisional Government, having con­
sidered the military situation of the Russian State, and 
being conscious of its duty to the Country, has resolved 
to tell the people directly and openly the whole truth. 
The overthrown government has left the defense of 
the Country in an utterly disorganized condition. By 
its criminal inactivity and inefficient methods, it disor­
ganized our finances, food supply, transportation, and 
the supply of the Army. It has undermined our eco­
nomic organization. 2 

More than six months later on November l, 1917, 
when rumours were current that Russia had withdrawn 
from the War, Kerensky gave a desperate picture of 
the situation in an interview with the representative of 
the Associated Press, in part as follows: 

. " Russia has fought consistently since the begin­
i:i:ng. She saved Fr.ance and England from disaster early 
m the War. She 1s worn out by the strain and claims 
as her right that the Allies now shoulder the burden." 

2 Documents of Russian History, 1914-1917, by Frank A. Golder, 
Stanford University, the Century Company. Pages p9-330. 
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The correspondent called attention to widely con­
tradictory reports on Russian conditions, and asked 
the Premier for a frank statement of the facts. 

"It has been said by travelers returning from Eng­
land and elsewhe;e to America that opinion among the 
people, not officially but generally, is that Russia is 
virtually out of the War." 

" Is Russia out of the War? " Kerensky repeated 
the words and laughed. " That," he answered, "is a 
ridiculous question. Russia is taking an enormous part 
in the War. One has only to remember history. Russia 
bega? the War for the Allies. Whil~ she was already 
fightmg, England was only preparmg and America 
was only observing. 

" Russia at the beginning bore the whole brunt of 
the fighting thereby saving Great Britain and France. 
People who say she is out of the War have short 
memories. We have fought since the beginning and 
have the right to claim that the Allies now take the 
heaviest part of the burden on their shoulders." ... 

The Premier was asked regarding the morale of the 
Russian People and Army. He answered: 

" ~he masses ar~ w.orn out economically. The dis­
orgamzed state of life m general has had a psychologi­
cal effect on the people. They doubt the possibility of 
attaining their hopes." 3 

This interview which took place six days before the 
November (Bolshevik) revolution clearly demon-

3 Russian-American Relations, March, 1917-March, 19 20, Pages 
39-40. 
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strated the condition of affairs. Although Kerensky 
stressed the past and avoided the future, his meaning 
was clear and the impossibility of continuing the War 
stood out without question. It was fast becoming only 
a matter of weeks. 

On November 7, I 9 17, the New Provisional Gov­
ernment was overthrown by the Bolsheviks, under the 
slogan, "All power to the Soviets," and immediate 
peace. 

On the 9th of November, 1917, the Soviet represen­
tatives proposed to all peoples engaged in the War that 
negotiations be begun for a just and democratic peace.4 

This proposal, coupled with the radical ideas of the 
Soviet adherents, presented serious problems for the 
consideration of Allied and associated representatives. 
The Russian question had already extended beyond the 
question of the prosecution of the War. The interests 
of England .and Japan, in the Far East, were likely to 
be jeopardized by the spread of such radical ideas of 
Government as were held by the Soviets, while France 
was very antagonistic and much opposed to the pro­
posal for peace. 

This appeal for a " just and democratic peace " 
resulted in charges, by those opposed to peace on the 
terms obtainable at that time, that the proposal of the 
Soviets was not made in good faith, although the an­
nounced statements as to their ideas, and their ques-

4 Such a peace the Government considers to be an immediate peace 
without annexations (i. e. without seize of foreign territory, without 
the forcible annexation of foreign nationalities) and without in-
demnities. 
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tions as to what help the Allies would give them, in 
case they refused to sign the Brest-Litovsk Treaty, 
justified the belief that they were sincere in their pro­
posal. The socialistic ideas of Government, held by the 
Soviets, were so objectionable to the Allies that it was 
unreasonable to expect them to work in harmony, even 
upon such an important question as the continuation 
of the War. ' 

On the 23rd of November, the Allied Military At­
taches, at the Russian Staff, sent the following com­
munication to the Russian Military Commander: 

The Chiefs of the Military Missions accredited to 
the Russian Supreme Command, acting on the basis of 
definite instructions received from their Governments 
through the plenipotentiary representatives in Petro­
grad, have the honor to state a most energetic protest 
to the Russian Supreme Command against the viola­
tions of the terms of the treaty of the 5th of September, 
1914, made by the Allied powers, by which treaty the 
Allies, including Russia, solemnly agreed not to make a 
separate peace, nor to cease military activity.5 

On November 27, 1917, the Military Attache of the 
United States, made a similar protest to the Russian 
Commander. 

On December 1, 1917, Mr. Trotsky, at that time 
People's Commissar of Foreign Affairs, issued a state­
ment that the Soviet Government would not tolerate 
any military representatives of other Governments 
sending communications to the Military Commander of 

5 Russian-American Relations - March, 1917-March, 1920. 
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the Russian Forces, who by this time had been removed 
from his Command. 

On January 8, 1916, m an address to Congress, 
President Wilson said: 

" Whether their present leaders believe it or not, it 
is our heartfelt desire and hope that some way may be 
opened whereby we may be privileged to assist the 
people of Russia to attain their utmost hope of liberty 
and ordered peace." This was the expression of the 
well known views of President Wilson. He was op­
posed to autocracy and to oppression of the people by 
any Government. 

The Government representatives of England, 
France, and Japan did not have the same ideas as 
President Wilson as to " self-determination " of peo­
ples as to the forms of their own Governments. Their 
ideas were accentuated when it came to considering the 
Soviet Government, because of the fear of radicalism 
in European countries and especially in the Far East. 
These different views of Government naturally caused 
radical divergence in the policies proposed by the four 
powers chiefly interested in the Far East: viz., United 
States, England, France, and Japan, when it came to 
formulating plans to repair the damage due to the with­
drawal of the Russian troops from the Eastern front. 
The four powers, above mentioned, had to depend 
upon their respective representatives on the ground for 
information as to conditions, and these representatives, 
as well as the leaders, had their own ideas as to forms 
of Government. 

General Alfred Knox, British Army, undoubtedly 
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had much influence in shaping the British policy in 
Russia. He had served as Military Attache in Petro­
grad during the Czarist regime; he spoke Russian, a?d 
was personally known to many of ~he former Czan~t 
officials; he was naturally autocratic and could not, if 
he had desired to do so, give sympathetic consideration 
to the aspirations of the peasant class in Russia, whom 
he characterized as swine. 

The Czarist Russian Army and Navy officers were 
naturally very antagonistic to the Soviets and. were 
favourable to any proposition that gave promise of 
keeping them in their old positions. 

These people had convinced General Knox, an~ I 
think he was honest in his views, that if the Allies 
would arm, equip, pay, clothe, and feed a Russian force, 
the Eastern front could be formed of Russian volun­
teers. This Eastern Army was to be commanded by 
Allied and Russian officers, and General Knox thought 
only a few Allied officers would be necessary. The 
French were favourable to any proposition that gave 
promise of keeping the German troops on the Eastern 
front and thereby relieve the anticipated pressure of 
the Central Po'1:'ers on the Western front. 

The Japanese were naturally much interested in the 
Far East but their enthusiasm did not extend beyond 
Lake Baikal, while the United States did not consider 
the proposition to form in Eastern front from Rus­
sian volunteers a practical one. The objection was 
based on the long line of communications from a base 
on the Pacific or on the Arctic oceans to the Eastern 
front; and on the fear that the Russians would believe, 
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or that the Germans would convince them, that the 
Allies would never leave their country. If the Russians 
should believe that the Allies, or any of them, intended 
to annex any part of their territory, there would be 
grave danger that their sympathy for the Allied Cause 
would be changed to sympathy for the Central Powers. 
The United States Government expressed great com­
passion for the Russian people who had suffered so 
much for the Allied Cause, and seemed desirous of aid­
ing them, but was unwilling to take any drastic action, 
like the proposal to form an Eastern front, because 
this step was designed to use the Russian people rather 
than to aid them. Also, if the formation of an Eastern 
front involved America in providing men or material, 
it would have been necessary to change the plans for­
mulated, as soon as practicable after we entered· the 
War, and divide our efforts which did not appear to be 
in the interest of the Allied Cause. An Eastern front 
involved the expenditure of a great deal of money and 
could not be very well carried out without the approval 
and assistance of the United States. 

As soon as Japan, France, and England were con­
vinced that the United States would not take part in 
military intervention in Russia, other plans were tried 
which it was hoped would culminate in the same result. 

It is significant that the British advocacy of the use 
of troops, always carried with it the cooperation of 
their Allies, the Japanese. In March the British pro­
posed that Japan send troops as far as the Ural Moun­
tains, and Great Britian expressed a willingness for 
Japan to be compensated for this move at the expense 
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of Russia. There was some fear in Allied Councils, 
that if Japan went alone into Russia it might cause 
more harm than good, as the scars left by the Russo­
J apanese War had not entirely disappeared. 

Japan was willing to occupy Vladivostok, the Chinese 
Eastern, and the Amur railways and again there was 
fear that the Russians would construe this action as an 
effort by Japan to take part of Siberia. There seemed 
to be always present some fear or mistrust of supposed 
friends, when any action with reference to Russia was 
proposed, and it was evident the suspicions extended 
beyond the period of War. 

With reference to Japan entering Siberia, Colonel 
R.H. Bruce Lockhart, on March 5, 1918, cabled the 
British Foreign Office from Moscow, in part, as 
follows: 

I. " . . . If, however, the allies are to allow Japan 
to enter Siberia, the whole position is hopeless. Every 
class of Russian will prefer the Germans to the 
J 

,, apanese. ~ .. 
" I feel sure that you can have no idea of the feeling 

which Japanese intervention would arouse. Even the 
Cadet Press, which can not be accused of Bolshevik 
sympathies, is loud in its denunciation of this crime 
against Russia, and is now preaching support of any 
party that will oppose Germany and save the revolu­
tion .... And now when Germany's aims h.ave been 
unmasked to the whole world, the Allies are to nullify 
the benefits of this by allowing the Japanese to enter 
Russia .... " 6 

6 Russian-American Relations - March, 1917-March, 1920, p. 82, 
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The American Ambassador to Russia, Mr. Francis, 
was also much exercised about the Japanese interven­
tion in Siberia, and on March 9, 1918, he cabled to the 
State Department at Washington, in part: 

2. " . . . Moscow and Petrograd Soviets have both 
instructed their delegates to the conference of March 
l 2th, to support the ratification of the peace terms. I 
fear that such action is the result of a threatened 
Japanese invasion of Siberia. . .. Trotsky told 
Robins that he had heard such an invasion was coun­
tenanced by the Allies and especially by America, and 
it would not only force the Government to advocate 
the ratification of the humiliating peace but would so 
completely estrange all factions in Russia that f_urther 
resistance to Germany would be absolutely impos­
sible. . . . " 

In the Congressional Record, June 29, 1919, p. 2336, 
appears a copy of a note from the Soviet Government 
given by Trotsky to Colonel Robins for transmission 
to the American Government. In this note, dated 
March 5, 1918, appears, in part: 

" In case (a) the all Russian Congress of the Soviets 
will refuse to ratify the peace treaty with Germany or 
(b) if the German Government, breaking the peace 
treaty, will renew the offensive in order to continue 
its robbers' raid. . . . 

" ( l ) Can the Soviet Government rely on the sup­
port of the United States .of North America, Great 
Britain, and France in its Struggle against Germany? 
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( 2) What kind of support could be furnished in the 
nearest future, and on what conditions - Military 
equipment, transportation supplies, living necessities? 
( 3) What kind of support could be furnished particu­
larly and especially by the United States? ... " 

I have no information as to what reply, if any, the 
United States made to these queries. The flames of 
hatred and suspicion were so strong at this time, that 
there was little hope of giving full credence to the sin­
cerity of the question asked by Trotsky, the Minister 
of Foreign Affairs. 

For six months prior to the dispatch of American 
troops to Siberia, England, France, and Japan applied 
such pressure, as they could, upon the United States, 
to consent to some form of military intervention in 
Siberia. This pressure was applied through the Supreme 
\iVar Council, through diplomatic channels, and such 
agencies as were available for propaganda. The Su­
preme War Council wanted troops for use in Russia, 
in fighting Bolsheviks. This is shown by the following 
quotation from one of General Pershing's articles, in 
which he says: 

" The Supreme War Council was prone to listen to 
suggestions for the use of Allied troops at various 
places, other than the Western front. One of these, in 
which the British seemed to be especially insistent, was 
to send troops to help the so-called White Army in 
Russia to keep open the communication through Mur­
mansk in the Archangel" (Washing ton Evening Star, 
March 7, 193 l). 
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The contention that probably had more to do with 
sending troops to Siberia than all others was the claim 
that the Soviets had released all German and Austrian 
prisoners who had been captured and confined in Si­
beria, and that these prisoners were being organized 
into military units with the object of taking the military 
supplies at Vladivostok, and then the Trans-Siberian 
Railway. This move, if successful, would not only give 
the Germans the large quantities of munitions, rubber, 
cotton, railway materials, and many other articles very 
valuable as war material, but would give them access 
to the wheat fields of Siberia. 

Evidently the United States questioned the accuracy 
of these reports, as Mr. Francis, acting through 
Colonel Robins, his representative in Moscow, asked 
Trotsky as to the truth of the reports. Colonel Robins 
told Mr. Francis that Trotsky suggested that the 
United States send responsible men as far east as 
Irkutsk, to make their own investigation. He offered 
to send a Soviet official with them and to insure them 
every opportunity to make the investigation. 

As the result of this interview, Mr. Webster, a rep­
resentative of the American Red Cross in Moscow, 
and Captain Hicks, of the British Army, left Moscow 
March 19, 1918, to make the investigation. At the 
same time, the United States sent Major Walter Drys­
dale, United States Military Attache, in Peking, to the 
eastern part of Siberia, to make an investigation of the 
prison camps in the East. On March 31, 1918, Webster 
and Hicks having made their examination, and having 
conferred with Major Drysdale, as to conditions in the 
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eastern prison camps, made the following telegraphic 
report from Irkutsk: 

"Had a long interview Irkutsk Soviet today includ­
ing Y anson . . . Sternberg and others all of whorn 
were very friendly. They gave us full facts which con­
firmed our information and which we believe to be 
true. There are in all Siberia not over twelve hundred 
armed prisoners, most of whom are from Omsk. . . . 
They are being used for guarding other prisoners and 
especially German officers in whom Soviet places no 
confidence .... The Soviet states that they would 
not think of placing arms at the disposal of prisoners 
who would take up cause against them when their cause 
is so categorically opposite to their own. The Soviet 
further gave us their official guarantee that no more 
than a maximum of fifteen hundred prisoners will be 
armed in the whole of Siberia .... They also stated 
that they would have no objections to the Senior Con­
suls of the Allies in Siberia having the right of free 
investigation and, at all times, to check the maintenance 
and integrity of the limitations." 1 

Webster and Hicks, on April 1, 1918, telegraphed 
with reference to the prison camps to the British 
Mission, Moscow: 

"We have just visited the large war prisoners' camp 
outside Irkutsk where we were given every facility to 
see everything and talk with the prisoners. . . . We 
saw the senior officer prisoners, and several leading 

7 Russian-American Regulations, March, r 9 r 7-March, r 920. 

[ 25] 



AMERICA'S SIBERIAN ADVENTURE 

soldiers with whom we held long conversations. We, 
in all cases, asked the following questions : First, is 
there any pressure put on you to join the Red Guard 
or Socialists? Answers - none at all. Second, How 
do you regard any of your commanders who express 
Bolshevik sympathies? Answer - With very strong 
disapproval. ... Fourth, Are any of your fellow 
prisoners armed? Answer - About seven, who help 
to guard the prison supply depot . . " 8 

After an investigation by Major Drysdale, he re­
ported that the Soviets did not release their German 
war prisoners from the prison camps, and that the 
rumour that the Germans were forming a battle front 
in Siberia was propaganda designed to influence the 
United States in the question of military action. 

It is difficult to understand why the United States sent 
representatives to get certain specific information about 
war prisoners, and then decided to send troops to 
Siberia to frustrate any action taken by organizations 
of German and Austrian war prisoners which United 
States representatives said did not exist. Subsequent 
events have shown that the information furnished the 
United States Government by these investigators was 
absolutely correct. Siberia was a great field for propa­
ganda and even Consular Agents of the various Gov­
ernments had great trouble to know what credence to 
give reports they received. In this vast country, with 
limited means of obtaining information, it was a dif. 
ficult problem to check the accuracy of information. 

8 Russian-American Regulations, March, 1917-March, 1920. 

MILITARY INTERVENTION IN SIBERIA 

Fran~e, from the moment the Bolsheviks suggested 
peace with the Central Powers, became the implacable 
enemy of the Soviets. The French representatives, after 
signing the agreement with the representatives of the 
Russian Government to continue to fight together until 
there was a successful termination of the war, felt 
there was a base betrayal of her interests, by Russia 
in proposing peace without consultation with her Al­
lies, and Mr. Clemenceau went so far as to characterize 
the action as treason to France. 

England's past affiliations with Czarist Russia had 
not been very agreeable, but the chances for the mate­
rial advancement of England were better with the old 
Czarist officials than with the Soviets, and it was evi­
dent to the Allied representatives, at this time, that any 
Gov~rnment in Russia, established by the people of 
Russia, would necessarily be socialistic. 

Bearing upon the subject of intervention in Russia, 
Dr. Leoni~ I. Strakhovsky, in an article appearing in 
Current History, March, 1931, states: 

" In these circumstances The Allied Governments 
~ere r~a<;Iy to undertake Military intervention in Rus­
sia; this is the reason given to explain and justify the 
policy of the Allies - But there was another reason for 
t~is step, a reason that has existed all through the 
nmeteenth cen~ury, Gre~t Brit~in's fear of the rising 
~ower of Russia as. mamfe~ted m ~he Russian penetra­
t10n of Central Asia, and m Russian expansion in the 
East. F.rance, on the other hand, looked for material 
economic a<;I~anta~es, where Great Britain mainly pur­
sued a political aim, although the British were not 
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likely to overlook economic possibilities. France and 
Great Britain came to an understanding and agreed to 
an actual dismemberment of Russia in L'Accord 
France-Anglais du 23 December, I 9 I 7, definissant les 
zones d'action francaise et anglaise." 

Dr. Strakhovsky cites as his authority for this state­
ment, the writings of General Denikin and Winston 
Churchill. As he is at present a professor at George­
town University and fought with the French and 
Wrangel in 19 I 8-20 against the Bolsheviks, it can 
not be charged that his article was written in the in­
terest of the Soviet Government. 

England's interest in India could not be entirely 
ignored, and from her point of view, it was desirable 
to keep the socialistic ideas of Government, advocated 
by the Soviets, from reaching India. 

As soon as it became apparent that Russia could not 
be depended upon to supply men or materials for the 
Allies on the Eastern front, England began using every 
means available to frustrate Germany in an anticipated 
attempt to send troops from the East to the West 
front, and also to prevent Germany from getting access 
to the Siberian resources. These two reasons were the 
ones assigned by England for her advocacy of military 
intervention in Siberia. 

The propaganda, as to the deleteriou~ effects of bol­
shevism, had not taken such roots at that time in the 
United States as to warrant England in stressing that 
phase of her desires for military intervention in Rus­
sia, but she could and did stress the necessity for the 
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protection of military stores in Archangel and Vladi­
vostok, and for helping the Czechs. 

Japan was willing to help the Czechs, protect any 
property, and guard the railroads east of Lake Baikal, 
but was not willing to send her troops west of Lake 
Baikal and especially if she was to bear the expense 
of any such movement. 

The actions of the representatives of England, 
France, and Japan in subsequent operations in Siberia 
showed conclusively that the fear· of radicalism, known 
as bolshevism, was not a minor consideration in their 
efforts to secure agreements as to military intervention 
in Siberia. 

The records show that President Wilson, about 
March r 5, r 9 r 8, sent a cable to the All-Russian Con­
gress of Soviets, which stated, in part: 

"The whole heart of the people of the United States 
is with the people of Russia in the attempt to free 
themselves forever from autocratic government and 
become the masters of their own life." 9 This communi­
cation indicat.es that President Wilson cherished a hope 
that the Soviets would discard their socialistic ideas 
join the United States and the Allies, and all work fo; 
a liberal and democratic Government for Russia. It is 
manifest that the Soviets could not have been induced 
~t thi~ time, to listen to any suggestions as to change~ 
m their plans of Government for Russia. 

This statement was made more than four months 
after t~e overthrow. of the Kerensky Government by 
the Soviets, and was 1.n accordance with the well-known 

9 
New York Times Current History, Vol. VIII, Part 1, page 49. 
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views of President Wilson as to representative Govern­
ment. Subsequent events have shown that these views 
of the President were not shared by all the representa­
tives of the United States in Siberia. At practically the 
same time that President Wilson was expressing the 
views above referred to, and was forcefully resisting 
the Allies in their efforts to induce the United States 
to agree to military intervention in Siberia, Mr. 
Francis, the American Ambassador to Russia, stated 
that the reports of Mr. MacGowan, American Consul 
at Irkutsk, indicated Germans preparing to take the 
Siberian railway. 

March 22, l 9 l 8, Mr. Francis also stated: 

"My advices from MacGowan and other reliable 
sources charge Sternberg, who is a pro-German-Swede, 
with aiding and directing organization and arming pris­
oners. Recently, MacGowan wires, that uniforms of 
German officers are only partly concealed by Russian 
overcoats." 

On March 25, 1918, Mr. Francis wired Colonel 
Robins, Red Cross, at Moscow: 

" . . . Cable which is in my private code, indicates 
Department has heard that Soviet leaders acting under 
direction of German General Staff . . . 

Mr. Robins, in reply to this, stated: 

" Regard suggestion of German control Soviet Gov­
ernment as absurd and impossible. If Washington cred­
its this contention, why are we wasting time here? " 
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On April 6, 1918, Mr. Robins wired Mr. Francis, 
in part: 

" Soviet Government believes America can prevent 
hostile intervention, and if Japan advances, it means 
that America has consented." 

On March IS, 1918, Mr. MacGowan, Irkutsk, 
wired Mr. Francis, in code: 

" Train-load prisoners passed Eastward twelfth, 
with dozen machine guns, is stated, and two thousand 
stopped here. There is concurrent testimony that 3- and 
6-inch guns are arriving, two of latter already com­
manding :ailway bridge and station. In daily machine 
gun practice cadet school. Informant, hitherto reliable, 
states German Ma jar Generals, even other officers, 
(omission) over thirty prisoners arrived and gen­
eral staff expected from Petrograd to direct destruc­
tion of bridges, tunnels, and execute plan defenses. Ger­
ma~, Turkish, and Austrian officers at times throng 
stat10n and streets with insignia of rank visible beneath 
Russian military overcoats. Every prisoner whether at 
large or in camp has rifle." 10 

Subsequent events have shown that these supposed 
facts reported to Mr. Francis by Mr. MacGowan were 
~omeone's imagination. But the object of these reports 
is, however, perfectly clear. The representatives of 
Englang, France, and Japan had found in Mr. Mac­
Gowan a ready and willing listener to reports as to the 

10 Russian-American Relations. 
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danger to be expected from the German and Austrian 
prisoners who were confined in Siberia. . 

During the Spring of 1918, while the ~lhe~ Gov­
ernments and the United States were cons1dermg the 
question of military intervention in Russia, E~gland 
and France had shown, by their support of certam fac­
tions in South Russia, that they were not averse to 
taking sides in the internal affairs of the Russian peo~le. 

At this time England and Japan were supporting 
the Cossack bandit leader Semeonoff, who claimed to 
be fighting bolshevism. . . . 

It has always been difficult for me, and I believe 1t 1s 
difficult for American readers, to understand why the 
United States ever acceded to the desires of England, 
France, and Japan to send United States troops to 
Siberia. It should, however, be remembered that Presi­
dent Wilson was bombarded from all sources with in­
formation purporting to give facts. All repoi:ts emanat­
ing from representatives of England, France, and 
Japan, and from some of the representatives of the 
United States, notably Consul MacGowan, indicated 
that some steps were necessary in Siberia, in order to 
protect the interest of the Allied Cause. In political and 
financial questions alone, President Wilson would prob­
ably have remained steadfast against the appeals of 
the Allies, but in a military question, such as sending 
troops to Siberia, it would have been difficult for him 
to justify insisting upon putting his judgement against 
that of all the Allies. 

In times of stress, such as exist in War, there are 
always false and exaggerated reports received at all 
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Headquarters, and the difficulty experienced is to prop­
erly evaluate these reports. Mr. MacGowan, however, 
was making reports from Irkutsk, as to what was tak­
ing place there, and should have been able to ascertain 
the truth about prisoners and German General Staff 
officers who, according to his report, made very little 
or no effort to conceal their identity. As these prisoners 
and Germans were not in Irkutsk, as reported by Mr. 
MacGowan, I am forced to the conclusion that he was 
desirous of getting information that would justify his 
reports to the State Department. His consular associ­
ates from other countries were all interested in making 
him believe there was a menace from ·these war pris­
oners, so all information given Mr. MacGowan natu­
rally would be calculated to form the impressions the 
Allied representatives desired. 
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T HE War Department, on August 3, l?.18,_cabled 
the Commanding General of the Phihppmes to 

send by the first available United States Transports the 
following troops for duty in Siberia: The 27th and 31st 
Infantry Regiments, one field hospital, one ambulance 
company, and Company "D" 53rd Te~egraph Bat­
talion, including clothing for winter service as far as 
practicable. The necessary subsistence _and ot~er su~­
plies were to be furnished from stor~s m M~mla until 
the Service of Supply could be established direct from 
San Francisco to Vladivostok. 

I was informed of these orders on the same date and 
directed to forward to Vladivostok five thousand men 
from the 8th Division at Camp Fremont. In the ~elec­
tion of these men the following instructions were given: 

" The men should be strong, hardy, fit for ser;ice 
inttrnded, and should represent all parts of the Un~ted 
States; it being desired that they sho_uld not contam ~ 
large proportion of men from the Pacific Coast States. 

These men were to fill the two regiments from the 
Philippines to war strength. I was authorized to con-
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fer with the Commanding General of the Philippines 
relative to officers for duty on my staff or I could, if 
desired, take officers of my staff at Camp Fremont. 

The question of clothing and supply gave me great 
concern. I knew nothing of the probable duty these 
troops would be called upon to perform; I knew noth­
ing about what buildings, if any, I could get to house 
the men after arriving in Siberia; and, in addition, I 
pictured Siberia as a cold, barren, and desolate country. 

By the time I returned from Kansas City, Brigadier 
General J. D. Leitch, who was in command at Camp 
Fremont, had received the orders relative to the move­
ment of troops and had energetically begun prepara­
tion for the transfer. About all I had to do relative to 
the movement was to check up the arrangements, make 
some personal preparations, and on August l l, 1918, 
I notified the War Department that all was in readiness 
for the move. 

After conferring with General C. A. Devol, in 
charge of Quartermasters work in San Francisco, I 
telegraphed the War Department asking for authority 
to call on him direct for supplies. The War Depart­
ment approved my request and this cut out the Quar­
termaster General's office in Washington, which, natu­
rally, was principally occupied with supplying the 
American troops in France. Later, I was very thankful 
for this arrangement, as it provided for direct dealing 
which was in the interest of prompt supply. 

At this point I desire to express the gratitude of the 
entire command as well as my personal thanks to Mrs. 
Stern of Menlo Park, California, for the many articles 

[ 35 ] 



AMERICA'S SIBERIAN ADVENTURE 

sent to the command, such as fruit and candy, as well 
as many other articles which only a discriminating and 
intelligent woman could select. At Christmas every en~ 
listed man in the command, due to her kindness, had 
two oranges which, in far away Siberia, was a treat 
that I am sure we will always gratefully remember. 

On August 13, the War Department authorized me 
and my staff to sail from San Francisco on the Trans­
port Thomas, which carried 40 officers and 1,889 
enlisted men. On August 14, we left Camp Fremont, 
California, on two special trains at 12 :30 and 12 :35 
P.M., and embarked at 2 :30 P.M., but the shipping au­
thorities would not permit sailing until after dark, so 
we did not leave the harbour until 8 :30 at night. Some 
other agency of the Government evidently thought the 
world should know of this movement of American sol­
diers, as the searchlight was turned on the Thomas and 
kept there until we passed through Golden Gate. To 
provide protection from German submarines or some 
other reasons of safety which were unknown to me, we 
were being escorted by the old U.S. Battleship Oregon 
and the U. S. Gunboat Vicksburg. The Transport 
Thomas was not known as a ship likely to break any 
speed records, but it was certainly faster than the 
Oregon and Vicksburg. I was not informed as to how 
long we were to be protected by these Na val vessels, 
but by noon on August l 5 I became a little impatient 
at having to stop and wait for our escort, so I directed 
that we wave good-bye and steam full speed ahead for 
Vladivostok. 

As one o.f the announced principal reasons for send-
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ing troops to Siberia was " to help the Czecho-Slovaks 
consolidate their forces and to get into successful co­
opera~ion with their Slavic kinsmen " it is quite in" 
teresting to analyse the situation of the Czechs at the 
date my orders were written, July 17, 1918. It should 
be rer:nembered. tha~. the ~ain reason advanced by 
those Interested m military mtervention in Siberia was 
the immediate and urgent need for protection of the 
Czechs who were supposed to be trying to get through 
Siberia to Vladivostok and then to the Western front 
where they could join the Allies. 

On April 26, 1918, Mr. John F. Stevens head of . ' 
the Russian Railway Commission, received from the 
State Department a telegram as follows: 

" Ambassador (Mr. Francis) Vologda recom­
mended that Emerson be sent immediately with two to 
fi.ve Engineers to Vologda to confer about transporta­
t10n, ... Department approves." 

The Emerson referred to was Colonel George H. 
Emerson, Mr. Stevens' first Assistant in the Russian 
Railway Service Corps, which will be ref erred to in a 
later chapter. 

Colonel Emerson and party left Harbin on May 4, 
l 9 l 8 for Vladivostok, to make arrangements for 
transportation. On the 6th, he explained his orders 
to the American Consul at Vladivostok and to Admiral 
Austin M. Knight, commanding the Asiatic fleet. Both 
Mr. Caldwell and Admiral Knight stated they knew of 
no arrangements for a train for Colonel Emerson and 
suggested, that as they had no dealings with the Soviet 
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at Vladivostok who were then in charge of Govern­
mental affairs, that Colonel Emerson deal direct with 
local authorities about his transportation. This is the 
first time I can find any record of the official repre­
sentatives of the United States having received instruc­
tions not to deal with the Soviets, and I assume, of 
course, the American Consul at Vladivostok was acting 
under instructions of his Government. 

On May 9, Colonel Emerson met the Soviet repre­
sentatives of the railroad and informed them of his 
instructions to go to Vologda and asked them to pro­
vide the necessary railroad equipment .. The railroad 
officials said they would immediately take the necessary 
measures so they could get started. The Soviet repre­
sentatives stated to Colonel Emerson that they had 
found they were unable to carry on the immediate work 
of conducting transportation efficiently and they hoped 
America would soon be in a position to assist; that what 
they needed were men to properly organize and direct 
the work. 

At this time Colonel Emerson says he found at 
Vladivostok " a large number of Czech troops of the 
5th and 8th regiments and were informed there were 
some eight thousand located in barracks." 

The Chinese-Eastern Railway representatives at 
Vladivostok would not cooperate in getting transporta­
tion and insisted that none of their equipment be taken. 
Colonel Emerson notified the Soviet representatives to 
this effect, and they experienced some difficulty and 
delay in getting the necessary equipment for him. The 
Soviet railway officials finally turned over to Colonel 
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Emerson, Amur Service Car No. I, which the Soviets 
had been using, and secured International Sleeping Car 
No. 2036 for them. Colonel Emerson further states 
that the Soviets had difficulty in getting a car with suit­
able cooking accommodations, but they finally told him 
that if he could take Chinese-Eastern Car No. 2015 
to Nikolsk or Habarovsk, they, the Soviets, would 
wire ahead and locate a dining car and they could then 
ret~rn Car No. 20 I 5. The Soviets finally got a special 
tram, and Colonel Emerson and party left Vladivos­
tok May 19, 1918. This special train arrived at Ha­
barovsk at 9 :oo A.M., the 20th, and Colonel Emerson 
was informed by the Chinese-Eastern representative 
there that they had no dining car to furnish them, and 
that they would have to leave No. 2015 at Habarovsk. 
At IO :30 the same morning a messenger from the 
Soviet Commissar brought Colonel Emerson a letter 
from the President asking him to call at his office, and 
he sent him an automobile in which to make the trip. 

When Colonel Emerson arrived at the office of the 
C?mmissar. he discovered this official ~poke English 
with very little accent, and expressed his surprise at 
finding a Russian Soviet official in the interior of Siberia 
with such a thorough knowledge of the English lan­
guage. The Commissar replied: 

'.'It is going some to change from a bum lawyer in 
Chicago to a Commissar of the Soviets in Eastern 
Siberia in two months." 

Colonel Emerson notified this official of his orders 
and was assured the matter would be adjusted. Later 
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this matter was straightened out and at daylight the 
next morning the train continued with Car No. 2015. 

Colonel Emerson had requested that his train run 
only during the day in order that he might inspect 
the line, which request was acceded to by the Soviet 
officials". 

The special arrived at Irkutsk May 26, about 
I :oo P.M., where Colonel Emerson found the Ameri­
can Consul General, Mr. Harris, who had been there 
for two weeks. Mr. MacGowan, the American Consul, 
who had notified Mr. Francis at Vologda, of the evi­
dences showing the activity of the Germans in organiz­
ing and equipping German prisoners, previously re­
ferred to, was also there. 

Colonel Emerson states that the Soviet representa­
tives met his train to ascertain his wishes. They were 
informed he desired to go as soon as possible, so ar­
rangements were immediately made and Colonel Emer­
son left at 2 :oo P.M. He arrived at Krasnoyarsk in the 
evening of May 27, and the station-master told him 
" the line was in trouble ahead and he could not let 
him proceed." He found the American Vice-Consul 
who introduced him to the President of the Soviets 
who informed him that the Czechs were fighting at 
Marinsk, three hundred versts west, and that he had 
sent one thousand regulars of the Red Army to try and 
make peace, as he wanted to get the Czechs through 
to Vladivostok without any more trouble. Colonel 
Emerson offered the services of himself and Major 
Slaughter, U. S. Army, as mediators, which offer was 
accepted, and the President of the Soviets agreed to 
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send a telegram to the Co]Ilmanding Officer of the 
Czech troops at Marinsk, signed by Major Slaughter, 
asking the Czechs to defer all action until they could 
confer with Colonel Emerson. Colonel Emerson's train 
proceeded to Marinsk, and about twelve miles from 
there they found the Headquarters of the Russian 
troops. The Russian Commander said the Czechs were 
responsible for the trouble, and the Russians would 
request that the Czechs disarm before they would 
permit them to proceed to the East. In addition, the 
Russians added the following conditions before con­
senting to .the Czechs proceeding: 

1. That the Russians would permit the movement of 
disarmed Czechs in an expeditious manner to Vladi­
vostok. 

2. The Czechs to promise they would not in any 
way directly or indirectly interfere with internal or 
Government affairs in Russia. 

3. That the Czechs and Russians would appoint a 
commission to investigate the trouble at Marinsk with 
a view to punishing the offenders. 

4. That the Russians would agree to return to the 
Czechs all foreign owned ammunition at Vladivostok 
which has been taken from them. 

The Russian authorities agreed to put a guard of 
Russian soldiers on the Czech train so as to guarantee 
safety to Vladivostok. Colonel Emerson and party 
went from Russian Headquarters to Marinsk to confer 
with the Czechs, and the following is taken from the 
stenographic report of the conference: 
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" Conference held between Colonel Emerson and 
Captain E. B. Kedlets at Marinsk, Siberia, May 29, 
19 l 8, relative to Czech soldiers taking possession of 
City of Marinsk, Siberia - Colonel Emerson then 
offered his services as mediator in the differences re­
ferred to above. Captain Kedlets thanked him, but in 
a very short statement explained that they positively 
would not disarm. Colonel Emerson asked if they had 
experienced any molestation or trouble between South 
Russia and Marinsk. Captain Kedlets replied that they 
had not been molested since leaving South Russian 
territory under immediate German influence, but stated 
that due to German influence they were afraid of being 
captured. Colonel Emerson stated that there were l 2,-

000 Czechs in Vladivostok, with 3000 more enroute 
between Marinsk and Vladivostok, and they had all 
stated they had not been molested in Russia. Captain 
Kedlets admitted that he and other train commanders 
had instructions from Penza to stop where instructions 
overtook them and capture the towns; that it was a 
concerted movement and that director of movement 
was at this time in Novo-Nicolaevsk. These train com­
manders were to remain in the towns until further 
instructions were received. Captain Kedlets sug­
gested that Colonel Emerson go to Novo-Nicolaevsk 
and consult General Gaida, their leader, and stated 
that the movement was a concerted movement and 
at a designated time all train commanders were 
instructed to take over the towns. Captain Ked­
lets agreed to let Colonel Emerson's train proceed 
to N ovo-Nicolaevsk and consult Gaida but unless he 
got a messenger back in three days he would open 
hostilities." 

AID TO THE CZECHS 

Colonel Emerson did not go to see Gaida, but re­
turned to Soviet Headquarters and reported the result 
of his conference. The head of the Soviets got very 
much excited and said: 

"France, through concerted action with the Czech 
troops, has taken Siberia in twenty-four hours." 

Colonel Emerson then decided to try and get a 
French Consul or Military Attache from Irkutsk as he 
felt no one could deal with the Czechs except the 
French. He telegraphed Consul General Harris and 
asked him to use his influence to this effect and in this 
way save the railroad from being put out of commis­
sion. On May 30, 1918, Colonel Emerson and Major 
Slaughter, U. S. Army, joined in a telegram to Consul 
General Harris, Irkutsk, and to American Consul 
Harbin for Mr. Stevens, in part as follows: 

" Conference Czech Commander Marinsk stated 
emphatically they would not give up arms and muni­
tions, admitted movement was concerted action Czech 
forces in Siberia and European Russia, instructions take 
cities in vicinity where they ar.e located." 

On May 3 l, Consul General Harris telegraphed 
from Irkutsk: 

"I have the following proposition with which the 
French Consul General agrees. I propose to the Soviets 
at Krasnoyarsk and other towns West to allow the 
Czech trains to continue to Irkutsk, where the French 
Consul General and I, with a white flag, went to meet 
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Czech delegate, and finally, in a treaty between Czechs 
and Soviets, three Czechs trains disarmed and went 
East to Vladivostok with thirty rifles for protection of 
each train." 

These are the Czechs that General Gaida said he 
would punish for leaving Irkutsk, as soon as he came 
in contact with them. 

On May 3 l Consul General Harris telegraphed 
Colonel Emerson that the Czechs and Soviets had had 
a fight at the station in Irkutsk, and two other trains of 
Czechs, one thousand men, arrived at first station west 
of Irkutsk, and there was another fight. After these 
clashes, Consul General Harris and the French Consul 
succeeded in disarming the Czechs and sending them ?n 
to the east, with thirty rifles for each train, and a 
Soviet official accompanying each echelon. Consul Gen­
eral Harris said the Russians bind themselves to for­
ward all Czechs east, without any hindrance, and that 
the Russian authorities at Irkutsk asks why Czechs are 
not sent from Vladivostok. We answer " no transporta­
tion available." 

If the Allies were really trying to get the Czechs to 
the Western front in France, it seems peculiar that no 
arrangements had been made for ships to take them 
from Vladivostok. I am clearly of the opinion that as 
early as May 28, 1918, there was no intention of send­
ing the Czechs to the Western front. I am unable to 
say exactly when this decision was made, but it was at 
least two months and six days before I receivedmy in­
structions in which appeared the sentence, " For help-
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ing the Czecho-Slovaks, there is immediate necessity 
and justification." All foreign representatives were not 
informed of the intent, relative to Czechs until about 
one month later. 

At the time under discussion, there was naturally a 
tenseness in the ranks of both Czechs and Russians. 
The Czechs were passing through an unknown country 
where the atmosphere was charged· with rumours of 
plots and schemes. The Soviets not only were filled with 
anxiety as to the Czech's intentions in Siberia, but they 
apparently felt that for foreign troops to pass through 
the country armed, would lower their dignity and 
would be an infringement of their sovereign rights. 
Colonel Emerson was not only anxious to get through 
to Vologda, in European.Russia, but was anxious that 
the Trans-Siberian Railroad should not be put out of 
commission, and to help in accomplishing his desires, he 
told General Gaida that nothing would be gained by 
fighting if the Czechs really wanted to get to Vladi­
vostok. General Gaida stated that as soon as the new 
Government comes into power, it will stop the Soviets 
and there will then be no trouble about destroying 
bridges and tunnels. 

Captain Kedlets, who was at the conference of Colo­
nel Emerson and Gaida, referring to the new Govern­
ment, stated " now a new Government has been estab­
lished that will make it possible for us to move 
forward." Colonel Emerson replied: " Regardless of 
any new Government that may be organized, you must 
admit that at the present time, the power is in the hands 
of the Soviets. They are certainly in a position to block 
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your progress to Vladivostok." Gaida replied: " In 
ten days there might be, in Irkutsk, another power." 
Gaida also stated that the points they had taken were 
occupied by a new Government, and it was to their ad­
vantage to leave some rifles to help the new Gov­
ernment. 

This was a clear indication that the Czechs were 
involved in driving the Soviets out of the towns, and 
substituting for them" the new Government," often re­
f erred to in the conferences. 

On June I or 2 the French Consul General sent the 
following message from Chi ta to Gaida: " The 
Echelons of Seventh Regiment. The Soviet Govern­
ment offering all assistance to expedite the movement. 
Do not let yourself be implicated in the internal politi­
cal fight." This French official evidently had not been 
informed of the plans of the French. 

Again on June 4 - to American Consul Thomas, 
who was with Colonel Emerson on his train: " Have 
General Gaida, who is in command of Czechs, under­
stand that he must only consider the movement of these 
Echelons East, also, advise him he must not do any­
thing without first securing instructions from the 
French and American Consuls, and that he must not 
forget the important and explicit instructions of Pro­
fessor Masaryk." 

At 8 :oo P.M., June '3, the two sides met between the 
lines and a conference was held in Colonel Emerson's 
car. At 3 A.M., June 4, an armistice, applicable to 
Marinsk, was signed which was to last six days. On 
June 4, Colonel Emerson and Major Slaughter sent 
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a message to Consul General Harris at Irkutsk, m 
part: 

" Now going West with Soviet and Czech repre­
sentatives secure final settlement. Soviet agrees permit 
Czech proceed, fully armed. White guards Novo­
Nikolaevsk, Tomsk, and Marinsk taking advantage 
situation to arm and take control places named. Czechs 
refuse permit Soviet resume authority these places 
prior to their departure." 

Colonel Emerson's train arrived at Novo-Nikolaevsk 
the evening of June 5. He had a conference with 
the Czech commander, General Gaida, and two of 
his assistants, and American Consul Ray. Before this 
conference there was a lot of childish bickering as to 
Colonel Emerson's authority, but he was still patient 
and explained again why he happened to be mixed up 
with the trouble between the Czechs and Soviets. At 
this conference the American Consul asked him when 
the Czechs and Soviets had trouble at Irkutsk. Colonel 
Emerson said it was part of the Czech concerted action 
to take the towns in which these Czechs Echelons were; 
The Czech replied, "Sunday one week ago, May 28." 

The representative of the new white guard Govern­
ment called on Colonel Emerson and said - " He had 
called on Ambassador Francis about two weeks ago at 
Vologda, and stated that the new Government was con­
nected with the Central Siberian Government organ­
ized at Harbin under Mr. Oustrougoff and he had been 
informed it had been recognized by the Allies." 

Just after Colonel Emerson left Novo-Nikolaevsk 
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he received a message from Consul General Harris say­
ing he wanted to be present at the final peace conference 
which he supposed would be held at Omsk. The Czechs 
suggested the conference be held at Kargat instead of 
Omsk. Colonel Emerson stopped at Kargat where Con­
sul General Harris joined him on the 8th. Mr. Harris 
had a conference with Czech representatives at noon 
on the 8th. Captain Krizek, Czech, at the outset of the 
conference asked Mr. Harris what he thought of the 
new Government. Mr. Harris replied: 

" Nothing was known in Irkutsk when I left concern­
ing any counter-revolutionary movement. My mission 
had to do only as a mediator between the Czechs and 
Bolsheviks. My mission had nothing to do with fac­
tional strife in Russia, between Bolsheviks and the 
counter-revolutionary movement. . . . The President 
of the United States has issued specific instructions to 
all the official representatives of the United States in 
Russia to in no way interfere, recognize or become 
mixed up with any faction or partisan strife in Russia 
or Siberia." 

This latter statement of Consul General Harris is 
very important in trying to ascertain the truth as to 
whether the American troops in Siberia were used in 
accordance with the wishes of the President of the 
United States. A reading of my instructions, previ­
ously quoted, will show there was absolutely no differ­
ence in the meaning of my instructions and the instruc­
tions Consul General Barris says were given to all 
representatives of the United States in Siberia, and not 
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one word or letter of my instructions were changed 
during my entire stay in Siberia. 

As soon as Consul General Harris was informed of 
the counter-revolutionary movement against the 
Soviets in all towns occupied by the Czechs, he refused 
to longer act as mediator and withdrew from all con­
ferences. As justification for this action he again re­
peated the instructions he had received from the United 
States Government. 

Colonel Emerson continued his efforts to reach 
Vologda, and reached Cheliabinsk on June 13, where 
there were many Czechs, and there he met Major 
Guinet. There were train difficulties reported west of 
Cheliabinsk and he did not arrive at Miass until June 
16, where it appeared impracticable to proceed further 
west. On June 23 he received from Major Guinet; of 
the French, who1 had gone to Omsk, the following: 

"The French Ambassador makes known to Com­
mandant Guinet that he can thank the Czecho-Slovaks 
for their actions, this in the name of all the Allies. 
They, the Allies, have decided to intervene the last of 
June and the Army Czecho-Slovaks and t~e French 
Mission form the advance guard of the Alhed Army. 
Next comes recommendations in respect of occupation 
and organization a double point, political and mili­
tary." 

I have no information as to the identity of the 
"French Ambassador" referred to by Major Guinet 
but it was probably the Ambassador to Russia. 

On June 25 Colonel Emerson states" Major Guinet 
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called on us and showed us the message relative to inter­
vention, and said this message ' was sufficient for him 
t . ' " d o start action, an suggested we take over operation 
of railroad. Colonel Emerson and party were very 
anxious for a verification of the part of the French 
Ambassador's message which said, "This in the name 
of ~11 the Allies," so they returned to Omsk where they 
arrived on the 26th. The first information Colonel 
Emerson received at Omsk was July 13, which was 
from the Czech Commander Gaida at Irkutsk, that he 
was in the act of occupying that city. 

On July 15 Colonel Emerson received a message 
from Consul General Harris at Irkutsk as follows: 

"Have had no communication with outside world 
since May 26, with Vladivostok, and July 2, with 
Peking. Late news received show that Allied Marines 
and Czechs threw Bolshevism out of Vladivostok. 
Latest Message from Peking Legation was confirma­
tion of Message received by French Mission to which 
you ref er and which has been handed to Colonel Gaida 
here." This is the first information Colonel Emerson 
had received satisfying him that the United States was 
a party to the contemplated intervention the last of 
June. He immediately ceased his efforts to get to Vo­
logda to report to the United States Ambassador, 
Mr. Francis, and decided to go to Irkutsk as soon as 
possi~le to off:r his services in helping to keep the rail­
way m operat10n, and he left Omsk on July 16. 

On the 19th, he states at Polovina : " We had noted 
perfect order along the line, a few Czechs being left 
at each town to look after policing of these places." 
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This information confirms what had been apparent 
since the Czechs, by concerted action on May 28, took 
the towns on the Trans-Siberian Railroad, that the 
Soviets were either unable or unwilling to resist the en­
croachments of the Czechs. 

It is a remarkable coincidence that Colonel Emer­
son received notice from United States Consul General 
Harris, July 15, that the United States was to take part 
in the intervention in Siberia, and my instructions dated 
July 17, show an absolute determination on the part 
of President Wilson that the United States would not 
take part in military intervention in Russia. This is 
conclusively shown by the sentence in my instructions 
which states:" It (the United States) cannot, there­
fore take part in such intervention or sanction it in prin­
ciple." My instructions, previously quoted, show that 
the United States was so determined not to take part 
in military operations in Russia that the Allies were 
warned, that if they persisted in their designs to inter­
vene and go beyond the purposes announced by the 
United States, as the object for sending a few troops 
to Siberia and Archangel, the United States might feel 
obliged to withdraw entirely from any cooperation in 
Russia. 

It would have been difficult to have used language 
that would have made plainer the intent of the United 
States in so far as the use of the United States troops 
in Siberia is concerned. The quotations, so copiously 
made from Colonel Emerson's stenographic report, 
show that the Czechs were never in danger from the 
aggressive acts of the Soviets. Certainly they were not 
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in any danger as long as the Czechs stuck to their an­
nounced purpose of going through to Vladivostok on 
the Trans-Siberian Railway. The Czechs were the ag­
gressors, and the report of Colonel Emerson shows 
that the Soviets wanted to get the Czechs out of Siberia, 
and were willing to meet them more than half way in 
effecting their announced desires. The Czechs not only 
took possession of towns where their echelons hap­
pened to be on May 28, but at least one town, Marinsk, 
they took possession of a depot of military supplies be­
longing to the Soviets and completely armed their men 
with rifles, ammunition, machine-guns, and such other 
stores as were available and desired. 

As the conclusion, relative to the safety ol the 
Czechs, drawn from Colonel Emerson's reports, 'differ 
so radically from the generally accepted idea that they 
were in grave danger, it seems advisable that some in­
formation as to Colonel Emerson's past life, and natu­
ral characteristics be given the reader, so as to help 
him in properly evaluating his report. Colonel Emer­
son practically grew up with the Great Northern Rail­
road. He began working for this railroad when a boy, 
and left it as General Manager, when he went to 
Siberia. I had never known him until we met in Vladi­
vostok but Mr. John F. Stevens told me that he con­
sidered him the best mechanical railroad man in the 
United States. He is a man whose language, whose ap­
pearance, and whose general attitude towards the duty 
in hand inspires one with confidence in his integrity of 
purpose, and the longer one knows him and his work, 
the greater this confidence becomes. 
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Colonel Emerson was as disinterested in the politi­
cal squabbles of the Russian factions as any man I saw 
in Siberia. He was in Russia for the sole purpose of 
helping the Russians operate the railroad and took no 
interest in any other activity. 

All those who were in Siberia while United States 
troops were there, and know the extreme prejudices 
that existed, will realize why I have attempted to give 
some of the prominent characteristics of Colonel 
Emerson. 

The action of Consul General Harris, in notifying 
Colonel Emerson that he had received confirmation of 
the report that the Allies and the United States were 
going to intervene in Siberia, and his subsequent actions 
in accordance with this information, created an inex­
plicable situation. It should be kept in mind that this 
statement was made two days before the policy of the 
United States Government, dated July 17, 1918, was 
prepared by the State Department, and- given to me 
more than two weeks later for my guidance. 

At the very moment the policy of the United States, 
with reference to Russia, was being prepared in the 
State Department, solemnly assuring the Russian peo­
ple and notifying all Allied Nations, that the United 
States would not intervene in the internal conflicts of 
the Russian people, the Consul General of the United 
States in Siberia, Mr. E. H. Harris, a representative of 
the State Department, was telling the people of Siberia 
that the United States was a party to the contemplated 
intervention in the internal conflicts of the Russian 
people. 
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This statement can not be refuted because any action 
against the then dominant Russian power in Siberia 
must be construed as taking sides in Russian internal 
conflicts. 

How could such a situation arise? One can only sur­
mise as no explanation was ever made by the State De­
partment and no change was ever made in the policy of 
the Government in so far as this policy applied to the 
use of United States troops in Siberia, and judging 
from the practice of Consul General Harris, his in­
structions received through Peking were never modified. 

The United States, therefore, had its representatives 
of the State Department and War Department work­
ing at cross purposes from the beginning of military 
action in Siberia. 
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T HE first American troops, the 27th Infantry, con­
sisting of S 3 officers and I 5 3 7 enlisted men under 

Colonel Henry D. Styer, arrived in Siberia from, 
Manila, August 16, 1918. The 31st Infantry, with 
46 officers and 1375 men followed a few days later. 
Colonel Styer assumed command of the expedition until 
my arrival, September I. 

Up to the time of my arrival in Vladivostok, I had 
received no information as to the military, political, 
social, economic, or financial situation in Russia. Just 
before I left San Francisco, I received a dispatch from 
Washington, stating in effect, that information seemed 
to indicate that Japan's policy would be to keep the 
various Russian forces apart and oppose any strong 
Russian central authority, but to support a number of 
weak Russian forces which could not form more than 
a screen for Japanese action. If I had known as much 
about the Japanese Military when I received this in­
formation from Washington as I knew later, the mes­
sage would have conveyed much more information to 
my mind. I have often thought it was unfortunate I 
did not know more of the conditions in Siberia than I 
did when I was pitch-forked into the melee at Vladi-
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vostok. At other times I have thought that ignorance 
was not only bliss in such a situation, but was ad­
visable. 

Due, in part at least, to my ignorance of the condi­
tions, I landed in Vladivostok without any pre­
conceived ideas as to what should or should not be done. 
I had no prejudice against any Russian faction and anti­
cipated I would be able to work harmoniously and in a 
cooperative spirit with all the Allies. 

Very early in the morning of September 2, Colonel 
Styer and several American officers came aboard the 
Thomas, and Admiral Austin M. Knight sent an officer 
to extend me an invitation to breakfast with him on the 
old Brooklyn. 

The fact that we were not troubled by custom in­
spectors and quarantine officials was my first initia­
tion into a country without a Government. It is true the 
Czechs were in charge of Vladivostok at that time, but 
their authority was a result of force, not of agreement, 
therefore one national had the same right, as to enter­
ing the town as another. 

I left the Thomas and went to the Brooklyn where 
I met Admiral Knight which proved a very pleas­
ant and helpful association for me, as he had been in 
Vladivostok for nearly six months and was as well 
informed about the situation existing in Siberia as 
anyone. He was generous in sharing his information 
with me and in extending to the Military all assist­
ance possible and every officer and soldier, arriving 
with the first troops in Vladivostok, is indebted to 
him and his officers, for generous assistance at a 
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time when assistance was needed and meant so much 
to us. 

As soon after breakfast as practicable, I went to 
American Headquarters which had been established in 
a building owned by a German Mercantile Company. 
Some Russians claimed to hold an interest in the Com­
pany, but I was never satisfied that this interest was 
not arranged before the Germans left Vladivostok, 
after the beginning of the World War. The building 
was admirably adapted for the Headquarters, as it was 
large enough to furnish office rooms, as well as living 
quarters for officers. 

During the day, Colonel Styer gave me complete in­
formation as to what had been done prior to my ar­
rival. I learned that the 27th Infantry was taking part 
in a combined action against the enemy. The enemy 
being represented to me as Bolsheviks and German 
prisoners. I was satisfied that the American troops 
were not departing from the announced policy of the 
United States Government to refrain from taking any 
part in Russian affairs. 

General Otani (Japanese) was the senior in rank of 
the Allied Commanders. In the afternoon of Septem­
ber 2, I called upon General Otani and, in a very few 
moments after I met him, he asked me if I had in­
structions that he was to command American troops. I 
told him I did not have such instructions, but, on the 
contrary, I had limitations placed upon me as to the use 
of American troops, that would make it necessary for 
me to give all orders for future movements. He said 
that he had been notified by the U. S. State Depart-
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ment that he would be in command. I was informed 
that when Colonel Styer landed in Vladivostok, he 
called upon the senior Allied Commander and asked if 
there were any suggestions as to the best means of co­
operation. General Otani had not arrived at that time, 
and General Oi (Japanese) was the senior of the Allies 
in Vladivostok. General Oi told Colonel Styer that, 
in view of the fact that General Otani had been desig­
nated, at the request of the American Government, for 
the supreme command, his arrival, which was expected 
very soon, might well be awaited. On August I 8 Gen­
eral Otani issued the following order: 

"I have the honor to inform you that I have been 
appointed Commander of the Japanese Army at Vladi­
vostok, by His Majesty, the Emperor of Japan, and 
that I am entrusted, unanimously, by the Allied Powers, 
with the command of their Armies in the Russian Ter­
ritory of the Far East -

"The cooperation and the friendship between our 
Armies will easily permit, from the point of view of 
their command, of rapidity of action and of success 
without any difficulty. I hope, with all my hear~, that 
our Armies will work together for the common aim." 

(signed) General Otani, 
Commander-in-chief of Allied Armies. 

Colonel Styer was puzzled at this order as he had 
received no instruction to that effect from the United 
States Government. He cabled to Washington request­
ing information, and Washington replied that Gen­
eral Graves would soon be in Vladivostok and that he 
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had instructions relating to such matters; this only 
made the question more puzzling to Colonel Styer. I 
have never known, even to this day, the meaning of such 
a remarkable order. I came to know General Otani 
quite well, and I feel that some one had led him to 
believe that he was to be in command of all Allied 
troops. He was not a man to assume such authority and, 
besides, he was a soldier and well knew that Allied 
Commanders could not give up command of troops 
without specific instructions. The question was never 
again mentioned, except once in February, 1920, by 
General Oi who, at that time, had succeeded General 
Otani in command of Japanese troops. The order ap­
plied to all Allied troops, but was never referred to so 
far as I know, during my stay in Siberia. I have always 
supposed that some diplomatic agent, not knowing the 
difference between " Allied Commander " and senior 
of the Allied Commanders, in order to appear agree­
able, told some Japanese representative that General 
Otani would be the Commander of the Allied forces. I 
found General Otani to be a very agreeable man, and 
disposed to be fair in the handling of questions relating 
to our respective forces. The trouble was, one had t~ 
insist upon seeing him and insist very forcefully before 
you could get by his Staff. The Japanese Staff was very 
aggressive and would take advantage, or try to do so, 
o~ every opportunity to enhance their own prestige 
with the class they were supporting. 

General Otani told me an amusing incident that oc­
cu.rred while General Grant was in Japan during his 
trip around the world. General Otani had just gradu-
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ated from the military school and had been designated 
as orderly for General Grant. He said he was very 
anxious to do the right thing, and he could not make 
up his mind whether it showed more respect to Gen­
eral Grant, for him to carry his sabre in the scabbard 
or carry it in his hand; he tried to get advice. but no 
one seemed able to help him, so he finally decided he 
should draw his sabre, as soon as he reported and carry 
it as if on a military duty. The first day he reported, he 
drew his sabre and, with much discomfort, carried it 
all day in his hand. The next day when he re~orted, and 
drew his sabre, General Grant patted him on the 
shoulder and said, " Young man, you had better put 
that in the scabbard, you might stick some one with it;" 

As I was very much impressed by the solemn assur­
ance of the United States that they would not intervene 
in the internal conflicts of the Russian people, I was 
anxious to know the composition of the forces against 
which the Allies and the United States were operating 
north of Vladivostok. All assured me that Bolsheviks 
had been organized and joined by German and Aus· 
trian prisoners and were planning to take the stores at 
Vladivostok. Colonel Styer had cabled on August 19, 
the estimate of the situation, as given by the Japanese 
Chief of Staff. The plan of operations was: 

" First take Habarovsk, r 5 ,ooo armed enemy this 
sector; then advance west by Amur and Manchuria. -
General Otani stated that in his judgment present 
forces assiD"ned to expedition, are insufficient to accom-

' b • • 
plish mission which was and remams solely the extnca-
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tion of the Czechs west of Irkutsk, between whom and 
us are 4?,o~o enemy forces and a long double line of 
communications, to make secure; the Czechs, west of 
Irkutsk, have little ammunition left and are otherwise 
in a pitiable plight, so much so that their relief before 
winter is imperative, if they are to survive. He asked 
all Allied Commanders to so represent to their Gov­
ernments, and that they themselves, send all forces im­
mediat~ly avai.lable, and request Japan to send troops 
at once m sufficient numbers to meet the situation.Japan 
has ready many troops." 

With re~erence to this statement the natural inquiry 
is, where did General Otani get his information? Was 
this statement based upon information, or was it en­
tirely Japanese propaganda? At this time it was not 
possible to send or to receive information from the sec­
tion west of Irkutsk, and when communications were 
opened, we learned from Colonel Emerson, that on 
July r 2, the Czech troops occupied Irkutsk and, subse­
quently, took up the work of consolidating their con­
trol of the communications across Lake Baikal and 
around its Southern end. As previously stated the 
Czechs, by concerted action, had taken the Siberian 
towns west of Irkutsk on May 28, and Vladivostok as 
early as June 28, and had established a new Siberian 
Government in most of the towns taken. This new 
Government was not as radical as the Soviets, but fell 
short of being Absolutists. 

As early as the Spring of r 9 I 8, Japan had made rep­
resentations to the Allied Powers, that: " Because of 
her interests, she was placed in a special position, and 
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asked that should the occupation of Vladivostok and 
the Chinese Eastern and Amur railways be necessary, 
that the task be left to her alone." The United States, 
or more accurately speaking the President of the 
United States, opposed this request on the grounds that 
the Russians would be likely to misconstrue such action. 

In the light of subsequent knowledge .of t~e actual 
situation west of Irkutsk, the only logical mf erence 
from General Otani's statement is that Japan was not, 
as stated by her on August 3, 19 I 8, actuated only .by 
sentiments of sincere friendship toward the Russian 
people. She, undoubtedly, had not given up her ambi­
tion to occupy Eastern Siberia. No one could ~ave been 
associated with Japanese military representatives, as I 
was in Siberia, and escape the conviction that they al­
ways hoped to occupy Eastern Siberia. 

In trying to analyse the situation as given by General 
Otani on August I 9, one must conclude tha~ the Japan­
ese Military Intelligence was absolutely ignorant of 
the real conditions, or that their statement was not 
candid, but aimed to satisfy what they presumed to be 
Allied desires, by exaggerating the magnitude of the 
military problem and recommending heavy reinforce­
ments. At the time General Otani asked for heavy re­
inforcements, he ordered an offensive which must be 
construed as indicating that he had confidence that the 
troops at his disposal could defeat the enem~ lo~g b:­
fore the requested reinforcements could arrive. i? Si­
beria, and, as a matter of fact, the. actual military 
movements ordered by General Otani, proved to be 
little more than skirmishes. The Japanese, subse-
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quently, directed all movements so that success was ac­
complished, without American troops getting into the 
first line positions and observation, which placed the 
Americans in the position of not being able to verify 
by observation, reports of casualties and strength of 
enemy forces. The Intelligence officer of the American 
forces, after a careful inspection of the battle field at 
Kraevski said: 

"My judgement is that the strength of the enemy, 
previous to the combat, at Kraevski, as given to us by 
the Japanese General Staff, and by the Allied Intelli­
gence officers, was greatly exaggerated, as was also 
the current estimate of the enemy casualties." 

On the 6th of September the Japanese Command 
issued an order practically ending the Ussuri Cam­
paign, if it may be so designated, and directed the fol­
lowing movement: 

" The Army will concentrate at Habarovsk the main 
body of the I 2th Division and a portion of the Ameri­
can and the Chinese Armies; to defeat the Austro­
German prisoners and Bolsheviki troops, who are to 
the east of Zeya and important points along the Amur 
railway." 

As another indication that Japan was not candid in 
her representations or in her action I was informed that 
the United States and Japan were each to send about 
ten thousand troops to Siberia, but later Japan said, 
for organizational reasons, she wanted to send twelve 
thousand men. The United States consented to the in­
crease. Between October I I and I 7, I 9 I 8, I made an 
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inspection of United States troops as far north as 
Habarovsk and east of Habarovsk to Bira (about one 
hundred and twenty-five miles) west of Habarovsk, and 
I found nearly all towns occupied, in part at least, by 
Japanese troops. I had previously been informed that 
Japanese troops were at various places on the South­
ern line of the Trans-Siberian, as far west as Chita. On 
October I 8, I reported to the War Department that 
Japan had at least sixty thousand troops in Siberia and 
it was disclosed later, that I had underestimated the 
number by twelve thousand. There was no military 
situation demanding this increase and if Japan felt 
there was such a situation, she would undoubtedly have 
notified the United States with whom she had the agree­
ment to send only twelve thousand men. I have excel­
lent reasons for stating she did not notify the United 
States that she had sent seventy two thousand men to 
Siberia. 

After my trip north, I was forced to the conclusion 
that Japan was indulging in both political and military 
maneuvers, and it soon became apparent that Japan 
was not the only nation working at cross-purposes with 
the announced policy of the United States; it is known 
that England was not only willing but as early as 
March, I 9 I 8, had asked Japan to occupy the Trans­
Siberian Railway. She gave as a reason for this request, 
"That Japan could control the only line of communica­
tion, by which aid could be extended to anti-Bolshevik 
movements in South Russia." In this connection the fol­
lowing suggestions were made by the military repre­
sentatives of the Supreme War Council: 
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"If .Japan demands some compensations for her 
~fforts it may he. necessary to acquiesce in her occupy­
ing a. small port10n of. Eastern Siberia. It is probable 
that m any case she will take part of Siberia, but this 
may prevent her from looking for expansion else­
where." 

When I left the United States for Siberia I did not 
anticipate that I would be involved in th~ political 
squabbles of the Far East, but very soon after my ar­
rival ~n Vla.di.vostok,. ! learned that every act of an 
American, c1~1l or military representative, was repre­
sented as designed for political effect in the Far East. 
This was t~ue of all Russians and practically all Allies. 

At the time of my arrival in Vladivostok when the 
Allied repres~ntatives spoke of Russians, tbey meant 
the old Czarist officials, who felt it was then safe 
enough fo1: them to appear in their gorgeous uniforms 
e_:ery evemng, and parade down Svetlanskaya, the prin­
cipal thoroughfare. The other class was calied " Bol­
sheviks," although, as a matter of fact, the old Czarist 
officials did not claim to be in favour of the reestab­
lishment of a Czar in Russia, and the Russians called 
Bolsheviks, did not claim to be in favour of the Soviet 
Government. The line of cleavage between these two 
classes: however, was distinct enough for anyone to 
recognize. There was ~o such. thing as the mingling of 
the two. The old Czarist officials could see nothing but 
mea~ness, ras~ality, and everything else bad, in any 
Russian who did not agree with them as to what should 
be done to restore the Motherland to a pre-revolution 
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status. As the Allies were so opposed to bolshevism, 
and every form and degree of liberalism was classed as 
such, they were dealing almost exclusively with the 
former Czarist officials. The word " bolshevism " was 
so extended as to easily take in the Zemstvos, a body 
elected by the people, with a right of suffrage extended 
to all males and females of twenty one years of age. 
This situation resulted in all activities in Vladivostok, 
such as telegraph, mail, passport, and civil control of 
the town, being in the hands of former Czarist officials. 
They were not slow to organize so as to make the 
most of this advantage and were soon reaping their re­
venge on Russians who had dared to act contrary to 
their beliefs. 

All Allied representatives seemed to know that the 
principal reason for sending United States troops to 
Siberia was to help the Czechs, but as they occupied 
not only Vladivostok, but all towns from there to the 
Urals, some other claim had to be advanced, if the 
United States continued on to the Western part of 
Siberia. On September 8, I cabled the War De­
partment: 

" Practically all organized resistance, in Siberia, has 
disappeared." 

The old thought of forming an Eastern front had 
not entirely gone, notwithstanding President Wilson's 
steadfast determination that the United States would 
take no part in it. The American soldiers had been 
brought into Siberia by misrepresentation, and the natu­
ral query among Allied representatives was, why not 
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use the same method to get them into European Russia, 
in order to achieve their purpose by indirect means? 

The Allies had apparently sensed the fact that 
President Wilson was intensely interested in the fate 
of the Czechs. I was not only ignorant as to the discus­
sions which led to intervention, but I was ignorant as 
to the political schemes of the Far East. For a few days, 
I was disposed to take the statements of prominent 
Allies at full value, and act accordingly. I find from my 
records that on September I 2, I notified the War De­
partment that the Czechs were returning to the West 
to help out the Czechs west of the Urals. On the 8th 
of September, I was notified that the English, French, 
Japanese, and Czechs desired to go as far as the Volga 
River before winter, and desired to know the attitude 
of the United States. 

On September I 9, I cabled: 

"French and English are, undoubtedly, trying to get 
the Allied forces committed to some act which will re­
sult in the establishment of an Eastern front." 

On, or about, September 9; Captain Hasurak, 
Czech, General Gaida's Adjutant, arrived in Vladi­
vostok from the West, and reported that the Czech 
situation west of the Urals, was such as to demand im­
mediate assistance from the Allies. On September 27, 
I received a cable stating that American forces would 
not go further west than Lake Baikal, and stating that 
if the Czechs withdrew to the westward, my responsi­
bility would extend only to helping keep the line open. I 
was notified that the message of the President, rela-
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tive to the use of troops in Russia and Siberia, had been 
sent to all Allied Governments, and this helped me 
very materially in my dealing with the Allied repre­
sentatives. 

The Allies, however, were not willing to play the Si­
berian tune with many strings to their bow; that 
would leave too many chances for discord. They had, 
early in the game, represented to the United States 
Government the advisability of organizing an inter­
Allied Board whose duties, among others, would be to 
insure unity of action towards the Russian people, and 
deciding political disputes. This was flatly disapproved 
by the United States Government, but as will be shown 
later, this was not the end of the efforts to secure unity 
of action. There could be no such thing as unity of ac­
tion because the representatives of England, France, 
and Japan were partisans in the Russian conflicts and 
I was not. This made cooperation impossible as long as 
my orders remained as originally issued. 

Soon after the Armistice, the representatives of Eng­
land and France began to criticize me for my failure to 
cooperate, and spoke of the Russian faction supported 
by them as "the forces of law and order," and by im­
plication, charging other Russian factions as repre­
senting lawlessness and disorder. This designation was 
not in accord with the facts, and, undoubtedly, was 
adopted because it sounded well where real conditions 
were not known. 

The senior Japanese representative at the Confer­
ence on Limitation of Armanent, at Washington, D. C. 
in 1921, and 1922, made a statement to the Confer­
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ence that about the time the Allied troops were dis­
patched to Siberia, Japan decided to give Semeonoff 
material support, " in order to check the Bolshevik in­
fluence from permeating the Far East" " and that 
Japan was only following the line of policy adopted by 
some of the Allied Powers, notably Great Britain and 
France, to entrust to Russian forces the task of resist­
ing the Bolshevik menace." This is good evidence that 
England, France, and Japan had an understanding be­
fore they sent troops to Siberia, and that one great pur­
pose of intervention was to fight bolshevism. 

The action of the representatives of England, 
France, and Japan during the entire time I was in 
Siberia, coupled with the information that has come to 
light since intervention, leads one irresistably to the 
conclusion that there were two main reasons for mili­
tary intervention in Siberia. The first reason was the 
desire to take action which would aid the Allies in 
the prosecution of the War; the second reason was the 
desire to resist the spread of Bolshevistic ideas. I am 
unable to say which of the two ideas predominated in 
the decision for Allied intervention. My lack of experi­
ence in international affairs, lead me at first to give too 
much credence to the statements of various Nationals 
as to the objects to be attained by intervention in Si­
beria. The private discussions by the representatives 
of England, France, and Japan, as to the reasons for 
intervention in Russia, as subsequently disclosed, 
stressed the need for preventing the spread of bolshe­
vism to the Far East. 

In a book by Frederick Lewis Schuman, entitled 
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"American Policy Toward Russia," pages 96 and 97, 
appears the following: 

"The American Consul Grey, at Omsk, received a 
cipher message from the American Consulate at Sa­
mara, dated July 22, 1918, which transmitted a com­
munication from Consul General Poole, in Moscow, 
under date of June 18: "You may inform the Czecho­
Slovak leaders, confidentially, that pending further no­
tice the Allies will be glad, from a political point of 
view, to have them hold their present position. On the 
other hand they should not be hampered in meeting the 
military exigency of the situation. It is desirable first of 
all, that they should secure the control of the Trans­
Siberian Railway, and second, if this is assumed at the 
same time possible, (possibly) retain control over the 
territory which they now dominate. Inform the French 
representative that the French Consul General joins in 
these instructions 1 " 

The Mr. Poole referred to, is the same man who 
later had charge of Russian Affairs in the State De­
partment in '\Vashington. This shows that American 
Consul General Poole,. in European Russia, without 
giving his authority, on June 18, 1918, was taking sides 
in the Russian conflict in Siberia, while on June 8, Con­
sul General Harris, in Siberia, said that all United 
States Government representatives had specific instruc­
tions not to take sides in Russian affairs, and not to 
take sides in party strife. Mr. Harris pursued this 
policy until July 2, when he stated that he received 
confirmation from the " Peking Legation " of the in­
tention of the United States to engage in military inter-
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vention, which had for its object hostile action against 
the Soviets, no matter what reasons were publicly 
stated. As previously noted, I received my orders, writ­
ten July 17, on August 3, which were given, not only 
to the United States Military, but were in the form of 
a policy, applicable to all United States representa­
tives, in which there were definite, clear, and positive 
instructions that no United States representative would 
intervene or take sides in Russian affairs. My instruc­
tions came direct from Washington, but I have never 
seen any statement that Mr. Poole was acting under 
instructions from the State Department, when he de­
cided to advise the Czechs, in the name of the Allies, 
to take certain action, which could only be construed 
by them as a statement by the senior United States 
Representative in Russia, that the United States was 
a party to intervention in Siberia. Mr. Harris cites as 
his authority for changing from "non-interference " 
to the policy of taking sides, the confirmation: from 
" Peking Legation " of a report handed around in 
Western Siberia, by Major Guinet of France. The 
Peking Legation was not competent to give instruc­
tions to Consul General Harris, and if it was transmit­
ting instructions from Washington, why was Washing­
ton not given as the authority for the change in policy? 

The different policies followed by the representa­
tives of the United States in European Russia and in 
Siberia, unfortunately create a justifiable belief that the 
United States was not entirely frank and candid in its 
dealings with the Russian people. Mr. Poole's sugges­
tion to the Czechs that " they should not be hampered 
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in meeting the military exigencies of the situation " had 
the appearance of containing intended and carefully 
prepared subtleties. If I had to determine the meaning 
of this sentence, I should unhesitatingly say it was a 
subtle suggestion to the Czechs that the Allies would 
not object to their beginning military operations against 
the Soviets. I realize, however, that the sentence is so 
worded that Mr. Poole, if the occasion arose, could 
deny that he had such an idea. 

Mr. Poole certainly could not think that the Czech 
Military would wait for the approval of the Allied Con­
sular representatives in Moscow, before taking action 
to meet "the military exigencies of the situation " in 
Siberia, especially when the record shows it took one 
month and four days for the message from Mr. Poole 
to reach Consul Grey in Omsk. Why was Consul Gen­
eral Poole sending information to the Czechs as to 
what the Allies desired? It seems to me he was used by 
the Allied representatives in European Russia to pull 
a chestnut out of the fire for them. 

This action of Mr. Poole's resulted in a very notice­
able resentment against the United States by the Czechs 
who remained in Western Siberia. This was so palpable 
when these Czechs arrived in Vladivostok, that I took 
up the question with Czech Headquarters to ascertain 
the cause. 

Mr. Poole by his communication led the Czechs, or 
helped lead them, to believe the United States and the 
Allies were going to intervene in Siberia. As a result 
of this belief the Czechs willingly remained in West­
ern Siberia, always hoping and expecting that United 
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Sta.tes and Allied troops would soon come 
1
to their 

assistance. 
These Czechs not only experienced great hardships 

during the Winter of I 9 I 8 and I 919, but many of them 
lost their lives in fighting the Bolsheviks in an effort to 
secure and keep control of the Trans-Siberian Railway, 
at the request of the Allies. Put yourself in the place 
of the Czech soldiers, and ask yourself if, under the 
circumstances, you would have any resentment? 

How can the action of Consul General Poole be rec­
onciled with the statement of Consul General Harris 
(quoted in the second chapter) made the 8th of June, 
ten days before the message of Mr. Poole was con­
veyed to the Czechs, through Consul Grey? Mr. Harris 
says on the 8th: " 

"The President of the United States has issued 
specific instructions to all official representatives of the 
l[nited States in ~ussia, to .in no way i~terfere, recog­
nize or become mixed up with any fact10n or partisan 
strife in Russia or Siberia." 

T?ere were American soldiers in Archangel during 
the time Mr. Poole was Consul General, and if reports 
are true, and there is no doubt in my mind as to their 
accuracy, the direction of American troops was turned 
over to the British. A participant in the campaign has 
recorded his impressions in a book entitled, " Arch­
angel, The American War with Russia." In this work 
on page 30 the writer says: 

"No war, but in the province of Archangel, on six 
scattered battle-fronts, American soldiers, under Brit-
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ish command, were ' standing to ' behind snow trenches 
and improvised barricades, while soldiers of the Soviet 
cause crashed Porn Porn projectiles at them, and shook 
them with high explosives and shrapnel, blasted them 
with machine-guns, and sniped at any reckless head that 
showed from cover I " 

On page 7 5 of this same book, the writer states: 

" Also there was an American Consulate, with an 
American Consul-General, De Witt C. Poole, who at 
times appeared to take over a supervision of the Ameri­
can share in this strange, strange war with Russia." 

On page 28, the writer gives some instructions, 
cabled by the State Department to the American Am­
bassador, on August 3, 1918, (the day my instructions 
were made public) . These instructions, ·in so far as 
object to be attained by the troops in Northern Rus­
sia goes, were identical with that part of my instructions 
previously quoted. This seems to justify the con­
clusion that the United States troops in Northern Rus­
sia had the same general instructions as to policies that 
were given the troops in Siberia. It is not possible for 
me to make any definite statement about the expedition 
to Northern Russia, because, so far as I know, the 
United States has not given any information to the 
public relative to the expedition to Siberia or to North­
ern Russia, but if these two expeditions had the same 
instructions, how is it possible that the Archangel ex­
pedition was used in hostile combat against the Soviet 
forces, while the Siberian expedition was not? This 
hostile action against the Soviets, was particularly puz-
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zling as the President stated to the United States 
Senate on June 26, l9I9: 

"The instructions to General Graves direct him not 
to interfere in Russian affairs." If the same instructions 
applied in Northern Russia, as seems very probable, 
why did the United States troops in Northern Russia 
interfere in Russian affairs? 

When in Siberia, I had never seen any definite state­
ment as to the policy of France, but such statement 
was unnecessary, as the actions of the French repre­
sentatives clearly showed they were following the same 
policy as the English and the Japanese, and the cor­
rectness of this surmise was confirmed by a statement 
made on behalf of the French Government at the 
Limitation of Arms Conference, which was, in part: 

" The French Government would have the same 
feelings, the formal assurance given by Baron Shide­
hara of the intention of the Japanese Government con­
cerning Siberia; of Japan's desire to withdraw her 
troops from Russia as soon as possible; of its firm pur­
pose to respect the integrity of Russia. France accepted 
these assurances with all the more pleasure because it 
was exactly the program which the French Government 
had adopted in l 9 l 8." 

I could never reconcile the statements of the Allied 
representatives relative to intervention in Russia, with 
the actions of their representatives in Siberia. The 
word" Bolshevik," as used in Siberia, covered most of 
the Russian people and to use troops to fight Bolshe­
viks or to arm, equip, feed, clothe or pay white Russians 
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to fight them was utterly inconsistent with " non­
interference with the internal affairs of Russia." If 
England, France, and Japan intended to use their troops 
in fighting bolshevism when they entered Siberia, why 
was this intention not made public at that time? It 
is difficult for a layman to understand diplomatic 
language. 

Fortunately, for the comfort of the troops, we were 
very comfortably settled before the Russian and Allied 
representatives in Vladivostok knew what my attitude 
would be towards "combating bolshevism." It was 
very easy for the Russians to help secure quarters or, 
it was equally as easy for them to say they could give 
no assistance. The officials who were said to have been 
put in authority by the Russians, and were really put 
in positions by the Allies, were all pro-Czarist, and 
were very anxious for the Americans to see the neces­
sity for the establishment of some form of Govern­
ment in Russia, that would restore them to the same 
position, or, at least, the same pay status, as they had 
during the Czarist regime. They gave us every assist­
ance in getting settled. Czarist Russi.a had planned to 
make Vladivostok such a strong military station that 
it could be defended from an attack from the sea, with 
probable success, and in their plans they had built ex­
cellent barracks for many thousand men. These bar­
racks were very comfortable, with the exception of 
bathing facilities which did not exist. No effort had 
been made since the Russian soldiers had left the bar­
racks in I 9 I 4, to keep the civil population from using 
them and, as a consequence, they were frightfully filthy. 
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After they were cleaned, however, they were much 
more comfortable than I had expected to find them. 
As the population increased to about two hundred 
thousand, to be housed in a place built for half that 
number and, as the number of Allied troops increased 
and the Russian troops were mobilized, the demand 
for barracks became very pressing. We would not give 
up the barracks we obtained when we first arrived and, 
in this way, we were able to comply with War Depart­
ment orders, as to the required air space for soldiers, 
although at times it became embarrassing to justify the 
need of twice the air space considered necessary for a 
Japanese or Russian soldier. 

Some of our troops had to be distributed along the 
railroad to guard bridges or culverts, as the supply 
requirements made it necessary to keep the railroad 
open. These men generally lived in a box car, more 
often than not the car was removed from the running 
gear, put on the ground, and banked with dirt when 
possible. Most of the cars were of double thickness 
and, while not comfortable, were better than one would 
expect to find in a cold country iike Siberia. 

Soon after my arrival, I inquired as to arrangements 
made for paying for the building taken for Head­
quarters and I was informed that the building belonged 
to Germans and that no questions were asked as to 
payment. I wanted all financial dealings of the United 
States kept up to date so as to avoid claims after 
American troops had left Siberia, so I ordered a board 
of officers to consult the owners or agents and, if no 
agreement could be reached as to the price we should 
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pay, to submit a report to me. Some Russians claimed 
ownership to the building and had papers that seemed 
to justify their claim. These Russians said the rental 
was worth eight thousand a month, but as we were 
Americans, they would only charge us six thousand. 
The board went to see the Russian who was acting 
Mayor, and found that the cost of all buildings was on 
record as, also, was the amount the owner should 
charge for use of his building in case it was taken for 
military purposes. In case of congestion of the people 
of Vladivostok, the law provided for an increase of 
fifty per-cent over the normal rent. If we complied with 
the law in force in Vladivostok, the most we could pay 
for the building was seven hundred and fifty a month 
instead of eight thousand. I was surprised when the 
Mayor asked us not to pay the owner more than the 
legal rate. This was a bright spot in my dealings with 
official Russians. This official of the city had, however, 
been elected by the citizens of Vladivostok. 

Colonel Styer, prior to my arrival, had gotten some 
, large buildings belonging to the railroad, to be used 

as storerooms. These were excellent for the purpose, 
and could be reached by our Transports, except when 
the harbour was frozen over. They were at the extreme 
southern end of the bay and .about three miles from 
American Headquarters. The ice-breakers could not 
operate this far down, but there was a narrow gauge 
railway that enabled us to get our supplies to our store 
houses without hauling. 

General Horvath, while in charge of Russian affairs 
in the Far East, came to me and apologized for asking 
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rent for these buildings, as Americans were helping 
to keep the railroad open, but said they needed some 
money and the United States was the only country from 
which they had any hope of getting funds. I told him 
I would not approve the payment but I would send his 
request to Washington. I dis~pproved the_ request, stat­
ing that to pay rent for bmldmgs occupied _by troops 
guarding the railway was analogous to sendmg troops 
to guard a man's house, and paying the man for the 
use of his stable while guarding his house. I was very 
much surprised when the paper came back, directing 
me to pay five or six thousand dollars a month for the 
use of these empty buildings. 

As the Czech question had been settled, if there ever 
had been a Czech question in Siberia previous to my 
arrival in Vladivostok, and as I was told not to inter­
vene in the internal conflicts, there was nothing left 
for United States troops to do but to help carry out the 
part of my instructions which stated: " ~he only legiti­
mate object for which American or Allied troops can 
be employed, is to guard military stores, which may 
subs~quently be needed by Russian forces." Before I 
could take any steps " to render such aid, as may be 
acceptable, to the Russians in the organization of their 
own self-defense," manifestly some decision had to be 
made as to what faction constituted the Russians re­
ferred to in the policy. The decision could only be made 
in Washington and the conditions were such that you 
could not render any assistance to any Russian, with­
out throwing overboard the policy of ~on-interve?tion 
in their internal affairs. I could not give a Russian a 
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shirt without being subjected to the charge of trying 
to help the side to which the recipient of the shirt 
belonged. 

As to protecting property; there was evidence every­
where, that the property needed protection, not from 
the German and Austrian prisoners, but from anyone 
who wanted to take it. The hills were covered with 
property of all kinds, which had been bought by the 
old Czarist or Kerensky Government and dumped 
where a place could be found. I was much impressed 
by a large number of bales of cotton thrown on the 
ground, with no covering and with nothing under the 
cotton to protect it from the dampness. There were 
great piles of rubber that was reported as needed by 
the Allies, and there must have been at least one thou­
sand automobiles that had never been taken out of the 
crates. Any individual could have taken any of this 
property if he had desired to do so. There was some 
safety to it, due to the fact that an individual could not 
have gotten the property out of Siberia if he had taken 
it, and he could not have used it in Vladivostok. 

At the first meeting of the Military Commanders, I 
suggested that we, each Allied Commander, have a 
record of all Russian property taken out, or authorized 
to be taken out of Vladivostok. The list was to show 
the destination, and for what purpose it was removed. 
General Knox, the British Commander, informed me 
that all of this property had been bought with British 
money and he proposed to distribute it as he saw fit 
and that he did not intend anyone should have anything 
to say about it. I told the Allied Commanders my rea-
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sons for wishing the record, but this seemed to excite 
General Knox more than my first statement. I then in­
formed him I had no information about who bought 
the property, but I felt Russia had satisfied the nation 
from which she bought it, as to payment before it was 
delivered. The question was dropped without adoption 
of my suggestions. This controversy with General 
Knox, which took place in September, 1918, was again 
brought to my mind when I read in the Congressional 
Record of February 26, 1921, that $53,186,352.70, 
of the money the United States had loaned to the 
Kerensky Government, had been expended for " ex­
change and cotton purchases." 

Each day the situation was becoming more tense and 
it was evident, at each meeting of the Allied Com­
manders, that the military representatives of England, 
France, and Japan were standing together on all propo­
sitions. I do not believe that any unbiased person, who 
had personal knowledge of conditions, will claim that 
the representatives of England, France, and Japan did 
not take sides in the internal conflicts of the Russian 
people. These representatives not only did not deny, 
but boasted about their efforts to destroy, what they 
called, bolshevism. 

It soon became evident at these Allied meetings, that 
I was an unknown quantity, and their principal darts 
were fired at me, when any differences arose. There 
were basic differences in our policies which could never 
be reconciled as long as my instructions remained. Eng­
land, France, and Japan always had as their objective 
to do all the damage possible to Bolsheviks, while I was 
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trying to keep out of trouble with any Russian party. 
The principle of non-intervention had been broadcast 
throughout the world and everyone in Siberia, Russian 
and foreigner, knew of this promise before Allied 
troops entered Siberia. From my point of view, this 
policy was sound and there isn't a nation on earth, that 
would not resent foreigners sending troops into their 
country, for the purpose of putting this or that faction 
in charge of their Governmental machinery. The result 
is not only an injury to the prestige of the foreigner 
intervening, but is a great handicap to the faction the 
foreigner is trying to assist. 

The moment that the United States took sides in the 
Russian conflict, which was at variance with the solemn 
assurance made to the Russian people by President 
Wilson, her reputation for honesty of purpose and fair 
dealing was discredited. · 

The Czechs in Siberia were naturally liberal minded 
men. They had had enough of autocracy and were will­
ing to fight bolshevism, because they visualized it as 
being an agent of Germany and Austria, and because 
it seemed to stand between them and their aspiration 
to establish a republican Czecho-Slovakia. As soon as 
they realized that fighting bolshevism meant not only 
combatting all forms of liberalism, but it meant the 
placing of what governmental power was left into the 
hands of people who had held office during the Ro­
manoff dynasty, and who probably had the Czarist 
ideas as to Government; then the Czech could no longer 
march in step with England, France, and Japan. 

The Canadians and the Chinese (to. use an English 
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expression), could not see " eye to eye," with the three 
nations above mentioned. As I saw the Canadians, they 
constituted a conscientious and serious minded force. It 
is no secret to say they did not believe in the oppressive 
and repressive measures used by the Kolchak support­
ers against the people, which measures, if not entirely 
approved by General Knox and Sir Charles Eliot, were 
not resented by them. The practices of killing, imprison­
ing, and beating the people, because they had certain 
ideas, were repulsive to the Canadians. They could not 
understand the repeated statements of Governments 
that they did not intend to depart from the traditional 
policy of non-interference in the internal affairs of the 
Russian people and, at the same time, act in a manner 
that would cause ninety-nine and nine-tenths per-cent 
of the individuals, who were cognizant of these acts, 
to construe them as interference of the most objection­
able kind. 

I was one time notified, by a high ranking Canadian 
officer, of a serious situation arising in the Canadian 
forces due to their objection to certain instructions 
given by Sir Charles Eliot, the British High Commis­
sioner, and soon after the incident the Canadians were 
sent back to Canada. I have never seen any official state­
ment as to the reason for sending these troops home, 
but I have seen a printed statement, in an English book, 
to the effect that they were not entirely satisfactory; 
as to why they were not satisfactory, the statement 
did not disclose. To those of us in Siberia, there was 
no occasion for disclosing the reasons, for that was 
very apparent. As the Canadian soldiers were under 
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the direction of British authority, the Czarist propa­
gandists did not like to stigmatize them by that terrible 
word "Bolsheviki," as they would have done had they 
come from the United States instead of Canada. 

The Italian Commander informed me that he had 
instructions from his Government, to vote with the 
American representative on every proposition. This 
placed the representatives of England, France, and 
Japan in the minority and in an awkward position, as 
General Knox thought he should shape the actions of 
the Allied Military representatives in Siberia. As soon 
as he had decided that the United States would not, 
under any conditions, take part, either directly or in­
directly, in the formation of an Eastern front, he easily 
switched to the idea that the Allied troops should be 
used in fighting bolshevism, and when he found him­
self often opposed by the majority of the Allied Com­
manders, his bitterness and resentment grew to a white 
heat, and he seemed to be especially bitter against Ad­
miral Knight and me. It was often brought to me that 
he was very open in his criticism of President Wilson 
and his resentment was so intense that he forgot him­
self and, more than once, criticized the United States 
representatives where the criticism was resented. One 
evening, at the British dinner table where an American 
was present as a guest, he characterized Admiral 
Knight and me as being stupid and stubborn. 

During September General Gaida came to Vladivos­
tok, and I met him for the first time. He was accom­
panied by General Paris, the senior French officer in 
the Far East at the time, and by other French officers. 

[ 84] 



BEFORE THE ARMISTICE 

General Paris also had ambitions to form an Eastern 
front and was inclined to be critical of Americans for 
not doing as he thought they should do. General Gaida 
was a young man, about twenty-eight at the time, and 
flushed by his success at Irkutsk. I thought it advisable 
to tell him not to expect American troops to go west 
of Lake Baikal, as he was being used by Allied repre­
sentatives to do what he could to get each nation to 
send troops west. 

Unfortunately, for unity of action, Dr. Teusler, 
handling the American Red Cross, came into the pic­
ture at this time, and it seemed to be very common 
knowledge that he was a cousin of Mrs. Woodrow 
Wilson. He was a very staunch Autocrat and had lived 
in Japan for something like eighteen years. He prob­
ably expected to return to Japan when he finished his 
Red Cross work in Siberia, or at least he did return to 
Japan. He appeared to be more in sympathy with the 
British, French, and Japanese attitude than he was 
with the American policy of non-interference. 

As soon as General Gaida had left me, Dr. Teusler 
told him that he knew this was the announced policy 
of the United States, but if a situation should arise 
where the Czech found it necessary to telegraph me 
that they needed military assistance, I would not dare 
to refuse and would start American troops west at 
once. Major Slaughter, United States Army, was pres­
ent and heard this statement of Dr. Teusler and, as 
soon as he had an opportunity, copied it from memory 
and sent it to me. Dr. Teusler being a relative of Mrs. 
Wilson's, caused foreigners to attach more importance 
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to his views of policy, than they would if he had not 
been so related. Major Slaughter also reported that 
General Paris, while travelling west with General 
Gaida, " had criticized the attitude of the United 
States to the Czechs and that it is doing us considerable 
harm, at the present time." 

In September, Semeonoff, who was later shown to be 
a murderer, robber and a most dissolute scoundrel, 
also came to see me. He was being financed by Japan 
and had no convictions that would interfere with his 
doing as the Japanese directed. He always remained 
within striking distance of Japanese troops. As a mat­
ter of fact, he had to do this because he could not have 
existed one week in Siberia, if he had not had the pro­
tection of Japan. He was always talking about "the 
restoration of the Motherland." 

During September and October the Allied repre­
sentatives and the Russian representatives were trying 
to " size me up " and I, at the same time, was trying 
to " size them up." I do not know what success they 
had, but, as for myself, I was being disillusioned very 
fast. I had expected to find representatives of the Allies 
and Russians with no motives other than to help Russia. 
Russians belonging to different political factions, such 
as Monarchists and Social revolutionists, or classes 
such as peasants, as well as representatives of the 
Zemstvo, were coming to see me, evidently with an idea 
of determining what my attitude was going to be to­
wards their problems, and I was glad to tell them that 
the United States troops would not interfere in their 
internal affairs or political questions. This, as was to 
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be expected, pleased some and disap.pointed others. In 
October, a Russian officer in Czarist military uniform, 
came to my office and said he was an official, or at least 
he held some official position. This man told me I was 
seeing people whose policies they objected to and the 
people he represented wanted me to stop seeing them. 
I asked him how they expected me to keep in touch 
with conditions and he replied, "We will furnish you 
with all the information it is necessary for you to 
know." I told him I would talk to anyone I pleased. 
The Russian, in true Cossack style, stood up, clapped 
his heels together, saluted, left my office, and I had 
made enemies of another Russian faction. I was amused 
and thought such an idea could only be found in an 
autocratic country like old Russia. Later, however, 
General Knox came to me and said that " I was getting 
the reputation of being a friend of the-poor and didn't 
I know they were only swine." 

On October I I, I left Vladivostok for Habarovsk 
and beyond, with a view to inspecting the 27th Infantry. 
We obtained a special train but the train service was 
most uncertain. We had, however, a field clerk at 
American Headquarters, who had been employed as a 
railway manager on this same railroad, and he was 
able to push the train through in excellent time. The 
country through which we passed was intensely inter­
esting because of unexpected fertility of the soil which 
produced very fine grain, hay and, in fact, nearly any­
thing the peasants used. At one place near Nikolsk, the 
land was a rolling prairie, entirely planted in wheat, 
and at another place, the land, as far as one could see 
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on both sides of the track, had also been planted in 
wheat. There were no detached houses, such as one 
sees in the United States, but the peasants lived in vil­
lages and . sometimes went five, six, or seven miles to 
their fields. They did not need to fence their hay fields. 
They went out at the proper time to cut their hay, 
stacked it on the ground, put a fence around it, and left 
it until it was needed for the animals. I was informed 
they generally turned the animals into the small corral 
around the hay stack, left them as long as there was any 
hay, and then would move on to another stack. I was 
told the grain consisted, generally, of wheat, oats, and 
buckwheat. The country we passed through the first day 
was very much like parts of Nebraska or Kansas. 

Our sleeper on this trip was a first class Trans­
Siberian coach. These are large wooden coaches with 
nine compartments and an aisle running down one side 
of the car. The compartments· can be opened or sepa­
rated by sliding doors, as the occupants desire. The cars 
have lower and upper berths, running crosswise the 
car, instead of lengthwise. The berths are wider and 
give more room than the Pullmans in the United States. 
The tracks in Siberia are five feet wide, instead of four 
feet eight inches as in the United States. 

On the morning of October 12, we began to see some 
of the trees, said to be so plentiful in Siberia. I saw a 
thin coating of ice on a pool of water which was the 
first I had seen, although this was nearly four hundred 
miles north of Vladivostok. 

We arrived at Habarovsk at IO A.M., and spent th~ 
day inspecting the quarters of the officers and men of 
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the 27th Infantry. I was very much pleased with their 
winter accommodations. 

In September, during the campaign, or at least when 
we thought the Japanese were conducting a campaign, 
some of the 27th Infantry had been sent west of Ha­
barovsk as far as Bira, about one hundred and twenty­
five miles. They also occupied three or four towns 
between Habarovsk and Bira and I wanted to see how 
these men were faring. I took Colonel Styer with me 
and our train left for Bira at 6 o'clock in the evening, 
where we arrived the next morning, before daylight. 
I stepped out of the car as soon after dawn. as possible 
and the only thing alive, that I could see, was an Ameri­
can soldier, posted as a sentinel, around the railroad 
station. I asked him what his orders were and he re­
plied, "To pick up any papers he saw around the sta­
tion." I asked him who were in the station, and he said, 
" some Japanese officers and Japanese soldiers." I 
looked for the town but could see only a few straggling 
huts built along the stream. We found the Americans 
in some old box cars, although the Captain of the Com­
pany had gone hunting. I asked the men how they liked 
it; they were very enthusiastic and said they hoped I 
would let them spend the winter there. When I in­
spected the kitchen I noticed they had two large salmon 
for dinner; I asked where and how they caught them, 
and they replied, in a pool of water by the river, and 
that they had caught them by hand. They said squirrels 
and bear came into their camp. I could see no reason 
for troops at Bira, and told Colonel Styer to move the 
Company back to Habarovsk. On the return trip, we 
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stopped and inspected troops at Tchank.a and Inn. I 
could see no reason for keeping troops at any of. these 
stations, so ordered that all be brought to Habarovsk. 

I have often wondered why the Japanese wanted 
troops at these out of the way stations and t~e only 

. conclusion I could come to was that they felt 1f they 
could keep troops at such stations, J apa~ co~ld _justify 
sending seventy-two thousand men to Siberia instead 
of twelve thousand as agreed upon with the United 

States. 
On the trip from Bira to Habarovsk, we saw miles 

of beautiful woods which were part of the three hun­
dred million acres of virgin timber east of Lake Baikal. 
I don't know enough about trees to say what kinds 
these were, but it is claimed there are between fifty 
and sixty varieties in Siberia. 

Just before reaching Habarovsk, we passed over 
the Amur River on one of the most beautiful bridges 
I ever saw and it is said to be the third longest bridge 
in the world. It is of steel construction, lighted by elec­
tricity and consists of twenty-five spans. 

When I reached Habarovsk, I saw General Oi, 
Japanese Commander of the 12th Division, and not~­
fied him that I had ordered the removal of all Ameri­
can troops from west of Habarovsk. I also met for the 
first time, the notorious murderer, robber, and cut­
throat Kalmikoff. He was the worst scoundrel I ever 
saw or ever heard of and I seriously doubt, if one 

. should go entirely through the Standard Dictionary, 
looking for words descriptive of crime, if a crime could 
be found that Kalmikoff had not committed. He was 
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armed and financed by Japan, in their efforts "to help 
the Russian people." I say this advisedly, because I 
have evidence that would satisfy any open-minded per­
son. Kalmikoff murdered with his own hands, where 
Semeonoff ordered others to kill, and therein lies the 
difference between Kalmikoff and Semeonoff. To use a 
Russian expression, Kalmikoff was "liquidated " 
(killed) by the Chinese when he was driven out of 
Siberia and tried to take refuge in China. Semeonoff 
was later driven out of Siberia and took refuge in Japan 
where he still lives. 

I invited Mr. Carl W. Ackerman, representing the 
New York Times, and Mr. Herman Bernstein, of the 
Herald-Tribune, to go with me on my trip to Bira. 
These gentlemen were very keen observers, very much 
interested in the Russians and were anxious to learn 
the policy of•the United States. 

I have never been able to understand by what means 
or by what agencies the people of the United States 
were led to believe our troops went to Siberia to fight 
bolshevism. I could always understand why certain 
foreigners misrepresented the policy of American 
troops in Siberia, because I understood the object of 
this misrepresentation. The New York Times was cer­
tainly well informed on all International questions 
during the Wilson administration, and no paper in the 
United States had a better opportunity for obtaining 
real facts. Mr. Carl Ackerman, a representative of 
this paper, came to Siberia in October, 19 I 8 and later 
stated, with reference to a conversation I had with an 
officer relative to the arrest of a Russian because he 
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said he was a Bolshevik, that my instructions to the 
officer, "was the first intimation he had that the United 
States did not consider the Bolsheviks, everywhere, as 
enemies of the Allies." 

As an indication of the erroneous impression that 
prevails, as to the use of American troops in Siberia, 
an article, in the New York Times of December 7, 
1930, purports to give an account of a reply made by 
the late General Bliss, to a proposal by Marshal Foch 
for Allied action against Russia, at a meeting March 
27, 1919, of the Big Four. The information contained 
in the article is reported as coming from Mr. Herbert 
Bayard Swope, who was chairman of the press delega­
tion, to the Paris Peace Conference. The statement, in 
part is: 

"Before the Armistice the United States, in common 
with other Allies, had sent troops into Russia to pre­
vent, among other things, the possible capture of Rus­
sian munition supplies by the Germans. These troops 
were now in Siberia assisting White Russian detach­
ments in fighting the Red armies." 

The United States troops in Siberia, never engaged 
in fighting Red troops, before or after the Armistice. 
They did take part in a campaign in September, 19 l 8, 
but the enemy forces were reported as being partly 
composed of German and Austrian prisoners. I be­
lieved this report, else American troops would not have 
taken part in this campaign. 

In the same article, above referred to, appeared a 
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purported statement of President Wilson also in reply 
to Marshal Foch's proposal as follows: 

"To send troops, would be to create a state of War 
into which the United States could not enter withou~ 
a former dec!aration, by Congress, so I could not send 
a man, even rf I wanted to, which I do not." 

The United States never entered into a state of War 
with Russi~, ~r any faction of Russia. It was equally 
as ~nc~nst1~ut1~nal to use American troops in hostile 
act10n m Siberia against any faction of Russia, as it 
would have been to send them to Russia with a view 
to using them in hostile action against the Russians. 
If I had permitted American troops to be used in fight­
ing " Red armies,'' as stated, I would have taken an 
imm~nse responsibility upon myself, as no one above 
me, m authority, had given me any such orders. The 
fact that I did not permit American troops to be so 
used was responsible for nine-tenths of the criticism 
directed against us, while in Siberia. I was told by Gen­
eral ~eonard Wood, upon my return from the Far 
East m December, 1920, that if I did not have copies 
of my papers I would be " torn limb from limb in the 
United States, because I did not take part in fighting 
bolshevism." 

. It ~as ~eci~ed early _in September, just after my ar~ 
rival m Siberia, that 1t would be advisable to send 
~roops to t~e Suchan Coal Mines with a view to open­
mg the mmes. These mines were situated about 
seventy-fiv.e miles east ?f Vladivostok and supplied coal 
for the Primorsk provmce and for the opera ti on of the 
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railroads in Eastern Siberia. The last forty-eight versts 
of the trip to the mines was made on a narrow gauge 
road, operated by cable. The political pot had been 
boiling around these mines for some time prior. to the 
arrival of the Allied troops, and the controversies had 
virtually stopped operations. Allied Commanders un­
selfishly decided that the United States should look 
after this section. I consented and we sent a company 
of 250 Americans, a company of Japanese troops, and 
one Company of Chinese; all to be under the super­
vision of an American officer in so far as guards were 
concerned. This proved to be the " stormy petrel " of 
all our Siberian experiences. At this period of interven­
tion the Allied Commanders conferred as to con di-

' tions at Suchan and as to what was best to be done. 
The manager of the mines had previously been run out 
by the Bolsheviks, but the Allied Commanders tho~ght 
it was advisable to return him, as he knew the mmes 
and would probably produce more coal and incidentally 
more trouble for the Americans. This undertaking, at 
best, required military, political, and economic consid­
eration. To return the old manager added materially 
to the po1itical complications. The manager, howe;er, 
said he was an engineer and politics never entered mto 
his calculations, but we found he changed considerably 
after he got his old job back and he soon became an 
ardent advocate of the old Czarist methods in dealing 
with the miners. 

In order to get first hand information of the situa­
tion, I sent my Chief of Staff, Colonel 0. P. Robinson, 
with the first troops to Suchan. He took every occa-
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sion to explain to the people that our object wa~ to get 
out coal for the use, primarily, of the Russians. He 
found the people friendly and felt that a majority of 
the former miners. were not opposed to the return of 
the old manager. Colonel Robinson reported upon his 
return, that he anticipated no trouble unless the man­
ager by reasons of reprisal upon his former opponents 
provoked opposition. Colonel Robinson tried to show 
him that it was unwise to begin discharging men be­
cause of former troubles. Things went well at first, but 
soon reports reached me that the Allied Guard was 
being used for suppression of political activities. I sent 
the Commanding officer the following telegram: 

"Troops must take no part in arresting people, be­
~ause of their political affiliations, they have no author­
ity to arrest and confine citizens, unless they commit 
some illegal act. I cannot hold in confinement a Russian 
citizen, because he has taken part in some meeting." 

Animosity and a desire for revenge seemed to exist 
to an unusual degree around the Suchan mines. Each 
side was always attributing actions to the representa­
tives of the other side that did not accord with facts. 
The desire for revenge was deep seated in the Pro­
Czarist people against the Soviets, because the Czarists 
had been driven out of the mines, prior to the arrival 
of the Allies in Siberia. These mines seemed to be the 
key points for trouble and will frequently be mentioned 
in future chapters. 
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T HE signing of the Armistice, November I I,. I9 I 8, 
changed materially the duties of American troops, 

and brought other causes for discord between myself 
and the representatives of England, France, and Japan. 
Such military operations as the Americans had taken 
part in were based upon the belief that the hostile 
troops were composed, in part at least, of German and 
Austrian prisoners. As far as the energy put into mili­
tary activities by the representatives of England, 
France, and Japan is concerned, it made no difference 
with them whether the organizations were Bolsheviks 
or composed of Bolsheviks and German and Austrian 
prisoners. Therefore, as far as they were concerned, 
the Military was used just the same after the signing 
of the Armistice as before. I took the stand that, as 
far as American troops were concerned, the United 
States was not at War with any part of Russia and we 
could not take any hostile action except to protect our­
selves or the property placed in our charge. This added 
some to the bitterness of feeling which was already 
rather intense. 

For about five months from the signing of the Armis­
tice until the American troops, in accordance with in­
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stru~tions from Washington, took over the duties of 
help~ng guard the railroad there was only the ordinary 
garrison duty for our troops. 

On November 5, an extract from a letter the War 
Department had received from the State Department 
~as.cab~ed ~o me as it related directly to questions aris­
mg m Siberia. This letter stated that the Consul Gen­
eral was authorized, not only to keep in personal touch 
if possible, with loca~ Gover:iments, but to permit con~ 
sular officers under him to give aid and advice to these 
c;;overnm~nts, in their effort to improve local condi­
t10ns. This communication also stated that the United 
States Government w~s not yet prepared to recognize 
any new ~overnment m Russia. At this time all towns 
on the railroad in Siberia were in charge of the Whites 
and consul_ar ~g~nts were all located along the rail­
road. To. give ~1d and ad:i~e " t? local and municipal 
o.fficers, in practice, was givmg aid and advice exclu­
sively to the Whites, which naturally caused the Bol­
shevi~s to claim the United States was helping the 
Czarist adhe.rents. If these consular officials had any 
person~!. feelmgs. as to the Russian factions, and in all 
probability all di.d have, the instructions opened the 
~oor, to som7 ext7nt, for United States representa­
tives to ~ake sides, if they so desired, and these people 
had feelmgs and opinions like everybody else. 

As an exai:npie, I mention the wife of an American 
c?nsular official at Vladivostok, who stated to me at a 
dmner where we were both guests, that she wished 
she had command o.f American soldiers, and stated 
as a reason for her wish, that she would send the Mili-
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tary to make those worthless people go to work. ~he 
also said that the ideas of freedom that were bemg 
placed in their heads had resulted in her having to in­
crease the wages of her cook from ten to twelve dol­
lars a month. Our personal interest has a great deal 
to do with shaping our judgement on all questions. 

The instructions, above referred to, in my judge­
ment, were the entering wedge to, what proved to be, a 
very distinct cleavage between the representatives of 
the State and the War Departments in Siberia. As time 
went on, further instructions were received by repre­
sentatives of the State Department and these instruc­
tions were more indicative of the desires of someone 
higher in the scale of authority in Washington. All th.is 
time not a change of a single word was ever ma.de m 
my instructions. The result should have been evident. 
The only benefit that I can imagine can. come fr~m 
such a policy is that it gives an oppo~tumty to easily 
answer critics, by referring to the action of the St~te 
Department or the War Department, as ~he occasi~n 
demands. More will be said about these differences m 

the discussion of them later. 
In April, l 9 l 8, the Allied diplomatic representatives 

were notified of the formation of the Government of 
autonomous Siberia, this was generally known as the 
" Siberian Government." In September of the same 
year a new Government was established at Ufa, kno;vn 
as the "Ufa Government" which was an all Russian 
Government. This latter resulted from a conference 
attended by some members of the Constitu.ent Assem· 
bly, and was presided over by Mr. Avksentiev, former 

[ 98] 

"AFTER THE ARMISTICE " 

Minister of Interior in the Kerensky Cabinet. These 
two Governments coalesced early in November, and 
formed a Government known as, " All Russian Pro­
visional Government" with a directorate of five 
members. 

On the night of November 18 and 19, the Director­
ate was overthrown and Admiral Kolchak declared 
himself the "Supreme Ruler of Russia." A number of 
Russ~an officers, all Whites, engineered the. coup d' hat 
and it was common gossip in Siberia, that General 
Knox (British) was one of the moving spirits in this 
chang~ ?f Government. There can be no question that 
the British troops were marching around the streets of 
Omsk the night of the Coup and this had the effect of 
giving aid to the Russians, engineering the change. 
There can also be no doubt that General Knox had 
much influence with Admiral Kolchak, and he seemed 
to want everyone to know of this influence. 

There were many different reactions noticeable in 
E~stern Siberia, to the assumption of power by Ad­
miral Kolchak. Those Allies favouring an Autocratic 
Government for Russia were well pleased with the 
change and all the Russians who had held office in the 
C~arist Government were more than pleased, because 
this was the only movement since the downfall of the 
Czar, which gave promise that they might hope to be 
rest~red .to their old governmental status. The peasants 
of Siberia were not ready to show their hand, until 
there was some evidence of intent of the Kolchak Gov­
~rnment. They had had enough of fighting and did not 
intend to take part in any more Wars if they could 
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help it. They were the ones always mobilized to do t~e 
fighting in all Russian Wars and had lost more: rn 
killed, during the World War, than any other nati?n. 
Their families had been subjected to great hardships 
during the War, and when they re~urn.ed to their 
homes they found their means of cultivatmg the land 
had been taken by the Military. I had the greatest sym­
pathy for these people and found them generous, 

kindly, and very hospitable. 
People have often said to me,." were they not very 

simple and ignorant," but you .will not fi~d. these pea~­
ants so ignorant about the thmgs pe.rtamm~ to. their 
own self-interest. Another erroneous impression m the 
United States is that these peasants do not desire an 
education. Everything I saw in Siberia refutes t~is. In 
passing through t~e villag:s, one would see the childr:n 
going to school with no difference fro~ the c~stom m 
the United States, except the boys earned their boo~s 
in a knapsack, as a soldier carries his pack. Ano:her in­

dication of an interest in and a desire for educat10n was 
the fact that nearly all peasant delegations that came 
to see me about their problems, and there were more 
than a hundred such delegations, had the village school­
teacher as a member of the party. 

When I first went to Siberia I conceived it to be my 
duty to study the peQple, their habits, .their customs, 
their desires, and their aspirations, and it soon became 
a very fascinating work to me. I ne~er t~lked to one of 
these peasants that I did not leave him with the thoug~t 
that there is a human being with a generous and a big 
heart who literally carries out the injunction, " Do unto 
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others as you would have them do unto you." These 
were a simple people, they reasoned simply. They had 
had no opportunity or means to study National or In­
ternational q~es~ions and generally their vision only 
extended to limits of their own immediate interests. 
What opportunities to share in the benefits of modern 
civilization had been given these peasants, that would 
cause t~em to willingly take up arms to fight for either 
the Alires or the Central Powers? What reason did 
they have for thinking that by pouring the same old 
Russian wine from different bottles, they would have a 
better oppor~u~i.ty t? enjoy the benefits and privileges 
of modern civ1lrzat10n than they had enjoyed under 
the Czar? . 

Admiral Kolchak surrounded himself with former 
Czarist officials and because these peasants would not 
take up arms and offer their lives to put these people 
back in power, they were kicked, beaten with knouts 
and murdered in cold blood by the thousands, and then 
the world called them "Bolsheviks." In Siberia, the 
word Bolshevik. meant a human being who did not, by 
act and word, give encouragement to the restoration to 
power of representatives of Autocracy in Russia. 

The Russian meaning of the term Bolshevik origi­
nated from the word "majority." It began to assume 
political significance in I 903, when the Russian Social 
Democratic Worker's Party assembled in London at 
th: second ~ongress of the party. At this meeting, two 
pomts of view were manifested, one quite radical and 
revolutionary and the other, moderate and reformist. 
The adherents of the former, led by Lenin, were in a 
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distinct majority at this meeting, and were called" Bol­
sheviks." The other side was called " Mensheviks," 
from the Russian word, minority. Up to 1912 the two 
groups remained in the same political party,. but after 
that time their differences could not be reconciled. 

Since 1918, the Bolshevist party has been ~nown as 
the Russian Communist party. Since the Russian Revo­
lution the word has been indiscriminately used in the 
United States, and has been applied to all kinds of ac­
tivities, the real meaning depending upon ~he sym­
pathies and affiliations of the person speaking. The 
word, as used in the United States, has more the mean­
ing of "minority" than "majo~i~y." It is gene.rally 
used when speaking of the opposition to the dominant 
party or, at least, the person or perso~~ in control. It 
is used when referring to church opposition, school op­
position, town opposition, etc., etc. O~e gets no help by 
consulting the dictionary for a mean~ng o~ the .word. 
r f it had been limited to the meaning given in the 
Standard Dictionary, it could only be applied to t~e 
members of " the terroristic branch of the Democratic 
Party that became dominant in Russia during the revo­
lution of March 1917." This definition does not even 
include the present Soviet Government, as they came 
into power in November, 1917. . 

The word was, and is, loosely used but always carnes 
with it a malevolent meaning in the United States, 
while in Siberia it was used in a special political sense, 
and was applied to every one who did not support Kol­
chak and the autocratic class surrounding him. The 
word has an entirely different meaning in the United 
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States, especially when applied to Russians. The people 
of the United States pictured the Russian Bolsheviks, 
as men with a torch and a bomb, trying to destroy 
civilization. If any stigma is to attach to the word 
bolshevism as at present it does in the United States, 
then according to all moral precepts the Russian peas­
ant is the least deserving of this stigma, of any Russian 
class I saw in Siberia. 

The political meaning of the word Bolshevik, as 
used in Siberia, took in all the representatives of such 
Zemstvo organizations, as were opposed to the ideas of 
Kolchak relative to the kind of Government that should 
be established in Russia. These men had the confidence 
of the people, among whom they lived, as shown by 
their election to the positions they held, by the votes 
of their own countrymen and neighbours. 

No one in Siberia, excepting those belonging to the 
Kolchak supporters, enjoyed any of the boons of mod-

. ern civilization, such as freedom of speech, freedom of 
press, freedom of assembly, and freedom of legal ac­
tion, which are well recognized heritages of all civilized 
people. The Zemstvos, the dumas, and the cooperatives 
were such well known legal, reliable, and law abiding 
organizations, that it would have been difficult for 
Kolchak to have justified to the world, the oppressive 
measures used against these people if they had been 
referred·to by their proper names. This could be, and 
was, easily avoided by putting all who were not Kol­
chak supporters good, bad, and indifferent, into one 
class and calling that class Bolsheviks, which out of 
Russia at least automatically cast a serious reflection 
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upon the character of these men. How could these 
Zemstvo representatives and thousands of other Rus­
sians like them, no better and no worse, have escaped 
the stigma ~~tached t? th~m in the Unit~d ~tat~s, ~u~ 
to their political classificat10n as Bolsheviks m Siberia. 
There was only one way, and that was to disregard 
their principles, give up their own ideas of Govern­
ment, take off their coats, jump in the Kolchak boat and 

pull. . . . . 
Apparently the Immigration auth.o:ities m . the 

Unl'ted States employed the same political classifica­
tion of Russians in Siberia as was used by Kolchak. I 
know of one Russian who was representing the co­
operatives of Siberia,. and took ?o .part in the political 
differences, who received permission to come to the 
United States on business in 1919. My investigations 
convinced me, before this Russian left Vladivostok, 
that he was an honest, upright man. When he rea~hed 
San Francisco he was taken in charge by the Immigra­
tion authorities, and stigmatized in the San Francisco 
press, as being probably the wo_rst Bolsh~vik in Siberia. 
Why was this man a Bolshevik? He did not oppo~e 
Kolchak, but he was a Bolshevik because he was not m 
the Kolchak boat and pulling. 

Now let us turn the picture and look at the other 
side. In l 9 l 9 Semeonoff sent a Ca pt a in of his Staff to 
Washington, and this emissary not only ha~ no trouble 
in getting into the United States, but I saw,m the press 
that a certain prominent American h~~ arr~nge.d f?r 
this Russian to make a talk on conditions m Siberia 
while on his way from San Francisco to Washington. I 
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do not know the object of the visit of Semeonoff's agent, 
but he boastingly claimed that one object was to get me 
relieved from command of American troops. When 
this Russian returned to Vladivostok, he said the War 
Department had been very considerate, and had desig­
nated Colonel Cronin, United States Army, to escort 
him around Washington, and help him meet the promi­
nent people. He also said that when he left Washing­
ton, Colonel Cronin assured him that I would be re­
lieved before he got back to Vladivostok. This man 
represented Semeonoff and it is certainly fair to assume 
that he had the same moral and criminal character as 
his chief, whom he represented. Semeonoff's character 
was well known in Washington, therefore one can 
only assume that character was ignored, and political 
classification alone considered, in determining whether 
a Russian should be permitted to enter the United 
States. The general information for immigrants, is­
sued by the United States Department of Labor, 
states: 

"The immigration laws intend that only those aliens 
who are mentally sound, morally clean and physically 
fit, shall enter into the United States." 

If Semeonoff was "morally clean," then I never 
saw a human being who was not morally clean. Did 
any one in Siberia ever report that he met the require­
ments of our law, in so far as being "morally clean," 
is concerned? I do not believe they did. The American 
Consul General, Mr. Harris, talked to me about 
Semeonoff, and, in fact, he read me part of a report 
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he had made to the State Department in Washington, 
in with he referred forcefully to Semeonoff's character, 
and it is hardly possible, and I think very improbable, 
that Mr. Harris ever changed his mind about the char­
acter of Semeonoff. 

The reaction of the workmen was more hostile to 
Kolchak than any other class, but this was natural, as 
in all countries the workmen are in a position to be 
more easily affected by the policy of their Government. 

The British, the French, and the American State De­
partment representatives were all very friendly to Ad­
miral Kolchak from the start, but this friendship was to 
be expected from the British and the French who had 
been openly opposing the Soviets from the beginning 
of the Soviet regime. It is noticeable that the declara­
tion of the British Government to the Russian people, 
August 7, r9r8, printed in Current History, Vol. VIII, 
Part 2, contained no specific statement that the English 
would not intervene in the internal conflicts of the 
Russian people. This omission would not be so notice­
able and not so indicative of intent, had the United 
States not asked all nations taking part in the move­
ment in Siberia, to solemnly assure the Russian people 
that the powers, joining in the movement, did not in­
tend to intervene in her internal conflicts. The United 
States and Japan did make such a specific promise and 
history will have to determine if these two nations kept 
this promise and if not, why not. In a book recently 
published, "The Soviets in \:V orld Affairs," written by 
Louis Fisher, Vol. I, on page r27, appears the fol­
lowing: 
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"Harris, the American representative '(says Kol­
chak) showed me the greatest feeling of friendship and 
extraordinary sympathy." 

A day after the coup, Mr. Harris promised the new 
dictator, so said Kolchak, United States aid, and to 
those of us who were in Siberia, during the regime of 
Admiral Kolchak, there was no question but that the 
American Consul General was an enthusiastic believer 
in him and helped him in every possible way. In discuss­
ing conditions with Consul General Harris, he said to 
me there was no hope of settling conditions except by 
the Cadet party, which was Kolchak's party. 

Japan was not an ardent supporter of Admiral Kol­
chak, in fact, at first, she opposed the Admiral. On 
November 26 and 28, I received reports that appeared 
to me worthy of credence, which stated that the J apa­
nese officer with Semeonoff was trying to get .him to 
declare himself Dictator of Trans-Baikalia and seize 
the railroads and tunnels. On the 28th of November 

' ten days after Admiral Kolchak became Supreme Dic-
tator, I had information that seemed reliable, that 
Semeonoff was direded from Tokio to oppose Kolchak 
and the Japanese representative in Siberia followed this 
poli~y. As soon as i~ was known that Japan was sup­
portmg Semeonoff with troops and money at Chita, and 
Kalmikoff, at Habarovsk; then it was known in Siberia 

,, ' 
at least, that Japan did not desire conditions settled 
there, and a strong stable Government established in 
p~wer. In March, r 9 I 8, Japan asked the Allies to per­
mit her alone to take the Chinese Eastern and Amur 
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railroads as well as Vladivostok, if the Allies consid­
ered it necessary to occupy Eastern Siberia. Although 
this proposition was blocked by the United Sta~es, 
Japan had not given up hope of eventually acc_om~hsh­
ing her desire when the Allies sent troops to Siberia. 

Semeonoff and Kalmikoff soldiers, under the prot.ec­
tion of Japanese troops, were roaming the country like 
wild animals, killing and robbing the people, and these 
murders could have been stopped any day Japan 
wished. If questions were asked about these brutal 
murders, the reply was that the people murdered _were 
Bolsheviks and this explanation, apparently, ~atisfied 
the world. Conditions were represented as bemg hor­
rible in Eastern Siberia, and that life was the cheapest 

thing there. . 
There were horrible murders committed, but they 

were not committed by the Bolsheviks as the world be­
lieves. I am well on the side of safety when I ~ay that 
the anti-Bolsheviks killed one hundred people m. East­
ern Siberia, to every one killed by the B?lsheviks. It 
was my judgement when in Siberia, and is now, that 
Japan always hoped, by fostering t~ese murde_rers, tha_t 
the United States would become disgusted with con~i­
tions, withdraw her troops and request Japan to go m 
and clean up the situation. . 

Japanese Russian supporters wer: always the foci 
of malicious falsehoods about American troops. Ge?­
eral Horvath came to me and told me that ?n a certa'.n 
date, the Japanese controlled press. was gom~ to begm 

. a violent and abusive campaign agamst Americans, ~nd 
said their idea was that I would have to take act10n 
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and if I did take action they hoped to succeed in hav­
ing me relieved from command; and if I failed to no­
tice it, Russians would have a contempt for us, because 
they could not imagine anyone with soldiers at their 
disposal, permitting such to appear in the press nnless 
these charges were true. The campaign of vilification 
started on the date that General Horvath said it 
would. I felt I had to stop such scurrilous articles, and 
took actions which did stop it, but not without much 
local criticism of the United States for advocating 
freedom of the press, and permitting their agent in 
Russia to prevent the " Russian " press from telling 
" facts." 

The accuracy of statements concerning United States 
troops in Siberia can be fairly well judged by a com­
ment of Louis Fisher in Vol. I, page 227, of his book 
entitled "Soviets in World Affairs." Mr. Fisher 
says: 

" Kolchak too dislikes the conduct of the American." 

This is probably absolutely true. His dislike did not 
extend to the behaviour or deportment of United States 
troops but was entirely due to the fact that they would 
not, and did not, aid his supporters to spread a reign 
of terror among the peasants and workmen, who had 
committed no crimes; who were living peaceful lives_, 
and who could see no reason why they should take 
up arms and try to put Czarist officials in power. Mr. 
Fisher further states that Kolchak received a report, 
dated December r2, 1919, from an agent in Vladi­
vostok, in which he said: 
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I. "The United States Soldiers are infected with 
Bolshevism." 

2. "That most of them are Jews from the East Side 
of New York City who constantly agitate for mutinies." 

These are characteristic of the charges that were 
made against Americans in Siberia and, although 
not substantiated by facts, they were constantly offered 
in an effort to force United States troops to join in the 
acts of terror against a helpless and peaceful citizen­
ship, or failing in that to force them to leave Siberia, 
and thereby remove the little restraint we exerted by 
our presence. 

So far as I know, no one in Washington ever gave 
to the public a single statement as to the orders given to 
American troops for their guidance in Siberia, or as to 
the outrages being committed by the Kolchak support­
ers. The policy of the United States was given to the 
public, but no information that I was to follow that 
policy. 

Upon my departure from Siberia, I received a cable 
suggesting that I refrain from discussing Siberian ques­
tions, and there were many acts committed there that 
the participants must have hoped would never be dis­
closed. Reputable and disinterested writers, on inter­
vention in Siberia, will obtain their information from 
all available sources and if no information as to the 
object of intervention is given out by the United States 
representatives, these writers must go to a probably 
prejudiced source for their information and such a 
source is almost sure to represent the United States as 
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being recreant in the performance of their duty; not 
because of conduct, but because the Army failed to fol­
low the line of action the speaker thought it should 
follow, and thereby encouraged bolshevism. 

As representatives of England, France, and Japan, 
since the termination o,f intervention, have officially 
stated that the fear of bolshevism in the Far East 
had much to do with their acts in Siberia, one can 
not escape the conviction that these Governments 
were not entirely candid in their announcements 
just prior to intervention, as the word bolshevism 
was not mentioned in the public announcements given 
to the world by any nation taking part in Russian 
intervention. 

As to Kolchak's statement, quoted in Mr. Fisher's 
book, it was well known that the Russian Kolchak sup­
porters were constantly trying to discredit every For­
eign representative in Siberia who did not support 
Kolchak and facts had nothing to do with their repre­
sentations. This is proven by the statement that" most 
of the American troops were Jews from New York." 
Most of these troops came from men mobilized on the 
Pacific ,Coast. Why was such a statement made? Be­
cause the Kolchak supporters had given up any hope of 
receiving active military support from American 
troops, and if the world and especially the Czarist offi­
cials surrounding Kolchak could be made to believe 
that the United States had sent a command composed 
of Russian Jews to Siberia, the reason we did not sup­
port Kolchak would appear evident. These false reports 
were not occasional, but appeared almost daily for 
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several months and, at one time, they became so 
virulent that I notified Mr. Soukine, Kolchak's Minis­
ter of Foreign Affairs, that if they did not stop, I 
would arrest the editor of one paper and put a padlock 
on the building in which this paper was published. This 
drastic act on my part was occasioned by the paper 
publishing a statement that all Americans were degen­
erates, and other statements which common decency 
makes it impossible for me to repeat. 

I was directed from Washington that, in the future, 
I would deal through the State Departme~t in such 
matters. This appeared to me to be a quest10n where 
diplomatic language and pr~cedur~ could not be eff ec­
tively used, but I succeeded m abatmg, to some extent, 
this particularly virulent and coarse propaganda. J?ur­
ing the period of these violent outbursts I was ?ot1fied 
through a Kolchak liason officer, that two Czarist Rus­
sian General officers, both supporters of Kolchak, 
would stop this propaganda against me and other 
Americans, if I would pay them twenty thousand dol­
lars a month. 

I believe the reason Japan wanted our troops out of 
Siberia and wanted the United States to ask her to 
settle c'onditions, was that she thought this would ab­
solve her from the solemn assurance to the Russian 
people, made at the request of Mr. Wilson, not to 
impair Russia's territorial integrity now or hereafter. 
Japan had recently come to be considered one of the 
five big powers of the world and she was naturally v:ry 
desirous that her action should be in consonance with 
the ideas of other big powers,_ as to the solemnity of 
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obligations involved in international agreements. This 
required cooperation. 

The assumption of power by Kolchak was unex­
pected by the Czechs. They had put the new S~ber~an 
Government in power all along the Trans-Siberian 
Railroad and, as previously stated, the Czech did not 
like the sound of Supreme Ruler. General Gaida com­
plicated matters by announcing that he favoured the 
Dictatorship before the Czech National Council could 
formulate its policy. He stated that the Russians could 
not be ruled by kindness or persuasion, but only by the 
whip and bayonet. He also expressed the opinion that 
a strong dictator was necessary to bring order and to 
expel bolshevism. This statement was circulated widely 
and increased Gaida's popularity with the Russians sup­
porting Admiral Kolchak. The effect was very different 
with the Czechs. It became clear that Gaida's Division 
heartily disapproved of his views, and bitter criticism 
of him and his Russian associates spread rapidly. His 
men objected to the Russian officers on his Staff, and 
attributed their military failures to Russian methods. 
The aversion of the Czech for the Russian was thus 
much increased and both officers and men became in­
solent to the Russians. Czechs were openly saying that 
the Czech non-commissioned officers were better than 
the Russian officers. It became known on November 20, 
that the Czech National Council had decided to issue 
a proclamation opposing the Dictatorship, on the 
ground that the Czechs could not approve an illegal 
establishment of a Government without the consent of 
those to be governed; and those authorized to form a 
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Government. Gaida then made disparaging statements 
about the Czech Council and tried to suppress all forms 
of propaganda against the Kolchak regime. These ac­
tions of Gaida's served to further alienate his troops 
and cause them to determine not to participate in the 
suppression of any uprising that might occur against 
Kolchak troops. The Czech leaders became very much 
divided, some with what was known as the " consti­
tuent " group and some of the others violently opposed 
to the constituent group. 

During this intense feeling among the Czechs, Gaida 
ordered the 5th Czech Regiment to the front for an 
attack on Perm. The Regiment flatly refused to go and 
sent delegates to the council to explain their reasons, 
and the reasons presented were: 

Ist A disinclination to fight in Russian quarrels. If 
the Allies really wished to fight the Bolsheviks, they 
would send assistance. 

2nd Fighting now would benefit the Omsk Gov­
ernment which they did not wish to support. . . . 

7th Doubt as to whether fighting Bolshevism was 
what the Allies desired. 

Soon after the coup d' hat, an uprising .had been 
planned by workers of the Ural factories, but the 
Czechs were able to prevent it. The Czech officers, or· 
those higher in authority, were very anxious to take 
some action that would remove the stigma coming from 
the refusal of the 5th Regiment to go to the front in 
obedience to Gaida's orders, as well as to prevent the· 
spread of dissension in the ranks. General Syrovy got 
Gaida to Cheliabinsk, and then he gave the order to 
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the 5th Regiment to move to tl,le f;ont, but stated that 
activities would be held up until the arrival of General 
Stefanek, the War Minister of Czecho-Slovakia. 

On N oyember 4, a telegram came from President 
Masary~ asking the Czechs to hold on as Allied help 
was coming. I have no knowledge as to where Presi­
dent Masaryk.got his information, but, presumably it 
came from the French. While I was in Siberia, I saw a 
communication written in French and signed by Major 
Guinet (French) and Mr. De Witt C. Poole (Ameri­
can) , telling the Czechs, Allies were coming and to 
hold on to the railroad. 

This was rather interesting to me, as I had been 
definitely told American troops would not go west of 
Irkutsk. If American troops were not to go to the as­
sistance of the Czechs, I could not. understand why 
Mr. Poole should take part in telling them Allied 
troops were coming. This, again, looked like lack of 
team work on the part of the Americans. 

General Syrovy stated that the Czechs felt badly 
about the Omsk Government, for it seemed as if they 
?ad betrayed their responsibility to the Russian people 
m the matter of safeguarding their rights. There was 
an evident anxiety on the part of the Czechs, as to 
whether the Kolchak adherents would act in accord 
with the Czech views as to the rights of the people. 
The Czechs were removed from the front which im­
proved the situation, and Gaida was granted a leave 
of absence without any request coming from him. 

On December 24, Gaida was appointed senior Com­
mander of all Siberian forces in the Ekaterinburg re­
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gion, which was undoubtedly a reward for his services 
to Kolchak, and he immediately began planning for a 
military movement. The Czechs, as was to be expected, 
had difficulties with the Kolchak troops used in this 
movement. 

By January 20, 1919, all Czech troops in the front 
were replaced by White Russians and the feeling was 
such, by this time, that the Russian White Army was 
glad to see the Czechs go. Some of the villages, how­
ever, where the Czechs had been quartered were sorry 
to see them go, and asked them to remain and settle 
down as inhabitants. It was stated that many Czechs 
gave serious consideration to this invitation, though it 
is not known how many did accept. The feeling was 
such that the Czechs could not get out without a further 
complication with the Kolchak Russians over surplus 
arms and equipment they were to turn over to them. 
These Czechs, in Siberia, were remarkable soldiers 
and always looked the part. There seemed to be no . 
triflers in their ranks, and when they were assigned to 
a military duty they brooked no interference with their 
proper performance of that duty. 

During my entire stay in Siberia the official relations 
between the representatives of England, France, and 
Japan on one side and myself on the other, steadily be­
came more strained, and these representatives seemed 
to have no patience with anyone who did not actively 
support Kolchak. At that time I personally felt, that . 
if Admiral Kolchak could carry out his reported ideas, 
there was some hope that he would establish a Govern­
ment with views between the extreme factions, that 
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might be acceptable to the great mass of Russians. I 
particularly felt this way after he gave an interview to 
Mr. Sharkey, Associated Press, on Russian New Year, 
of 1919, which purported to give Kolchak's views as 
to the principles upon which he hoped to establish a 
Government in Siberia .. I later came to the conclusion 
that he did not have the confidence of the mass of the 
people and therefore could not establish ::i. Govern­
ment. With reference to this interview I took my first 
step into Russian politics. The result was not encourag­
ing to say the least, and this was my first and last effort 
to try to act as mediator between two Russian factions. 

Some representatives of the Social-Revolutionists, I 
remember a Mr. Gaiman and a Mr. Moravsky, both 
former members of the " Derber Government," in Si­
beria, came to see me, and I invited their attention to 
the statement of principles sent out by Admiral Kol­
chak, and told them that these were the same principles 
of Government they had told me they advocated. They 
laughed and said I did not understand Russia, and that 
this interview was for consumption in the United 
States. They said Admiral Kolchak and the people 
around him had no intention to carry out this announced 
policy. I, however, insisted upon these gentlemen telling 
me whether they would support Admiral Kolchak if 
he would carry out these announced policies. They 
finally told me they would, and the only thing they 
wanted was some means of assuring themselves that 
these announced policies were being carried out. I 
thought this was fair enough and I asked General 
Romanovsky, who was, at that time, handling political 
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affairs for the Omsk Government, to come to my office, 
but when I told him what these gentlemen had said 
and asked him if he thought it possible to get together 
and try to stop some of the useless spilling of Russian 
blood, he flew into a rage and said: 

" The idea of the~e people speaking of condition 
upon which they would support the Omsk Government, 
and before long, such characters, as I had been talking 
to would be glad to come to the ()msk G~>Vernment, put 
their heads on the ground, beg for forgiveness and for 
an opportunity to support Admiral Kolchak." 

I began early in 1919 to realize that United States 
Consul General Harris was opposed to my views of 
"non-interference in the internal affairs of Russia," 
and supported Kolchak where he could. I also began 
to sense that I had opposition in Washington. I had re­
cently been on duty in Washington and still had many 
Army friends there so I began trying to find who were 
my real friends and who were my critics. My service 
there enabled me to tell, at least to my own satisfaction, 
in what offices my actions would receive sympathetic 
consideration, and where they would be criticized, if 
possible. For example, I received a cable from Wash­
ington, containing a rather sharp, pung'ent criticism of 
me for lack of supervision of my censorship regulation, 
winding up by telling me that I would give this my 
personal attention. I personally examined all communi­
cations from my office, and could find no violation of 
censorship regulations. After this examination, I real­
ized that Brigadier General Marlborough Churchill, 

[ 118 ] 

"AFTER THE ARMISTICE " 

head of Military Information Division, where censor­
ship questions were handled, was anxious, at the be­
hest of someone, to be critical. I then had to watch my 
communications which, under the rules of the War De­
partment, would be checked by the Adjutant General 
to Military Information Division, and later events 
amply justified my judgement. I am glad to record that, 
with the exception of the Military Information Divi­
sion, I not only have no criticism of any branch of the 
War Department, but have always been most grateful 
for the cooperation and help I received. To avoid what 
I conceived would probably be unfair consideration of 
papers that would naturally go to the Military In­
formation Division, I frequently departed from the 
prescribed rules of correspondence in the War Depart­
ment, and sent some communications to the Chief of 
Staff instead of to the Adjutant General. After I had 
examined the critical cable relative to my alleged care­
lessness in handling censorship questions, I cabled to 
General March, Chief of Staff, telling him I could find 
nothing wrong with censorship at my Headquarters, 
and expressed a regret that the cable did not specify 
wherein there was neglect. I received a reply from Gen­
eral March saying my views on censorship were exactly 
correct, and he would see that I was not annoyed by 
any more communications of that kind. 

Soon after I arrived in Siberia, fifteen officers and 
very high class men reported to me from Military In­
telligence Office in Washington, for Military Intelli­
gence work in Siberia. The majority of them, as I re­
member, came from Educational Institutions, and I was 
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very much pleased with their appearance as well as 
their standing and reputation in the United States. I 
was careful to see that all of these officers understood 
the orders: 

"Not to interfere in political affairs, and not to in­
tervene in internal conflicts." 

I then sent them out to various parts of Siberia, all 
at railroad towns with a view to getting reports on the 
military, political, social, and economic conditions in 
Siberia. I soon received a cablegram from the War De­
partment, stating that the Government expected to get 
their information as to conditions in Siberia frqm the 
representatives of the State Department. This cable 
puzzled me very much. While it contained no instruc­
tions to me, the meaning seemed clear. that the Govern­
ment wanted me to know that what I said of Siberia, 
or of conditions there, would be . ignored. Such a pe­
culiar cablegram as this had some significance or mean­
fog which was not entirely disclosed, and if the State 
Department wanted to know the real conditions in 
Siberia, why did they propose to ignore the informa­
tion coming from the great majority of United States 
representatives? The Army was in a much be.tter posi­
tion to get the facts, than the State Department, be­
cause of the much larger number of observers, and the 
greater number of places from which reports were re­
ceived, and I can not admit that the Army observers 
had less intelligence than the Consular agents of the 
State Department in Siberia. If the State Department 
did not attach any importance to the Army reports, 
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why not throw them in a waste basket? Why tell me 
they were going to ignore my reports? The facts of the 
matter were, these A~my reports were pinching some­
where. T~ey wanted mformation along a certain line, 
as was disclosed by their cable sent to Mr. August 
Heid, representative of the War Trade Board func­
tioning under the State Department, that he, Mr.' Heid, 
was not sending the kind of information the State De­
partment wanted him to send out of Siberia. The Mili­
tary was not supporting any faction and was, there­
fore, in a position to report the facts as the observers 
saw them, regardless of whether the reports were fa. 
vourable or unfavourable to any faction. I communi­
cated with the War Department, asking what this 
cab!e meant and received a reply from General March 
saymg I was sending just the information he wanted 
and to keep it up. It was evident to me then tha~ 
Consul General Harris or the Russian Division of the 
State Department in Washington, both of whom were 
Kolchak supporters, were not pleased with the informa­
tion the Military was sending, relative to the Omsk 
regime. I was quite annoyed, after receiving General 
March's cablegram, as it appeared to me that the 
State. Department, or some one in that Department, 
h~d sized me up as a weak man who could easily be 
frightened, as well as easily deterred from performing 
what I conceived to be my duty. 
~t this time there was considerable criticism in the 

l!mt:d Sta:es ?~ _the action of American troops in 
S1be:1a. This criticism took different forms, some sug­
gestmg that the Americans had become bolshevistic; 
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some suggesting that we could watch t~e s~tuation from 
the United States, as well as from Siberia; and som.e 
were critical of my selection to com~and ~he Ameri­
can forces, because of my lack of experience in the com­
mand of large bodies of troops. Mr. George Harvey> ?f 
Harvey's Weekly, seemed to be the most severe critic. 
He, of course, as usual, used his sarcasm, not only 
against me, but against t~e S~cretary of War becaus~ 
of my selection for the Siberian command. These cri­
ticisms were very familiar, as they were. almost as 
common as my meals in Siberia. The American Consul 
at Vladivostok was cabling to the State Department 
each day, without comment, the libe~ous, false and scur­
rilous articles appearing in the Vladivostok press. ~b?ut 
the American troops. These articles, and the criticis.m 
of the American troops in the United States, were built 
around the charge of being bolshevistic. This charge 
could not have been based upon any act of the Ameri­
can troops, because there was not a single incid.ent 
where they gave aid or comfort to the Bolshev:ks, 
but the charge was the same that was lodged against 
every one in Siberia who did not support Kolchak, by 
Kolchak adherents, which included Consul General 
Harris. 

Evidently this idea became so wide spread in the 
United States that the Government, in one case at 
least decided to watch Americans who had seen serv­
ice i~ Siberia. This statement is based upon an incident 
that took place at the Commodore Ho~el in New ~ ork 
City in November, I92r. A self-appointed committee 
had ~ade arrangements for as many of the Americans 
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as possible, with service in Siberia, to meet at a dinner 
given at the Commodore Batel in New York. There 
were about sixty people at this dinner, and all had seen 
service or were relatives of those who had seen service 
in Siberia. Admiral Knight and I were both present. 
After we sat down at the table, a man who was un­
known to any of the committee came in to the room 
and also took a seat at the table. The senior member 
of the committee found an opportunity and asked this 
man who he was. The man showed him a Department 
of Justice badge and said he had been ordered from 
W~shington t~ be present at this meeting, that he was 
gomg to r.emam, and he advised the representative of 
th~ committee .no~ to cause any trouble. Nothing was 
said about the mcident until after the dinner, when the 
representative of the committee saw the Assistant 
Manager of the hotel and asked for an explanation. 
The Assistant Manager said the man had shown him 
credentials and papers, which made it impossible for 
h~m to ~o anything. except take him to the dining room. 
1 he~e is no doubt m my mind that the Department of 
Justice agent was sent to this dinner by some official 
of the United States Government, and so far as I know, 
the practice of sending secretly, and without the con­
sent. of the gu~sts, a~ agent of the Department of 
Justice to a private dmner is only resorted to when 
there is fear of subversive activity against the United 
States. Practically every person at this dinner had done 
their best for the United States during the War; they 
were proud of their service for their country, and the 
country should have been grateful to them for this 
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service. All who knew of this incident felf mortified 
and hurt. If I had known of this man's presence at the 
time of the dinner, I would have advised demanding of 
the hotel management that he be removed from the din­
ing room and, in case of refusal, I would have advised 
all the dinner guests to leave the hotel, and I could cer­
tainly not have sat quietly at a dinner table where the 
Department of Justice was watching my acts, or my 
speech. This, after Admiral Knight had given more 
than forty years of his life and I had given more than 
thirty-seven of mine, to the service of our country. 

In December, I 9 I 8, another effort was made to pre­
vent freedom of action of the United States Military 
in Siberia. General Knox came to my office and showed 
me a communication from the British Government, 
approving his recommendation that General Janin 
(French) would command all Russian and Allied 
forces operating against the Bolsheviks, and that he, 
General Knox, would have command of the lines of 
communication, and also have charge of the training 
of the troops. I suppose he wanted to get my reaction 
to his proposition, as he knew well the American troops 
were not fighting Bolsheviks, and were not being con­
trolled by either General Knox or General J anin. 

In my judgement, it would have been most unfortu­
nate if the United States had taken any action that 
would have placed the use of American troops under 
the direction of English, French, or Japanese in Siberia. 
There were constant efforts being made to bring about 
this situation and, if it had been done, no one can doubt 
that the American troops would have been used to kill 
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Russians for their political beliefs. This would have 
been bad eno~gh, ?ut there is another side to the pic­
ture that I believe is of more importance to the A ·-
can pe 1 d h . meri ope, an t at is, that American troops would 
als~ have been used to bring resentment against the 
Umted States by the Russian people. Situations could 
have been created for this specific purpose 
Th~ Englis.h and French can not be charged with 

~uard1ng a railroad that was being used for the exclu­
sive use of Ko~chak and against the interest of the great 
mass of Russians, because these nations did not send 
~nough t~oops to Siberia to enable them to take part 
m gu~rdmg the. railway. Was this failure to aid in 
guard1ng the railroad designed to escape the resent­
ment o.f the people which came upon the other nations 
who ~1d use troops to extend the Russian War by 
guardmg .the r.ailroads, and in this way, give assist~nce 
to the losmg side? The British had two,or three times 
as many ?fficers in Siberia as did the United States but 
few so!d1ers .. Notwithstanding this fact, I find 'that 
Mr. Fisher m Vol. I, page I 97 of his, " Soviets in 
the World Affairs," says: 

. ''. The Com~ander-in-Chief of all the intervention­
!sts strength with Kolchak, was at one time, the Brit-

J
1sh . General, Knox, and later the French General 

an1n." · ' 

This is not a fac~, and it would be interesting to 
kno~ where Mr. Fisher got his information, as no 
fore1.gne~ e~er commanded American troops while I 
was m S1ber1a. Why, and by whom was such informa-
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tion given out? It is fair to assume tha.t some ~nglish 
or French representative gave out the mformati?n, as 
they thought this report would add to the prestige of 
England and France. . 

On December 13, 1918, General Knox told me that 
England had sent him material for arming an? equip­
ping 100,000 Russians·. On the same date I notified the 
War Department as follows: 

" All information that I am able to obtain leads me 
to the conclusion that the Government, headed by Ad­
miral Kolchak, can not last." 

I also stated in the same letter: 

" Russians continue to inform me, that because of 
our presence here, the autocratic class are enabled to 
try to re-establish an autocratic form of government, 
the United States is losing prestige and th~ people are 
not sure as to our belief in a representative form of 
Government for other countries." 

The Acting Secretary of State notified the Secretary 
of War that: 

"The views expressed by General Graves ~ary in 
some degree from those of other representatives of 
this Government in Siberia." 

By December 1, 1918, the actions of Ataman Kal­
mikoff, of the U ssuri Cossacks had become very em­
barrassing to me. The United Sta~es had a~ked Japan 
to join in the limited objects for which American troops 
were sent to Siberia and every act of Japan, or Japanese 
paid Russian agents, was, logically, a discredit or a 
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credit to the United States; and Russians were sure to 
think; because the United States had invited Japan to 
join her in action in Siberia, that she must be working 
with her. Japan, in her intent to divide the people and 
prevent a strong Government from emerging in Siberia, 
soon had Semeonoff and Kalmikoff in her employ. It is 
hard to imagine a man like Kalmikoff existing in mod­
ern civilization, and there was hardly a day passed 
without some report of the terrible atrocities committed 
by hirri or his troops. On December 1, I reported to 
the War Department, in part: 

" I, of course, under my instructions to take no part 
in the internal squabbles could do nothing, with the 
exception that I have reported to the Japanese Head­
quarters that the excesses of Kalmikoff should be 
stopped and that his actions were a disgrace to civiliza­
tion. I did this, and so informed them that I did it, be­
cause it is well known that he was being paid by Japan 
and, that if Japan should stop supporting him, his ex­
cesses would stop immediately." 

I later proposed by letter to the Japanese Com­
mander that we notify Kalmikoff in writing the next 
time he or his men murdered a Russian, that we would 
use such force as was necessary to arrest him and turn 
him over to the Russians for trial by the civil court. 
I received a reply from Japanese Headquarters saying: 

" Kalmikoff had promised them, on November 28, 
that he would not kill any more people, and that he 
had kept that promise but, if I desired, they would join 
me in notifying him as I had suggested." 

[ 127] 



AMERICA'S SIBERIAN ADVENTURE 

It was evident that Kalmikoff did not kill, after that, 
where Americans could verify the murder, but it was 
also evident that . he was taking his victims where 
Americans could not see their bodies. Two women came 
to my office from a town two or three hundred miles 
from Vladivostok, and told me Kalmiko~ had come 
through their village and had taken their husban?s· 
They begged me to help fin? out if these men were ahv.e 
and if alive, where Kalmikoff had taken them. I di­
rected the Commanding Officer at Habarovsk to ask 
Kalmikoff where these men were. Kalmikoff replied 
that they had escaped, and he gave the Commanding 
Officer, what purported to be, a copy of instructions he 
had sent to all stations to see that they were recaptured. 
It later developed that when his train was passing o;er 
a lake, Kalmikoff had it stop while he had stones :ied 
to the necks of these men, and they were thrown mto 
the lake. Reports of the terrible. atrocities being co~­
mitted by Kalmikoff troops contmued to reach Ameri­
can Headquarters almost daily, but as I had no means 
of verifying the truth of these stories I could take no 

action. . 
The beginning of Kalmikoff's power in the Sprmg 

of r 9 r 8 was when he was selected Ataman of. the 
Ussuri Cossacks. This Cossack assembly authorized 
him to seek a loan from the Allies for th~ purp?se 
of enabling the Cossacks to finance th:i: spring 
planting. Japan made the loan .o~ condition th~t 
the Ussuri Cossacks would not J01Il the Bolshevik 
forces. The money, advanced by Japan,. enabled. ~al­
mikoff to go to Progranichnaya and begm orgamzmg 
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a Division of Cossacks, with a Japanese Major as 
adviser in the organization of the troops. This in­
formation was furnished by Kalmikoff's agents in 
Vladivostok. 

During the Ussuri campaign, July to September, 
I 9 r 8, Kalmikoff's Cossacks participated, and entered 
Habarovsk with Japanese troops, September 5 and 6, 
r 9 r 8. Kalmikoff remained in Habarovsk and carried 
on his regime of terror, extortion and bloodshed, which 
eventually caused his own troops to mutiny and seek 
the protection of the American troops. Under the pre­
text of combatting bolshevism, he resorted to the un­
scrupulous arrest of people of some means, tortured 
them to secure their money and executed some on the 
ground of bolshevism. These arrests were so frequent 
that all classes of the population were terrorized and 
it was estimated that there were several hundred per­
sons executed by Kalmikoff troops in the vicinity of 
Habarovsk. These murders we established as best we 
could from peasants and depositions of local legal au­
thorities. Kalmikoff's troops began flogging and strik­
ing members of his own command and on December 6, 
the Intelligence officer of the 27th Infantry reported 
that the situation was becoming serious. There is no 
question about the disloyalty of, at least, one half of 
the troops under Kalmikoff, and on December 28, a 
number of his men appeared at Headquarters of the 
27th infantry, asking permission to enlist in the United 
States Army, and many wanted assistance in getting 
away from Habarovsk. The Japanese sensed trouble 
and ordered all buildings in Habarovsk searched for 
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arms. The search resulted in finding 2 I 8 rifles, I 3 8 
pistols and some ammunition for the same. 

On the nights of January 27 and 28, 1919, seven 
hundred of Kalmikoff's troops deserted. Three hundred 
of these men went into hiding in near by towns; about 
thirty asked protection of the Chinese troops, and th~ee 
hundred and ninety-eight, with animals and arms, in­

cluding 4 guns and 3 machine guns, came in a body to 
Headquarters 27th Infantry, and told the American 
Commander if he would give them protection from 
Kalmikoff, they would surrender all their arms and 
equipment; but if the American Commander would 
not protect them, they would return in a- body and fight 
it out with the remainder of Kalmikoff's troops. Ac­
cording to Japanese ~tatement there still remained 
about four hundred Cossacks with Kalmikoff. The 
Commanding Officer said in his report: 

"To prevent bloodshed and plunder in garrison, city 
and vicinity and for the safety of our troops, I placed 
the deserters under guard and rendered them powerless 
for plunder and disorder. This was accomplished 
quietly and at the wish of the mutineers who were with­
out officials." 

I approved Colonel Styer's action but could not ap­
prove his suggestion that they might be turned over to 
the senior officer, recognized by Horvath and Kolchak, 
for reorganization or for discharge. I felt conditions 
were too uncertain, .and if these men should be turned 
over to any Kolchak Russian, there was a considerable 
chance that they might get into the hands of Kalmikoff 
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and that meant certain death for all of them. I notified 
Colonel Styer that the disposition of these men was a 
question for their own decision and one in which the 
Americans could take no part. I decided this on the 
ground that Kalmikoff was not recognized as control­
ling any legal body of men and did not recognize any 
superior Russian authority, but was a hireling and 
puppet of Japan. As was to be expected, the Japanese 
were very much exercised over the mutiny of Kalmi­
koff' s men and their Chief of Staff came to see me and 
later wrote me a letter asking my view. To this I 
replied: 

" First - Such soldiers will not be delivered, by the 
American forces, to Kalmikoff, Horvath or the rep­
resentatives of either at Habarovsk, or elsewhere but 
will be released at Habarovsk and permitted t~ go 
where they please." 

"Second - Upon such release, they will be given 
reasonable protection against persecution by Kalmikoff 
or his forces, on groundless charges, or charges of 
desertion, rebellion or mutiny." 

" Third - While yet under control of American 
forces, any of such soldiers will be delivered to the local 
civil authorities upon service of Judicial warrants for 
murder or other crimes, violative of Russian laws, 'pro­
vided .that there. shall accompany such warrants a 
s~nOJ?SIS of. the ev1.dence against the accused person in­
d1catmg pr1ma fac1a evidence of guilt." 

" Fourth - All this is but reasonable protection to 
prevent ruthless sacrifice of human lives and for the . ' proper protect10n of our own soldiers and property." 
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The Japanese then asked that the deserters be placed 
under a joint guard of Japanese and Americans. This, 
of course was not acceded to by the Americans. The 
Japanese 'commander at Habarovsk th~n. submitted a 
memorandum to Colonel Styer conta1nmg the fol­
lowing: 

"First - For what reason and with what respo?si­
bility has your detachment received armed soldiers 
deserting Ataman Kalmikoff' s detachment? " 

"Second- The desertion invo~ve~, and Y?ur ~ecep­
tion of the soldier, is an event withm Kaln~.i~off s ~e­
tachment and is simply a matter of its Mihta.ry dis­
cipline. This case is believed as interference with the 
interior administration of Kalmikoff's detachment. 
What is your opinion of it? " . . 

" Third -What is your opinion as to the ~ispo~i­
tion of the Russian soldiers that you have received m 
your detachment ? " 

The Japanese seemed determined to inject themsel:es 
into this question and it was known, as well as a~ythmg 
could be known, without legal documentary evi~ence, 
that Japan was paying, controlling, and had equipped 
this body of murderers. Colonel Styer telegraphed to 
Vladivostok the substance of the Japanese Command­
e.r's question. I notified him that the. questions would 
be handled in Vladivostok, and for him not to release 
any of these prisoners without authority from me. 

Shortly after this, a Colonel of the General Staff 
from Japanese Headquarters came to see me and. after 
telling me that the Japanese Chief of Staff was ill, he 
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said he had come to request me to return the prisoners 
to Kalmiko~. I replied that this would never be done. 
He then asked me to turn them over to the J a.panese 
and let them settle it. I told him that I considered his 
suggestion bordered on an insult, and that I had no 
intention of asking Japanese approval or disapproval 
of my acts, and that the interview was over. He replied 
that General Inagaki would come to see me about it, 
and I told him that I would not discuss this question 
again with any representative of Japan. 

In a few days General Inagaki, the Japanese Chief 
of Staff, appeared and apologized for the action of the 
General Staff Colonel, and said his suggestion was in­
excusable and that Japanese Headquarters did not 
approve of his action, and he hoped I would overlook 
the matter. I t?ld him that I was glad to know that his 
Headquarters did not approve of the Colonel's action 
and, so far as I was concerned, we would drop , the 
question. I felt sure this Colonel had been sent to 
American Headquarters by Japanese higher authority. 

On February 4, 1919, Colonel Styer telegraphed: 

" There is no semblance of discipline left in Kalmi­
koff's force, His Government from Nikolsk to Iman is 
a disgrace to the Allies, who must tacitly approve it, if 
only by their presence. His power of life and death has 
been so indiscriminately used as to create a reign of 
terror, and the life of no soldier or civilian is safe. 
Have restricted our men to limits of garrison to pre­
vent possible trouble with Kalmikoff's undisciplined 
remnants. The Cossack officers of rank were quartered 
in the Japanese Headquarters building." 
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The problem of what to do with the deserters was 
complicated by the fact that, in the course of the mu­
tiny, a Cossack had been wounded and had later died 
of his wounds, and there was a possibility that the mur­
derer might be among the men under the protection of 
the United States. Seven of these men had expressed 
a desire to be released and were allowed to go from 
the United States protection. Colonel Styer was very 
anxious to get rid of them and again suggested that he 
turn them over to Russian officers designated by Gen­
eral I vanoff-Rinoff. 
, I replied: 

"The difficulty in acting as you suggest is that we 
do not recognize any Russian Army and consequently 
do not recognize Kalmikoff, and while agreeing with 
you, we do not want to protect a murderer, it is not be­
lieved practicable to permit Russians of Ivanoff-Rinoff's 
selection to make the necessary investigation, among 
the men you are now holding, to locate the murderer. 
However, you should make ·such investigation as you 
can with a view to determining if the murderer is 
among the men you have. We cannot turn these men 
over to anyone except upon the specific request of the 
men themselves. My view of the situation is that you 
simply disarmed a band of men to prevent bloodshed. 
The men may be permitted to go as individuals, or in a 
body, when ever they want to go." 

On February 22, Colonel Styer reported that the 
situation regarding the mutineers was working out sat­
isfactorily along the lines approved by me, and the 
large majority would shortly be released, and on 
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March 15, he reported that only thirty-five prisoners 
remained and that they would be released within three 
days. 

This inci~ent gave Japan an excellent opportunity 
to start their controlled local press in spreading anti­
American propaganda and especially against the 
United States military forces. General Oi, Japanese 
Commander, had shown his hand to such an extent that 
Americans felt that if we should have a conflict with 
Kalmikoff, we would have to reckon with the Japanese 
forces under the command of General Oi. Kalmikoff 
asserted that, "no violence or cruelty ha'd ever been 
done in his detachment, which stands for law and order 
and defends citizens from any kind of injustice." 

The situation at Habarovsk became so tense that 
Colonel Styer wrote General Oi a letter in part, as 
follows: 

" Although Ataman Kalmikoff's detachment is 
armed, maintained and supported by the Japanese 
Government, still no one claims to be responsible. Kal­
mikoff is responsible to no one and no Nation assumes 
responsibility for his acts. On several occasions I have 
reported the conduct of this detachment towards the 
Americans, and each time you have informed me that 
you had no authority over Kalmikoff. The mere fact 
that he is controlled by the Japanese, and supported. 
by them, makes you responsible for his acts. I am 0£ 
the opinion, that unless you control this individual, a 
clash between his men and our troops is imminent." 

I sent a copy of this communication to the Japanese 
Commander at Vladivostok, with the following: 

[ 135] 



AMERICA'S SIBERIAN ADVENTURE 

"In view of the fact that Kalmikoff's detachment 
has been armed, equipped, supported by and serving 
under the Japanese forces, I request that the proper 
measures be taken to restrain this remnant of his forces. 
In case the Japanese forces are no longer responsible 
for the action of these men, I request that I be so 
advised." 

General Otani replied : 

"I have the honor to assure you that the Japanese 
forces have no responsibility, whatever, in connection 
with any behavior on the part of Kalmikoff's troops. In 
view, however, of the fact that the Japanese Govern­
ment has hitherto assisted them in their equipment and 
supplies, and that the Japanese troops have been op­
erating in cooperation with them, we feel it our duty 
to see that Kalmikoff be duly advised and that a satis­
factory and smooth solution be reached in connection 
with the matter lately informed by Colonel Styer, as 
it is feared that a serious consequence may ensue to­
ward the maintenance of peace and order, in the event 
of a f:iilure of .a successful set~lement of the question. 
Assurmg you, sir, of the best wishes for our everlasting 
friendship, I remain," 

Colonel Styer handled the Kalmikoff incident, with 
the Japanese at Habarovsk, in a very diplomatic and 
satisfactory manner. 

The Japanese policy is to select boys who give 
promise of being suitable for military service, and then 
see that they are educated and trained. They send 
young officers for training to various countries, with a 
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view to utilizing these officers where their training 
seems best suited to their particular ability. 

In my judgement, General Oi would not have been 
adverse to seeing a clash between the American forces 
and Kalmikoff's men. 

As soon as the Ussuri Cossacks found an opportunity 
they deposed Kalmikoff as Ataman of the U ssuri Cos­
sacks and as soon as the terror of his power was gone, 
they repudiated him and all his works. On February 
4, 1919, the Cossacks issued a public statement asking 
the American Command to liberate from Kalmikoff's 
control the Cossacks who still remained in his unit. 
Kalmikoff still continued to keep quite a force around 
him, and his force when at Habarovsk was always 
under the protection of Japanese troops. When these 
men left Habarovsk for any purpose, there were a suf .r 
ficient number of Cossacks to handle any resistance to 
punishment by Kalmikoff's men that might be made by 
the peaceably inclined inhabitants. 

The Japanese first approached me to return to 
Kalmikoff the horses, arms, and equipment surren­
dered to Colonel Styer, but I would not consent to their 
request. They then told me that all of these things be­
longed to Japan. I told the Japanese Chief of Staff that 
if Japan would notify me in writing that she had armed 
this murderer, that the property had never been paid 
for by Kalmikoff, and if they would identify their prop­
erty, and sign a receipt for it, I would let them have it. 
Th!s was done and the receipt sent to the vVar Depart­
ment for file with the records. 

As the Winter of 1918-19 approached we antici-
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pated that the worst enemy we would have would be 
cold and disease. We had pictured the cold in Siberia 
as being much worse than it really was, consequently, 
our preparation for the winter proved very satisfac­
tory. The climate at Vladivostok is relatively mild for 
a cold country and the troops at Harbin and Ha­
barovsk, where it was colder, suffered very little as they 
were well clothed, housed, and fed. I have never lived 
in Montana or Dakota, but I have pictured the climate 
of Siberia very much like that of North Dakota. The 
chief characteristic is its extremes and the range from 
day to night varies about IO degrees F to 30 degrees F. 
The mean temperature at four different stations is 
shown by the following data, gathered by the Medical 
Department United States Army, while American 
troops were in Siberia : 

Jan. Feb. Mar. Apr. May June July Aug. Sept. Oct. Nov. Dec. Annual 

Vladivostok 5 I2 26 39 49 57 66 69 6I 49 30 I4 40 
Harbin -2 5 24 42 56 66 72 60 58 40 2I 3 38 
Chita -18 -g Io 32 47 53 66 60 47 29 7 Io I2 
Irkutsk - 5 I7 35 48 59 65 60 33 I3 I 31 

The following gives the maximum and minimum 
temperatures observed at these towns: 

Maximum Minimum 
Vllidivostok 99 -34 
Chi ta, 97 -46 
Harbin 100 -39 

The rainfall in Siberia is not great and the snowfall 
is comparatively slight. While the snowfall in the 
mountains around Lake Baikal is very heavy, east and 
west of these mountains the fall is so slight that 
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wheeled vehicles are used all winter. There was very 
little snow in Vladivostok and we had no trouble in 
operating our motor vehicles. The evil effects of the 
low temperature are much less than might be expected 
because of the· absence of wind, and the principal dan­
ger from the cold comes from not realizing how cold 
it is, and failing to wear fur protectors for the nose, 
ears, and hands. Personally, I saw this happen only 
once during my two winters in Vladivostok. I was walk­
ing with an officer of my staff, and I noticed the tip of 
his nose was turning white but we got some snow and 
rubbed his nose with it until the circulation was re­
stored and then finished our walk of four miles. In 
these cold days the sun is so bright and the air so still 
and exhilarating that one seldom feels fatigued. 

The winter begins the latter part of October, and is 
freezing all waters by the end of November. Septem­
ber and October are delightful months although there 
is more wind in the fall and spring than during the 
winter months. The harbour freezes early in December 
and breaks up early in April. By the use of ice-breakers, 
ships are able to enter the harbour of Vladivostok dur­
ing the entire winter, even when the ice in the bay is 
about thirty inches thick. " 

In March, 1920, one of our Transports, returning 
to Manila from Vladivostok, was caught in an ice-flow 
just out of the harbour and was helpless. They wire­
lessed the situation, tugs were sent .to the rescue and 
they soon broke an opening so the Transport could get 
out. No damage was done and the boat proceeded on 
to Manila. 
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F~o:n the stand point of an American, the sanitary 
cond1t10ns were deplorable. This is probably not too 
strong a characterization of sanitary conditions even in 
former times, but it was now complicated by the break­
ing up of families, due to the World War and the Civil 
W ~r, and resulting i~ a great ~ercentage of the people 
trymg to reach relatives or friends. This latter move­
m_ent, r~sulting in all railroad yards being crowded 
':1th trams filled with human beings crowding into sta­
t~ons _and any other heated place, made the sanitary 
s1tua~1~n look ~11:1ost hopeless. The Chief Surgeon in 
describmg cond1t10ns said: 

. " ~ ~eneral desc;iption of the sanitary situation in 
Siberia is most readily_ conceived by the perfectly truth­
ful remark that practically none exists." 

A few of the buildings in Vladivostok have driven 
wells a few hundred feet deep and have their own water 
supply, an~ this was the case in the building we obtained 
for American Headquarters. Practically all towns in 
S_iberia, including Vladivostok, depend almost exclu­
s1~ely_ upo_n s~rface wells for their water supply, and 
t_h1s s1tu.at1on is not. helped any by the water being de­
livered m cans earned by filthy Chinese coolies. 

Th: Ch~~f Surgeon reported the prevalent diseases 
as bemg, plague, typhus, relapsing fever, typhoid 
fever, scarlet fever, and malignant sore throat." 

The social conditions in Vladivostok were almost 
u?believable, and a common expression was that Har­
bin used to be the worst city in the world but that Vladi­
vostok was running it a close second. 
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Many of the young men brought into service by the 
draft had never been away from home, and suffered 
very much from nostalgia. 

The women of the Y.M.C.A. and the Y.W.C.A. 
rendered magnificent service.in helping with the enter­
tainment of, not only American soldiers and sailors, 
but soldiers belonging to the Czecho-Slovak forces. 
Orders were issued soon after my arrival forbidding 
the use of intoxicating liquor, requiring all soldiers to 
have a pass if out at night, and requiring all officers to 
have permission of their Commanding Officer if they 
were to be out after midnight. This caused much criti­
cism as being an unnecessary restriction upon the free­
dom of action of Americans, but I had received dis­
turbing reports which convinced me it was a wise move. 

When typhus fever became quite prevalent, and no 
one could tell whether it was safe to ride in a public 
car or not, we reserved cars and made up our own 
train. This train consisted of sleeping car, dining car, 
and a hospital car. The train was thoroughly cleaned 
and kept in charge of a United States representative 
at all times. Members of the Command were ordered 
not to travel on any other train except in case of emer­
gency, and this train was kept moving from station to 
station practically all the time. When any of the Com­
mand moved as individuals they had a place to sleep 
and to eat and boiled water to drink. The hospital car 
was made from a second class passenger coach, per­
mitting a twelve bed ward to be installed, using the 
standee bunks as used on Transports. The Medical Of­
ficers considered this type of bed more satisfactory 
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than the regular berths installed in cars with compart­
ments. In view of the unsanitary conditions in Vladi­
vostok, I could not understand how we could escape 
some epidemic but we did. The medical care of the 
Command was very important, and the results were 
most gratifying, showing that the Medical Officers and 
the nurses were very faithful in the performance of 
their duties. 

The question of obtaining a suitable building for a 
hospital in Vladivostok was a difficult one, but we 
finally found a group of buildings, about eight miles 
from American Headquarters, that proved to be sat­
isfactory. This group would house all the necessary 
personnel except the female nurses. A large detached 
brick building, about half a mile from the other 
buildings, was obtained; this would accommodate the 
nurses and they seemed perfectly willing to livre there, 
and after being installed in this building appeared to be 
fairly comfortable. The War Department cabled me 
that a hundred female nurses were in San Francisco, 
and would leave for Vladivostok on the next army 
Transport. I did not want these nurses because of the 
conditions relative to accommodations, and the absence 
of any recreation for them, so I cabled asking that they 
send but twenty-five, which was approved, and the 
twenty-five came. They proved to be a great help, and 
I was very glad to have them as they were very self­
reliant, and gave me no trouble by requests for better 
conditions, which I would have been glad to have given 
them, if I could. 
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ON October 24, I9I8, General Ivanoff-Rinoff ap­
peared in Eastern Siberia. He was a typical Czar­

ist Russian official, and believed in treating all who 
stood in his way in a ruthless manner. The Directorate 
in Omsk had put him in command of all Russian troops 
in Eastern Siberia, and on November 3, I9I8, he de­
clared the provinces of Amur, Primorskaya, Sakhalin, 
and Kamchatka to be under martial law, making him­
self, in effect, Dictator of Eastern Siberia, and placing 
the question of life or death in the hands of the auto­
cratic class, who were determined to see that the prin­
ciples advocated by ·autocracy should not die in Russia. 

I reported, with reference to the declaration of mar­
tial law: 

" The object has not escaped the Russian people, 
and, in my judgment, the feeling is so strong that a 
clash will occur even if the Allied troops remain, and 
no one doubts that it would occur immediately upon 
the withdrawal of Allied troops. As I see it, the effect 
of keeping troops in Siberia, is to permit the crowd of 
Reactionaries, headed by General Horvath, supported 
by former Russian officers, to try to firmly establish 
themselves while the Allied troops are in Siberia." 

[ 143 ] 



1!1 
,, 

'II 

!'!111 

I l',1 
I' 

AMERICA'S SIBERIAN ADVENTURE 

I expected Allied troops, as well as United States 
troops, to be withdrawn from Siberia soon after the 
signing of the Armistice, and I seemed to be the only 
military representative who was not aware that ~e had 
a war of our own in Russia, and that our War was in­
dependent and separate from the War in France. The 
Armistice had absolutely no effect in Siberia. It seemed 
to me, as all the stated reasons why the United States 
took part in military action in Siberia had entirely dis­
appeared before the Armistice, or at the time of the 
Armistice, we would withdraw our troops from Russian 
territory and naturally the question repeatedly came 
to my mind, why are American troops kept in Siberia? 
I had complete confidence in the accuracy of the state­
ment made by the State Department, that the United 
States was not going to take sides in Russian internal 
affairs. The presence of Allied troops was undoubtedly 
delaying the settlement of Russian questions by the 
Russian people and, no matter what attitude the troops 
took towards internal conflicts, we could not escape 
responsibility for some acts against the Russian people 
that could not have been committed if foreign troops 
had not been in Siberia. 

On December 13, I reported as follows : 

" Kolchak troops are arresting and murdering the 
people and basing their actions on the authority of 
Admiral Kolchak, that every one opposing the Gov­
ernment should be punished." I also stated, " General 
Krestachintsky had informed me that the Japanese 
had agreed to supply new equipment for 10,000 men 
for duty in the Far East." 
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Japan was' already supplying Sei:ieono~ and Kalmi­
koff troops and, in my judgement, if details were ever 
discussed as to the use of these men for whom Japan 
offered equipment, the Russians would find that Japan 
demanded that the troops be put under their control. 
There was at this time great resentment in Omsk 
against Semeonoff, because he would not support Ad­
miral Kolchak, although he always claimed that he was 
supporting him. . . 

He was finally ordered to Omsk, with a view to go-
ing to the front, but he refused on the ground that con­
ditions in Trans-Baikal were such that he could not 
leave. Undoubtedly, Kolchak hoped to get Semeonoff 
from under the control of Japan, and in this way break 
the strangle hold of Japan, in that the Japanese could, 
through Semeonoff, stop suppli~s reachi~g him, as all 
supplies had to go through Chi ta. In this way Japan 
could demand any concession from Kolchak and he was 
powerless to refuse them. . 

Evidently this was what Kokhak referred to m 
March, 1919, when he told Consul General ~ar~is th~t 
" his Government could not control the s1tuat10n, 111 
the Far East, and that he was practically unable. to 
exercise authority, and also, that particul.ar attention 
must be paid to Ataman Semeonoff, who is backed by 
Japan. He added, that due to these conditions, his 
Government could not assume responsibility for what 
is to take place in the Far East." 

This declaration of Kokhak was considered " ex­
tremely confidential as no similar statement has been 
given to the other Allies, in this connection." 
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Kolchak's statement mentioned above was the truth, 
but, by no means the whole truth, and it was manifestly 
given out for American consumption. It was character­
istically an autocratic Siberian statement, designed to 
answer any inquiring Government, relative to reported 
conditions in the Far East. 

In connection with Kolchak's liberal statements to 
Mr. Sharkey, Associated Press, and to Mr. Harris, 
U. S. Consul General, Mr. Fisher in his "Soviets in 
the vVorld Affairs," Vol. I, page 197, states that there 
was found in the secret archives of Kolchak's Minister 
of Foreign Affairs, a telegram from Mr. Ughet, finan­
cial agent of the former Russian Government in Wash­
ington, which suggested: " that the Supreme Ruler 
make a declaration of liberal policies in order to win 
United States public opinion." 

In my reports and cables I was stressing the excesses, 
not only of Semeonoff and Kalmikoff, but of the Kol­
chak Russian troops under the immediate control and 
direction of Ivanoff-Rinoff. The excesses of the troops 
under the latter, in so far as assault and robbery were 
concerned, were in magnitude nearly eq~al to those of 
Semeonoff and Kalmikoff, although the troops under 
the control of Ivanoff-Rinoff and Horvath were not 
killing to the extent practiced by the troops of 
Kalmikoff. 

Ivanoff-Rinoff and Hovarth recognized Kolchak's 
authority and he could have stopped these excesses of 
the White Russian troops if he had so desired. The 
fact of the matter is, it is rather unreasonable to expect 
the practice of centuries to be stopped suddenly by the 

[ 146] 

MOBILIZATION OF RUSSIAN TROOPS 

Czarists and especially, when there was only a slight 
chance that the ruthlessness practised would be pub­
lished to the world. The Allies in Siberia had become 
so enmeshed in Siberian affairs, in their determination 
to destroy bolshevism, that they could protest only 
feebly against Czarist Russian excesses, if they pro­
tested at all. 

As to Admiral Kolchak's statement through Consul 
General Harris, to Washington, it was well known 
that Consul General Harris resented the reports the 
Military were sending and he was not only instrumental 
in getting Washington to cable me that most remark­
able statement that the United States Government ex­
pected to look to the State Department for information 
on Siberia, but he reported that the Army in Siberia 
was playing politics. Subsequent events have shown 
clearly who was playing politics, and it was not the 
Army. 

In December, r 9 I 8, Admiral Kolchak issued an order 
directing the mobilization of all officers and soldiers 
of the Russian Army, and this practically included all 
Russians of military age. I stated in my report with 
reference to this mobilization order: 

" There is a belief in some quarters that there is 
danger in arming any la·rge number of troops, as the 
people from whom soldiers are drawn are, generally 
speaking, opposed to the autocratic form of Gov­
ernment." 

His mobilization order was a long step towards the 
end of Admiral Kolchak's regime. 
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.When I first arrived in Siberia representations were 
?emg made everywhere to the effect that the Russians, 
m some other section of Siberia, were in need of arms 
with which ~o fight the Central Powers, and the peas­
ants were bemg told that the Allies were then in Siberia 
and the Russians no longer needed these arms for thei; 
person~l protection. A large number of arms were being 
~urne~ m by the peasants, and Cossacks were being sent 
m:o. villages, and were taking by force the arms not 
willingly surrendered. If a peasant was discovered 
with a rifle and ammunition it often meant his death 
and certainly meant a frightful lashing with -the 
knout. The two methods succeeded in getting nearly 
all arms out of the hands of the peasants and this 
enabled the Cossack troops, in the Far East, to safely 
carry on their ruthless campaign of murder and 
robbery. 

. It is ama~ing that the Czarist Russian Army Officers 
did not realize that some change had to be made in the 
Army practices used during the Czar's regime; and the 
atrocities being committed east of Lake Baikal were 
so overwhelming that no open-minded person could 
doubt the truth of many of the reported excesses. On 
January 24, I reported to the War Department : 

" There is now a meeting being held at Vladivostok 
?f the selected Zemstvo representatives from all prov­
mces East of Lake Baikal, and from Irkutsk and 
Semipalatinsk, West of Lake Baikal. In addition to 
t!1ese, there is also attending this meeting representa­
tives of the Dumas." 
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These gentlemen, or a representative body of them 
came to see me and they impressed me as being intel­
ligent, well informed, and fair men. 

Kolchak sent an order to his representative in Vladi­
vostok directing him " not to permit this convention 
to discuss or consider any question concerning his 
powers, constitutional right, or politics." This conven­
tion was held in accordance_ with the law and the sub­
jects they were to discuss had been published, and the 
meetings and discussions were to be public. Could there 
have been made a much plainer statement to the Zem­
stvo representatives who were elected by the suffrage 
of the people, that henceforth Autocracy, not repre­
sentative Government, was to reign supreme in Siberia? 

It soon became apparent that Kolchak's statement 
to Mr. Sharkey was for consumption in the United 
States. The question in every one's mind was, is Kol­
chak really in favour of some of the concessions de­
manded by the people or is he, at heart, a Monarchist? 
In my judgement, he had the same ideas as the Mon­
archists in so far as the oppression and suppression of 
the great mass of the Russian people are concerned. 
He had surrounded himself with the most distinct type 
of Absolutists, and had, thereby, rendered himself 
powerless to act according to his own judgement, if he 
had desired, and one could hear frequent rumblings 
that he was too liberal in his views, but I never saw 
any indication of liberalism in his actions toward the 
people. 

On January 30, I cabled the War Department, in 
part: 
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"The following from Major Slaughter, at Ekater­
inburg, January 27th, Bolsheviki power growing here, 
espionage service says that any Russian Army will fall 
to ·pieces, the order to mobilize five new classes same 
as organizing army for Bolsheviks. New mobilization 
worst feature." 

This was from Western Siberia, four thousand miles 
from where I was reporting same conditions in Eastern 
Siberia - and this is the kind of report characterized 
by Consul General Harris as " Army playing politics." 

On December 30, 1918, Captain Schuyler, at Omsk, 
telegraphed me: 

" Nine new Japanese Staff Officers just arrived in 
Omsk. They are trying to form Japanese party in ~us­
sia, especially among Army officers, and are havmg 
considerable success. They promise anything wanted, 
whether they can perform or. not ~nd poi~t" ou~ fail­
ure of Allies to afford effective aid and m spite of 
promises.'' 

This was a move by Japan to determine definitely 
and surely what could be done with Admiral Kolchak. 
If he could be handled satisfactorily, then Japanese in­
fluence could be extended beyond Lake Baikal. 

By controlling Semeonoff at Chita, and Kalmikoff 
at Habarovsk, and, as far as the Allies were concerned, 
they had a dominating power over Ivanoff-Rinoff ~t 
Vladivostok, they practically controlled Eastern Si­
beria. If they could establish a working agreement with 
Kolchak they could eliminate, to some extent at le~st, 
the causes for friction between themselves on one side 
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and the English and French on the other. This friction 
had existed since the assumption of power by Admiral 
Kolchak. 

England, France, and Japan were still in step, in 
so far as bolshevism was concerned, but England and 
France believed their objective could be reached more 
surely by treating bolshevism as an equal menace in all 
parts of Siberia and by using Kolchak as their agent 
in destroying it. Japan had spent considerable money 
in Eastern Siberia, and her main consideration was to 
destroy bolshevism there, and at the same time be in a 
position to take advantage of any situation that might 
arise, but bolshevism west of Lake Baikal was second­
ary to her interests in Eastern Siberia. 

As an indication of the success the nine Japanese 
officers had in their efforts to form a Japanese party in 
Russia, I received, on January 3 l, l 9 l 9, the following 
telegram from Captain Schuyler, at Omsk: 

" Small reactionary revoltJ1ere last night as protest 
against liberalism of Kolchak, which displeases many 
officers. Demonstration against Allies in restaurant, and 
toasts drunk to Japan, the only friend of Russia. This 
has strengthened position of Japanese-, here, who have 
been under a cloud as a result of their activities last 
December." 

What did this apparent change in the attitude of the 
Russian officer class towards the Japanese mean? It 
meant that the Japanese Staff officers had promised 
the Russian officers anything they wanted, and they 
were not only ready to take assistance from any source, 
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but were very grateful for this assistance. Looking at 
the situation from their point of view, one can hardly 
blame them. Their backs were against the wall and 
their main object was to help establish some Go_v~rn­
ment in Russia that would :restore them to the positions 
they had before the War, which they had no. hope of 
reaching if the Soviets remained in power. With them, 
however, fighting bolshevism was a means for accom-
plishment of their main object. . 

Notwithstanding some bitterness remained between 
the Japanese and the old Russian ?fficer class, du~ to 
the Russo-Japanese War, the position of the Russians 
was such that they were glad to accept support from 
Japan. The more Japan gave them ~he greater wa~ the 
praise for her and her people. This apparent. friend­
ship could not be obtained without the expenditure of 
money or military help. 

Three or four years after I left Siberia the Ameri­
can Military Attache in Tokio sent me a report of a 
speech made in the Japanese Diet, in w~ich .the speaker 
was reported to h~ve said that .th.e Siben

1

an venture 
cost Japan about nme hundred milho~ yen. O~e nat~­
rally wonders why Japan put all this ?1oney mto. Si­
berian intervention and it is hard to believe her ob3ect 
was entirely altruistic. I have no defi~ite information 
as to her real intentions and have no idea t~at I ever 
will have such information. 

As an indication of a Czarist Russian's ideas of 
ethical methods in securing funds, Colonel Korff, Rus­
sian liason officer with American Headquarters, told 

1 The value of a yen is fifty cents U. S. money. 
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Colonel Eichelberger, the American Intelligence officer, 
that General Ivanoff-Rinoff and General Romanoffsky 
had the power to stop all criticism of me and of all 
Americans, as well as of American policies, and if I 
would get the United States to give the Russian Army 
twenty thousand dollars a month the propaganda 
against Americans would cease. He also told Colonel 
Eichelberger, at the same time, that Lieutenant General 
Krestachintsky would be in his car at the railroad sta­
tion until 6 o'clock that evening and that it would be 
to my advantage to see him. 

Kolchak's mobilization order was not complied with 
by the great mass of Russians within the military age 
and, as soon as it became evident that force would have 
to be used to mobilize them, Ivanoff-Rinoff did not 
hesitate to send his Cossacks to bring in the men of 
prescribed age, which started a reign of terror difficult 
to believe. 

In March a young woman who had been a village 
school teacher, came to American Headquarters and 
asked for a guard for herself and her brother so they 
might return to their village of Gordyevka, and bury 
their father who had been killed by Ivanoff-Rinoff 
troops. The young woman said the Russian troops had 
come to Gorayevka looking for young men to force 
them into the Army, but the young men had escaped, 
so the troops took ten men of the village, who were 
beyond military age, tortured and killed them, and 
were guarding the bodies to prevent their families from 
burying them. This seemed so brutal and unnatural 
that I ordered an officer with some troops to go to 
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Gordyevka and investigate the report, and I notified 
the young woman of my intentions. 

The officer sent to make the investigation reported 
as follows: 

" On arrival at the Gordyevka school house, I was 
met by a body of seventy or. eighty men, all armed with 
rifles, mostly Russian army rifles, with a few old single 
shot 45-70 caliber among them. The information I 
obtained was all taken in the presence of these seventy 
or eighty armed villagers and some twenty five or thirty 
women. Most of the information was from the wives 
of the victims, and these women broke down repeatedly, 
during this trying ordeal for them. The first woman 
interviewed said her husband was on his way to the 
school house with his rifle to turn it in to the Russian 
troops, as ordered. He was seized on the street, beaten 
over the head and body with his rifle, and then taken 
to a house a short distance from the school where he 
was stretched by his neck to a pin in the rafter, his 
hands tied, and terribly beaten about the body and head 
until the blood was splashed even on the walls of the 
room, and the marks on his body showed me that he 
had been ·hung by his feet also. 

" He was later stood in a row, with eight other men, 
and shot to death at 2 o'clock P.M. There were ten men 
in line and all were killed but one, he being left for 
dead by Ivanoff-Rinoff's troops. -The next woman I 
interviewed was the woman, in whose house all the men 
were beaten, and in the back of whose barnyard the 
men were shot. She stated that about l l A.M., the morn­
ing of March 9, 1919, a number of Ivanoff-Rinoff's 
officers came to her house and made her take her hus-
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band to another house, and about l l :30 they took her 
husband back to her house and beat him, with the rest 
of them, also broke one of his arms and cut out his 
fingernails, and knocked out all of his front teeth. Her 
husband was an invalid and a cripple." 

The officer said in his remarks: 

"I found that the floor of the room these men 
were beaten in was covered with blood, and the walls 
in the room were all splashed with blood. The wire and 
loops of rope that were used around the men's necks 
were still hanging from the ceiling and covered with 
blood. I also found that some of these men had been 
scalded with boiling water and burned with hot irons, 
heated in a little stove I found in the room. 

" I visited the spot where these men were shot. 
These men were lined up and shot, and each body had 
at least three holes in it, and some as many as six or 
more. They were apparently shot in the feet first and 
then higher in the body." 

There was much more evidence taken and reported 
by the young officer making the investigation and the 
evidence not quoted agrees, in every detail, with that 
above quoted. . 

This seemed to be such a terribly shocking case 
that I ordered the young officer to report to me in 
person. He was not a regular Army Officer, but was in 
the service only for the duration of the War. I shall 
always remember the remark this officer made to me 
after I had finished questioning him. His remark was: 
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" General, for God's sake, never send me on another 
expedition like this. I came within an ace of pulling off 
my uniform, joining these poor people, and helping 
them as best I could." 

From Spasskoe, on the railroad between Vladi­
vostok and Habarovsk, an entirely separate section 
from Gordyevka, the Intelligence officer reported rela­
tive to Russian officers sent to Spasskoe: 

" They laughingly tell of their experience in the 
recent raids, in search of arms and clothing. In order 
to make a point of duly impressing the people of the 
seriousness of their mission, they seize the first man 
they see, upon entering a village, and give him fifty 
lashes, and later give him more if there was reason to 
believe that he held back any information." 

If this was an isolated case it might be taken as the 
boasting of young ignorant officers, but reports showed 
that this practice was carried out in other parts of 
the Far East, and reports of these terrible atrocities 
reached me from many different stations of American 
troops. Many of these reports claimed that t~e mal­
treating of the peasants was done by Japanese sol­
diers, or by Russians under the protection, and in the 
presence of Japanese troops. I had no means of in­
vestigating nine tenths of these reports, and even if we 
had made an investigation and found they were true, 

·we had no remedy. The obje'ct of this terrorism was 
not only to spread terror among the peasants, but 
Japan and the Russian autocratic class hoped to create 
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a situation that would force the peasants to try to 
protect themselves, and this would justify calling for 
more Allied troops to put down the Bolsheviks. By 
the ruthless and systematic search for all arms in the 
hands of peasants, these poor people had no means 
of pro~ecting themselves and could only pray and hope 
~or relief and t~ust that the Russian troops being mobi­
lized were not m sympathy with the Kolchak Govern­
ment, and would revolt and save them from the terrible 
punishments being inflicted upon them. 

The Kolchak adherents, including Semeonoff and 
Kalmikoff, who claimed to be supporting him, were 
assembled along the Ussuri, Chinese Eastern, and 
Trans-Siberian railroads. They could not have existed 
away from the railroads and, in my judgement, at no 
time while I. was in Siberia was there enough popular 
support behind Kolchak in Eastern Siberia for him 

' or the people supporting him, to have lasted one month 
if all Allied supports had been removed. 

Judging from the liberal, material, and financial 
~upport give? b~ Japan to certain reactionary leaders 
m Eastern Siberia, and from the energetic efforts she 
and her paid Russians agents were making to spread 
terror there, I was always convinced, and am so con­
vinced today, that the Japanese were constantly look­
ing for and expe~tin;s some occurrence or event to hap­
pen that would JUStify them in directing Semeonoff to 
d.eclare .Eastern Siberia independent of the rest of Rus­
sia. This could have been claimed as a necessary step 
in fighting bolshevism. 

The Japanese and Cossack leaders were always try­
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ing to attribute their troubles to the presence of United 
States soldiers and every time I was approached by 
anyone with a proposition involving the use of Ameri­
can troops, I told them that our forces were to take no 
part in these differences and would not be used to pro­
tect either side in cas·e of conflict. The Japanese and 
their Cossack puppets hoped to get the United States 
in a position where we would be attacked by the Bol­
sheviks and then I would take sides. This would have 
relieved them of a great deal of embarrassment. 

On February 25, 1919, I cabled Washington, in 
part: 

" General Romanoffsky, representing Kolchak, in­
formed me yesterday that the Russian people were 
now pretty well crystallized into two parties and they 
considered any man not with them, as being against 
them; that they had to fight for their existence, and 
proposed to take such steps against their enemies, in 
Eastern Siberia, as they considered necessary, without 
regard to the Allies." 

This was a correct statement of the situation. This 
same day a representative of the Zemstvos in~ormed 
me: 

" The middle class are bitter against the newly 
formed Russian troops as they are whipping and other­
wise maltreating the people and this resentment may 
extend to the Allies, as the people believe this condition 
could not exist if Allied troops were not in Siberia." 

I felt sure, in my own mind, that no one could inter­
pret my instructions other than I had interpreted them, 
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although I knew the Consul General in Siberia, Mr. 
Harris, was anything but favourable to my attitude 
there a~d I also felt, but without the same knowledge 
I had with reference to Mr. Harris, that the Section of 
Russia? affairs in the State Department was unsym­
pathetic. I had reason to believe that Mr. Morris, 
American Ambassador in Japan, and handling the Rus­
sian questio.n in the Far East for the State Depart­
ment, heartily approved of my stand in Siberia. 

In order that there could be no misunderstanding I 
cabled the War Department: 

"_The f~eling is ?ow becoming so bitter that each 
fac~1on claims that if you are not with them you are 
agamst them. The Japanese have started a campaign 
to put down ~n uprising in Amur Province and my re­
fusal to perm1t'the use of United States troops in the 
trouble between Russian factions has enabled the re­
actionary party to claim that Americans are Bolsheviks 
and enabled the other party to claim that we are 
favorable to t~e reactionari_es because, by our pres­
ence, the reactionary party 1s enabled to commit ex­
cesses on the people which they could not do if the 
Allied troops were not present. No one doubts the 
truth of this latter contention. Japan and the United 
States are in Si?eria with_ the same announced purpose 
and a_re _followmg opposite courses relative to taking 
part 111 mternal troubles. This has made it seem ad­
visable ~o me to as~ if 1:-1Y ~olicy, ~n considering the 
Bolshev1~ tro~ble m Siberia, entirely .an internal 
trouble, m which I should take no part, 1s the policy 
the Department desires me to follow." 
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On the 28th of March, I received a reply from Gen­
eral March, Chief of Staff, as follows: 

" The delay in answering cablegram has been due 
to the fact that State Department cabled it in full to 
the President for his instructions, and, so far, no reply 
has been received. Your action as reported in the cable­
gram was in accordance with your original instructions 
and is approved, and you will be guided by those in­
structions until they are modified by the President." 

After this I felt doubly sure as to the desires of the 
principal officials in Washington, regardless of what 
subordinates might try to do in order to carry out their 
own conceptions as to what the United States Govern­
ment should do in Siberia. 

In addition to this cable I received a personal letter 
from General March, which I am going to publish 
without asking his consent, for if I did ask his consent 
to publish this letter it m:ight embarrass him. This 
short statement throws a ray of light on General 
March's conception of duty, which should be better 
understood in the United States, and this very signifi­
cant and agreeable letter read: 

" Keep a stiff upper lip, I am going to stand by you 
until-- freezes over." 

In February, a committee of six peasants came to 
see me. They were from the Olga district, which is off 
the railroad and in the extreme east of Siberia. They 
reported that the White Russian troops, when unable 
to find the men they were looking for, would beat the 
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women over their-l;>acks with ramrods taken from their 
guns. They said these women were beaten until their 
ba.cks were raw, and the spokesman of this committee 
said: 

" You do not have to take our word for this, we do 
not .want you to. take our word, send an officer to in­
v~stigate and brmg a Japanese and an English officer 
with you .. We can show them many women who have 
been terribly beaten by these Kolchak troops." 

I received official reports confirming the statement 
of these ~easants, and in ref erring to this in my official 
report said: 

"These Russian troops committing these acts are 
part of I van?ff-Rinoff's troops and, for reasons above 
stated, I believe to be armed, equipped, and paid in 
part by Japan." 

In any country in the world, whether civilized or 
not, the inhabitants would take such steps as they could 
to protect themselves from such inhuman atrocities. 
There was great resentment against Japan by the 
peasants o~ .Eastern Siberia, becauiSe everyone knew 
these atrocities were committed by Russians in their 
pay .and under their protection, and the United States 
was not, and should not have been, entirely free from 
t?e harsh feeling of the people for these terrible cruel­
ties committe~ by Japanese hirelings, as the United 
States h~d ~et it be known, throughout the world, that 
s~e h.ad invited Japan to join her in sending troops to 
S1bena. My reports to Washington were filled with 
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these terrible atrocities and, so far as the people of 
Siberia knew and, in fact, so far as I knew, not one 
word of protest was ever made to Japan for these acts. 

In view of Consul General Harris' attitude towards 
the controversy in Siberia, between the Bolsheviks and 
the anti-Bolsheviks, I doubt very much if he ever re­
ported these atrocities, and as the State Department 
announced that the Government intended to get its 
information as to conditions from representatives of 
the State Department, it is possible that the United 
States Government had no official information of 

these atrocities. 
On March 3, I reported to Washington: 

" Japanese Headquarters inform me of the .follow­
ing losses suffered in fighting against bolsheviks in the 
vicinity of Blagovestchensk -

Feb. I Ith, two officers, eighteen soldiers, killed near 
Zabetaya. 

Feb. 15th, one officer and from ten to twenty soldiers 
killed near Andreskaya. 

Feb. I 6th, a reconnoitering patrol of one officer and 
fifty men encountered a Bolshevik force, of about 
twenty-five hundred, near Skranskoy, abo~t thirty 
kilometers Northwest of Alexeyensk, the entire J apa-
nese patrol killed. 

On the same day two peace strength companies of 
Infantry, total of about two hundred and fifty men, 
one company of Artillery and one section of Infantry 
met the same bolshevik force at different times, and 
only three Japanese escaped, all others bein~ killed. In 
this connection on February I 2, General Oi, Japanese 

[ 162] 

MOBILIZATION OF RUSSIAN TROOPS 

at Haba~ovsk, cal.led on Colonel Styer for one company 
of American soldiers to be sent to Japanese assistance. 
Colonel Styer asked for Instructions. I sent Colonel 
Robinson, Ch_ief of Staff, to the Japanese Chief of 
Staff to tell him that before I could take part in this 
,trouble I must know that the so-called Bolsheviks were 
not Russians .resisting unju~t treatment by troops. The 
Japanese Chief of Staff said he had not heard of this 
trouble from General Oi and told Robinson not to do 
anything unless he heard further from him. Nothing 
more on the subject." 

This incident was used where it could be, to stir up 
resentment against United States troops, and the Japa­
nese press was very acrimonious in their comments. 

In this connection I saw in the American press a 
~tatement th.at, "the Japanese War Department has 
issued a vers10n .o~ the encounter between the Japanese 
a?d the Bolsh~v1k1. Accompanying this story is an allu­
sion to the attitude of General Graves, who is alleged 
by the Japanese to have refused to go to their assist­
ance." 

Again on April I 5, I 9 I 9, the press carried the fol­
lowing statement: 

"The Japanese press has been making capital in 
Tokyo out of the allegation that the American forces 
were permitted by General Graves and other offic.ers 
of_ the ~i;nerican e~pedition, to stand by while a J apa­
nese Military contmgent was being wiped out." 

By f.alse statement and implication, the persons 
responsible for these reports were trying to make politi­
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cal capital out of a terrible disaster which we ,all re­
gretted, by bearing false witness against a representa­
tive of a friendly nation. In the first place the Japanese 
Commander, through his Chief of Staff, convey~d to 
me, through my Chief of Staff, the message not to take 
any action on the request of General Oi unless I heard 
further from Japanese Headquarters at Vladivostok, 
and I never received any request relative to the trouble 
from Japanese Headquarters. However, I probably 
would have refused to send American troops if I had 
been requested to do so, unless the Japanese could have 
shown me they were not the aggressors, which I am 
confident they could not have done. While the state­
ment given out in Japan does not specifically say 
American troops were in the vicinity of the fight, it was 
so worded, and intentionally so worded, as to give the 
impression that Americans could easily have given 
assistance. As a matter of fact, there was not a single 
American soldier within four hundred miles of where 
this action took place. The Japanese in Siberia knew 
perfectly well, no matter what action I took, and no 
matter what action Colonel Styer took, relative to 
this fight, that the Americans could not have saved 
a single life of the Japanese. Why didn't the Japanese 
send their own troops to the assistance of their men? 
They had an entire division in Habarovsk and vicinity, 
-while the Americans had but two battalions. General 
Oi's request to Colonel Styer, on February I 2, was to 
get Americans to go out for the specific purpose of 
:fighting whom he called Bolsheviks, and which he knew 
perfectly well I could not and would not do. 
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About this. time. ~he American press was beginning 
to sh?w a d1spos1t1on to be critical of me and the 
Ame;1can troops because we were not :fighting the Bol­
sheviks. One paper said: 

"w . e are i:10t at war with the Bolsheviki, of course. 
We are :fightmg them at Archangel, but it is not war." 

Thi~ writer express:d .an idea quite prevalent in the 
world m I 9 I 9, a~d this idea could be justified only on 
the theory that might makes right. If the United States 
s?ould send ~roops ~o Russian territory at the present 
time and begm fightmg any faction in Russia, it would 
be War because the Soviets are now in a position to 
redress their injuries by use of force and, undoubted!. 
would do so. y' 

If I sent American tr?ops with Japanese troops, as 
requested by General Oi, Americans would no longer 
have been pacific observers of the atrocities being com­
?1itted in Siberia, but we would have been participants 
In them. The question is naturally asked what had these 
~o called Bolsheviks done to justify General Oi in send­
mg ~ apan.ese sol.diers to destroy them? They were 
Russians, m Russian territory, against whom no nation 
had declared War, minding their own business and not 
endangering life, limb, or property of any Ally. 

To thos~ of. our people who were impressed with 
the necessity of fighting bolshevism reQardless of 
American policy, I was never able to det~rmine who 
was a Bolshevik or why ~e was a Bolshevik. According 
t~ J a.ranese rep~esentat1ves and her paid puppets in 
S1bena, all Russians were Bolsheviks if they were not 
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willing to take up arms and fight for the Semeonoffs, 
the Kalminoffs, the Rozanoffs, and the I vanoff-Rinoffs, 
and the annals of crime in the United States will not 
show worse characters than these. According to the 
British and French representatives, all Russians who 
were not willing to take up arms and fight for Kolchak 
were Bolsheviks. At this time no nation in the world 
was willing to recognize any of the above named men, 
or any other man, as the de facto or de jure head of any 

Russian Government. 
Soon after I arrived in Vladivostok I met General 

Nakajima of the Japanese forces. He seemed to be a 
most important Japanese official, without having any 
specific duty as was customary with other Japanese 
generals. He was always very courteous and. plea~ant, 
and seemed to be in the forefront of all discussions, 
regardless of the subject. He was known in American 
Headquarters as the political General of Japan. He 
came to me and suggested that, as Japan and the 
United States were so closely associated in their work 
in Siberia, it would be advisable for the military repre­
sentatives of both countries to have knowledge of what 
the other was reporting to his Government, and sug­
gested that I tell the Japanese of important communi­
cations I sent to Washington, and they would tell me 
what important messages they sent to Tokyo. I knew, 
of course, that they would not show me the T?kyo dis­
patches of any importance, and he was reflectm~ upon 
my common sense by suggesting that I show him my 

dispatches to Washington. . 
I determined, however, to play his game and told 
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him I thought his suggestion an excellent one but it 
seemed only fair that, as Nakajima had suggested the 
scheme, t~at they put it into operation by showing me 
the first dispatch. I expected him to show me an innocu­
ous dispatch, and I intended to meet him in kind but 
this beautiful agreement was never put into opera,tion. 

After a month or so, Nakajima was sent back to 
Japan and it was soon an open secret that his activities 
were objectionable to some foreign representatives, 
and he had been recalled by the Japanese Government 
supposedly not in its best graces. We were soon t~ 
realize, however, that his activities were not objection­
able to. the Japanese .Government, by hearing of his 
promotion from a Ma3or General to a Lieutenant Gen­
eral in the Japanese Army. Mr. Carl Ackerman, in his 
book, "Trailing the Bolsheviki," speaks of him as the 
General Ludendorff of the Japanese Army. 

The next time I heard of him was on M ar~h 1 6 
I 9 I 9, when I received a cable from the American Mili: 
tary Attache in Tokyo, it said: 

"Japanese General Staff reports ten American Army 
deserters have joined red guards Northeast of Vladi­
vostok, and one has been captured. Lieutenant General 
Nakajima, Japanese General Staff, called me for a 
private conferen~e and expressed great concern as to 
the fut?re .relayons of the Japanese and American 
troops m Srbena, because (omission) and Americans 
are not. He referred to our failure to render assistance 
to General Yamada on the Amur, and to recent Ameri­
ca~ deserters joining the Bolsheviks. He asked quite 
pomtedly, what the A,mericans would do if the bolshe-
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viks cut the railroad, after the new plan for guarding 
the railroad had been set up, and whether we would 
assist Japanese, remain idle, or assist their enemies, 
the bolsheviks. He was clearly opposed to your troops 
being stationed at Chita or Manchuli." 

This is a fair example of the charges Americans had 
to meet, not only where the false allegations were made 
and could be refuted by the facts, but elsewhere, where 
neither party to the discussion knew the facts and could 
not intelligently discuss problems arising in Siberia. 

Nakajima's statements bordered on an insult and, in 
my judgement, did not deserve a diplomatic answer. I 
replied to the telegram: 

" There are six American deserters at large. The 
one reported as captured, has not been delivered to 
me. False statements have been so common that I will 
not believe they have captured one unless I see him. 
Nakajima does not know that the American deserters 
have joined the bolsheviks. This is a typical erroneous 
statement. I consider his question as to what I would 
do, under certain conditions, borders on insulting in­
sinuations and characteristic of other meddlesome ac­
tions in business which pertains to the United States 
alone. I expect to guard my part of the railway in my 
own way, and this does not concern other Nations until 
I have failed in my duty. General Inagaki, informed me 
yesterday that they· had instructions not to fight bol­
sheviks unless attacked or to prevent disorders in the 
country. I cannot see why the United States cannot 
send troops into China or Siberia without getting the 
consent of Japan. They would bitterly resent any for-
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eigner attempting to interfere in the locating of their 
troops in this same country. I do not consider they have 
any more interest in Manchuria and Siberia, than the 
United States. Japanese headquarters here have in­
f~rmed me that the Japanese supplied Kalmikoff with 
his arms and equipment. There is not a man in the bol­
shevik, or any other army, worse than Kalmikoff, who 
recently stated that he was glad to be under the com­
mand of General Oi." 

The Vice-President of the Provincial Zemstvo, an 
editor of a local paper, and two other men in Vladivos­
tok were arrested on the night of the 2nd of March, 
I 9 I 9, by Russian White troops under instructiqns of 
Ivanoff-Rinoff, and at 5 o'clock in the morning were 
started west in a prison car. It was well known in Vladi­
vostok that these four men had been started for 
Semeonoff's murdering ground. 

Very soon after they had started, the wives of three 
of the men came to AJTI.erican Headquarters and 
wanted to see me. I told the officer who came to my 
room to report to me, to tell the women that I had 
nothing to do with it and could take no action, but they 
were not satisfied and refused to leave without seeing 
me. In the morning when I got up at the regular hour 
and passed my office door, I saw the women still there, 
so went in to tell them we could take no part in the 
Russian difficulties. !twas remarkable to see how quiet 
and determined these women were. 

The woman, who did the talking, heard me and then, 
in a quiet voice, said tlie people of Vladivostok had 
thought, as the Allies were responsible for order there, 
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they were safe from such outrages. She then said: 
" there will be an uprising and all we want you and the 
other Allies to do is to continue your policy of non­
interference." She said the reactionary Russians who 
had committed this outrage had been given arms by the 
Allies, but that they could manage them if the Allies 
kept their hands off. I made no further comment to 
these women and they left my office. 

Soon after I had finished my breakfast, Sir Charles 
Eliot, British High Commissioner, came to see me 
and in a very excited manner said he understood I had 
said that American troops would not be used to prevent 
an uprising of the people. As I had not discussed the 
question with anyone, and had said no such thing, I 
told Sir Charles he had been misinformed. He then 
asked me if I would use American troops in case of an 
uprising, and I replied that I would not, mak~ any 
definite statement as to what action I would take until 
I knew the nature of the uprising and the cause. He 
became more excited and said the lives of British sub­
jects and British property were involved and that he 
must know my attitude. 

I finally told Sir Charles, after some more words, 
that I was well aware that he wanted to know my atti­
tude towards protecting I vanoff-Rinoff and Horvath 
and that I could answer his question, and the answer 
would be that he knew this was a cold blooded murder, 
and the United States had never been in the habit of 
protecting murderers, and that I did not intend doing 
so now and, so far as I was concerned, they could bring 
Ivanoff-Rinoff opposite American Headquarters and 
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hang him to that telegraph pole until he was dead, and 
not an American soldier would turn his hand. This 
seemed to satisfy Sir Charles and he immediately left 
my office. I have always believed that the British and 
the Japanese knew these arrests were going to be made. 

The prison car was stopped at Progranichnaya, a 
railroad town on the line between Siberia and Man­
churia, and it looked to me as if when Sir Charles got 
back to his office and had discussed the question with 
White Russians and possibly others, they decided they 
had better not run the risk of an uprising, and so had 
stopped the car. 

The Russians had a prison car at Progranichnaya, 
exactly like the one these prisoners were in, and as 
soon as they arrived at the station these cars were 
switched, the empty one going west with the train, and 
the one confaining the prisoners left where the empty 
car had been. This was evidently an attempt to fool 
some one. 

Reports were received from the American R. R. 
Service Corps, by telegraph in Vladivostok, about the 
car which was not sent on to Semeonoff, as everyone 
expected it would be, but was shunted off the main line 
and started south on the Japanese line towards Chang­
chun. The action being designed to create the impres­
sion they never had intended turning the prisoners over 
to Semeonoff to be killed. Japanese sentinels were 
placed around the supposed empty prison car at Pro­
granichnaya and no one was permitted to go near it. 
They sent food to the men by a twelve year old boy 
and, the first time this boy brought a meal to them, he 
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found an opportunity and, in the presence of the guard 
but in a sotto voice, told them that the engineer of the 
train waiting to go to Vladivostok said he would take 
any message they wanted to send to their families. 
They sent a note to their people so their whereabouts 
was known before the ruse of sending the other car to 
Changchun, on the J apane3e line, was fairly started. 

The Allied Commanders had a meeting and I pro­
posed that we send a notice to the Russi_an Commander, 
I vanoff-Rinoff, stating that, as the Allies wer~ respon­
sible for order in Vladivostok it was incumbent upon 
them to see that justice was shown to all, therefore, 
we would not permit Russians to be arrested and taken 
out of Vladivostok where their guilt or innocence 
should be determined, and, if tried, we claimed the 
right to send a representative to the _trial with a view 
to determining if it was a bona fide tnal for an offense. 

The French representative claimed that this was an 
interference in Russian affairs and was also a political 
question which we could not dea'.l with. The Japanese 
being the senior and presiding, again said as we were 
not unanimous we would drop it. I told the Japanese 
the day had passed when he could veto the action o~ a 
majority of the Allied Commanders, that the notice 
would be sent and those who did not wish to sign it 
need not do so. The Frenchman said he would have to 
consult his Government and asked if we would wait 
until he cabled to Paris, which we readily consented to 
do. In three or four days the notice was sent to Ivanoff­
Rinoff and all the Allied Commanders signed it. Gen­
eral Blair, the British representative at that time, was 
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selected to take the resolution to Russian Headquar­
ters. The prisoners were never sent west of Prograni­
chnaya and, in a few days after the resolution was sent 
to Russian Headquarters, they were sent to the mili­
tary jail at Nikolsk and kept there for about two weeks, 
when they were released. 

At this period of extreme criticism, I received an 
unexpected assertion from Colonel Butenko, who had 
been selected by the Russians and Allies for Fortr'ess 
Commander before my arrival in Siberia. He came to 
see me and, with the aid of my interpreter, told me, 
in effect, that he was convinced the Allies could get 
nowhere by trying to assist individual Russians. The 
result would be resentment on the part of the mass of 
Russians and would be an injury to the cause the Allies 
desired to help. He said he felt that my policy of not 
taking sides was the only one that gave any hope of 
help to stabilize conditions. He also said that I un­
doubtedly knew of the opposition to my policy, not 
only by the Anti-Bolshevik Russians but by the Allies, 
and on that account he could not come to see me unless 
he came after midnight, but I could count on his assist­
ance in every way possible. 

This offer proved to be of great help to me, not only 
in that it gave me needed information, but helped me 
to check information from other sources. I knew that 
if Colonel Butenko was known to be friendly to me he 
would not last a week. I rarely ever saw him but he con­
tinued his assistance for about a year, when he received 
orders to report to Omsk. He knew, and I knew, that 
this meant he had been suspected of something and he 
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feared that, as he passed through Chita, Semeonoff 
would take him off the train and kill him. He went west 
on a train guarded by American and Czech soldiers, 
and no effort was made to arrest him. 

His help came principally from the fact that qe had 
access as Fortress Commander, to all telegrams pass­
ing through the Vladivostok office, which all telegrams 
reaching Eastern Siberia did. 
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THE RAILROAD AGREEMENT 

T HE Provisional Government of Russia, better 
known as the Kerensky Government, approached 

the United States for help in rehabilitating and operat­
ing the Russian railroads and Mr. John F. Stevens, the 
well known engineer, went to Russia in the Spring of 
I 9 1 7, in response to this request, and was later made 
official adviser to the Minister of Communications at 
Petrograd. 

At the request of the Provisional Government, and 
with the support of Mr. Stevens, the American Russian 
Railway Service Corps was organized for the purpose 
of helping to put the Russian railways in condition for 
efficient operation. 

The members, who came principally from the North­
ern Pacific and the Great Northern Railways, were a 
remarkable lot of men. While I did not meet many of 
them personally, I do know the services of this Corps 
and their work. The United States was very fortunate 
in having such a representative body of men in Siberia, 
as their efforts and energies were directed toward do­
ing what was just and right for the Russians, regard­
less of Russian claims of bolshevism or anti-bolshevism. 
These men were not swerved from their duty by 
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the requests or mouthings of Russian or foreign 
officials. 

This policy often resulted in obstacles being put in 
their path of progress. It would have been much easier 
for all of us to have gotten in step with the apparent 
dominant crowd and moved down " popular street " 
with Russian bands playing " Hail to the Saviors of the 
Mother land.'' 

The Provisional or Kerensky Government was over­
thrown by the Soviets before the Americans could 
reach Russia to begin their work, and, consequently, 
most of these men remained in Japan until March, 
1918, when some went to the Headquarters of the 
Chinese Eastern Railway at Harbin. 

When Allied troops arrived in Siberia, in August and 
September, I 918, the Russian railways were in a de­
plorable state. About all we could learn was that the 
Allies were negotiating for the operation of the rail­
ways. Time passed, and more time passed; and nothing 
was done. All this time the railroads were getting worse 
and worse and it was not until March, 1919, when we 
received notice in Vladivostok that an agreement had 
been reached by the various governments concerned 
for the operation of the railways in Siberia. This agree­
ment was so important to the United States Military 
in Siberia that I quote it in full: 

" r. The general supervision of the railways in the 
zone in which the Allied forces are now operating shall 
be exercised by a special Inter-Allied Committee which 
shall consist of representatives from each Allied power, 

[ 176] 

-·~-

THE RAILROAD AGREEMENT 

having military forces in Siberia, including Russia, and 
the chairman of which shall be a Russian. 

"The following boards shall be created, to be placed 
under the control of the Inter-Allied Committee: 

(a) " A Technical Board consisting of railway ex­
perts of the nations having military forces in Siberia, 
for the purpose of administering the technical and eco­
nomic management of all railways in the said zone. 

(b) "An Allied Military Transportation Board for 
the purpose of co-ordinating military transportation 
under instructions of the proper military authorities. 

2. " The protection of the railways shall be placed 
under the Allied military forces. At the head of each 
railway shall remain a Russian manager or director 
with the powers conferred by the existing Russian law. 

3. " The Technical Board shall elect a president, 
to whom shall be entrusted the technical operation of 
railways. In matters of such technical operation the 
president may issue instructions to the Russian officials 
mentioned in the preceding clause. He may appoint 
assistants and inspectors in the service of the board, 
chosen from among the nationals of powers having 
military forces in Siberia, to be attached to the central 
office of the board, and define their duties. He may 
assign, if necessary, corps of railway experts to more 
important stations. In his assigning railway experts 
to any of the stations, interests of the respective Allied 
powers in charge of such stations shall be taken into 
due consideration. He shall distribute work among the 
clerical staff of the board, whom he may appoint at his 
discretion. 

4. "The clerical staff of the Inter-Allied Committee 
shall be appointed by the Chairman of the Committee, _ 
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who shall have the right of distributing work among 
such employees as well as of dismissing them. 

5. " The present arrangement shall cease to be 
operative upon the withdrawal of foreign military 
forces from Siberia, and all the foreign railway experts 
appointed under the arrangement shall then be recalled 
forthwith." 

In addition to this formal agreement, there was an 
agreement, "on the side," between the United States 
and Japan, that Mr. Stevens would be head of the 
technical board. 

This long delay in perfecting these arrangements, 
and the probable controversies, seemed to be due to the 
differences in the views of the United States and Japan. 
A reading of the very minute details, contained in 
paragraph 3, shows that Japan was determined to 
'_'Scotch" any prestige that might come to the United 
States in the Far East, by the prominence of the Rus­
sian Railway Service Corps headed by Mr. Stevens. 

One who did not have to function under this agree­
ment would probably think it was a very satisfactory 
agreement. I must admit I did. I, however, later found 
a few jokers in the agreement that, in my judgement, 
nullified the effectiveness of the entire plan. 

In section I, paragraph 1, it is provided that the 
Chairman of the Inter-Allied Committee shall be a 
Russian. Kolchak jumped on this like a cat at a mouse, 
and immediately appointed his Minister of Communi­
cations, Mr. Ostrougoff, as Chairman. 

Section 2 provided, that at the head of each railway 
shall remain a Russian manager or director with the 
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powers conferred by the existing Russian law. If it 
were the intention of the framers of this agreement 
that the anti-Bolsheviks should have complete control, 
and that the railways should be run exclusively for the 
Kolchak adherents, then the agreement proved a suc­
cess. There was no way for the Inter-Allied Committee 
or anyone else, except Kolchak or his adherents, to 
change an officer or employee of the railways. 

The reactionary Russians were not slow to take ad­
vantage of that opportunity. I do not know what the 
requirements as to efficiency were in order to obtain 
employment on their railways, but the sine qua non 
was that everyone had to be an ardent supporter of 
Kolchak, or be so close-mouthed that no one knew 
where he stood, and this was dangerous. Soon the 
agent of every station was a partisan of Kolchak. They 
organized regional boards either to give Kolchak ad­
herents more jobs, or to see that their political op­
ponents had no chance to use the railways. 

The United States had stated that the money put 
into these railways and the keeping of troops in Siberia 
were because: 

"The population of Siberia, whose resources have 
almost been exhausted by the long years of war and 
the chaotic conditi.0ns which have existed there, can be 
protected from a further period of chaos and anarchy, 
only by the restoration and maintenance of traffic on 
the Siberian railway." 

These were noble sentiments. The value of the op­
eration of these railways to the great mass of the 
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Russian people was absolutely nil. The majority of 
the people of Siberia enjoyed about the same value 
from the operation of these railways as did the people 
of Liberia. It is not always easy for an ordinary citizen 
to show by some overt act that he is a Democrat or a 
Republican, nor is it easy for a Russian to show that 
he is a Bolshevik or an anti-Bolshevik. Before a Rus­
sian could ride on the railways or ship a sack of flour 
on them, his credentials had to be beyond question. 

After the big questions of financing and operating 
the railways were settled, then the smaller question of 
guarding the railroads, as provided in section 2, had 
to be taken up. This should have been easily settled. 
Ambassador Morris, at Tokyo, had asked me to take 
up the question informally with Japanese Headquar­
ters at Vladivostok with a view to expediting the 
agreement. 

The Japanese would discuss for a certain distance 
then stop and refuse to move further. I had nothing 
to conceal from them, but it was evident they had some 
scheme that I was not to know. They would ask what 
I thought, and when they got my ideas they would 
have to defer further consideration for this that or ' , 
~ome othe_r reason. I fin~lly wrote them a letter saying 
1t was futile for us to discuss the question any further 
and withdrawing all I had said to them, and stated we 
would start from scratch when the Inter-Allied Com­
mittee asked the Allied Commanders to take up the 
question of guarding the railways. The question of this 
guard was not settled until the middle of April. 

When the question of guarding the railway was 
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taken up, I expected controversy over the Chinese 
Eastern, which is in Manchuria. We, however, had no 
trouble in settling the sectors we were to guard. The 
British and French said that they were unable to guard 
any of the railroad as they did not have sufficient 
troops. I proposed that the Chinese and Russians be 
permitted to select the part of the railroad within their 
country they desired to guard, and the Americans, 
Japanese, Chinese, and Czechs would do what they 
could with the rest. This was approved. 

The Russians stated that they were not in a position 
to guard any of the railways, but the Chinese at once 
agreed to guard all of the Chinese Eastern, which 
amounted to almost one thousand miles. I expected the 
Japanese to object, but this request was unanimously 
approved. The Americans were assigned some of the 
railroad in Eastern Siberia and some just east of Lake 
Baikal. 

That evening the Chinese High Commissioner came 
to ~ee me and told me as soon as the meeting of the 
Allied Commanders had adjourned, the Japanese Chief­
of-Staff had called the attention of the Chinese member 
to th~ agreement entered into by Japan and China at 
the time Japan made the " Military Demands " on 
China and, purs~ant to that agreement, both the J a pa­
nese and the Chmese would guard the Chinese Eastern. 
The High Commissioner said the Chinese wanted to 
g~ard it alone and asked me for suggestions. I told 
him that I could tell him that the majority of the Allied 
Co~manders had iri. mind that China would guard the 
Chmese Eastern without the aid of Japan, and we 
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made the distribution of the guard on that basis. 
This was cabled to the Chinese Government and they 
decided that China alone would guard the Chinese 
Eastern. 

Japan apparently acceded to the decision but soon 
found it was necessary to build a field telephone line 
along the Chinese Eastern Railroad. This telephone 
line required guards where the Chinese had soldiers 
guarding the railroad. · 

The British, French, and Japanese thought the 
guarding of the railways gave them an opportunity to 
deprive me of any independence of action. The British 
and the French could not help guard the railways, but 
they could do more than their part in giving the rest 
of us unsolicited advice. The British could not guard a 
single mile of the railroad, but they could tell you how 
every mile should be guarded. The first proposition 
was to put the direction of the railway guards east of 
Lake Baikal under the J apanes,e Commander, and west 
of Lake Baikal under General J anin, French. I imagine 
this proposition was submitted to the United States 
Government. I find I cabled the War Department, 
March 28, 1919, as follows: 

" I hope no action will be taken putting American 
troops under any other commander because such course 
would soon result in using our troops against so-called 
Bolsheviki and would absolutely nullify everything we 
have accomplished, and would result, in so far as effect 
on Russians is concerned, in changing policy of non­
interference to one of taking sides." 
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I imagine I am indebted to Ambassador Morris for 
never again h'earing from this scheme. 

General Knox then suggested that the guards not 
permit any Bolsheviks within ten kilometres of the 
railway. This proposition was submitted from some­
where to Ambassador Morris. I finally told the Allied 
commanders (meant principally for General Knox) 
that I intended to guard my section of the railway in 
my own way, and that I did not consider it anyone's 
business unless and until I had failed, and then I would 
be glad to receive suggestions. This proposition never 
reached me again. 

In the guarding of the railway it was necessary 
for me to move Headquarters and two battalions of 
the 27th Infantry under Colonel C. H. Morrow to 
Trans-Baikal, where we came in contact for the 
first time with the notorious Semeonoff. This. was a 
ticklish position as it took a particular kind of a 
man to handle Semeonoff and not get into s~rious 
trouble. 

Col?nel lV!orrow proved to be admirably equipped 
for this particular duty. He could be genial, he could 
be politic, he could be stern; and, if occasion demanded, 
he could bluff. It was not long until Morrow and 
Semeonoff clashed. 

Morrow was carrying out the Railway Agreement 
to prevent interference with the operation of the rail­
way within the American sector; Semeonoff came into 
Morrow's sector and arrested some railway employees 
on the ground that they were Bolsheviks. Morrow 
notified him that he would not permit him to arrest 
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these n:'ien unless he convinced him they had committed 
some offense. 

Semeonoff claimed to be horrified at the thought that 
any foreigner could tell him what he could or could not 
do in Russia, and he notified Morrow that he was going 
to repeat his former act. · 

Morrow told him that if he passed a certain place 
with his armored train he would blow him to perdition 
or some similar place, and prepared to carry out his 
part of the contract by placing his little 37 millimetre 
pieces on each side of the railroad and piling sandbags 
around them. I lost some sleep over this clash and 
feared that Morrow, because of lack of proper weap­
ons, could not make good. I decided, however, not to. 
take any part in the controversy and let Morrow handle 
it. Morrow's bluff worked and Semeonoff did not 
appear. 

The Railway Agreement provided that the Military 
would protect the railways, therefore, it became the 
duty of all military troops to see that the passengers 
and freight were not disturbed in passage through their 
respective sect.ors. 

The Military had nothing to do with the class of 
freight, or for whom it was destined, an.cl the same 
rule was to apply to passengers. This rule seemed to be 
so simple, that I anticipated no difficulty in following 
it, but it soon developed there were difficulties in the 
sector guarded by Japanese troops due to their con­
struction of the Agreement. 

On May 27, 1919, the Inter-Allied Railway Com­
mittee passed, unanimously, the following resolution: 
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" The execution of every transportation ordered, is 
to be entrusted to railway agents only. This resolution 
is in accord with the clear understanding of the Mili­
tary Commanders." 

On July 25, 1919, the Committee asked the Allied 
Commanders to see that its resolution, regarding the 
infraction of rules for train movements, were obeyed 
and stated that Semeonoff had violated the order many 
times. General Otani, the Japanese Commander, 
replied: 

" In "."iew of the _fact th.at the Japanese troops are
0 

located m the provmce, with the aim of maintaining 
order a_nd political quietness, they must, of course, ren­
der assistance to the railway against malefactors tend­
in_g to h~rm. the railway movement, in case their duty 
w~ll reqmre it. Howev~r, all misundersta?-dings arising, 
wit~ regard .to the ra1l;vay, among ~lhed troops, in­
cludmg Russ1~n and Allied agents which, by their char­
acter, are subJ_ect to t~e decision by corresponding gov­
~r~ments or _diplomatic representatives as well as small 
mc1d:r;ts which ~a~ be liquidated by Russian authorities 
or military, or mc1dents of a similar character do not 
permit of Japanese interference." 

~apan was the only power following this policy, 
w~1ch meant that Japanese troops would not interfere 
":1th_ Seme~noff and Kalmikoff, no matter what they 
did m sect10ns o_f the railway guarded by Japan, and 
as a result of this policy, Semeonoff was permitted to 
force indignities upon some members of the American 
Railway Service Corps, in the sectors guarded by the 
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Japanese. He was a!so perm~tted to stop an American 
train loaded with nfles destmed for Kolchak, and de­
mand fifteen thousand of the rifles, which he threat­
ened to take by force unless the officer willingly gave 
them up. . 

Before the Americans took over their sectors, I 
issued to the people a proclamation, in Russian, and 
posted it in our various sectors in all villages and towns. 
The proclamation was in part: 

"Now, therefore, the Russian people are notified 
and advised, that in the performance of such duty, the 
sole object and purpose of the armed f.orces of .the 
United States, on guard between ~he railroad ~omts 
above stated, is to protect the railroad and railway 
property and insure the passage of .passenger and 
freight trains through such sectors without obstruc-
tion or interruption." . . . . 

" Our aim is to be of real assistance to all Russians m 
protecting necessary tra~c ~ovem.ents within the sec­
tors on the railroad in Siberia assigned to us to safe­
guard. All will be equally be~efitted, ~nd all shall be 
treated alike by our forces. ~rrespectlve o~ pe:sons, 
nationality, religion or politics. Cooperation is re­
quested and warnin~ given to a~l persons, whomsoe;,er, 
that interference with traffic will not be tolerated. 

This seemed to me at the time, and seems to me now, 
a perfectly proper notice. We were gua~ding the rail­
way, not against the actions of the Whites ~nly; not 
against the actions of the Reds o?ly; not agamst Bol­
shevik or anti-Bolshevik depredations; but we were to 
see that no one interfered with the railroads. 
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This proclamation was the occasion for an outburst 
of abuse and vilification because I had included the 
Whites with the Bolsheviks. Mr. DeWitt C. Poole, 
head of the Russian Division of the State Department, 
later openly criticized me to an officer of the War De­
partment at a conference where my activities in Siberia 
were being officially discussed, for using the words 
" irrespective of party " in my proclamation. If I had 
been as one sided as Mr. Poole in Russian affairs, I 
undoubtedly would not have used that expression but 
would have directed the troops to protect the rail­
ways against the Bolsheviki. This criticism of me by 
Mr. Poole shows conclusively the difference in his con­
ception and in my conception of the meaning of " non­
intervention in the internal affairs of the Russian people 
and non-interference with the political sovereignty of 
Russia." 

I had been, up to the time of the Railroad Agree­
ment and the assignment of troops to guard the rail­
roads, able to keep clear of the political differences in 
Siberia. I felt secure in the belief that no one could 
point to a single act of the American troops as evidence 
that we had violated the United States policy of" non­
interference." As soon as the troops began guarding 
the railroads, all Kolchak adherents at once came under 
the protection of Allied troops. His adherents lived in 
towns along the railroads, and the troops could not 
permit armed conflicts in those towns. 

In practice, these railroads became entirely Kolchak 
Railroads financed by the Allies. If a Russian, who was 
not sympathetic to Kolchak, approached a railroad 
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station with the idea of travelling on the railroad or 
shipping supplies, he was in grave danger of losing his 
life or liberty. These statements are established by 
official reports. Soon the anti-Kolchaks began to com­
plain that we were helping Kolchak by guarding his 
line of con:imuriications. My only reply to that was that 
I was guarding the railroad for them as well as for 
the other side, and that I had no means of knowing 
what was in the cars I was protecting while in Ameri­
can sectors. This did not satisfy the anti-Kolchak peo­
ple and they soon began attacking the American de­
tachments, or property under our charge. 

We took vigorous actions against these attacks. The 
most serious troubles occurred near the Souchan coal 
mines or on the railroad leading from the mines to 
the main line of the railroad. The section around the 
Souchan mines was more pro-Bolshevik than any sec­
tion with which we came in contact. I vanoff-Rinoff was 
anxious to arrest some of the leaders who were work­
ing in the mines. It was the job of the Americans there 
to keep the mines in operation and I told I vanoff-Rinoff 
that he could not send his troops to Souchan as that 
would cause a strike and the mines would be closed. 
The local pro-Kolchak press claimed I was protecting 
Bolsheviks. I told Ivanciff-Rinoff if any man in the 
mines was charged with an offense we would see that 
the police at the mines would arrest him and turn him 
over to the civil authorities for trial. 

This did not satisfy the anti-Bolsheviks, so I pro­
posed to withdraw American troops and let them run 
the mines. This, they knew they could not do. We 
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finally settled on a certain prescribed area wherein I 
would not permit any Bolshevik organizations, and 
Kolchak troops would not enter this area. "'' 

It was fortunate for me that Mr. C. H. Smith was 
designated as the United States representative on the 
Inter-Allied Committee as provided in section one of 
the Agreement. Mr. Smith was a railroad man in the 
United States, he spoke Russian, and had the confidence 
of the other men of the Committee. 

On March 2, 1919, I received a letter from General 
Knox, which stated in part: 

"I wish we could see more eye to eye in matters 
here. The objects we wish are undoubtedly very similar 
but we are falling into different ruts. The policy of our 
Government is to support Kolchak, and I believe in 
that policy, for if he goes there will be chaos. I don't 
for a moment pretend that Kolchak is the Angel 
Gabriel, but he has energy, patriotism and honesty and 
my eight years in Russia has taught me that when you 
get these qualities combined in one man he is a man 
to keep." 

" There is a widespread propaganda to the effect 
that your Countrymen are pro-Bolshevik. I think in 
the interest of Allied solidarity, and of the safety of 
Allied detachments, you should try to contradict this." 

This letter shows the basic differences in our policies 
which made it impossible to cooperate. 

The British, the French, and the American Consul 
General Harris in Siberia were all doing everything 
they could to help Kolchak while I tried to remain neu­
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tral. These were my instructions and, in addition to 
the communication of the Chief of Staff dated March 
28, 1919, telling me to follow that course until changed 
by the President, other quotations will be made which 
show conclusively that it was the expectation of the 
War Department that I remain neutral. 

I replied to General Knox's letter, in part as follows: 

" I believe it is well known, in fact it has been pub­
lished, that the United States does not intend to inter­
fere in the internal affairs of the Russians. I have con­
sistently followed this policy." 

" As to the support of Kolchak, I do not feel under 
my orders that I can support or interfere with any 
individual. From your statement, ' and no more wants 
to return to the stupidity of the old regime than you 
do,' I fear you think some act of mine is due to the 
fact that I consider Admiral Kolchak has monarchial 
tendencies. I consider it none of my affair as to what 
the tendencies of any of the contending factions in 
Russian affairs are." 

" With reference to your statement that there is a 
widespread Bolshevik propaganda to the effect that 
Americans are pro-Bolshevik, this is possibly true, but 
I am sure that the propaganda is more from the anti­
Bolshevik crowd than from the Bolshevik crowd. If 
you will read the reports in certain local papers, I think 
you will agree with me that it is hopeless or useless to 
try to contradict such misrepresentations as appear in 
these papers. They emanate not from a desire to do 
justice, but from what they foolishly think they can 
force Americans to do by such misrepresentations." 
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This seemed to be General Knox's last effort in Si­
beria to force me to follow the British policy. He now 
t:ansferred his efforts to London and to representa­
tives of the State Department in Siberia. He soon ap­
proached Mr. Caldwell, the American Consul in Vladi­
vostok, and suggested that he send a cable to the 
United States Government advising that Government 
tha~ General Graves did not truly interpret America's 
policy towards Siberia, and that General Graves did 
not truly follow the will of the American Government 
and the American people. 

I can not say but I suspect he approached Consul 
~~neral Har:is w~th the same proposal. If he did not, 
1t 1s hard to 1magme why, as he and Mr. Harris were 
following the same course in the support of Kolchak. 

The reader will naturally ask how is it possible for 
such. conflicting policies to be followed by the agents 
of different Departments of the United States Gov­
ernment, on such a vital and far reaching question as 
the use of troops in a foreign country? I am sorry 
I am not able to h?lp elucidate this natural query, 
a_nd I can only ~urm1se. My surmise is, that as prac­
tically all accredited agents of all foreign Governments 
a~ ':ell as all fo~mer Czarist officials were very antago­
mst1c to the Soviet system o"f Government, and were in 
fear of the spread of communism, there was a constant 
and determined effort to bring about intervention in 
the hope of checking the spread of communism in the 
Far East. These efforts were successful in inducing ·the 
representati~es ,~f the ~tate Department to change 
from the policy, not to mterf ere, recognize or become 
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mixed up with any faction or partisan strife in Rus.sia 
or Siberia " to a policy of giving support to the Russian 
faction fighting the Soviets. The idea of the formation 
of an Eastern front was advanced as the real reason 
behind the desire for Military Intervention, but prob­
ably the desire to check the spread of socialistic ideas 
was equally as prominent, but for some. reason. none 
of the Allied or associated powers considered it ad­
visable to even mention, the now admitted fear of the 
spread of bolshevism in the Far East. 

I have no information as to whether the State De­
partment changed the instructions that Consul General 
Harris said he had, but my instructions which were to 
the same effect as those first given to him, were never 
changed. 

At best, the means for getting information to and 
from Siberia were very meagre and unsatisfactory and, 
after the Czechs had taken the Trans-Siberian Railway 
and Vladivostok, it was practically impossible to get 
information except such as was designed to foster the 
idea of military intervention, the only exception being 
through diplomatic or consular agents. If these agents 
had a closed mind, which was almost universally the 
case, it was not difficult for them to accept what in­
formation that came to them tending to show a need 
for intervention, and discard, as propaganda, all in­
formation opposed to their view, and this could be 
done with the most honest intentions and with a sincere 
conviction that they were advancing the interests of 
their Governments. As a result, the representatives of 
the War Department and the State Department were 
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carrying out entirely different policies at the same time 
and in the same place. There can be no difference of 
opinion as to the accuracy of this state~ent, and the 
results w:re bitter c~iticism of all United States agents. 
All Russian and Allred representatives, who favoured 
military intervention, bitterly criticized my action, and 
those who believed in the policy of " non-intervention 
in the internal affairs of the Russian people," were 
equally vehement in their criticism of the State Depart­
ment representatives. The criticism of both could be 
justified by pointing to the policy of the United States, 
that seemed best calculated to uphold their criticism. 

It is, in my judgement, unfortunate that the United 
States had during such an upheaval as occurred in Rus­
sia, men handling Russian affairs who had had previ­
ous governmental service in the Far East, or Near 
East, or especially in Russia. These men had contacts 
with and formed friendships among the class with 
whom they associated, and if Russians, they were uni­
versally pro-Czarist. It is possible the men I have in 
mind belonged to the class of Americans who have no 
sympathy with the aspirations and desires of the so 
called submerged class, whether in Russia or in the 
United States. 

There can be no question that the United States 
Consul General in Siberia, Mr. Harris, was an ardent 
supporter of ~olchak, and the principles of Govern­
ment for R~ss1a espoused by the Kolchak regime. The 
~eople put m office by Admiral Kolchak were prac­
tically all former Czarist officials and Absolutists in 
so far as Russia was concerned, and Mr. MacGo;an, 
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American Consul at Irkutsk, and later at Vladivostok, 
was an extreme partisan and did all he could to advance 
the interests of the Absolutists, and he was the consul 
who notified the American Ambassador at Vologda 
that a train load of German Staff officers passed 
through Irkutsk with the!r insignia poorly concealed 
by Russian overcoats, and that these German offic~rs 
were on their way to organize the German and Austrian 
prisoners with a view to taking the Trans-Siberian 
Railway. It is now known that Mr. MacGowan was 
imposed upon, and probably by some one intereste~ 
in getting President Wilson to consent to send Ameri­
can troops to Siberia. 

Mr. DeWitt C. Poole, who later had charge of Rus­
sian affairs in the State Department, showed by his 
efforts to espouse the cause of Kolchak, that he did not 
favour the announced policy of the United States," not 
to intervene in the internal affairs of the Russian 
people." 

The only logic;al conclusion one, who was present 
in Siberia during intervention and knew the sidelights, 
can come to is that the main reason for intervention 
was not given to the public. The action of the repre­
sentatives of the Allies, as well as that of the Consul 
General of the United States, justifies the belief that 
all Allied and Associated nations had in mind to 
check the spread of Communism when troops went to 
Russia. As a further proof of this statement, there was 
and is a widespread belief, in the United States at least, 
to this effect. After the Armistice there was no effort 
made to conceal the fact that Allied troops were try-
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ing to destroy bolshevism. As a matter of fact, this was 
the only logical reason that can be advanced for keep­
ing foreign troops in Siberia. 

There was also great resentment against me and 
our forces because we followed the policy of non­
interference, as ordered, and would not follow the 
Allied representatives in fighting what they called bol­
shevism. American soldiers could not have taken part 
in the horrors of Civil War in Siberia but, by their 
presence and by guarding the railroad which was used 
exclusively for the benefit of Kolchak, they contributed 
to the atrocities which shocked all people with normal 
sensibilities. 

The Chief of Staff told me, after my return from 
the Far East, that I would never know half the pres­
sure the British brought in Washington to have me 
relieved. I have other information equally reliable that 
they did not stop until they reached the President. 

Other nationals know the ease with which they can 
discredit Army officers in the United States. I do not 
know and never will know what reports General Knox 
made to London about me and the American troops. 
I do know, however, that he had in his office a young 
Captain who was a "Barrister of the Inner Temple" 
of London, and who was reporting some things about 
Americans that were absolutely false. A British of­
ficer, who was occupying General Knox's office tempo­
rarily during his absence, unwittingly told me of some 
of these reports. General Knox had to send something 
to London of an unusual tenor before the British Gov­
ernment, through their Ambassador, would feel justi-
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fied in trying to have an Army officer relieved from 
command of American troops. General Knox could 
not afford to make up false reports, but he could afford 
to cable false reports made to him by that young irre­
sponsible officer. The President naturally thought 
something must be radically wrong in Siberia and ex­
pressed himself as being much disturbed. This was the 
effect General Knox hoped to create. He, or his repre­
sentatives, more than once approached Americans to 
find out where my influence was and who was behind 
me in Washington. These efforts were brought direct 
tome. 

No one who knows the American Army officer can 
imagine an officer even thinking of doing, much less 
doing, what General Knox did. The British would 
resent bitterly an American Army military man going 
to a representative of the British Foreign Office and 
trying to get him to take steps to relieve a British Army 
officer. If I had done the same thing that General 
Knox did, by taking steps to have him relieved because 
of improper performance of his duties, he probably 
would have taken my act as an insult that justified re­
dress from the United States Government. If the tables 
had been turned, the British would have made repre­
sentations to Washington of my unusual action. 

As an example, I one time directed the military rep­
resentative in Omsk to notify Mr. Soukine, Foreign 
Minister for Kolchak, that certain steps were going 
to be taken if certain acts continued. I was notified 
from Washington that, in future, I would communicate 
with the Kolchak Government through the State De-
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partment. That this was the proper procedure was 
well known to me, but the question brought to Mr. Sou­
kine's attention was one that could not wait for the 
delay of the State Department. It is my judgement that 
I was the only military representative in Siberia who 
would h~ve .been subjected to an intended reproof for 
commumcatmg on a matter very important to Ameri­
cans, which required immediate action, with an indi­
vidua~', :"'ho cl~imed to represent a " Supreme Dic­
tator m Russia, who had never been recognized as 
the head of any government by any nation. 

It is high time the American people realize that for­
eigners are .~ell ~ware of t?e ease with which they can 
create susp~c10n m the Umted States against our own 
representatives when they refuse to follow the line of 
action desired by the foreigner. 

It i~ well known that the British and French repre­
sentatives were constantly trying to have me relieved 
from command, and the reason was that I followed 
the orders I had received from the United States Gov­
ernment, rather than the desires of General Knox. I 
understood that the Japanese stated to Washington 
that th~y would prefer to deal with a diplomat rather 
:han with me. A.s :o whether I was a diplomat or not 
~s a matter ?f opm.10n, but certainly I was as diplomatic 
m my dealmgs with the representatives of England, 
France, and Japan as they were in their dealings 
with me. 

Does any one imagine that our Government ever 
made representations to the British Government about 
the most unusual procedure of General Knox? I do not. 
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Another evidence of British unfair methods is shown 
in a book written by Colonel John Ward, Member of 
Parliament. As I saw this book in the Congressional 
Library in Washington, and as it purports to report 
occurrences relative to the action of the United States 
military representatives which are so at variance with 
the facts, I am noting a few extracts. Colonel Ward 
says: 

"While at Nikolsk, a telegram from the Station­
Master at Kraevsky was received, stating in effect, that 
he was using a line from his house because a detachment 
of the Red Guard had entered the station, and in the 
presence of American soldiers who were guarding the 
railway, had placed himself and his staff under arrest 
and had taken possession of the station." 

This statement would appear so ridiculous to people 
who were in Siberia at the time that no additional 
comment would be necessary. I can assure those who 
know nothing of the conditions, that if this operator 
had been driven from his office he would not have been 
permitted to go to another telegraph office. It is most 
improbable that the operator had a line and a tele­
graphic instrument in his house. 

This statement was designed to show that American 
soldiers were cooperating with Bolsheviks. I can not 
say that Colonel Ward did not receive the dispatch, 
but I can say the meaning he intended to convey is not 
justified by the facts. Colonel Ward again says: 

" Out of sixty liaison officers and translators, over 
fifty were Russian Jews." 
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We had no such number of translators and inter­
preters around American Headquarters. The United 
States and Great Britain were both glad to have Jews 
in the .service during the War. I never inquired whether 
a soldier was a Jew or not a Jew and it made absolutely 
no difference in my attitude to men under my command. 
I do not know who at my headquarters came of Jewish 
st~c~. I do. know that my personal interpreter was a 
British sub3ect, born in. Scotla~d. I might also say 
that he was a very efficient, faithful, and deserving 
employee. 

Colonel Ward kne-.v that Jews were anathema to the 
auto~racy of Russ~a, the particular party he was sup­
portmg and by .this ~alse statement he was trying to 
curry favour with hrs associates in Siberia. Colonel 
Ward's chapter on American Forces in Siberia is filled 
with mis-statements of alleged facts and occurrences 
all of wh~ch showed, a bitterness of feeling and resent: 
ment agamst our troops. 

I have previously stated enough to show that this 
bitterness and resentment was due to the fact that I 
would not permit the British to dictate to me what I 
should do. This bitterness continued until General Knox 
boarded the ship to leave Siberia. 

J:?uring the Spring .of I 9 I 9: ~olchak was apparently 
h~vrng some success rn orgamzmg, arming, and equip­
prng the men drafted into his forces. As all means of 
communication in the interior as well as at Vladivos­
tok were in the control of Kolchak adherents and as 
all foreign representatives were in sympathy w

1

ith Kol­
chak's efforts, it is my judgement very few people knew 
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what was going on at the front. It was easy to magnify 
successes and minimize setbacks. It was easy to make 
reports that would bolster up :heir cause. 1?-s an ex­
ample of what is meant, reports m my possess10n read: 

" The figures for rations showed on May 30th, I? I 9, 
that Gaida's army did not exceed I 20,000 men entitled 
to draw rations, and on June 9th, but 100,000 men. 
Figures showed that they were actually drawing rations 
from Omsk for 275,000 men. 

" When asked to explain these figures, Gaida said he 
was unable to accomplish anything as his entire Staff 
was concerned in this misrepresentation. Of fighting 
men, he stated he had less than 30,000 on June 30th, 
and on June 1st, he had little more than 60,000 exclu­
sive of reserves who had been in his engagement." 

Some of Gaida's Generals were claiming that the 
cause ,of their failure on the front was due to the dis­
honesty of the supply service. Gaida sent an officer to 
check rations shipped from Ekaterinburg with what 
was received at Perm. Notes of the most important 
of these are given below: 

" The percentage of supplies shipped that failed to 
reach destination: 

Vegetables, canned and fresh . . . . . . 100 % 
Tobacco, for issue . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 82 % 
Sugar, for troops and for sale to 

officers .................. . 
Forage for animals ............ . 
Meat ....................... . 
Clothing ..................... . 
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Shoes ....................... . 
Flour ....................... . 

35% 
45%" 

The large shortages were for a period of three months, 
and were shortages between Ekaterinburg and the city 
of Perm only. Gaida took vigorous action with refer­
ence to these dishonest transactions and had some 
officers court-martialed and dismissed. 

One would think that the Russians, especially the 
higher ranking officers in the Kolchak forces, would 
have rallied to Gaida's support for his action in trying 
to eradicate dishonesty from the Army. It was the 
general belief in Siberia that the Russian reaction to 
Gaida's actions was against Gaida, and had much to 
do with his final break with Kolchak. 

Most of the uniforms for the mobilized Russians 
were supplied by the British. General Knox stated that 
one hundred thousand uniforms had been supplied by 
the British for Kolchak forces. This was partially sub­
stantiated by the number of men in the Red Army 
wearing British uniforms. General Knox was disgusted 
at the Reds wearing British uniforms and later is re­
ported to have said that the British would supply noth­
ing more to Kolchak because everything they supplied 
reached the Bolsheviks. The men found in the Red 
Army wearing the British uniforms were the same men, 
generally speaking, to whom these uniforms were 
issued when they were with the Kolchak forces. The 
great mass of these men had no heart for fighting for 
Kolchak. 

The methods used by the Kolchak people to mobilize 
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these Siberians created a resentment not easily re­
moved. They went into the service embittered by fear, 
not of the enemy, but of their own forces. The result 
was, as soon as they were armed and equipped they 
deserted by regiments, battalions, and individually to 
the Bolsheviks. 

On April 91 1919, f reported: 

"Numbers of so-called Bolshevik bands in Eastern 
Siberia increasing as result of mobilization order and 
extreme methods used in enforcing it. Peasants and 
working class do not desire to fight for Kolchak Gov­
ernment.'' 

On April 13 1 the Japanese prepared a scheme to get 
me to take sides in the internal conflict. They ap­
proached all Allied military representatives claiming 
that Bolsheviks were threatening the railroad near 
the town of Skotova, stating that transportation had 
been stopped and requested all join a force being sent 
out by Japan to clean out the Bolsheviks. After all had 
agreed to take part, one Ally sending only one soldier 
and the others an insignificant force, the Japanese then 
approached me, through my Chief of Staff, asking me 
to join. 

By this time I knew very well the object of Japan 
was to either force me to take part in operations against 
the Bolsheviks or to 'claim I refused to join all the 
other Allies in the movement against the Bolslieviks. 
They proposed to tell the Bolsheviks that they could 
not come west of a north and south line passing through 
Skotova. 
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The investigation of the situation showed that trans­
portation had not been stopped and the only threats 
were in the form of twenty shots, fired by some un­
known person, and no one knew for what purpose the 
shots were fired. In my judgement, the shots were fired 
by some Russian at Japanese instigation for the pur­
pose of trying to force me into an embarrassing posi­
tion. In reply to this suggestion of the Japanese, I said 
in writing: 

"That the United States and Japan had both sol­
emnly assured the Russian people that we would not 
interfere with her political sovereignty, not intervene 
in her internal affairs and, in view of this solemn as­
surance, I could not see how we could restrict Russians, 
in their own country, to the east or west, north or south, 
of any imaginary line Japan might wish to draw. I 
cannot join in any such proposed movement unless there 
is need for protecting the railroad." 

This gave an occasion for an outburst in the Japa­
nese press, and the local anti-American press, against 
the Americans. 

Reports were being received from all sections of 
Eastern Siberia where American troops were stationed, 
of the killing and whipping of men, women, and chil­
dren. Reports of similar outrages were coming to 
American Headquarters from peasant villages. I felt 
the reports received from American Army officers 
were true as they had personally investigated enough 
of the reports to justify them in reporting to Head-. 
quarters. The atrocities reported by the peasants were 
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so similar to those reported by the Army officers that 
I felt justified in believing the peasant reports. I have 
never been able to understand the psychology of a class 
of human beings who could think by such actions that 
they could establish a stable Government in Siberia. 
The Kolchak adherents, who committed these atroci­
ties, knew they had only a weak structure of Govern­
ment that would not last a month unless buttressed by 
foreign bayonets. 

These atrocities, coupled with a few aggressive acts 
of I vanoff-Rinoff troops, had aroused considerable fric­
tion between Ivanoff-Rinoff and myself. On May 9, 
I 9 l 9, I cabled the War Department that: 

" I vanoff-Rinoff ordered to proceed to Omsk at once 
turning over everything to Horvat. I am informed by 
reliable sources that the recall followed a demand on 
the Kolchak Government that he be made Commander­
in-Chief in Eastern Siberia with Semeonoff in command 
of all troops. Significance not yet known." 

Before he left for Omsk, he came to see me with his 
interpreter and aide. I brought my interpreter into my 
office expecting to have an unpleasant call. Much to 
my surprise, I vanoff-Rinoff began by telling me he had 
no feeling in his heart against me and he hoped I had 
none against him; that he knew of no one he would like 
to join with in drinking a bottle of wine to the success 
of our respective countries better than he would with 
me, and he hoped when they had succeeded in getting 
rid of bolshevism, he and I could put our knees under 
the same table and have this bottle of wine. 
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He was very frank in saying: 

"I want to tell you before I leave that we have tried 
every way in the world to cause you to change your 
policy. We have tried flattery, we have tried abuse, and 
we have tried putting you in embarrassing positions, 
but so far as I can tell, we have not changed you one 
particle. While I do not like your policy, I do admire 
your tenacity." 

He remained about one hour and he and I discussed 
conditions in the Far East in a most amiable manner. 

While the British were supplying Kolchak troops 
with uniforms, the United States, through the Ameri­
can Red Cross, was also supplying Kolchak troops. 

As previously stated, Dr. Teusler, head of the 
American Red Cross, had no sympathy for the aspira­
tions of the Russian people. I am sorry to have to 
record this fact, but truth demands that I state that the 
American Red Cross in Siberia was acting as a supply 
agent for Kolchak. 

On April 16, 1919, Major Slaughter, U. S. A. at 
Omsk, received from Dr. Teusler, at Irkutsk, the 
following dispatch: 

" Please inform Mr. Soukine we are purchasing 
three hundred thousand suits cotton underwear for 
Russian Arn:y, in China and Japan. Will inform him 
later regardmg second three hundred thousand suits 
ordered in America. Deeply regret any delay in this 
matter." 

In addition to this I had been furnishing guards for 
Red Cross trains to Omsk thinking these supplies were 
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to be delivered to the Russian people. One young of­
ficer in his report after his return in charge of the 
guard said: 

" I did not get to stop at Omsk, as Kolchak troops 
expected a fight next day and I was rushed to the front 
to issue the supplies for the expected fight." 

This put the American troops in the position of 
issuing supplies to Kolchak troops, and I had to notify 
Dr. Teusler that if this ever happened again he would 
get no more guards for his trains from me. I wonder 
what the outburst would have been if Americans had 
been discovered giving anything to the Bolsheviks. 

The American Red Cross ran hospitals exclusively 
for Kolchak people, and acted in practice as Kolchak's 
supply agent as long as Dr. Teusler was in Siberia. 
In my judgement, it was most unfortunate that the 
head of the American Red Cross should act so directly 
contrary to the solemn assurance to the Russian people 
by the President of the United States. While the Red 
Cross is not a Government agent, its action reflected 
credit or discredit upon the United States. 

On June I 2, I cabled the War Department in part: 

" Colonel Morrow told Semeonoff to remove his 
armored car from American sector or he would re­
move it. General Y oshe, Japanese, said to Morrow 
' the Japanese will resist by force the removal of 
Semeonoff's armored car by American troops from 
sector.' Slaughter telegraphs that Soukine (Minister 
Foreign Affairs, Omsk) informed him that Soukine 
considers this incident indicative that Japanese wished 
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trouble between Americans and Russians. Prior to re­
ceipt of message from Slaughter, Mr. Smith (Ameri­
can Member Inter-Allied Railway Committee) told 
n:ie that ~?lonel ~obertson, Acting High Commis­
s10ne~, British, had mformed him yesterday, very con­
fi~ent1ally, that he thought the Japanese were behind 
this trouble between Semeonoff and Americans." 

There was no question the Japanese were behind all 
of Semeonoff's serious moves. I had previously notified 
the War Department that, in considering Far Eastern 
questions the Cossacks and Japanese should be con­
s~dered as one force. I had no occasion to change that 
view. 

Som? of the Japanese would have been glad to see 
the Umted States troops embroiled with the Russians, 
but othe:s were ~ore cautious, because they knew I had 
enough. mformat~on to connect Japan with any hostile 
act agamst Americans taken by Semeonoff or Kalmikoff. 

C?n June 24, I received a wire from Major Slaughter 
telling me of the resignation of Gaida, which had been 
accepted by the Omsk Government. 
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" KOLCHAK AND RECOGNITION " 

E~RLY in J_uly, I9I9, I received notice from Wash­
mgton statmg: 

"If the American Ambassador to Japan, Mr. Ro­
land S. Morris, goes to Omsk, you will go with him." 

There had been a great deal of talk concerning the 
recognition of Kolchak by the United States, so I con­
cluded the Ambassador's trip had something to do 
with this question. I felt that this was a political mat­
ter with which I had nothing to do, and for me to go to 
Omsk as directed, would give the impression that I had 
something to do with establishing the policy of the 
United States in Siberia. I had consistently tried to let 
the Allies understand that this was not the case. 

I cabled to Washington and suggested the inadvis­
ability of my going with the Ambassador. The authori­
ties did not look at the question as I did, and cabled 
me on July 7: 

" Reference your 373: if Morris goes to Omsk, it 
is desired you accompany him." 

As soon as I knew that Mr. Morris was going, I 
tonsulted him and we prepared for the trip. We had 
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to make up our train with American soldiers for guard, 
and it was not until July I I that we left Vladivostok. 

The Kolchak people had represented to Washing­
ton, that my reaction to the Russian question was due 
to my service in the Far East, which had brought me 
in contact with the very reactionary Cossacks and, for 
that reason, I had no conception of conditions west of 
Irkutsk. As I had to go to Omsk, I decided to find out, 
if I could, the sentiment of the people toward the Omsk 
regime. Ambassador Morris had his own. interpreter 
and I had mine, and we decided to have them go sepa­
rately and talk to the people when our train stopped 
for any purpose. All sidings at stations were filled with 
trains loaded with refugees from some place in Western 
Si.beria. I directed my interpreter to converse generally 
with the women, as I thought they might be more likely 
to talk than the men, and I kept notes of what the 
interpreter reported to me when he returned to the 
train. 

From. Vladivostok the railroad runs north along the 
coast, with Amur Bay on the west, and the hills rising 
close on the east. After about twenty miles we left 
the ocean. 

The town of Nikolsk, about sixty miles from Vladi­
vo~tok, is th~ junction point of the part of the Ussuri 
Railroad which runs to Habarovsk and the main line 
to Progranichnaya, where it connects with the Chinese 
Eastern running through Manchuria. Nikolsk is for 
Siberia, a modern city with a normal populatio~ of 
about fifty thousand, and it was the Headquarters of 
an Army Corps in Czarist time. 

[ 209] 



AMERICA'S SIBERIAN ADVENTURE 

Beyond Nikolsk, on the main line, there was a great 
deal of cultivated land, at least in the vicinity of the 
railroad, and it was estimated that over 80% of the 
country was under cultivation, the chief product being 
wheat. 

At Progranichnaya, on the boundary between Siberia 
and Manchuria, there is a custom house, a railroad 
station, and only very small buildings. After leaving 
here, we travelled through Manchuria for nine hun­
dred and twenty miles, and the country was extensively 
cultivated, to a greater or less extent, all the way to 
Harbin which is four hundred and eighty miles from 
Vladivostok. 

When we reached Harbin on the 13th of July, we 
found the heat there very oppressive, but the city was 
very interesting, with a cosmopolitan normal popula­
tion of about eighty thousand. The city is on the navi­
gable Sungari River. Every nation is supposed to be 
represented at Harbin, where there were about thirty 
thousand Russians, and a portion of the city is occupied 
exclusively by the Chinese. The importance of Harbin 
is due, in a great measure, to the fact that it is the junc­
tion point between the Chinese Eastern and the South­
ern Manchuria or Japanese railway to Mukden and 
Dairen. Due to the cosmopolitan population they. have 
many substantial business houses with extensive com­
mercial connections in the city. Harbin is near the 
eastern part of a vast plain, extending westward, and 
this plain becomes much drier as one proceeds to the 
west. Parts of the plain are inhabited by nomads who 
move according to the needs of their stock animals. 
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Tsitsihar, ~bo~t one hundred and seventy-five miles 
west. of Harbrn, ts the principal town in Western Man­
churia and has a normal population of about seventy 
thousand. 

Manchuli, sometimes called Manchuria, is the sta­
tion between Manchuria and Siberia and is four hun­
dr~d and fifteen n:1i~es from Tsitsihar. At this point the 
Chmese Eastern ]Oms the Trans-Baikal branch of the 
Trans-Siberian Railway. This junction is the centre 
for caravans carrying merchandise for long distances. 
The caravans are made up of horses and camels, and 
the camels are often hitched to large two wheeled 
carts. 

. Tw~ hundred and thirty-five miles from Manchuria 
1s Kanmskaya, the nearest town to the junction point 
between. th~ Chin.ese Eastern and the Amur railway, 
an all S1benan railway line, which runs northeast and 
north of the Amur River to Habarovsk and thence 
south to Vladivostok. 

. From Nikolsk to Karim~kay~ the railroad is only a 
smgle track but, from this pomt west, it is double 
tracked. 

The most difficult section of the Trans-Siberian Rail­
way. to protect and keep in operation is said to be from 
Kanmskaya to Irkutsk. This difficulty is due to the 
fact that the railroad must cross the Trans-Baikal 
pla.teau an? go around the southern part of Lake 
Baikal. Th~s necessit~tes. passing through thirty-eight 
tu~nels, which makes it difficult and expensive to main­
ta1~ and protect, ?ut engineers claim there is no alter­
native route; besides the climate is extremely severe 
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and few people live in this section, as July is the only 
month on the Trans-Baikal plateau that is free from 
frost. 

Chita, at that time the domain of Semeonoff, is one 
hundred and forty miles from Karimskaya and nor­
mally had a population of about seventy-five thousand 
people. 

At V erkhne-U dinsk, where the Headquarters and 
two battalions of the 27th Infantry were located, for 
the purpose of guarding a sector of the Trans-Baikal 
Railway assigned to the Americans to protect, we 
stopped for the day to see Colonel Morrow and to in­
spect his camp and his troops. The weather was de­
lightful the day we were there and I was much pleased 
with the appearance of Colonel Morrow's camp and 
his command. There is an important caravan route 
across the great Mongolian desert extending from 
Kalgan to Verkhne-Udinsk. This route is constantly 
travelled by camel trains, and about forty days is re­
quired to make the trip. 

The railroad reaches Lake Baikal about eighty miles 
from Vekhne-U dinsk and runs close to the shore for 
about one hundred and eighty miles. The lake is a 
beautiful body of water about four hundred miles long 
and varies from twenty to sixty miles in width, with an 
area of thirteen thousand squares miles. It is said to 
have the greatest depth of any fresh water lake in the 
world, and in many places this great depth extends 
almost to the shore of the lake. The extreme known 
depth is six thousand five hundred feet. The moun­
tains surrounding the lake rise to a height of four 
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thousand five hundred feet above sea level, while 
the lake is less than two thousand feet above sea 
level. 

Irkutsk, the metropolis of central Siberia, situated 
on the Angara River forty miles from where the river 
leaves the lake, is the most interesting city in Siberia 
from a historical point of view'. The Angara is the only 
outlet from Lake Baikai. In Czarist times the political 
and penal prisoners exiled to Siberia were generally 
assembled at Irkutsk and sent from there to various 
sections to be confined or to be kept under surveillance. 
The harsh measures used by the Czarist regime to 
keep these prisoners from escaping, had not entirely 
disappeared when I passed through Irkutsk. I saw 
about twenty prisoners with good sized chains fastened 
to their ankles and on the end of the chain a large ball 
was fastened, which it was necessary for the prisoner 
to .carry over his arm, in order that he might walk. The 
railroad runs along the south side of the river, while 
the city is on the north side and the station and the city 
are connected by a pontoon bridge, held in place by 
strong guy ropes. 

After lea ~ing Irkutsk, we passed through a heavily 
wooded sect10n for about four hundred miles, then 
emerged on to ~he great steppes of Siberia which begin 
soon after leavrng Krasnoyarsk, which was established 
in I 62 8, on the banks of the Y enessei River. This 
was whe~e boats started in summer with the produce of 
that sect10n, for the mouth of the river on the Arctic 
Ocean, and thence to be transhipped to such countries 
as considered it profitable to send their ships to the 
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mouth of the Y enessei to procure and handle this 
produce. 

This town is remembered with great sadness as there 
was a prison camp for German and Austrian prisoners 
at Krasnoyarsk. I felt at the time that the treatment 
of these men was a disgrace to modern civilization, as 
the Russians could not feed them but would not give 
them their freedom. There was a young Swedish 
woman who lived in the town and devoted her entire 
time and energies· to helping these poor unfortunates 
keep body and soul together. 

At Krasnoyarsk I learned something of General 
Rozanoff with whom I was to try to work in Vladivos­
tok. He was the man who, on March 27, 1919, issued 
instructions to his troops : 

I. " In occupying the villages which have been oc­
cupied before by bandits (partisans) to insist upon 
getting the leaders of the movement, and where you 
can not get the leaders, but have sufficient evidence as 
to the presence of such leaders, then shoot one out of 
every ten of the people." 

2. "If, when the troops go through a town, and the 
population will not inform the troops, after having a 
chance to do so, of the presence of the enemy, a mone­
tary contribution should be demanded from all, 
unsparingly." 

3. "The villages where the population meet our 
troops with arms, should be burned down and all the 
full grown male population should be shot; property, 
homes, carts, etc. should be taken for the use of the 
Army." 
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We learned that Rozanoff kept hostages and, for 
every supporter of his cause that met death, he would 
kill ten of the people kept as hostages. He spoke of 
these methods used in Krasnoyarsk as handling the 
situation with gloves, but declared his intention of tak­
ing off his gloves when he came to Vladivostok, and 
handling the situation without the consideration he had 
shown the people of Krasnoyarsk. 

Such were the acts of Kolchak supporters, while 
being protected by the Allied military troops. 

General Knox had stated to Major Slaughter that 
Admiral Kolchak wanted to send some man to Vladi­
vostok of whom I would approve, and General Knox 
suggested that I ask for Rozanoff, as he was a " bully 
fellow." I told Major Slaughter that I was not inter­
ested in individuals, and the only hope I had was that 
Kolchak would send a man to Vladivostok who would 
follow the practices of civilized nations. 

Rozanoff proved t.o be the third worst character 
known to me in Siberia, although he could never quite 
reach the plane occupied by Kalmikoff and Semeonoff. 

The town of Tomsk is about sixty miles from the 
main line of the Trans-Siberian Railway, with a spur 
running from Taiga to Tomsk. I was particularly 
pleased with the beautiful location of Tomsk. This is 
called the educational centre of Siberia, and there is 
a well known university there, with very substantial 
buildings, but with no equipment in them at that time. 
The Governor of the province, who was a Kolchak 
appointee, met us and was very courteous, but when 
Mr. Morris asked him what the people thought of the 
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Kolchak Government, his reply was, in effect, that the 
people had no confidence in the officials surrounding 
Kolchak. 

During this entire trip, Mr. Morris and I had. been 
getting, by personal conference and through our mter­
preters, information as to the attitude of the people 
toward the Kolchak Government. 

On the day we left Tomsk, or the next day, Mr. 
Morris said to me: 

"You and I have been much criticized because of our 
attitude towards the Kolchak regime; it has been re­
peatedly said we have the Far Eastern orientation. and 
that if we would come West, we would find an entirely 
different situation after we left Irkutsk; and with all 
the people questioned by us and, through the inter-

preters we have not found a single individual who ' . ,, 
spoke a good word for the Kolchak regime. 

Mr. Morris and I, up to this time, had worked to­
gether very harmoniously and I felt that he had been 
very helpful to me and had seen the situation in Siberia 

exactly as I had. 
Just before we got to Omsk, or when we arrived. at 

Omsk, Mr. Morris received a telegram. After readmg 
the telegram he said : 

"Now, General, you will have to support Kolchak." 

I replied that I had nothing from the War Depart­
ment directing me to support Kolchak. 

He replied with what appeared to me as some 

asperity: 
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"The State Department is running this, not the War 
Department." 

I replied: 

"The State Department is not running me." 

I had felt t~at Mr. Morris had been remarkably fair 
and had been neutral in his handling of conditions that 
were submitted to him for his consideration, but his 
remark showed clearly that he had received some 
message indicating to him that the State Department 
was going to support or was supporting Kolchak. I 
feared this was going to at least mar the cordial 
cooperation of our work. By this time it was almost 
impossible to find a neutral in Siberia, and the sym­
pathy of Mr. Morris in my efforts to be neutral, in a 
situation where neutrality was very difficult, was very 
much appreciated by me. Consul General Harris and 
Consul MacGowan were known to be very strong Kol­
chak supporters. So was the American Red Cross, but 
the other representatives of the United States, so far 
as I could tell, were trying to be neutral and I felt that 
I had the cordial cooperation of all the United States 
representatives except the ones mentioned above. 

It is sometimes puzzling to one who does not under­
stand our system of Government, to understand how 
the State Department could be supporting Kolchak 
and the War Department not support him. I have never 
been satisfied in my own mind that President Wilson 
knew of the unneutral attitude of Consul General 
Harris in Siberia and approved of his attitude, but the 
President, as all knew, was fully occupied with the 
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questions arising in the Peace Conference and could 
not give any of his personal attention to Siberia. It was 
apparent to me that Consul General Harris had the 
full support of the Russian section of the State Depart­
ment, and I believe he had the support one step higher 
in the hierarchy of the State Department. 

Whether this was known or not to the President, 
the reason for not issuing orders to me, as commander 
of the United States troops, to support Kolchak is 
apparent. To have ordered American troops to take 
sides in this internal conflict, which not only would have 
implied the use of force, but would have required the 
use of force, would have been an act of War. The 
Constitution of the United States provides: 

" The Congress shall have power - to declare war; 
grant letters of marque and reprisal and make rules 
concerning captures on land and water." 

The Executive was therefore powerless to direct the 
use of troops, and there can be no question but that 
President Wilson and the War Department expected 
me to remain neutral. This is shown by my original 
orders; by the direction~ from the Chief of Staff on 
March ·28, 1919, to continue this policy until changed 
by the President; and by the statement of the Presi­
dent, on June 26, 1919, in response to a Senate reso­
lution concerning the American troops in Siberia, as 

follows: 

" The instructions to General Graves direct him not 
to interfere in Russian affairs, but to support Mr. 
S h " . tevens w erever necessary. 
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Could the intent of our Government, so far as my 
action was concerned, be made any clearer than this? 

Notwithstanding these instructions, the State De­
partment representatives, or some of them, did not 
cease their efforts to discredit me and my work in Si­
beria. These statements are confirmed by the following 
communication sent to the Chief of Staff on November 
22, 1919, and signed by Brigadier General Marl­
borough Churchill, Director Military Intelligence: 

"After conference with the Russian Division of 
the State Department I believe the State Department 
is of the opinion that General Graves' instructions 
from the Secretary of War, to steady any efforts at 
self-government or self-defense in which the Russians 
themselves may be willing to accept assistance was 
ample authority for him to do everything practicable 
to steady the Kolchak Government. Kolchak has not 
been recognized by this Government, but the notes of 
May 26 and June 12, clearly indicate the Allied and 
Associated Powers have agreed to extend to Admiral 
Kolchak and his associates a certain amount of sup­
port. In spite of this, the diplomatic papers signed by 
the President of United States are of the greatest 
importance." 

The two notes ref erred to by General Churchill 
were never sent to me. I could not have changed my 
policy if they had been sent to me, because I had specific 
instructions "not to interfere in Russian affairs " until 
these orders were changed by the President and I was 
in touch with the War Department by cable every day. 
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Why was General Churchill selected as the mes­
senger to convey the supposed opinions of the State De­
partment? He was not the man to whom the State 
Department should convey their views as to the policy 
I was following. The facts of the matter are, the State 
Department, as represented by Mr. De Witt C. Poole, 
had found an underling in the War Department who 
was willing to attempt to help him discredit the work 
of the Military in Siberia. 

As a further justification of my statement, while 
still in Siberia, I was informed by Mr. Frazier Hunt, 
a prominent newspaperman who is probably more 
prominent now, that, when he was in the State Depart­
ment to see about going to the Far East, a representa­
tive of the Department had spoken in a very discredit­
able way about me and my work in Siberia. Mr. _Hunt 
said he thought I ought to know this and that, as he 
expressed it, he expected to find that I was a terrible 
" dub." In his later articles, he spoke in a very t~mpli­
mentary way of the attitude and work of the United 
States troops in Siberia. 

Again, a Major-General United States Army now 
retired, told me that he was approached by a repre­
sentative of the State Department who said they were 
going to relieve me from command in Siberia, and 
"how would he like the place?" This State Depart­
ment representative must have known that as long as 
Secretary Baker and General March were in office at 
the War Department, the State Department would not 
select the Commander of American troops and I can 
only consider this act as a cheap political effort to try 
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to secure the support of this officer in the attempt to 
have me relieved. 

The objection of the State Department to me could 
not. have been based upon personal grounds, because 
I did not know them. By elimination, one can only ar­
rive at the conclusion that the representative of the 
State Department, who was so active in a War De­
partment question, hoped to get a commander in Si­
beria who would disregard not only his orders but the 
Constitution of the United States and use the Ameri­
can troops to help Kolchak, some of whose military 
adherents were committing acts that were a disgrace 
to civilization. 

The memorandum of General Churchill, conveying 
what he believed to be the views of the State Depart­
ment, finally was acted upon by the War Department 
and an officer of the General Staff was ordered to re­
port whether or not I had complied with my orders 
in Siberia. 

Before this report was prepared, an officer of the 
Army gave a dinner or a luncheon at the Metropolitan 
Club at which Mr. Poole, some British officers, and 
the officer who was to write the memorandum were 
guests. I am not informed as to other guests. One 
officer of the Army has officially characterized this 
dinner as a .conference. The officer who was to write 
the memorandum said that at this conference he formed 
the impression, " that the British officers and our own 
State Department representatives present at the con­
ference, felt that General Graves had, by his refusal 
to take sides in the Kolchak-Bolshevik affair, not car-
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Why w'as General Churchill selected as the mes­
senger to convey the supposed opinions of the State De­
partment? He was not the man to whom the State 
Department should convey their views as to the policy 
I was following. The facts of the matter are, the State 
Department, as represented by Mr. De Witt C. Poole, 
had found an underling in the War Department who 
was willing to attempt to help him discredit the work 
of the Military in Siberia. 

As a further justification of my statement, while 
still in Siberia, I was informed by Mr. Frazier Hunt, 
a prominent newspaperman who is probably more 
prominent now, that, when he was in the State Depart­
ment to see about going to the Far East, a representa­
tive of the Department had spoken in a very discredit­
able way about me and my work in Siberia. Mr. Hunt 
said he thought I ought to know this and that, ·as he 
expressed it, he expected to find that I was a terrible 
" dub." In his later articles, he spoke in a very compli­
mentary way of the attitude and work of the United 
States troops in Siberia. 

Again, a Major-General United States Army now 
retired, told me that he was approached by a repre­
sentative of the State Department who said they were 
going to relieve me from command in Siberia, and 
"how would he like the place?" This State Depart­
ment representative must have known that as long as 
Secretary Baker and General March were in office at 
the War Department, the State Department would not 
select the Commander of American troops and I can 
only consider this act as a cheap political effort to try 
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to secure the support of this officer in the attempt to 
have me relieved. 

The objection of the State Department to me could 
not have been based upon personal grounds, because 
I did not know them. By elimination, one can only ar­
rive at the conclusion that the representative of the 
State Department, who was so active in a War De­
partment question, hoped to get a commander in Si­
beria who would disregard not only his orders but the 
Constitution of the United States and use the Ameri­
can troops to help Kolchak, some of whose military 
adherents were committing acts that were a disgrace 
to civilization. 

The memorandum of General Churchill, conveying 
what he believed to be the views of the State Depart­
ment, finally was acted upon by the War Department 
and an officer of the General Staff was ordered to re­
port whether or not I had complied with my orders 
in Siberia. 

Before this report was prepared, an officer of the 
Army gave a dinner or a luncheon at the Metropolitan 
Club at which Mr. Poole, some British officers, and 
the officer who was to write the memorandum were 
guests. I am not informed as to other guests. One 
officer of the Army has officially characterized this 
dinner as a conference. The officer who was to write 
the memorandum said that at this conference he formed 
the impression, " that the British officers and our own 
State Department representatives present at the con­
ference, felt that General Graves had, by his refusal 
to take sides in the Kolchak-Bolshevik affair, not car-

[ 22!] 



AMERICA'S SIBERIAN ADVENTURE 

ried out his instructions." With this background, the 
General Staff officer was supposed to be ready to write 
h~repott . 

As this officer was required to report as to whether 
or not I had complied with my orders, one would natu­
rally think it would be necessary for him to know 
what my o'rders were. The State Department and the 
War Department did not look at it in that way or, at 
least, this officer had to write the report as to whether 
or not I had complied with my orders without ever 
seeing them. 

Based upon this report, Major General Haan, Di­
rector .War Plans Division, on December 15, 1919, 
stated in part as follows: 

" It should be noted that nothing in all the instruc­
tions issued authorizes the Commanding General of 
the American Forces in Siberia to employ his forces in 
combat against any Russian force. Even the agreement 
to support Admiral Kolchak does not imply opposition 
to his enemies by force of arms. The principle of non­
interference in Russian internal affairs, limits the ac­
tivities of the American forces in Siberia to guarding 
supplies, to keeping the lines of communication open, 
and to supporting Mr. Stevens. 

" General Graves has apparently carried out these 
instructions under difficult circumstances and has re­
frained from interfering in Russian internal affairs. 
It is believed that he has a clear understanding of his 
m1ss10n. 

" There are indications, however, that the State De­
partment feels that the support of Kolchak implied 
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opposition to Kolchak's enemies in every way except 
5y the use of armed forces on the fighting fronts. 
. "T?is would seem to indicate somewhat of a change 
m policy by the. State Department from the policy 
heretofore mentioned of non-interference in Russian 
internal affairs." 

After I returned from Siberia and obtained the book, 
"Russian American Relations, March 1917 - March 
1920. Documents and Papers," I learned for the first 
time what the notes of May 26 and June 12, 1919, men­
tioned by General Churchill, ref erred to. In the note 
to Admiral Kolchak of May 26, the United States, 
England, France, Italy, and Japan all stated: 

" We are therefore disposed to assist the govern­
ment of Admiral Kolchak and his associates with muni­
tions, supplies, and food, to establish themselves as the 
Government of all Russia, provided we receive from 
them definite guarantees that their policy has the same 
object in view as the Allied and Associated Powers." 

The note of June 12 was to Admiral Kolchak, noti­
fying him that the United States, England, France, 
and Japan were willing to extend to him: 

"The support set forth in the original letter." 

It will be noticed that this offer of assistance ex­
tended only to furnishing Kolchak with, "food, muni­
tions and supplies," none of which carried with it mili­
tary support and therefore, I, as Commander of the 
American troops, was not concerned. Why were these 
notes mentioned in any criticism of my actions? 
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General Churchill did not give the contents of the 
notes, but left the inference that if the contents were 
known there would exist a cause for criticism. This 
procedure was unworthy of an officer occupyirig an 
important position in the War Department, and a 
most unusual action for an army officer. 

The report of General Haan seems very clear to me, 
except the part that says the State Department feels 
that I should have used American troops against Kol­
chak's enemies, except on the fighting front. I could 
not help or harm Kolchak, except by the use of Ameri­
can troops and my only authority or responsibility was 
with such troops. I had no political or welfare responsi­
bility; I had no financial or economic responsibility .ex­
cept the responsibility imposed upon all commandmg 
officers of American troops by law and regulations of 
the War Department. All of these facts were known 
in the State Department. 

As conditions were in Siberia, the use of the words, 
" Fighting front" was indefinite and inappropriate. 
The fighting that occurred in Eastern Siberia was con­
fined to the efforts of considerable groups of peasants 
and workers some of whom were probably led by the 
Bolsheviks and known as" partisans," to protect them­
selves and their families from the atrocities comm~tted 
by the Kolchak troops. . 

The next place of interest, after leaving Taiga, was 
N ovo-Nicolaevsk, now called N ovo-Sibirsk. This town 
is on the Obi River and was of small importance except 
for its river connections with Southern Siberia and the 
Arctic Ocean. The Soviets have made. this town the 
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Capital of this vast agricultural area and it is known 
as the Chicago of Siberia. 

The next city was Omsk, where Kokhak had his 
Headquarters. This town is on the Irtish River and was 
founded in r7r7. The Soviets have also made Omsk 
the economic centre of a large district. 

When our train arrived at Omsk, Mr. Morris and 
Mr. Harris walked up and down the platform, evi­
dently discussing the situation, and when Mr. Morris 
returned to the train he said: 

"Harris says no one can get along with you." 

Mr. Harris was at Omsk and I was at Vladivostok, 
thirty seven hundred miles away. His duties were im­
posed upon him by the State Department; I had noth­
ing to do with the duties of Mr. Harris and he had 
nothing to do with my duties and if we ever had ~my 
personal differences I knew nothing of it. Mr. Harris 
would not have made this remark if I had been using 
American troops as the British, French, and Japanese 
were using their · troops in the support of Admiral 
Kolchak. 

What Consul General Harris meant was to tell the 
Ambassador, in an offensive way, that no one could 
force me to support Admiral Kolchak. The resort to 
the use of abuse and misrepresentation of those who 
would not follow their bidding, was characteristic of 
the autocratic Russians surrounding the Admiral and 
with whom Consul General Harris found his congenial 
associates. 
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After the arrival of Ambassador Morris, one of 
the members of the Kolchak regime said : 

" Soukine drew up another receipt for the saving of 
Russia: we are on the threshold of recognition." 

Soukine was reported as frequently saying to the 
ministers that Kolchak was now going to be recognized 
by other Governments, and every evening the Kolchak 
ministers were meeting to discuss the questions to be 
discussed at the formal ·conference of Allied repre­
sentatives and the Kolchak ministers the next after-

noon. 
The question of financing and building up the rail-

roads in Siberia was an important question for dis­
cµssion between the Allied representatives and the 
Russians. Colonel Emerson was in Omsk at that time 
and told me the Russians did not know what they had. 
He told me that one day the Russians asked for some 
material, I think it was copper, and he knew where 
there was enough of that material along the Trans­
Siberian Railway to meet their needs for 40 years. At 
this meeting he told the Russians they did not need any 
of this material, and they assumed their usual attitude 
of resentment towards him. 

Mr. Morris is reported as saying: 

" If the Omsk Government will make a stand, we 
will probably recognize you." 

General Knox k~ew the morale, strength, and in­
effi.ciency of the Kolchak troops much better than Am­
bassador Morris and said: 
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" That no form of military assistance would his 
Government give, and that he would not even com­
municate with London about it, as what they had been 
furnishing was falling into the hands of the Reds." 

In order to determine whether the Kolchak troops 
were able to make a stand in August, I 9 I 9, I will try 
to analyse the official reports made to me. One report 
read: 

"It is estimated that on July 1, outside the office 
holding and military class, the Omsk Government had 
less than I% of followers. It was estimated that the 
Red followers were about 45 %, Social Revolutionists 
abo~t 40 (o.' with about IO% divided among other 
parties, g1vmg 5 % to the military, office-holders and 
Kolchak followers." 

From this period on, even to the fall of the Omsk 
Government, Kolchak's Army represented a retreating 
mob. 

It should be remembered that Ambassador Morris 
did not reach Omsk to begin his conference until three 
weeks after the report above quoted was made. The 
~olchak troops had been defeated before Tchelya­
bmsk and had reported that they were going to be 
withdrawn to the Ishim River, and reorganize and 
reform the line extending along this river, from Ishim 
on the north, to Petropavlosk on the south, (a dis­
tance of one hundred and ten miles) with a view to 
starting an offensive on September I, an offensive that 
had for its objective, " to drive the Bolsheviks into 
the Volga River." 
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The reports handed out for public consumption were 
that General Pepelaieff had under him in the north, or 
right of the line, 20,000 men; General Lokvitsky, in 
the centre, had 3 I ,ooo men; and General Sakharoff, on 
the south, the left of the line, had under him 50,000 

men. 
As I was in Omsk at this time and had nothing to do, 

I went to General Dietrichs, Commander-in-Chief of 
the Russian forces, and asked to go to Petropavlosk to 
witness the mobilization. He informed me that there 
was great congestion at Petropavlosk due to the mo­
bilization and to the contemplated visit of Kolchak, 
and he suggested that I go to Ishim on the north and 
ask the Russian commander for an escort and cars, 
and go by motor from Ishim to Petropavlosk and I 
would see the whole thing. This suggestion of General 
Dietrichs pleased me very much. 

As Mr. Morris and I lived in the same car it 
was necessary for me to make arrangements for my 
trip to Ishim, about I 60 miles from Omsk. I went to 
Colonel Emerson and asked him to take his private 
car and go to Ishim with us, which he kindly consented 
to do. He had a train made up, consisting of cars for 
the sleeping and feeding of twenty or thirty Ai:nerican 
soldiers, a flat car with my government Cadillac on 
it, and his railroad car. 

We left about 8 o'clock in the morning and about II 
o'clock were put on a siding and left there. No one 
could or would give us any information as to why ~e 
were held up. Colonel Emerson could not get our tram 
moved even though he was First-Assistant to Mr. 
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Stevens, who was supposed to be in charge of the tech­
nical operation of the railroad. About sunset our train 
started. They kept stopping us, and it resulted in our 
taking thirty-two hours to go one hundred and sixty 
miles. 

About four hours before we arrived at Ishim, we 
were stopped at a small town, and a number of Kol­
chak officers appeared and told a corporal in charge 
of the train-guard that they had to take our train for 
military purposes, and were very sorry that we would 
have to get out. This corporal decided he could handle 
that situation without reporting to me and, in fulfill­
ment of that idea, he ordered his guard to load their 
rifles and notified those Russian officers that, " if they 
started anything there would be more dead Russian 
officers in that town than they had even seen." This 
resulted in our moving on toward Ishim. After leaving 
the town, the interpreter came and reported the con­
versation between the corporal and the Russian officers, 
but the corporal never reported the occurrence to me. 
We finally arrived at Ishim at 4 P .M., ori the second 
day after leaving Omsk. 

When I got off the car at Ishim, as I expected, the 
ubiquitous English officer appeared to tell me what I 
should and should not do. An English officer seemed 
to be always present with any Kolchak troops and this 
particular Englishman, named Captain Murray, said: 

" General, I beg of you not to go across there, as the 
Bolsheviks will capture you, and that will spoil all we 
have accomplished over here." 
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This seemed a remarkable statement for .two 
reasons: 

First- How and why did Captain Murray know 
that I contemplated going to Petropavlosk by motor? 
Manifestly, they had been notified from Omsk and 
this was the first open attempt to keep me from ob­
serving at first hand the reported mobilization. 

Second- How was I in danger of capture by Bol­
sheviks, in going along a line reported t? me by G~neral 
Dietrichs, Kolchak commander, as bemg occupied by 
Kolchak troops? We would have been rather stupid 
if we had not sensed something wrong. 

Captain Murray kindly offered to see the Russian 
commander and see when I could call on him. He re­
turned and said the Russian commander had directed 
him to tell me that he was taking a nap and he would 
see me when he had finished his nap. This message 
was tantamount to a notification to me that he was 
hostile to me and to my visit. After receiving this 
message, my natural inclination was to ignore t~is Rus­
sian commander, but I realized that every official rep­
resentative in Omsk, Russian and Allied, was hostile 
to my actions in Siberia and unfavourable to me per­
sonally and this made it necessary for me to follow 
every well recognized custom. I decided I had to call on 
this Russian commander, or I would be put on the 
defensive. 

I started out with Colonel Emerson, Major Slaugh­
ter, and my interpreter, to make my official ca~l. The 
Russian commander was living in a train, which we 
did not find where Captain Murray had told us it was 
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located. We eventually located the train and were 
ushered into the presence of the Russian commander. 
His manner was exceedingly unfriendly. I asked him 
for an escort, and told him I was directed to do so by 
General Dietrichs. He replied that he had no soldiers 
he could trust as an escort for me. I then asked him if 
he would let me have the motor cars General Dietrichs 
told me I could have and he replied that he could not 
let me have any cars. I then asked him if there were 
any cars in the town of Ishim that we could hire to take 
us to Petropavlosk. He replied, " Yes, but you will 
not get them." In the meantime, this Russian had sent 
for a glass of tea and sat there and drank it in our 
presence without asking us to join him, so we arose, 
said " Good-bye ", and left him. 

The action of.this Russian showed conclusively that 
conditions somewhere were not as represented and we 
were not to see the real condition, but we had suspected 
this reported Russian Army was more or less a myth. 

On the return to our train, we decided to take my 
automobile, which was a seven passenger car, and go 
to Petropavlosk regardless of the grave danger of 
which Captain Murray had notified us, and Colonel 
Emerson, Major Slaughter, the interpreter, the chauf­
feur and one soldier and I left for Petropavlosk at 
7 P.M., August 14. We were all armed with pistols ex­
cept the soldier who had a rifle. The car had the Ameri­
can flag fastened to the radiator as well as the flag 
carried by a Major General. 

The road from Ishim to Petropavlosk was reported 
as being a highway, but we found the highway differed 
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from other country roads by being marked by two fur­
roughs, about eighty feet apart, and these two fur­
roughs were only helpful in indicating the road to 
Petropavlosk. We had gone only sixty-thr'ee miles 
when night began to approach and, as we thought it 
inadvisable to travel at night, we drove into an oatfield 
and waited for daylight. This was an uncomfortable 
night, and rest was impossible, due to the mosquitoes. 

About 2 A.M,, a Russian appeared mounted on horse­
back, and asked who we were and what we were doing 
there. I told the interpreter to tell him everything he 
wanted to know. The Russian then extended to us an 
invitation to go to his village and spend the night there, 
and stated his village would consider it a great honour 
to entertain an American General. I expressed our 
thanks to him and through him to the other people of 
his village, but told him we had to move on as soon as 
daylight came, which would not be long. He seemed 
satisfied and left. 

As soon as we could safely continue our journey we 
did so, arriving at the village on the banks of the Ishim 
River a little after sunr:ise, where we had been told 
we would cross the river. We stopped in the village to 
obtain information about crossing the river and in a 
few moments the car was su.rrounded by men, women, 
and children. Before leaving Ishim, I had filled my 
pockets with Hershey's chocolate bars, which we h~d 
brought along in case we should need . them. I ~is­
tributed this candy to the women and children; which 
seemed to please them immensely. We could discover 
no unfriendly attitude, in fact, there were everywhere, 
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the most friendly and cordial expressions. I asked a 
woman, who seemed to be the representative of the 
village, how we could get across the river and she di­
rected a man to go with us and show us where we could 
cross. The river was probably three hundred yards 
wide at this point. The natives had stretched a cable 
across the stream, had built a raft that would hold a 
pony and cart, and by means of the cable they pulled 
themselves and their produce from one side of the 
river to the other. There was some anxiety as to 
whether the raft would hold the automobile, but we 
decided it would and, after we all got out of the car, 
the chauffeur drove on, and the car seemed safe. The 
Russian was told we would return that afternoon and 
he promised if the raft was on his side of the river 
when we returned he would pull it over. We all em­
barked, took hold of the cable and pulled ourselves to 
the opposite side of the1iver. 

This village was thirty miles from Petropavlosk, 
where we arrived about Io o'clock. We had been look­
ing for the Kolchak Army but had seen only three Rus­
sian soldiers on the trip. The Russian Commander at 
Petropavlosk had not been notified of our expected 
visit, as they had expected to block us at Ishim. When 
I met this Russian General, he threw his arms around 
me and was very hospitable. I asked him where his 
troops were and he said that he had none. I asked him 
how they expected to start an offensive in two weeks 
if they had no troops there. He said that if an offen­
sive was contemplated I knew more about it than he 
did. 
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We went "to the station at Petropavlosk to see if we 
could discover the congestion General Dietrichs had 
told me existed there. There was evidence of some 
soldier shipments in excess of needs for a small garri­
son but not enough to be characterized as congestion 
and, it was evident to me, that a fraud was being prac­
ticed in the representations as to the forces of Kolchak. 
This representation was part of the scheme to get 
money from the United States to help Kolchak destroy 
bolshevism. 

On our return to Ishim, we found the raft still on 
our side of the river and by the time we had pulled 
ourselves across, the majority of the people in the 
village had assembled to meet us. The priest asked us 
to go to his house and have some wine and cake in 
order that the people might have an opportunity to 
meet us and we accepted the invitation. I asked this 
priest about the Bolsheviks; he said there were rumours 
that they were expected, but he did not know. We 
spent about an hour at the priest's house and there was 
certainly nothing but the most kindly feeling towards 
us by the people of that village. 

The British captain did not meet us upon our return 
to Ishim and neither were we delayed on our return 
trip to Omsk. The day I got back to Omsk. I went to 
see General Dietrichs and asked for an explanation of 
this unusual representation to me and he said that I 
had gone the wrong way as the Kolchak Army was 
about ten miles to the west of wher.e I had been. I called 
General Dietrichs' attention to the statement of the 
Russian Commander at Petropavlosk that there were 
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no troops in that section. His reply was that this man 
did not have sense enough to know anything. 

That statement would only satisfy a man who wanted 
to be deceived, and the evidence was of such a nature 
as to convince everyone, except Consul General Harris, 
that the fall of the Kolchak Government was imminent. 

On August 7, prior to my trip to Ishim, I cabled the 
War Department from Omsk: 

" The Kolchak forces are still retreating and it looks 
as if. the demoralization is such that the hope of re­
formmg the Army and renewing the offensive must be 
based upon the weakness of the Bolsheviks, and lack 
of their desire to come to Omsk, which I cannot as­
sume to be the case. Well authenticated reports justify 
the. statement that officers are leaving the troops and 
fleemg to the rear, staff officers preceding line officers 
in this flight, soldiers are throwing away their arms 
and ammunition and in some cases their heavy clothing 
so as to enable them to move more rapidly to the rear. 
I have been unable to discover any enthusiasm for the 
Kolchak Government." 

On August IO, Colonel Sargent, who had command 
in Vladivostok during my absence in Omsk, cabled the 
War Department: 

" General Gaida arrived Vladivostok from Omsk 
eighth instant, in an interview he stated substantially 
as follows : - ' The Kolchak Government cannot pos­
sibly stand and if the Allies support him they will make 
the greatest mistake in history. The Government is 
divided into two distinct parts, one issues proclamation 
and propaganda for foreign consumption stating that 
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the Government favors and works for a constituent 
assembly, other part secretly plans and plots a restora­
tion of monarchy. This is perceptible only to those who 
are part of the Government. It is a hypocritical gov­
ernment which attempts to convince the peasants that 
their cause is being fostered and yet looks for the psy­
chological moment to restore monarchy. Kolchak has 
surrounded himself with old regime officers whose only 
salvii,tion for future existence depends on restoration 
of monarchy.' " 

On August I 8, after my return from Ishim, I re­
ported by cable as follows: 

"Admiral Kolchak had told Ambass'ador Morris 
that the Siberian Army was withdrawing to Ishim river 
and ~ould reform there and make stand against Bol­
sheviks. On way to Ishim we met approximately thirty 
trains ~hich had been us~d for evacuation purposes. 
All trams had many soldiers on them who were evi­
dently returning from the front. We estimated that we 
had seen five thousand soldiers. Some few rifles could 
be seen, but it was evident these soldiers were not or­
ganized, but were returning as individuals. Some Semi­
palitinsk Cossacks arrived at. Petropavlosk overland 
from Ekaterinburg. I talked to them and they said that 
the Infantry of the Kolchak Army would not fight and 
the Cossacks were tired of doing all the fighting and 
were on their way home." 

In a written report made September 26, after my 
return to Vladivostok, I stated, in part: 

"The fact that Kokhak forces had melted away 
was confirmed by many people later seen at Omsk. 
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Colonel Grey, who commanded a storming brigade of 
Kokhak troops, told us of the condition in the Russian 
forces and his description of these conditions, could 
hardly have been worse. He stated that there had been 
hardly any fighting for nearly six weeks, that the Ar~y 
had disintegrated, and the men had become worse. m 
their treatment of the inhabitants than the Bolsheviks 
had ever been; that practically every soldier had a 
horse and cart which he had taken from the peasants; 
that soldiers requisitioned whatever they wanted, some 
times giving a receipt but more often not." 

This statement referred to the period near August 
20, although my report was not made until my return 
to Vladivostok. In that written report of September 

26, I stated: 

"As another indication of the belief of the people, 
General Ivanoff-Rinoff came to see me at Omsk and 
told me as soon as they checked the Bolsheviks the . 
entire personnel of Kolchak's ministers would have 
to be changed; that they had no point of contact with 
the people; that the people had no confidence in the 
ministers, and Kolchak would have to get rid of them." 

In this connection I asked I vanoff-Rinoff if they 
were going to permit Kolchak to remain in power, and 
he replied, " Yes, if he is willing to meet the wishes of 
the people." 

I considered this a most remarkable statement, as 
Ivanoff-Rinoff was a part of Kolchak's administration 
and was head of all Siberian Cossacks. This statement 
bordered on disloyalty as Ambassador Morris, with 
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whom I came to Omsk, was looking into the power and 
capacity of the Kolchak Government with a view to 
recommending to the United States Government as to 
the advisability of recognizing Kolchak. 

The day after I vanoff-Rinoff's visit, I witnessed a 
ceremony in the Russian Church, where Admiral 
Kolchak promoted I vanoff-Rinoff to the grade of 
Lieutenant-General, kissed him on the cheeks, pro­
daimed him as a Russian patriot and presented him 
with a gold sword. 

These were Russian ways which probably could not 
be duplicated in any other country in the world. It was 
not possible for me to see how Kolchak could hope to 
succeed by the use of military forces, when his adher­
ents were treating as they were the military men fight­
ing for his cause, and the potential military who ~ere 
being mobilized. The treatment of the peasants Jwho 
were being mobilized has been previously referred to. 

While at Omsk, we heard of a train that had arrived 
at Kolumzino, just across the river from Omsk. Am­
bassador Morris, Colonel Emerson, and I went to see 
the condition of the men from the front who were re­
ported as being typhus patients. We found these sick 
and wounded had been put into box cars without any 
accommodations of any kind. Many of these men were 
too ill to help themselves and there was only one 
nurse to five or six hundred men. There were no ar­
rangements for food and only a very limited quan­
tity of water carried in canteens. No help was pro­
vided for the seriously sick in attending to the calls of 
nature. 
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We looked into the first box car and saw two dead 
men in the car and a third was dying, while a sick 
comrade held his head and tried to give him a 
drink of water. Many of the sick had mustered 
sufficient strength to crawl out of the cars, but 
this effort exhausted them and they were sprawled 
on the ground by the train, a helpless mass of 
humanity. ' 

As these soldiers had practically given their lives 
fighting for the Kolchak cause, one would have ex· 
pected that some supporters of Kolchak, men or 
women, or both, would have been present to give com­
fort and assistance to those helpless, dying men. It was 
a pitiful sight to see these unfortunates, with no one 
trying to help them. 

When we returned to' Omsk, Colonel Emerson and 
I walked to the park. There was a band playing and 
we estimated that there were about a thousand people 
dancing. This gay crowd was not more than twenty 
minutes travel from where the soldiers were dying, 
undoubtedly many from neglect. 

During our stay in Omsk, Ambassador Morris 
seemed to believe that there was some hope of pacify­
ing Siberia by helping Kolchak, but I never ~aw any 
practical way of restoring order through the medium 
of Kolchak supporters. The trip to Omsk had not 
changed my views, in fact, after the trip I had more 
confidence in my estimate of Kolchak's strength, than 
I had before, because I was no longer fooled by the 
reports as to the attitude of the people west of Lake 
Baikal. 
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There. were conflicting reports as to the recommen­
dations of Ambassador Morris on the question of 
recognition. I saw in the public press of the United 
States that he had recommended recognition. 

The information I received from Omsk, which I 
considered very reliable as it came direct from Soukine, 
Kolchak's Foreign Minister, was to the effect that 
Mr. Morris had recommended recognition, but only 
if the United States was willing to send twenty-five 
thousand soldiers to Siberia to replace the Czechs and 
provide financial assistance to Kolchak to the amount 
of two hundred million dollars. I feel confident that 
these conditions were attached to the Ambassador's 
recommendation. 

Mr. Soukine told my informant that Kolchak was 
in no position to enforce the Railway Agreement unless 
the United States recognized Kolchak, provided finan­
cial assistance to the extent of two hundred million 
dollars, and sent twenty-five thousand American sol­
diers to replace the Czechs. He further stated that 
Mr. Morris had agreed not to make an issue of their 
failure to enforce the Inter-Allied Railway Agreement 
until the final decision was made in Washington as to 
recognition, financial assistance, and the sending of 
American troops. Anyone knowing the sentiment of 
the Congress of the United States at that time, would 
consider such a conditional recommendation for recog­
nition as equivalent to a recommendation for non­
recognition. 

In any event, and fortunately for the United States, 
Kolchak was not recognized. In my judgement, at no 
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period of Kolchak's regime would recognition have 
been of any service to him. 

The ambassador and I left Omsk for Vladivostok 
about the 20th of August. We stopped at Novo­
Nicolaevsk, Irkutsk, Verkhne-Udinsk, and Harbin. 
Nothing of interest happened until we reached Semeo­
noff's territory. By this time it was well known that 
Semeonoff had established what were known as his 
" killing stations " and had openly boasted that he 
could not sleep at night when he had not killed some 
one during the day. 

We stopped at .a small station and two American 
Russian Railway Service Corps men got on our train 
and told us of the killing by Semeonoff soldiers, two 
or three days before our arrival, of a trainload of 
Russians consisting of three hundred and fifty people. 
I do not remember if there were only men in the train, 
or if there were men and women. These two Americans 
stated substantially as follows: 

" The trainload of prisoners passed the station and 
it was generally known in the station that they were 
to be killed. The Service Corps men started to go to 
the place of execution but were s~opped by Semeonoff_'s 
soldiers. In one hour and fifty mmutes the empty tram 
returned to the station. The following day these two 
men went out to the killing place, and saw evidences 
of the wholesale execution and it was evident from 
the shells on the ground that the prisoners had be~n 
killed with machine guns, as the empty shells were m 
piles just as if they had been ejected from machine 
guns. The bodies had been placed in two ditches which 
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had been freshly dug. In one ditch the bodies were en­
tirely covered, in the other ditch many arms or legs 
were left uncovered." 

I was given an affidavit by one of these Service 
Corps men as to this occurrence but can not locate it in 
my papers, although what I have stated above is sub­
stantially what was in the affidavit. 

During my trip to and from Omsk, I had an op­
portunity to talk to many of Mr. Stevens' assistants, 
relative to the operation of the railroad and the rail­
road agreement. I reported to Washington: 

" I formed the impression from talking with Ameri­
can Railway Service Corps representatives that our 
railway men are accomplishing very little. They are 
advising the Russian railway people but have no power 
to see that their suggestions are followed. Mr. Morris 
thinks they are accomplishing something and that the 
obstacles can be removed, I, however, do not believe 
this can be done as long as Kolchak is in power. 

" The Russian military practically control the rail­
roads. They do this by station commandants and re­
gional boards. These officials will not let anything go 
to regions not known to be pro-Kolchak, and justify 
their actions by the old claim of Bolshevism. 

" The railroad agreement contemplates the opera­
tion of the railroad by the Technical Board provided 
in the Allied agreement." 

These military officials were Kolchak appointees, 
and he would not remove them although the railroad 
was permeated with scandal and graft. Colonel Erner­
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son told me these station commandants were demand­
ing forty thousand roubles in addition to the regular 
freight charges for a box car from Vladivostok to 
Omsk. 

A Russian general at VladivostoK. gave up a position 
on the Trans-Baikal Railroad that paid him three 
thousand roubles per month, on the ground that he and 
his family could not live on that, and came to Vladi­
vostok and took a position on the regional board with­
out any salary attached to it. 

When I was in Irkutsk, I was told by Colonel Lan­
try, Mr. Stevens' second assistant, that there were 
thirteen thousand and five hundred tons of merchandise 
at Irkutsk and twenty-seven thousand tons at Stretinsk, 
for shipment to various points in Siberia. This mer­
chandise consisted, to a large extent, of pickled fish, 
put up in kegs, which is a staple food for the poor Ru~­
sian and is very much desired by them. This regional 
board refused to let him move a pound of this fish. I 
was later informed by Colonel Lantry that practically 
a!l of this fish spoiled and had to be thrown in the 
river. 

At this same time salmon, canned on the Amur River 
by Sale & Frazar, a firm doing business in Tokyo, 
Japan, was shipped through these towns without ques,. 
tion. The canned salmon was much more expensive and 
not so much desired by the poor people. The reason 
these regional boards at Irkutsk and Stretinsk would 
not let Colonel Lantry ship this fish was, of course, 
because no one would bribe them to let it be shipped. 
The members of these regional boards, who were Kol-
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chak military repres'entatives, were indifferent as to 
the needs of the poor people. 

It is my judgment, the President of the United States 
would never have entered into the Inter-Allied Rail­
road Agreement without a belief that this agreement 
would bring relief to the Russian people, regardless of 
their political affiliations. This could not be accom­
plished in Siberia. All Allied representatives and the 
United States State Department representatives were 
solidly behind Admiral Kolchak and the more hopeless 
the cause of Kolchak became the more bitter his sup­
porters became towards everyone who did not assist 
him. 

The United States, England, France, and Japan 
might have put enough money into Siberia to keep the 
railroads running and enough soldiers to guard it, all 
for the benefit of Kolchak, but at this time, after the 
terrible excesses committed by his supporters, and 
others who claimed to support him, no power on earth 
could have driven the peasant to support his cause. 

Another great injustice to the workmen on the rail­
road was due to the fall in the value of the rouble 
from ten cents, in September, 1918, to almost nothing, 
without increasing the number of roubles paid them 
for their service. I estimated the salaries of the train­
men, at one period of Kolchak's power and, including 
conductors, engineers, and trainmen, it was three dol­
lars and seventy-five cents per month. This was 'the 
average, some a little less and some a little more. This 
was better than nothing, and if they left the railroad 
they could get no other work. In one case, the men 
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struck for higher wages, the Kolchak management 
called it bolshevistic, and executed some of the leaders 
of the strike. 

I doubt if history will show any country in the world 
during the last fifty years where murder could be com­
mitted so safely, and with less danger of punishment, 
than in Siberia during the regime of Admiral Kolchak. 
As an example of the atrocities and lawlessness in Si­
beria, there was a typical case in Omsk, Kolchak's 
Headquarters, on December 22, 1918, just one month 
and four days after Kolchak assumed power as " Su­
preme Ruler." On this date, there was an uprising of 
workmen in Omsk against the Kolchak Government. 
The revolutionaries were partly successful, opened the 
jail and permitted two hundred prisoners to escape. 

Among these, one hundred and thirty-four were 
political prisoners including several members of the 
Constituent Assembly. The day this occurred, the Kol­
chak Military Commander at Omsk issued an 6>rder 
calling upon all who had been released to return to 
jail, and stated, that in case of failure to return within 
twenty-four hours, they would be shot on sight. All 
members of the Constituent Assembly and some other 
prominent political prisoners returned to confinement. 
During the night some Kolchak officers took the mem­
bers of the Constituent Assembly from the jail, telling 
them they were taking them to a place of trial for their 
alleged off ens es, and shot and killed all of them. Noth­
ing was done to the officers for this brutal and illegal 
murder. As conditions were in Siberia, such atrocities 
could be easily concealed from the world. 
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The foreign press was constantly being told th~t ~he 
Bolsheviks were the Russians who were comm1ttmg 
these terrible excesses, and propaganda had been used 
to such an extent that no one ever believed that atroci­
ties were being committed against the Bolsheviks. 

Colonel Morrow, in command of American troops 
in the Trans-Baikal sector, reported a most cruel, 
heartless, and almost unbelievable murder of an entire 
village by Semeonoff. When his troops reached the 
village, the inhabitants apparently tried to escape_ by 

1 flight from their homes, but the Semeonoff soldiers 
shot them down, men, women, and children, as if they 
were hunting rabbits, and left their bodies where they 
were killed. They shot, not one, but everyone in the 
village. 

Colonel Morrow induced a Japanese and a French­
man to go with the American Army officer to inv~sti­
gate this wholesale murder, and what I have JUSt 
state.-1. is substantially what was contained in a report 
signed by the American, the Frenchman, and the Japa­
nese. In addition to the above stated executions these 
officers reported that they found the bodies of four or 
five men who had evidently been burned alive. 

Naturally, people wondered what could be the ob­
ject of such terrible murders. The object is similar to 
the reason why men in charge of prison camps keep 
bloodhounds, and employ other means to terrorize 
prisoners, with a view to deterring them from trying 
to escape. In Siberia the people who .were victimized 
were not prisoners, but the people responsible for the 
terrors were determined that all Russians should, at 
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least, ac~ as if they :vere whole-heartedly supporting 
Kolchak s cause. This treatment sometimes succeeds 
to the extent of temporarily preventing the real senti­
ment of the people. from being known. This was the 
case in Siberia, and I am convinced that the American 
people know nothing of these terrible conditions. 
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JAPAN, THE COSSACKS AND ANTI-AMERICANISM 

j\ MBASSADOR MORRIS and I arrived at Vladi­
fi vostok the evening of September 6, I 9 I 9, and 1 
soon had my first experience with the new Japanese 
puppet in the person of General Rozanoff, who had been 
sent by Kolchak from Krasnoyarsk to Vladivostok to 
command the Russian troops of the Far East. . 

I had on my desk a report that the Russians, on 
September 2, in the presence of Japanese troops, had 
arrested an American captain and a corpo~al at Iman, 
two hundred and fifty miles north of Vladivostok, for 
the reported reason that these men ha? no passports. 
As they wore the uniform of the Amen~an ~r~y, and 
as there was no recognized govern~ent .m S~ber~a, and 
further as no military representative m Siberia was 
called ~pon for passports, the reason assigned for :he 
arrest of these men was an insult almost on a par with 
the arrest. . 

On the morning of the 7th, I sent Colonel Robinson, 
my Chief of Staff, to General Rozanoff's office and 
demanded the immediate release of the corporal; the 
captain having been permitted to leave the day th.ey 
were arrested. General Rozanoff told Colonel Robin­
son that he would investigate and let me know later. 
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This by no means satisfied me, so I directed Colonel 
Robinson to return and tell General Rozanoff it was 
not a question for him to investigate, and a refusal to 
order the release of Corporal Spurling would be con­
strued by me as a definite refusal. When General Roza­
noff got this message, he ordered the corporal's 
release. 

When the corporal returned, we found that he had 
been beaten unmercifully. 

Before his release and as soon as Major Shama­
toulski, the local commanding officer, learned the 
Americans had been arrested, he obtained a train, took 
some American soldiers and went to Iman. When he 
arrived there, a Japanese officer notified him that the 
Japanese would not permit the Americans to attack the 
Cossacks and, if he did attack them, they would join 
the Cossacks and resi~t the Americans. Major Shama­
toulski notified the Japanese Commander that he in­
tended to rescue the corporal, and any resistance by the 
Japanese would be at their peril. 

In the meantime, Major Shamatoulski had arrested 
three Cossacks in uniform. The Cossacks had built a 
trench, and occupied it preparatory to resisting the 
Americans. The Japanese joined the Cossacks in the 
trench evidently intending to start the trouble that 
they had for some time hoped for, but they evidently 
lost their nerve as, before firing started, they notified 
the American major that the corporal was not in Iman 
but had been sent to Habarovsk. Major Shamatoulski 
withdrew his troops and started to return to his sta­
tion. The Japanese commander then came up and told 
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him that he could not take the three Cossa~ks he had 
previously arrested away with him, but Ma JOr Sham~­
toulski said he would take them and hold them until 
the American was returned. The Japanese _threatened 
to use force but no force was used and MaJor Shama­
toulski took his prisoners away with him. . 

The corporal stated on his return to American Com­
mand that he was whipped by two Cossack officers 
while on the train, and for fifteen minutes on the plat­
form after arrival at Habarovsk, when the Japanese 
took charge of him. . . 

It is often impossible to get defimte legal ev1d~n~e 
to establish what you know to be a fac~, a_nd this is 
such a case. I am sure this arrest and wh1ppmg of the 
American corporal was not only permitted hr the Japa­
nese, but the whole miserable act was engmeered by 
them, although I am unable to. charge any J ~pane~e 
higher in authority than the ma JOr at Iman with this 
cowardly and dastardly act. . . 

I make this charge because Kalm1koff and his sol­
diers formed a part of the Japanese .command, and 
the Japanese commanding officer was 1~ comman~ of 
these Cossacks when this insult was directed agamst 
the United States. As Iman was not in the sector of the 
railroad assigned to Japan to guard, the Japanese 
troops had no responsibility at this town. T~ey were 
there for some purpose, and the real purpose is shown 
by the arrest of the Americans. . 

On September 3, Colonel Sargent, who was m com­
mand during my absence in Omsk, cabled the War De­
partment, in part: 
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" Semeonoff and Kalmikoff left Vladivostok for 
Habarovsk today." 

These two Japanese puppets were going to Ha­
barovsk together for some purpose. This purpose was 
to plan to attack American soldiers. 

General Horvath, who was opposed to my policy 
of non-interference, came to me and warned me that 
Kalmikoff was going to kill some American soldiers, 
and if I did not concentrate the small detachments 
guarding the railroad, I would lose some of them. He 
said that Japan had sanctioned this and had given 
Kalmikoff thirty thousand yen and were prepared to 
send cablegrams throughout the world that the Rus­
sians were going to treat all Bolsheviks alike. 

Colonel Butenko, Fortress Commander, had access 
to all telegrams coming through Vladivostok. He came 
to me about the same time as General Horvath, con­
firmed what General Horvath had told me, and said 
that Semeonoff had telegraphed Kalmikoff to go ahead 
and attack American troops, and if he needed any help, 
he, Semeonoff, would send his Cossacks to assist him. 
The Japanese telegraphed Kalmikoff that they could 
not give him active support but would give him moral 
support. 

In this connection, Major Slaughter at Omsk was 
told by Mr. Soukine, Minister of Foreign Affairs for 
the Omsk Government, as follows: 

"I can also. tell you, if you do not know it already, 
that the Americans have not enough troops in the Far 
East to meet the emergency which will be created if 
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you have any trouble with Semeonoff and Kalmikoff 
because the J a panes~ have arr~n~ed to support Seme~; 
noff in every way, with troops 1f 1t becomes necessary. 

At this time, Mr. Medviede:ff, head of the Zemstvos 
in Primorsk Province, came to me and confirmed what 
General Horvath had told me. These three men be­
longed to different social factions, and Medviedeff be­
longed to a different political party from the other two, 
consequently, these three men would never get toget~er 
for any purpose, much less for the purpose of makmg 
up a tale to tell me. 

A colonel of the French Army, whose name I re-
member but do not think it is wise to publish, also came 
to me and told me the Cossacks were trying to buy 
some rifles from the French and he felt sure they were 
planning to attack Americans. 

When the corporal who had been beaten by the 
Cossacks returned, I wrote a letter to General Roza­
noff, and demanded the names of the Cossacks who 
arrested the corporal, the names of the two Cossack 
officers who beat the corporal, and an apology in the 
lo<;:al press for the outrage. I received no reply. 

One week after the letter was sent, General Roza­
noff' s Chief of Staff came to American Headquarters 
on some business but I notified him I would have no 
dealings with Rozanoff's Headquarters until my letter 
was answered. I never heard from this directly, but I 
saw in the press that it was announced in Was.hington 
that suitable apologies had been made fo~ the msult. I 
have no idea where the apologies were made or by 
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whom, and I never had any dealings with General 
Rozanoff' s Headquarters, or with him, after this time. 
He was overthrown on January 3 r, r920. 

On my return from Omsk, there was a report on my 
desk of a brutal and repulsive murder by Japanese. 
This report was to the effect that on July 27, r9r9, a 
company of Japanese soldiers under the command of 
a Japanese major, arrested nine Russians in the town 
of Sviagina which was in the railroad sector assigned 
to Americans to guard. The Japanese told the Ameri­
can commander that these men were suspected of being 
Bolsheviks. 

These Russians were told if they would give in­
formation about Bolsheviks they would let them go. 
Four of the nine were permitted to go. The other five 
were " roughly handled and beaten " but refused to 
talk. 

The Japanese again had no responsibility at Sviagina. 
The Japanese were beginning to act as if they in­

tended to execute the five Russians who would not give 
any information to them and, as soon as the purpose of 
the Japanese was apparent, the American commander 
protested, but to no avail. The report of this execution 
is as follows : 

" The five Russians were marched to some graves 
that had been dug in the vicinity of the railroad sta­
tion; they were blindfolded and forced to kneel at the 
edge of the graves, bending forward with their hands 
tied behind them. Two Japanese officers, removing 
their coats and drawing their sabers, then proceeded 
to slash the victims on the back of the neck, while as 

[ 253] 



_I 

AMERICA'S SIBERIAN ADVENTURE 

each one fell forward into the grave, three to five 
Japanese soldiers bayonetted him several times with 
cries of pleasure. Two were beheaded at once by the 
saber strokes; the others were apparently alive as the 
earth was thrown in upon them." 

I regret to say these executions were witnessed by 
several officers and soldiers of the American Army. 

These executions were committed by the Japanese, 
not because the victims had committed any offense, but 
because they were suspected of being Bolsheviks. 

I felt so strongly about this murder that I brought 
the commanding officer of Sviagina to American Head­
quarters at Vladivostok and, in the presence of the 
Japanese Chief of Staff, told him he should have used 
force to ?revent it. I also told the Japanese Chief of 
Staff that if such a thing was ever attempted again in 
American sectors of the railroad, it would bring on a 
conflict between Japanese and American troops. 

He said that he would like to investigate the report. 
I told him there could be no objection to his making 
an investigation, but I hoped he would tell me the re­
sult of his investigation, which he promised to do. After 
about five weeks he came to my office and said they 
would have to admit the truth of the report I had re­
ceived, but he wanted me to know that was not in ac­
cordance with the practice of the Japanese Army. 

On June 9, 1919, I received the following from 
Colonel Morrow at Verkhne-Udinsk: 

" Owing to Semeonoff's armored cars continual in­
terference with the railroad, seizure of cars, threaten­
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ing . employees, interference with working parties, 
contm:ied men~ce to my guard, and firing upon and 
arrestmg Russian troops proceeding to the front, I, 
yesterday, at 5 P.M., June 8, at a conference between 
Major-General Yoshe, Japanese Army, General Me­
jak, Military Governor and General Pechinko, Com­
mander of Russian troops in Beresovka, requested 
them on the grounds stated above to cause the removal 
of the armored cars out of the American sector and 
at the same time, informed them that if my reques~ 
was not complied with within twenty-four hours I would 
destroy these cars." 

General Y oshe, in the presence of Colonel Morrow 
agreed to remain neutral, but later sent the following 
to Colonel Morrow: 

"The Japanese say they will resist by force the re­
moval of Semeonoff's armored cars by American 
troops, and will take the armored cars under Japanese 
guard to Beresovka and there protect them from 
American troops." 

~s this was in the American sector the only basis for 
act10n by the Japanese was that Japanese troops and 
Semeonoff's troops constituted one force. This was well 
known by ~veryone in Siberia, but the Japanese re­
peatedly said they were not responsible for the acts of 
Semeonoff and Kalmikoff. 

By refusing to give consideration to Army reports, 
the State Department probably did not know of the 
modern. methods being used by our Ally, Japan, in 
destroymg bolshevism. By this time the State Depart-
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ment representatives had joined whole-heartedly in the 
fight for Kolchak, and they had as their Allies in this 
work, the British, the French, the Japanese, Atamans 
Semeonoff and Kalmikoff and General Rozanoff. 

Apparently, the only ripple on the sea of satisfaction 
was my refusal to join the State Department and their 
Allies in their determination to destroy bolshevism, 
notwithstanding the announced policy of the United 
States of non-interference. 

Mr. August Heid, War Trade Board, operating 
under the State Department, was careless enough at 
one time to send information that was apparently de­
fective. At least, Mr. Heid brought a telegram to my 
office, and read it to me, and said that it came from 
the State Department. The telegram said: 

" You are not sending the kind of information out 
of Siberia we want you to send." 

As Mr. Heid was an employee of the State Depart­
ment, I suppose it was not ethical to ignore his reports, 
as they did mine. 

At this critical period, when the Cossacks in the east 
were trying to obtain arms for use against American 
troops, the rifles and ammunition supplied by the 
United States for Kolchak's fighting forces began ar­
riving on United States Transports. These rifles were 
sent to Kolchak under the terms of Mr. Wilson's agree­
ment of June I 2, I 919: " to assist the Government 
of Admiral Kolchak and his associates with muni­
tions, supplies, and food." I had been informed from 
Washington : 
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" General Haken, Chief of Ordinance Department 
of .a special commission for the Far East, has been ap­
pomted by the Russian Government in Omsk to re­
ceiv~ all military supplies sent to Vladivostok for the 
fightmg forces of Admiral Kolchak." 

On September I 6, I cabled the War Department: 

. " The one million gold was offered to me this morn­
mg and delivery of rifles requested. On account of anti­
American activities of Kolchak agents here I have re­
f~sed to take the gold, and have refused to give up the 
rifles. Mr. Morris here and approved." 

My refusal was the occasion for an indignant out­
burst by G~neral Knox. H~ stated in the local press 
that _these rifles had been paid for by Russia, and I was 
holdmg them up to injure Kolchak. I also saw in the 
American p~ess the statement that the State Depart­
ment had said I was interfering in things that did not 
~oncern me, although I had reported, fully, to Wash­
mgton my reasons for refusal to give up the arms. 

As t~ the refusal to give up these arms to Kolchak 
at Vl~divostok, there was an unjust and unfair repre­
sentat10n of the situation, if the newspapers reported 
correctly what they say was the action of the State 
Department. 

Someone gave out the information that I held up 
the Kolchak arms because "of the anti-American char­
acter of articles in a Vladivostok newspaper." Another 
pape~, ~ow befor~ me, says I held up the arms, " in 
retahat10n for anti-American articles in a Vladivostok 
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newspaper.'' In another paper the statemen~ is _made 
that I held up the arms "because of the pubhcat10n of 
violent anti-American articles in a Vladivostok news­
paper." One of these papers said the State Depart­
ment repudiated my action. One of the other p~pers 
maintains the State Department " secured the ~ehvery 
of the rifles." The other paper does not mention _the 
State Department, but was very ~ritica! of my act10n. 

Two questions come into my mmd, w1:h :eferenc~ to 
these articles. The first is, " Was this mformat1on 
given to the newspaper correspondents in Washington? 
It seems to me the information is of such a nature that 
it is not unfair to assume that it was. The second 
thought is, " If given to the newspaper .m~n, by w~at 
Department of the Government was this :nforma:10n 
given out?" No matter where.or by wh~m it was g1v:n 
out, the information was un3ust, unfair, and not m 
accordance with the facts. 

The War Department knew my re~I reasons for 
refusing to turn these rifles over at Vladivostok. 

The reason, printed in the press, for my refusal to 
turn them over, would certainly not be approved by 
the people of the United States and, if the people _had 
known the truth, I do not believe a single American 
would have disapproved. The real reason for the re­
fusal to deliver the arms, at Vladivostok, as reported 
to the War Department, was: 

"Reference to your 357, the one. million g~ld was 
offered to me this morning and delivery of rifles re­
quested. On account of anti-American actions of Kol­
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chak agents here, Semeonoff, Kalmikoff and Rozanoff, 
I have refused to take the gold and have refused to 
give up the rifles. Request approval of this action. 
Mr. Morris here and approved. I have told Slaughter 
to tell Omsk Government we will not give them any 
Military supplies, as long as Kolchak agents in the 
East, are threatening to use Military force against the 
United States." 

I see nothing about retaliation for newspaper articles 
in this cable. As a matter of fact, I had an abundance 
of information which I could not doubt, I did not 
doubt, and I do not doubt now, that these Russians, 
above mentioned, had planned to attack American de­
tachments and were, at the time these rifles came, try­
ing to get rifles to arm more Cossacks so as to have a 
large superiority of strength over any American force 
I could get together. 

The American troops had no field pieces, while the 
Cossacks did, and the Americans were separated, by 
nearly two thousand miles, into detachments guarding 
the railroad. By the destructions of small bridges, I 
could not have gotten the command together, and the 
seven thousand men I had would have been divided 
into not less than four detachments, and probably 
many more. 

I can not think any American would expect me to 
turn these rifles over to people who wanted to use 
them against American troops. In fact, I considered 
the situation so serious that I deliberately and wilfully 
would have refused to turn the rifles over to any Rus­
sian in Vladivostok, no matter from whom the order 
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came. If my action was ever repudiated by the State 
Department, I never heard of it. 

Now, why was this erroneous information, as to 
my action, given out to the public? And by whom 
was it given out? I can not think it was given out by 
the War Department, as that Department was not 
mentioned in the newspaper articles, and, besides, 
the War Department had my reasons direct from 
me. 

I believe it is not unfair to conclude that the informa­
tion must have been given out by the State Depart­
ment. As the State Department was relying entirely 
upon its own representatives in Siberia for information, 
and by inference, was ignoring the infori:nation fur­
nished by War Department representatives, I am 
forced to the conclusion that the information came 
from representatives of the State Department in 
Siberia. 

General Haken came to see me about the rifles, and 
I agreed to deliver them at Irkutsk, ~hich was outs.ide 
the Cossack territory. This was satisfactory to him, 
in fact, he was pleased because he felt more certain of 
getting them. This arrangement did not satisfy the 
Russian Military in the Far East, and they approached 
me with the proposition that the Americans would 
guard one train, and the Russians one, but this I refused 
to do. 

Japan and General Knox had succeeded in stirring 
up such antagonism to the American Military by the 
Kolchak supporters that, on September 17, I cabled 
Washington: 
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" The Co~sacks, under the leadership of Kalmikoff, 
ar~ thrc:ate:iing to commence action against Americans, 
t~is action is supported by Semeonoff and I believe in­
sti~ated by Japan. These Cossacks have armored cars 
which ~ur present ~rr:is will not pierce. I believe this 
respoz:sible for their insolence. Request one battalion 
three mch or m.ountain a~tillery be sent to report to 
me. I do not believe anything will happen if this is not 
sent, an~ I f7el absolutely sure nothing will happen 
to Americans if sent." 

It should be remembered that Semeonoff and Kalmi­
koff were. brigands and murderers. They had no char­
a~ter which would deter them from committing any 
km.cl of o~ense. Nothing but physical fear, or fear of 
losing .their Japanese support, would deter them from 
attacking Americans or anyone else. 

The first train of rifles and ammunition for delivery 
by the United States Government "to the fighting 
f~rces of Admi.ral Kolchak " went through to Irkutsk 
without any mishap. When the second train reached 
~hita, the headquarters of Semeonoff, on October 2

4
, 

it was stopped and Semeonoff demanded fifteen thou­
san.d ri~es. Lieute~ant Ryan, who had charge of the 
tram wit~ fifty s.oldiers .as guard, said he could not give 
up the rifles without instructions from Vladivostok. 
Semeonoff told the lieutenant that if he did not give up 
th~ rifles. in thirty hours they would be taken by force. 
With this statement Semeonoff brought two of his 
armored cars and a battalion of Cossacks by the side 
of the American train. 

The American Consul took up the question with 
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Semeonoff's Chief of Staff, but was told if they were 
not delivered they would be taken by force. The consul 
suggested that the question be submitted to General 
Graves at Vladivostok, as Semeonoff was claiming that 
Kolchak had authorized him to take the rifles, and the 
Russians provided a wire to reach me. Lieutenant 
Ryan's telegram reached me about midnight of the 
24th-25th of October. I telegraphed Lieutenant Ryan 
not to give him a rifle. 

I felt safe in giving these instructions because I knew 
General Oi, Japanese Commander in Siberia, was with 
Semeonoff in Chita at the time the demand was made 
on Lieutenant Ryan for the arms. As this was in the 
railroad sector assigned to Japan to guard, and as,the 
action of Semeonoff, without any protest by General 
Oi or the Japanese Commander at Chita, was a failure 
of Japan to carry out the railroad agreement, I felt 
sure Japan would not permit him to go to the extreme 
of attacking Lieutenant Ryan. 

Semeonoff held Lieutenant Ryan for forty hours and 
then told him he could go. 

As soon as Kolchak was driven out of Omsk and was 
coming east, I felt his end was in sight, so I refused to 
send any more rifles to him. Reports I received prior 
to his leaving Omsk showed that his power had gone, 
and most of the Kolchak troops had gone over to the 
Bolsheviks. 

The American Consul General, Mr. Harris, was 
tenacious and would not give up. He telegraphed that 
the departure of Kolchak from Omsk should not be 
construed as an indication of weakness, but rather as 
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an indication of strength. General Haken, naturally, 
wanted me to continue giving him the rifles as this 
would enable him to dispose of them as best suited to 
his own interest. 

With reference to the rifles I cabled to Washington 
on October 29: 

" I.n my j~dgement, if we by inaction or willingly 
permit American arms to reach Semeonoff, Kalmikoff 
a~d .Roz~no~, w_e will ~e helping to arm the worst 
cnmmals m Siberia; we will be neglectful of the interest 
of the people, thereby causing a resentment of the 
great majority of the people of Siberia against the 
United States; and we will be helping Japan to delay 
the settlement of conditions in Siberia, because the 
domination and exploitation of over ninety percent of 
the people by such criminals as above named cannot be 
permanent no matter what assistance is given them." 

Japanese Headquarters later informed me that the 
arms delivered by Lieutenant Ryan at Irkutsk had 
been returned to Semeonoff and the only other incident 
of interest relative to the rifles I turned over to Kol­
chak took place only a month or two before I left 
Vladivostok. 

A Russian came to me and stated that four cars, 
giving me the numbers of the cars, were loaded with 
American rifles still in the original boxes. He told me 
the cars were on a certain out-of-the-way siding and in 
charge of Japanese soldiers. I asked this Russian for 
details, but instead of replying, he grabbed his cap and 
left, saying as he went out: / 
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" I cannot tell you any more." 

I felt sure the Russian was telling me the truth al­
though I had no evidence upon which I could take 
action. In a few days after I received this information 
about the rifles, the Japanese Chief of Staff came to 
see me. I entertained him in a way he liked and, when 
he was feeling rather happy, told him about the cars 
loaded with American rifles, and told him as they had 
not been paid for by the Russians, I, therefore, de­
manded these rifles as American property. I watched 
the reaction, and decided the Russian report was true. 
He did not deny that they had the rifles, but said he 
would have to investigate. 

In a short time another Japanese general came to 
see me, and I told him I had heard nothing from the 
Chief of Staff and I wanted those rifles. By this time 
I felt doubly sure the Russian had told me the truth. 

In a week or ten days I wrote a letter to the Japa­
nese Commander, stating as a fact that the Japanese 
had the rifles, and reciting my former efforts to get 
possession of them, and stating that, failing to receive a 
reply within forty-eight hours, I would take such steps 
as I deemed necessary to get possession of the arms. 
I sent the demand to Japanese Headquarters by a 
messenger and directed him to get a receipt for the 
letter on the envelope. I waited twelve, twenty-four, 
and, after thirty-six hours, a message came from Japa­
nese Headquarters asking for an appointment with me 
just one half an hour before my. specified time expired. 

The next day, at the appointed time, the Japanese 
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Chief of Staff came to my office, with sabre and gloves, 
which indicated he considered his business as being very 
official. He had my letter in his hand and said: 

" We consider this letter very ' un-nice,' you imply 
Japan steals American property." 

I asked him to take a seat, and then reminded him 
of my efforts to get this property, and that I had re­
ceived no response of any kind. I suggested to him that 
if the tables were turned they would be making an 
international affair of it. I told him I was sorry they 
felt badly about it, but I was unable to apologize for 
the letter or to withdraw it. He then said we had been 
good friends so long they hated to have such a letter 
as I had written, a part of their records. I told him I 
took no pride in the letter, but I was going to have 
those rifles. He replied, I could have the rifles any time 
I sent for them. I told him troops would be at the train 
at 3 :30 in the afternoon and would take possession of 
the rifles. I then agreed to withdraw my letter. 

I sent for the rifles and found they had five thousand 
and nine hundred still in the original boxes. These were 
part of the rifles turned over by the United States " for 
the fighting forces of Admiral Kolchak." 

At times Consul General Harris let his enthusiasm 
for the Omsk Government lead him into what appeared 
to be efforts to keep certain information from reaching 
the United States. As an example: 

Mr. Morris and I were notified by an Englishman, 
when in Omsk, that Annankoff, head of the Semipala­
tinsk Cossacks, had killed three thousand Jews at 
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Ekaterinburg. Annankoff was known as a Cossack mur­
derer, and the appropriate insignia which were on his 
cap and blouse; consisted of skull and cross-bones. 
Dr. Rosenblatt, who had been sent by the Jews in New 
York to do what he could for the Jews in Siberia, had 
also heard of this pogrom. Dr. Rosenblatt reported 
same, through my office, as he had been reproved by 
the Consul General for a former report and Mr. Har­
ris evidently complained because I permitted Dr. 
Rosenblatt to report this pogrom. Mr. Harris tele­
graphed Dr. Rosenblatt as follows: 

" While in Ekaterinburg you reported the Cossacks 
as having injured or killed three thousand Jews. Such 
false and irresponsible reports as these coming from 
you cannot help but have a tendency to embitter the 
Omsk Government against the Jews, therefore, I would 
suggest that in your future telegrams you state only 
the actual facts." 

Consul General Harris was quibbling. The exact 
number killed was unimportant compared to the fact 
that there was a pogrom of the Jews in Ekaterinburg. 
This was well known and Mr. Harris knew it, or he 
did not want to know it. The military report I received 
of this pogrom was that thirty-five hundred had been 
killed by Annankoff-Cossacks. It further stated: 

" When questioned, the Staff at Omsk would make 
no direct admission, but did not deny it, and hinted 
that something had occurred at Ekaterinburg that 
would give the Jews something to think about." 
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I received a cable from Washington saying Consul 
General Harris " states that Rosenblatt's report of 
Jewish pogrom is absolutely false. Do not transmit any 
news dispatches which have not been checked for 
accuracy.'' 

Even Kolchak representatives would not go as far 
as the American Consul General and deny the truth 
of the report that there was a pogrom of the Jews. 
How did Consul General Harris get his information? 
He did not go to Ekaterinburg. He let his enthusiasm 
for the Kolchak Government run away with his discre­
tion. With more justification than the Consul General 
had, Dr. Rosenblatt could have characterized Mr. 
Harris' statement " as false." If Consul General Har­
ris meant the number reported killed by Dr. Rosen­
blatt was too large or too small, he could probably 
justify his statement, as no one was in a position to 
give the exact number killed. If Mr. Harris meant 
to say there were no Jews killed, he was woefully 
misinformed. 

Dr. Rosenblatt was not the only American maligned 
by Kolchak supporters because they would not close 
their eyes to facts. The Y. M. C. A. in Siberia was con­
ducted in a manner worthy of the best traditions of 
that organization. Mr. G. W. Phelps, head of the 
Y. M. C. A.,was a man of character, a man of prin­
ciples, a man with high ideals of duty, and a man who 
could not be swerved from his conception of duty by 
the desire to receive the plaudits of self-appointed 
rulers. On October 20, 1919, the Consul General tele­
graphed Mr. Phelps as follows: 
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" With regard to your difficulties with the Vladivos­
tok custom authorities, I am informed by the Minister 
of Finance that he is in possession of definite informa­
tion that hides have been purchased by the Y. M. C. A. 
with a view to exporting same, and that they are being 
kept in storage at Vladivostok. As the exportatiqn of 
heavy hides is forbidden, they, therefore, regard the 
Y. M. C. A. as they would any other exporters and 
importers." 

This charge had no foundation in fact, and it was an 
excuse to annoy the Y. M. C. A. As a matter of fact, 
the Kolchak Government tried to force the American 
Y. M. C. A. to become a supply agent for the Kolchak 
Military, as was the American Red Cross, and when 
this could not be done, they resorted to annoyances in 
every way they could. The only way the Y. M. C. A., 
or any other American agency, could get along ami­
cably with Kolchak adherents was, not only to work 
for them, but to submit to dictation as to how they 
should support them. 

It should be remembered that the Kolchak entourage 
h~d been a part of the ruling class in Russia. History 
will show that such a class will always, in any country, 
fight to the last ditch to retain their privileges, and this 
particular class was very near the last ditch in Siberia. 
The only objective the typical Czarist Russian officer­
class had, was the restoration of conditions as they 
were before the revolution. 

On October 2 I, I cabled to Washington: 

"A British officer just returned from over three 
months service with Siberian Army describes military 
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situation as follows: ' Stories of fighting and victories 
much exaggerated; there was nothing to prev~nt t~e 
Bolsheviki from taking Omsk a short time ago if their 
plan of campaign had so allowed; a rabble dressed in 
British uniforms is sent to the front and at the first 
opportunity they desert to the Bolsheviki.' " 

If General Knox had known of this statement by 
this British officer, he would have taken as drastic 
action as the British Government took with Mr. 
O'Reilly, who was sent to Siberia to replace Sir Charles 
Eliot, as British High Commissioner, when Sir Charles 
went to Japan as Ambassador. 

About a month after Mr. O'Reilly arrived in Vladi­
vostok, I was surprised when he came to my office and 
said to me: 

" You are the only foreign representative in Siberia 
carrying out the announced purpose of their govern­
ment. I have investigated the conditions here the best 
that I could, and I am convinced the policy of 'non­
interference ' is the only policy that can give any hope 
of success. From today, the British are with you and 
will follow the same policy you are following." 

I was, of course, much gratified at Mr. O'Reilly's 
statement, and thanked him profusely as I had heard 
very few kind words since the signing of the Armistice, 
when I considered the time for the use of American 
troops in hostile action had passed. 

Imagine my surprise, when, after about four days, 
Mr. O'Reilly again came to my office and showed me 
a cablegram from London which read: 
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" You get out of Siberia on the first ship leaving 
Vladivostok, do not wait for a British ship." · 

As a United States transport was leaving soon for 
San Francisco, I gave my only British friend, with any 
authority, transportation to San Francisco on an Army 
transport. 

The nearer the Kolchak Government approached 
complete collapse, the more bitter his adherents, Rus­
sian and Allied, seemed to become against the Ameri­
can Military, whom they thought to be in a position to 
help Kolchak and would not. As a matter of fact, we 
were supporting Kolchak by helping to keep the rail­
road open for his exclusive use. 

Almost daily reports were printed about American 
arms captured in the possession of Bolsheviks. Rozan­
off's Headquarters issued a summary of information 
stating that: 

" Cossacks openly declare that Americans are help­
ing the Bolsheviks; that according to a Red prisoner 
his detachment had a whole box of bombs supplied to 
them by Americans; also they have a box of Colt re­
volvers supplied to them by Americans." 

These false statements were made so that papers in 
the Far East could copy them, and such statements 
might have some desired result if cabled to London 
and Tokio. It was impossible to combat these false 
statements. People in the United States can have no 
conception of the conditions in Eastern Siberia where 
there was no law, except the law of the jungle, which 
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the Japanese and Kolchak supporters were using, and 
they knew Americans could not use. 

A thing that hurt me as much as anything tha~ to~k 
place in Siberia occurred at the railroad sta~10~ m 
Vladivostok. An American soldier had been dnnkmg, 
and was waiting for a train. A Russian military officer 
observed him and went to this soldier and called him 
" a blank Bolshevik." The American soldier hit at the 
Russian with his fist, but did not strike him. The Rus­
sian pulled a pistol and killed the soldier and, to make 
the scene more effective, some Japanese officers, who 
were at the station and saw the murder, congratulated 
the Russian by shaking hands with him over the Ameri­
can's body. The Russian went at once to the fake civil 
court, gave himself up, was tried, and in one hour 
acquitted. This Russian was a part of Kolchak's fight­
ing forces to whom the United States was turning over 
arms and ammunition. 

At another time a report was started that the leader 
of the Bolsheviks in the Far East was in American 
Headquarters. The Japanese Chief of Staff came to see 
me and said he had heard it. I told him I was deter­
mined to run that lie to its source and if anyone refused 
to tell me where he got his information I was going 
to question his integrity. I said to him: 

" You are the first. Who told you? " 
He told me a Czech officer. I sent an aide to follow 

this story and finally reached Russian Headquarters. 
These false statements have been continued by the 

Russian Absolutists since the American troops left Si­
beria. In a Russian book, published in 1923 in Germany 
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by General Sakharov one of the Kolchak generals; 
calkd "Belaia Sibir," meaning "White Siberia," it 
was stated that General Ivanoff-Rinoff arrested a num­
ber of dangerous persons who were in contact with the 
Bolsheviks, Medveidev, and Ogarev . . . and carried 
on propaganda among the population calling on them 
to revolt. General Sakharov said General Graves noti­
fied Ivanoff-Rinoff that he would not permit this arrest, 
and insisted on their liberation. 

There was not a scintilla of fact in this statement: 
Mr. Medveidev and Mr. Ogarev were never arrested 
while I was in Siberia. 

Many times Russians and General Knox had said to 
me, " you are helping the Bolsheviks " or, " people 
are accusing the Americans of helping the Bolsheviks." 
My invariable reply was that if any American military 
representative had taken sides they had violated the 
orders of the United States Government, and if they 
could cite any act of an American Military that 
did not accord with these orders, I would apologize to 
the Russians and disavow the act. Their invariable 
reply was, " by not supporting Kolchak you are en­
couraging the Bolsheviks to think the United States 
is supporting them." There were some truths in this 
claim. 

When the Americans first reached Siberia, naturally 
most of us expected to find the experiences of the War 
and the Revolution would have changed the ideas of 
Government of the former official class, but as soon 
as this official class began to commit the terrible atroci­
ties that were committed in Siberia, or supinely per-
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mitted or condoned these atrocities, then it was clear 
they had learned nothing. 

I tried to keep in touch, as best I could, with what 
the United States Military was doing. I watched for 
tangible, as well as intangible evidence, so as to form 
an opinion of the different officers at the various sta­
tions. There was only one commander in the many 
different stations that appeared to me as having a per­
sonal bias but otherwise this was an excellent officer 
who did good work. 

By the middle of October, 1919, the influence of 
Kolchak in the Far East was almost negligible. The 
Russian "Monarchist" was naturally trying to keep 
up the idea that Kolchak was still of some importance 
because foreign support was built around him. The 
scene, so far as Americans were concerned, had shifted 
to the Cossacks and Japanese. 

There was evidently some maneuvering with the ob­
ject of declaring Semeonoff dictator in the Far East 
when Kolchak fell. So far as Japan was concerned, such 
a step would have been, in effect, throwing off their 
mask of working for Russia, and bringing into bold 
relief their real intent from the first. Even General 
Knox could not have gone with them on such a bold 
scheme. 

On October l 6, I cabled the War Department that: 

" There was now no danger of Cossack aggression 
except against very small organizations. The Czechs 
are now all along the railroad in the East and the J apa­
nese know it will be difficult to control the conflagra­
tion if once started." 
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There was beginning to appear evidence of a general 
disintegration bf all the Kolchak regime. I received 
a letter from Colonel Emerson, dated October 22, 

from Harbin, in which he said Soukine had told him: 

" The Siberian Governrnent was not able to enforce 
the Inter-Allied Agreement because of antagonism be­
tween railroad officials and military officers, who con­
sidered Allied efforts to reorganize the railroad was 
for the purpose of gaining control for Allied Gov­
ernments." 

The Kolchak Government had never carried out the 
intent behind the Inter-Allied Agreement. It was always 
a military road controlled and operated by Russian 
military officials. The guarding of such a one-sided rail­
road caused a. great deal of resentment against the 
United States by the democratic class, and resulted in 
loss of prestige for the United States. 

My Intelligence Officer reported on November l 6, 
as follows: 

" Local Russians evidence little real loyalty to Kol­
chak government, some now speaking of it as the 
' Knox Government.' " 
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THE GAIDA REVOLUTION 

GENERAL GAIDA, after breaking with the Kol­
chak leaders, came east, arriving in Vladivostok 

August 8, 1919. He not only announced publicly that 
the Kolchak Government could not stand, but took 
other provocative measures, and why some steps were 
not taken by Kolchak adherents in the Far East to 
check Gaida's moves I am unable to say. He had sub­
mitted a long report to Kolchak, and had permitted 
the contents of his report to become public. After call­
ing attention to the defects, he said in part: 

"The acuteness of the situation demands special 
precautions. It is imperative to trace a clear and demo­
cratic course of state policy, follow it with unswerving 
strictness, in the assurance that you can then count 
upon the majority of the people and on the Army. The 
Government must clear away doubts as to its democ­
racy and its desire to establish civil law and order. The 
Government must cut away from its own agents who 
do not hesitate to profit by their own position. The 
Government must declare that its final aim is to call a 
Constituent Assembly, on the basis of universal, equal, 
direct, and secret suffrage. A meeting of the representa­
tives of the Government and district Zemstvos and 
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municipal Dumas, as well as representatives of social 
organizations. It is necessary to take steps to prevent 
such defects as shooting without trial in all Russian 
territory. It is necessary, also to work out a system of 
freedom of assembly as in European countries. 

"Measures should be taken to restore the authority 
of Zemstvos and municipal Dumas, and start investi­
gation as to administrative punishments inflicted upon 
members. · 

" Steps must be taken to arouse the sympathy of the 
peasant masses, and the development of agriculture." 

These might have been excellent suggestions for 
helping the situation in Siberia, but the unfortunate 
fact was that General Gaida did not follow these prin­
ciples of government when he had command of the 
Kolchak forces; he then announced his belief in the 
use of the whip and bayonet on recalcitrant Russians, 
and his statements were belated and not entirely free 
from revenge. 

The Russian military situation was becoming worse 
very fast. The Military Intelligence officer, Colonel 
Eichelberger, reported as early as August 22, that: 

" Reliable information from many sources indicate 
that there is practically no front maintained by the 
Siberian Army." 

This report of Colonel Eichelberger was made in 
Vladivostok while I was in Omsk, and just one week 
after I had been looking along the Ishim River for 
the one hundred thousand Kolchak troops which I had 
been led to believe I would find if I went along that 
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river. The farther one was from Omsk, Kolchak's 
Headquarters, the more freely information was given 
as to t~e disintegration of the Kolchak forces. To get 
the U.mte~ States to recognize Kolchak and give him 
financial aid was the last hope of the Russian Mon­
archists and their Allied supporters. 

At this time Gaida's probable coup d' hat was a live 
subject of discussion in the east, and the general opinion 
was ~eld, that the c.zechs would support Gaida. 

~a1da s preparat10n for his coup d' hat was being 
built around the Social Revolutionists. The Czechs 
including Gaida, at this time were neither Monarchist~ 
nor Bolsheviks. They believed in a parliamentary gov­
e:nment and could see no hope of getting it from 
either of the extreme classes in Russia. 

The Czechs announced their feeling and policy on 
November I 6, I 9 I 9, as follows: 

" The intolerable position in which our Army is 
placed, forces us to address ourselves to the Allied 
powers to ask them for counsel as to how the Czech 
Army can. be assured of its own security and of a free 
return to its own Country, which was decided with the 
assent of all the Allied Powers. 

"The ~rmy was ready to protect the railway in the 
sector which was assigned to it and it has fulfilled its 
task cons~ientiously. But now the presence of our Army 
on the ra1lw~y. t? protect it has become impossible be­
c~us~ the .act1v1t1es of the Army are contrary to its as­
p1rat10ns 111 the cause of humanity and justice. 

" In protecting the railway and maintaining order in 
the country, our Army is forced to act contrary to its 
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convictions when it supports and maintains an arbi­
trary, absolute power which at present rules. 

" The burning of villages, the murder of peaceable 
Russian inhabitants by the hundreds, and the shooting 
without reason, of democratic men solely because they 
are suspected of holding political views are daily facts; 
and the responsibility for them, before the Courts of 
Nations of the entire world, will fall upon us because 
being an armed force, we have not prevented these in­
justices. This passiveness is the direct result of our 
neutrality and non-intervention in Russian internal 
affairs, and, thanks to our being loyal to this idea, we 
h~ve become, in spite of ourselves, accomplices to a 
crime. 

"In communicating this fact to the representatives 
of the Allied Powers to whom the Czech Na ti on has 
been and will be a faithful Ally, we deem it necessary 
to take every measure to inform the nations ·of the 
whole world in what a moral and tragic position the 
Czech Army is placed and what are the causes of it. 

"As to ourselves, we see no other way out of this 
situation than to evacuate immediately the sector which 
was given us to guard, or else to obtain the right to 
prevent the injustices and crimes cited above. 

· " V. Girsa." 

This was as accurate a portrayal of the real condi­
tions as could be made by words. I had often stressed, 
in my reports, the fact that the United States could 
not escape responsibility for the conditions, because 
the atrocities committed against the people would not 
have been possibie if Allied troops had not been in 
Siberia. Everyone who had know edge of the facts, 
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and had no prejudices one way or the other, knew that 
Girsa reported the true conditions. 

Gaida was not working with the Czechs during the 
preparation for his revolution. I could see no evidence 
of great enthusiasm for him exhibited by members of 
the Zemstvo, nor did he show evidence of making any 
great attempt to secure the support of the Zemstvo. 

Early in September, when Semeonoff was in Vladi­
vostok, he tried to make friends with Gaida, claim­
ing that he, too, was a democrat, but Gaida did not 
take kindly to the offer of Semeonoff's support. 

After General Rozanoff was overthrown, J anu­
ary 3 I, I 9 20, among his papers was found a report 
of the Gaida revolution. In this report Rozanoff 
stated: 

" During the first month of Gaida's residence in 
Vladivostok, the result of his work showed complete 
unification with the local right wing of the Social Revo­
lutionists and the Zemstvos, and was headed by the 
former President of the Siberian Provisional Duma, 
Mr Y akusheff. The I 8th, of September, was set for 
the coup d'etat." 

General Rozanoff was the responsible Kolchak rep­
resentative in Eastern Siberia and, according to his 
own statement, he knew the plans of Gaida being 
formulated in a train located not more than three 
hundred yards from his Headquarters, and still he 
made no move to check or to prevent these plans. 
How can such a failure to act be accounted for? It was 
an open secret in Vladivostok that Gaida was going 
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to try to drive Rozanoff from power. Some reports 
I received said that Rozanoff was afraid to act, and 
hoped something would happen to prevent Gaida from 
taking his apparent intended step. Other reports were 
to the effect that an effort was being made to force 
some combination, to take effect when Kolchak was 
overthrown. 

Rozanoff further states in his report: " Gaida 's con­
voy, numbering fifty men, had increased to three hun­
dred. The fall of Omsk, on the night of the l 5th, of 
November, seems to inspire hope." 

Then Rozanoff speaks of the feverish and hurried 
preparations, for the attack which was to begin on 
the night of November 17, and which were in sight 
of his Headquarters and well known to him. At this 
time he began preparing to resist. 

Gaida apparently let Rozanoff get ready and then 
began his attack, at 12 o'clock the night of Novem­
ber 16-17. This attack commenced at Okeanskaya, 
twenty-two miles from Vladivostok. Rozanoff says 
that at 8 o'clock in the morning of the 17th, Gaida 
was issuing arms to all who came to his train, and 
still Rozanoff remained passive. 

In the afternoon of the l 7th, the Allied Command­
ers held a meeting with a view to formulating some 
plans to prevent murder and pillage, as well as damage 
to the Allies who were in town. They concluded it was 
a political fight, and decided to remain neutral. The 
city was divided into sections and the Allies were to 
give protection in the section allotted to them by the 
Allied Commanders. General Rozanoff states that 
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after the Allied Commanders decided to remain neu­
~1ral, the Japanese sent him a message wishing him 

a speedy and successful elimination of the rebellion 
before the morning of November the 18th." I do not 
know whether this report has any truth in it or not. 
~here were many rumours that the Japanese posted 

their .t:oops so that no one was permitted to go to 
th.e a~s1stance of Gaida, and that they would not per­
mit his troops ~o leave the railroad station where they 
~ere trapped like rats. I never obtained any informa­
tion, worthy of credence, to justify me in charging that 
Japanese troops were not neutral. 

Rozanoff could not resist the charge that the Ameri­
cans were not neutral and he says: 

" Twice during the night the Americans opened 
machine-gun fire. on the government troops." 

That part of his statement I know was untrue. 
By I or 2 A.M., on the morning of the 18th, it was 

known that Rozanoff was successful and that Gaida 
had. ~een. defeate~, although he and his supporters 
remamed m the railroad station which Rozanoff bom­
barded. with. his small destroyers and field artillery. 

Durmg this fight I witnessed a remarkable exhibition 
of courage by some Russian soldiers. The Russians 
had placed a machine-gun at an intersection of two 
streets without any protection whatever. The enemy 
evidently had the range and very soon after a man 
wo.uld take his place to operate the gun, he was killed. 
Without. any effort to remove the machine-gun or to 
protect it, man after man was killed at that one 
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place. I could see this from my bedroom window 
and, as far as I could see, the men, without any ex­
citement, willingly went to what was almost certain 
death. 

About 4 or 5 o'clock in the morning, General Cecek, 
a Czech, came to my Headquarters and told me the 
Rozanoff forces had Gaida and his men cornered in 
the railroad station, and asked me to join him in de­
manding that .Gaida be turned over to the Czechs. 
I felt sorry for Gaida, but told Cecek that I could take 
no part in the fight except to protect life and property, 
in accordance with the agreement of the Allied Com­
manders at the conference the afternoon before. 

In the early morning Gaida and his troops at the 
station surrendered, Gaida being slightly wounded. 
The presence of the Czechs undoubtedly had a re­
straining influence on Rozanoff in the disposition of 
Gaida, as they would not have permitted Gaida and 
the few Czechs with him, to be brutally murdered 
as were the Russians, or many of them that fell into 
Rozanoff's hands. There were eighteen or twenty young 
Russians captured at the station who had belonged 
to some organization in Vladivostok. The Rozanoff 
troops took these particular young men out in front 
of the station and offered them an opportunity to join 
the Rozanoff forces. All of them replied they would 
die a thousand deaths before they would join such a 
band of robbers. They were then marched into the 
station and ordered to descend the circular stone stairs 
leading to the basement where, as they were going 
down the steps, they were all shot and killed. This was 
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in the presence of several people, among whom were 
some Americans. 

I cabled to Washington on November 2 I : 

"I have evidence of American Railway Service 
Corps which establishes the fact that Rozanoff's troops 
refused to handle anti-Rozanoff wounded, but left 
them for several hours in the cold snow and rain, and 
that they went into a warehouse where there were 
wounded and killed the wounded. There are other re­
ports of killings but I cannot verify the accuracy of 
these latter reports. I have been assured by Rozanoff's 
representative that women and children will not be 
molested. 

" This movement was inaugurated by the Social 
Revolutionists under the title of Siberian National Di­
rectorate with the ultimate object of the establishment 
of a Constituent Assembly; with Mr. Yahusheff as 
President, General Gaida as Commander of Troops, 
and Mr. Morovsky and Colonel Krakovetsky, Mem­
bers of the Directorate. None of these men were 
classed as Bolsheviks and it cannot be called a Bolshe­
vik movement." 

During the fight, Colonel Krakovetsky and four 
other Gaida supporters escaped to American Head­
quarters, rushed by the sentinel at the door, and asked 
for protection. This placed me in a very embarrassing 
position, as we all knew that to put them out of Head­
quarters would have been equivalent to a sentence of 
death. I felt confident my Headquarters could not be 
considered as American territory and, therefore, I was 
not justified in protecting them. 
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Admiral Rodgers, who was in command of the 
Asiatic Fleet, was in Vladivostok at the time, and said 
he would consider them as being entitled to asylum and 
suggested that I cable to Washington. I gladly adopted 
the Admiral's suggestion and turned the men over to 
Colonel F. W. Bugbee, 3 rst Infantry, for safekeeping, 
until I could receive a reply from Washington. I sent 
my cablegram on the r 8th, and it was answered on 
the r9th, as follows: 

" Secretaries of State and War agree, not possible 
constitute your headquarters American territory." 

I sent a second cable to Washington, before I re­
ceived the reply to the first, saying: 

" Rozanoff is having prisoners shot. The prisoners 
in my headquarters or some of them, will be shot if 
turned over to Rozanoff. If it can legally be done it is 
very desirable for American prestige to constitute· my 
headquarters as American territory." 

I felt if I turned these prisoners over to Rozanoff, 
I would be almost committing murder as Kolchak Rus­
sians were not following the practice of civilized na­
tions and I knew these men would not be accorded the 
rights of prisoners, according to. the laws of War. I 
was seizing any opportunity for delay and convinced 
myself I was justified in waiting for a reply to my 
second cable, which I knew would not come. 

Colonel Bugbee, to whom I had turned these prison­
ers over for safekeeping, was a very earnest, conscien­
tious officer, with high ideals, and a world of com­
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mon sense. I was in my office one evening worrying 
about the prisoners, when he entered, saluted, and 
said: 

"General, the prisoners have escaped." 

I could not say to him that I was glad, as a matter 
of fact, I could not say anything, but I know of nothing 
in my whole life that removed such a load from my 
conscience as did that report of Colonel Bugbee, and 
I decided I would not report this to Washington, as 
nothing could be done about it. I was very much 
amused to receive on December ro, twenty days after 
I had been told I could not legally hold these prisoners, 
the following cable from Washington : 

" State Department advises that you cause refugees 
to leave your headquarters as soon as consistent with 
general principles of humanity and before question of 
surrender arises." 

This looked like preparation for an alibi in case 
embarrassing questions should be propounded later. 
If it had not been for Colonel Bugbee's good sense, 
and if I had turned these prisoners over to Rozanoff, 
and I really don't know what I would have done, they 
would have been dead at least twenty days before 
I got this cable. 

Several years later after I was retired, Colonel 
Bugbee told me the story of the escape of these men. 
He had an officer whom he felt he could trust " not 
to talk,'' so about dusk he instructed him to take these 
prisoners from where they were confined to a safer 
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place, and if they escaped it would be too bad. I never 
told Washington what became of the prisoners. 

I later found out how fortunate I was in declining 
to join General Cecek in demanding that the Russians 
turn Gaida over to the Czechs. The Kolchak sup­
porters had to charge everyone who was not helping 
Kolchak as being a party to Gaida's futile efforts to 
overthrow Rozanoff. I first was charged with organiz­
ing the movement and in a few days I was charged 
with financing the movement. How little they knew 
about the accounting system of the United States Gov­
ernment I As an indication of the extent such a foolish 
report will go, on December 20, 1920, my interpreter 
in Siberia wrote me in part as follows : 

" During my service with the Na val Intelligence De­
partment, under Captain Larimer, Lieutenant Marti­
nek confronted me with the question ' if it was true that 
you had promised the Vladivostok government assist­
ance and recognition?' I told Martinek that this was a 
pure fabrication and I would swear, on oath, that you 
had never promised any Russian either singly or col­
lectively, either support or recognition." 

The. downfall of Gaida had no appreciable effect 
on the political situation in Siberia. Kolchak was on 
his way east, and everyone except the American Con­
sul General, seemed to know that he was almost a 
negligible factor. On November 25, I cabled to Wash­
ington: 

" Three Japanese transports arrived with troops 
and more expected. Supply of food stuffs very low and 
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no relief in sight. Following from British sources: 
' Bolshevik radio intercepted reported capture ten 
generals, one hundred and ten guns and thirty thou­
sand prisoners at Omsk. Council of Ministers poorly 
received Irkutsk, Zemstvo and city council refused to 
meet them." 

On November 22, Soukine, Minister of Foreign 
Affairs, stated that Kolchak was issuing a manifesto 
expressing contrition for faults of the past and giving 
assurance of good conduct in the future. Kolchak was, 
at this late date, promising to abolish the reign of 
military terror. This indicates that Kolchak not only 
knew of the terrible atrocities being committed by his 
Military but, by promising to stop these atrocities at 
this late date, he implies he could have stopped them 
at any time while in power, although no evidence came 
to me in Siberia that Kolchak turned his hand to re­
lieve these terrible conditions in the Far East. 

Ivanoff-Rinoff's troops were beating women as well 
as men and torturing and killing men, because their 
sons were not at home and yet Kolchak took Ivanoff­
Rinoff to Omsk and promoted him to Lieutenant­
General, and personally gave him a gold sword. This 
did not look like disapproval of Ivanoff-Rinoff's acts. 
The last act of Kolchak was to designate Semeonoff 
as his successor and, as stated, in the whole of Siberia, 
there was only one worse criminal than Semeonoff and 
that was Kalmikoff. This last act did not look as though 
Kolchak had much contrition because of the "treat­
ment inflicted upon his fell ow-Russians " during his 
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On the 25th of March, 1919, Mr. Harris, the 
American Consul General, who Kolchak said had 
shown him the greatest feeling of friendship and ex­
traordinary sympathy, cabled to the United States, 
as coming from the Omsk Government: 

" The Military, the Political and particularly the 
international situation in the Far East are such that 
the Russian Government, although having administra­
tion in that region is practically unable to exercise 
power and authority over this part of the country." 

Kolchak not only asked that this be kept confiden­
tial, but " extremely confidential as no similar state­
ment has been given to other Allies." Why couldn't 
Kolchak tell this to his mentor, General Knox? If 
they were all friends, working together for a com­
mon purpose, why should only one friend be told 
this secret? At this very time, I vanoff-Rinoff was in 
command in the Far East, and in the hey-day of his 
atrocities. 

This statement of Kolchak was undoubtedly not en­
tirely disconnected from the suggestion of M.r. U ghet, 
Fnancial Agent of the former Russian Government 
in Washington, that the Supreme Ruler make a decla­
ration of liberal policies in order to win the United 
States public opinion. Kolchak was in an embarrassi~g 
position; he could not appear liberal enough to wm 
public opinion in the United States without running 
great risk of alienating his Russian and Allied sup­
port. Hence the extreme secrecy. 

In a situation such as existed in Siberia, one is very 
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frequently confronted with statements designed to de­
ceive, and the facts are unimportant when such efforts 
are undertaken. Falsehoods can often be detected by 
the people on the ground, but could not be by those 
seven or eight thousand miles away; especially when 
such statements have attached to them a tag calling 
for " extreme secrecy." 

There is no doubt in my mind that the so-called 
Russian Embassy in Washington suggested to Kol­
chak that some statement be given to Bakmatieff so 
that he could satisfy the State Department concerning 
the atrocities being committed in Siberia, but I per­
sonally doubt if Kolchak lost one moment's sleep over 
the conditions in the Far East, and his subsequent treat­
ment of Semeonoff and I vanoff-Rinoff clearly shows his 
conscience was not disturbed by their acts. One of the 
most difficult tasks confronting me was to determine 
when words and acts were sincere, or were designed to 
deceive. 

As illustrating the Far Eastern psychology, while in 
Siberia I saw an article in the Kokumin, a Japanese 
newspaper, with the heading, " Observations of Mar­
quis Okuma on International Relations." The observa­
tion was as follows : 

" International relations are quite unlike relations 
subsisting between individuals. Morality and sincerity 
do not govern a country's diplomacy, which is guided 
by selfishness, pure and simple. It is considered the 
secret of diplomacy to forstall rivals by every crafty 
means available." 
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This statement can at least be approved for its 
frankness and apparent sincerity if not for its moral 
philosophy. . . 

Early in November, there was a chan~e m. the att~­
tude of some of the Allied representatives m Vladi­
vostok. Some appeared to be looking for a new 
orientation when Kolchak fell, and his fall was then 
imminent. On November 7, Colonel Eichelberger, my 
Intelligence officer, stated in a report that " probably 
97 % of the people of Siberia to-day are anti-Kolchak." 

· On November 13, I was informed by General Se­
menoff-Merlin, who was Rozanoff's principal assist­
ant that " the Cossacks desired to let the past die 
in ~o far as Americans were concerned and establish 
friendly relations with the Americ.ans." He said ~e­
meonoff was sending a man to me if I would see him 
with the idea of conferring wit~~ me in the hope that 
I could be induced to consider them with reference to 
their future action, rather than with reference to their 
past. I told him I would see Semeonoff's representative, 
but they might just as well know that I would have 
nothing to do with murderers. 

Semeonoff's representative came .and stated that ~he 
men around Semeonoff had committed acts of which 
Semeonoff did not approve and, in fact, wa~ not aware 
until recently that his officers had been gmlt_Y of such 
terrible murders. He, in the next breath, said Semeo­
noff had recently killed some of his o!ficers beca~se of 
their crimes, that Semeonoff would like my advice as 
to his course of procedure in the future, and that he 
would follow my advice. I replied as follows: · 

[ 290] 

THE GAIDA REVOLUTION 

" My only advice to Semeonoff was to follow the 
well known moral laws as to right and wrong. Semeo­
noff and all his people knew that acts had been com­
mitted by Semeonoff and his troops of which the United 
States would not approve, and while we did not care to 
say what Russians should do, we did claim the right to 
have no dealings with Russians who committed acts op­
posed to all moral laws." 

In addition to this man, General Romanofsky and 
other reactionaries came to tell me that Semeonoff was 
a much bigger man than they thought and, after a 
personal investigation, they found he was not such a 
bad character. My reaction to these reports was that 
the reactionaries, the Cossacks, and the Japanese had 
decided to join and declare Semeonoff Dictator of the 
portion of Siberia east of Lake Baikal, as I knew that 
such action, to have any chance of success, would re­
quire the support of Japan. 

In a day or two I went to see General Oi, the J apa­
nese Commander, and had a long and very pleasant 
talk with him about conditions. I knew that General Oi 
typified Marquis Okuma's philosophy of " forestalling 
rivals by any crafty means available," yet I was im­
pressed by the sincerity of what he told me. He said: 

"I know the people of Japan are not in favor of the 
Japanese supporting any monarchistic government in 
Siberia. My policy in future will be to guard the rail­
way, and get economic help to all the people. I feel 
sure economic help could not be gotten to the people 
by using Russian officials." 
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Mr. Matsudaira, Japanese representative on the 
Inter-Allied Railway Committee and later Ambassa­
dor to the United States, had spoken to Mr. Smith, 
American representative on the Committee along the 
same lines General Oi had talked to me. Mr. Matsu­
daira had impressed me as not being favourable to all 
the acts of the Japanese Military in Siberia. He had 
approached me previously and expressed his regret at 
some act of the Military and said he hoped Americans 
would not think such acts were approved by the J apa­
nese people, but he said if foreigners made a public 
criticism of the Japanese Military, the people would 
resent it, and it would work out to the benefit of the 
Military. 

There was no question but that the Military was the 
controlling factor in Siberia so far as the Japanese 
were concerned. 

On the 13th of November, Mr. Zumoto, a Member 
of Parliament, and owner of the Herald of Asia, an 
influential Japanese magazine, came to see me. He 
brought me two articles he had written, which had 
been published in the Shimbun a Tokyo newspaper -
these articles .vere very liberal and openly opposed 
the policy of the Japanese in Siberia. 

In my report to Ambassador Morris at Tokyo, of 
the interview I said: 

" He said he had not talked with General Oi about 
the matter but some of the Army were beginning to 
change their views and state that they believed the 
Japanese had made a mistake in supporting the reac-
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tionary and ruthless leaders of the East and it was 
necessary to change their plans and now support rep­
resentative bodies as typified by the Zemstvos and Co­
operatives. He stated many Japanese opposed this pro­
posed plan. be~aus~ it would give America a great 
advantage m .Srbena, as ~e had consistently followed 
that course smce we arrived here. Mr. Zumoto said 
this was true but he had no reason to believe that 
Americans would be unfair and that he felt it was right 
and, therefore, Japan must follow that course." 

He expressed the hope that Japan and the United 
States could work together in Siberia. Mr. Zumoto 
also visited Mr. Smith, and talked to him along the 
same lines as to me, and further stated that since 
speaking to me he had seetl General Oi, who felt as 
he did. 

Mr. Smith and I got together and discussed these 
statements made by the three most influential Japa­
nese in Siberia, to see if we could come to any con­
clusion as to their significance, but there were so many 
contingencies to be considered that we could come to 
no conclusion as to what was contemplated. It soon 
developed, in so far as the Military was concerned, 
no change in their policy and practice was contem­
plated, and the statements meant absolutely nothing. 

The United States seemed to be the last country 
to lose hope in Admiral Kolchak, as the Secretary of 
State of the United States on December 7, 1919, ex­
pressed the desire that Admiral Kolchak should con­
tinue as the head of any Government in Siberia. The 
Secretary of State also said this would maintain the 
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validity and force of democratic assurances which had 
been given by Admiral Kolchak. 

Democratic assurances, as has been previously noted, 
were freely given; but democratic actions by Kolchak 
were never observed by me, or reported to me by 
military observers. Evidently Japan had been talking 
to the State Department about her democratic ideas 
in the Far East along the same lines the Japanese rep­
resentatives had approached me, as the Secretary of 
State was happy to respond to Japan's ideas that local 
self-government should rest " upon the consent of the 
bulk of the people." Another application of Marquis 
Okuma's philosophy. 

This statement, coupled with the support of Kolchak 
by the State Department, implies that the State De­
partment considered that Kokhak's power rested upon 
the consent of the bulk of the people. My observation, 
taken in connection with reports I received, led me to 
the conclusion that at no time of Kolchak's power did 
he have more than 7 percent of the Russian people 
back of him. From the time Kolchak assumed power, 
November l 8, l 9 l 8, until his mobilization order 
was issued, and I vanoff-Rinoff began to put this into 
execution, the peasants were non-committal as to 
Kolchak. 

After I vanoff-Rinoff began his unconscionable acts 
upon the people in his efforts to mobilize them for 
military service, at no period from that date could 
Kolchak have lasted one month without the support he 
received from foreign troops in Siberia. This is not 
a judgement arrived at after the fact, and my reports 
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when in Siberia repeatedly called attention to this situa­
tion. 

The Secretary of State of the United States, on 
December 7, 1919, cabled the American Ambassador 
in Tokyo, in part: 

" This Government does not propose to depart in 
any way from its principles of non-interference in Rus­
sian internal affairs." 

I was not able when in Siberia, nor have I been 
able since, to understand the system of reasoning used 
by the State Department in concluding that the Gov­
ernment of the United States could send arms and 
ammunition to Kolchak; could suggest to the War 
Department that my attention be called to the support 
given by the United States to Kolchak; could, on two 
occasions through a representative of the State De­
partment, call attention to representatives of the War 
Department as to my lapses by failure to support Kol­
chak, and still claim " non-interference in Russian in­
ternal affairs." 

I know as a reply to at least one of these representa­
tions made to the vVar Department, the representative 
of the State Department was informed that the War 
Department construed my orders as I did, and sug­
gested that if the State Department did not so construe 
my orders the question should be taken up by the Secre­
tary of State with the Secretary of War and have the 
difference in the interpretation definitely settled. I do 
not know, and my informant did not know, if any 
further steps were taken. 
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I know that not one word. in my original instructions 
was changed during my entire stay in Siberia. 

On December I 2, an American Army officer arrived 
in Vladivostok with orders to report to Consul General 
Harris. This was not only unusual but was almost un­
precedented under conditions as they existed in Siberia, 
and I c?uld not ?elp feeling it was a reflection upon 
me. I did not believe General March knew this order 
had been issued and, as this officer belonged to the 
Military Intelligence Division, I came to the con­
clusion that the State Department, through General 
Churchill, head of the Military Intelligence Division, 
had gotten the order issued. I, of course, knew there 
was some object in asking that an Army officer with 
the rank of Colonel or Lieutenant-Colonel, I do not 
remember which, report to the Consul General. 
I had . been informed that my reports differed 
materially from the reports made by the Consul Gen­
eral and I came to the conclusion that the object 
of the move was to get an Army officer in Siberia 
who would make reports that differed from mine~ 

This officer had in his possession a monograph, pre­
pared in the Military Intelligence Division, which 
he unwittingly showed to Colonel Eichelberger, my 
Intelligence officer. In this monograph appeared the 
following: 

" The American troops are in Siberia primarily to 
support Ko~ch~k against Bolsheviks by keeping his line 
of commumcat10ns open along the Trans-Siberian rail-
road." · 
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This was an official document from the War De­
partment that discredited my repeated statements in 
Siberia that I was to keep my hands off the internal 
conflicts of the Russian people. This document was of 
such importance to me that I cabled to General March 
and asked that this officer be directed to report to me, 
tear out this part of the monograph and burn it in my 
presence. My request was approved and the objection­
able sentence was torn out and disposed of as I sug­
gested. 

Where did General Churchill get the information 
to base such a statement? I do not believe General 
Churchill ever saw my orders and I do not believe he 
would manufacture such a statement and try to dis­
credit my well-known construction of my orders. If 
he had gone to the proper authority in the War De­
partment, where he should have gone for information, 
before making a statement not in accordance with facts, 
he would have been told that my construction of my 
orders was the same as that of the War Department. 
I am of the opinion that General Churchill went to 
Mr. De Witt C. Poole, State Department, for an in­
terpretation of my orders. 

In a few days after the officer had left Vladivostok 
for Chita, to report to Consul General Harris, I re­
ceived a cable from General March saying this officer 
needed discipline and he would not send anything out 
of Siberia except through me. That made it plain to 
me that my surmise as to the origin of this officer's 
order was correct. 

As the ostensible reason for keeping United States 
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troops in Siberia was to keep the railroads open for 
the benefit of the Russian people, I consider the 
following letter received from Colonel G. H. Emer­
son, Mr. Stevens' First Assistant, as the best evi­
dence obtainable as to the working of the Inter­
Allied Railroad Agreement. Colonel Emerson 
was travelling along the railroads practically all 
the time, and had a better opportunity to observe 
the working of the agreement than any other man 
in Siberia. The letter, dated December 13, was as 
follows: 

"My resignation has been accepted. In severing rriy 
connection with the Russian Railway Service Corps, I 
wish to thank you for the many courtesies that you 
have extended to me personally and the officers of the 
corps. 

" The Russian Railways Service Corps, assigned as 
technical inspectors under the terms of the Inter-Allied 
Agreement, have made every effort to assist in connec~ 
tion with the operation of the railroad. We have been 
opposed in every way by the Russian Military f~ction 
and the Russian technical railroad officials, regardless 
of the fact that we have made every effort to assist in 
an advisory capacity after I was officially informed that 
the Omsk Government was unable to carry out the 
terms of the agreement, and all suggestions made by the 
technical inspectors were ignored. 

" In every case where there has been any interference 
in that portion of the line guarded by troops under your 
command that conflicted with the agreement, prompt 
action has been taken by your officers assigned to the 
various sectors, as a result, the railroad employees have 
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made an honest effort to cooperate with the technical 
inspectors, so, what little has been accomplished in the 
way of improving railroad transportation has been con­
fined entirely to that sector under the protection of the 
American and Chinese troops. 

" Our officers assigned to the district, Manchuria to 
Verkhne-Udinsk, that is supposed to be under Japanese 
protection, have been subjected to insult, and on two 
different occasions have been ejected from cars by the 
troops under command of Semeonoff, and were it not 
for the firm stand taken by Colonel Morrow to protect 
our officers assigned in that district, I am satisfied they 
would have been annihilated by the renegade bands op­
erating under Semeonoff. 

" In conclusion, I firmly believe, had the Command­
ers of the other Allied forces, assigned to guarding the 
railroad, taken as strong a stand as you have, the Inter­
Allied Agreement would have been successfully carried 
out." 

Kolchak was no longer of any consequence in con­
sidering the Siberian situation. The British Mission 
reported Evacuation of N ovo-Nikolaevsk at midnight, 
the 13th and 14th of December, and Kokhak was as 
far east as Marinsk on the 14th. The congestion on 
the railroad was great and embarrassing and was caus­
ing charges and counter-charges as to unfairness in the 
assignment of locomotives where the worst shortage 
occurred. 

On December 23, Colonel Eichelberger gave me the 
following information, as coming from the Polish 
Mission: 
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"At Tartarskaya, Admiral Kolchak appealed to 
Poles for protection from arrest by his own soldiers 
and was escorted out of the district by Polish armored 
car. 

" Kolchak has protested to Russian and Allied offi­
cials against the Czechs taking precedence in their 
Eastward movement. Also claims he has been subjected 
to threats and insults by Czechs. 

" Semeonoff has sent a telegram to Czechs, demand­
ing that the train carrying High Russian Command, 
the sick, wounded and their families, as well as the last 
remnant of the National wealth, be allowed to pass to 
Irkutsk." · 

The last demand was by no means least important 
in Semeonoff' s mind. 

On the 24th of December, General Knox informed 
me the Czechs were going to escort Kolchak from· 
Krasnoyarsk to Irkutsk. 

On January I 8, Dr. Girsa, Czech civilian represen­
tative in the Far East, said he had talked with the 
Czech Chief of Staff, by direct wire, in Irkutsk, and 
was informed that Kolchak was a prisoner in the hands 
of Social Revolutionists. _ 

It was very difficult to get any direct news from 
Irkutsk. 

We were later informed that the Allied representa­
tives, including Consul General Harris, left Irkutsk 
for Chita four or five days before Kolchak arrived, 
under Czech protection in that City. 

The Social Revolutionists demanded Kolchak and 
notified the Czechs in case of refusal, they would try to 
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take him by force. Considering the abuse heaped upon 
the Czechs by Kolchak and his supporters, one could 
not reasonably expect them to fight for him. The So­
cial Revolutionists in Irkutsk were very much incensed 
at the action of one of Semeonoff's generals who, 
when he was driven out of Irkutsk before Kolchak's 
arrival, had taken about twenty of the most prominent 
men in Irkutsk with him, on the plea that they would 
stir up trouble if left there. This General assured the 
people of Irkutsk that he was going to send them east, 
but led the people to believe that he did not intend to 
injure them. He took them to Lake Baikal, had them 
killed, and their bodies thrown into the lake. 

Of course Kolchak had nothing to do with this, but 
the resentment of the people extended to him and in 
such cases, outraged humanity reaches for the top. 
Kolchak was tried by a military court, convicted, and 
shot on the morning of February 7, 1920. 

One hundred thousand men clothed, armed, and 
equipped by the British had joined the anti-Kolchak 
forces by December, I 9 I 9, and the Bolsheviks wired 
General Knox thanking him for supplying clothing and 
equipment for the Soviet forces. These people now 
had sufficient force to demand fair treatment by the 
foreigners in Siberia, and they did not propose to 
longer submit to the railroads being operated, under 
the protection of foreign troops, for the sole benefit 
of their enemies. 

The Americans were doing the best they could to 
protect the railroad sectors assigned to them to guard, 
and it had always been necessary to divide the organi­
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zations into small detachments in order to guard the 
extensive sectors. This was becoming very dangerous 
as these small detachments would have no chance 
against the overwhelming numbers that were threaten­
ing to attack us. 

In December, one of the anti-Kolchak leaders came 
to see Major Melaski, 31st Infantry, who was on duty 
guarding the Suchan line, and told him they did not 
desire any conflict with Americans, but by guarding the 
railroad, we were helping the reactionary crowd and 
delaying the final settlement of their difficulties, and as 
it was his duty to prevent coal and military supplies 
from going to Kolchak, he would have to engage in 
conflict with us to accomplish his object. He said they 
would not disturb the movement of any other class of 
trains. 

Who could blame these people? The Kolchak Gov­
ernment was only a shell, with practically no Russian 
military support, except a few former Czarist officers. 

On December 2 7, I cable_d the War Department, in 
part: 

" Safety of American troops demands concentration 
which results in abandoning parts of our sector. We 
are fast arriving at the place where we join Kalmikoff, 
Semeonoff and Rozanoff in fighting the Russians who 
claim they are trying to establish a representative gov­
ernment in the East. These men are not Bolsheviks as 
that word is understood in the United States." 

On December 29, I received the following cable­
gram: 
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" You are informed very confidentially that it is ex­
pected that within a few days you will receive orders 
for the withdrawal of your entire command. Keep 
matter very secret until orders are received by you." 

I was told to concentrate my command but to assign 
some reason, other than the real one, until the time 
came to announce our withdrawal. Undoubtedly the 
great secrecy was due to an effort to get Japan to con­
sider her mission over, and to carry out the following 
part of Japan's assurance to the Russian people when 
she entered Siberia, viz: 

·~They (Japan) further declare that upon the reali­
z~t10n of .the objects above indicated, they will imme­
diately withdraw all Japanese troops from Russian 
Territory and will leave wholly unimpaired the sov­
ereignty of Russia in all its phases, whether political 
or military.)' 

The object, Japan refers to, was to relieve the 
Czechs who were reported as being opposed by Ger­
man and Austro-Hungarian prisoners. As the Czechs 
in Eastern Siberia, where Japan operated, never 
needed any military assistance, it would seem reason­
able to expect Japan to withdraw. 

The Japanese Government issued a statement on 
March 31, 1920, the day before I left Siberia, al­
though I did not see this statement while there. It was 
as follows: 

" The Imperial Government hereby takes occasion 
to declare its intention that, when political conditions 

[ 303 ] 



: ' 

Ii 

AMERICA'S SIBERIAN ADVENTURE 

in the countries, contiguous to, or neighboring on 
Japan, have been established on the stable, assuring 
status and all menace to Manchuria and Korea has 
been ~emoved; when the life and property of the Im­
perial subjects in Siberia have been secured, and when 
the freedom of traffic and communication has been 
guaranteed, it will withdraw its Military forces, from 
all parts of Siberia, at the earliest opportune moment 
after the conclusion of the repatriation of the Czecho­
Slovak army." 

Japan did not intend to permit any other nation to 
determine when " political conditions in countries con­
tiguous to Japan have become stable," nor to determine 
when all menace, " to Manchuria and Korea has been 
removed," and it is not unfair to say that the statement 
of Japan, above quoted, means that Japan would not 
get out of Siberia until she was ready to leave, or until 
she was forced out. 

This statement of Japan, on March 31, 1920, was 
tantamount to a repudiation of her statement on Au­
gust 3, 1918, just before sending troops to Siberia. I 
arrived in Vladivostok September 2, 19 I 8, just one 
month after the statement was made, and was still 
there when the second one was made. I never saw, or 
had reported to me, a single aggressive act of the Rus­
sians towards the Japanese. 

The order to concentrate American troops relieved 
me of considerable embarrassment, and was received 
by all soldiers with great joy. 

It soon became evident that the Japanese were plan­
ning to stay in Siberia., and were giving as a reason that 
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they had an obligation to see that the Czechs were all 
evacuated before they left. At the same time their 
puppet, Semeonoff, began trying to prevent the evacua­
tion. This is shown by resolutions of the Inter-Allied 
Railway Committee, and the Technical Board. On 
April 14, 1920, this Resolution of the Technical Board 
was passed: 

" Whereas two Russian railway employees at 
Imyanop, Manchuria, were suddenly arrested and sum­
marily shot on April 6th, by some Japanese soldiers, 
without trial." "Whereas on the evening of April 8th, 
two Russians were refused passage over the Sungari 
bridge at Harbin, by Japanese soldiers in spite of their 
passes entitling them to such passage, one of them was 
thrown over the bridge and the other had his head 
badly cut by Japanese soldiers. Both were badly in­
jured." "Whereas on April 8th, railway employees 
were suddenly arrested at Harbin, by some Japanese 
soldiers, and were locked in a Japanese Military car 
to be transported to some unknown destination." 
" Whereas, three Russian railway men were arrested 
at Manchuria railway station, April 10th, by Japanese 
soldiers." "Whereas, these violent acts have created 
a widespread excitement and indignation among the 
railway employees and are most liable to precipitate 
grave trouble leading to the interruption of communi­
cation and the disturbance of the whole region, and the 
delay to the Czech evacuation, all of which tend to de­
feat the purpose and function of the Technical Board." 
" Whereas, these acts are regarded as bringing direct 
contravention to the Inter-Allied Agreement covering 
the guarding of the Chinese-Eastern Railway which 
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duty was assigned to the Chinese Government, by the 
Inter-Allied Powers, and that the Military for~es of 
no other Nation have any authority in the guardmg of 
the railway." "Whereas,. the Technical ~oard p~o­
tests, in the strongest possible mai:mer, agamst the m­
terference and the high handed act10ns of the Japanese 
·troops, in these and similar instances, and .a~k them 
for an assurance, from the Japanese authorities, that 
such acts will not be repeated." 

It should be remembered that the Japanese an­
nounced, at the time the Americans were withdrawn 
from Siberia, that their obligations to the Czechs ha~ 
not been fulfilled and that they could not leave until 
they had been evacuated. 

I have before rne now, ten pages of letter paper of 
closely typewritten matter, al~ of which refer to t~e 
actions of the Japanese, or their puppet, Semeonoff, m 
interfering with the operation of the railroads acco~d­
ing to the Inter-Allied Railway Agreement. No sm­
cere person could come to any conclusion. other than 
that the Japanese and Semeonoff ":ere trymg to.block 
the Technical Board in the operat10n of the railway, 
and thereby delay the evacuation of the Czechs, ":hi~h 
would give an excuse for Japanese troops to remam m 
Siberia. 

On April 24, 1920, a cable si?ned by the. representa­
tives on the Inter-Allied Committee of Chma, France, 
and the United States, Czecho-Slovakia and Great 
Britain was sent to interested Allied Governments, in 
part as follows : 
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"The Japanese Military authorities have acquiesced 
in Colonel Medy's attitude, have themselves usurped 
functions, by right belonging to the Technical and 
Transportation Boards and have used them in such a 
manner as to add to the confusion on the railway, and 
actually to delay the progress of the Czecho-Slovaks." 

Mr. Smith was sent to the Trans-Baikal section by 
the Inter-Allied Committee to represent it in the 
evacuation of the Czechs, and it was his conclusion, in 
which the Committee agreed, that there was deliberate 
interference with the railroad to delay Czech evacua­
tion. Dr. Girsa also stated officially to the Inter-Allied 
Committee that the Japanese were not needed to help 
the Czechs in their evacuation. 

The Japanese Foreign Office represented to Mr. 
Morris, the American Ambassador to Japan, that the 
announcement of the United States that we were going 
to withdraw our troops from Siberia before Japan was 
ready to make a similar announcement, was an act 
which showed a lack of proper cooperation with Japan 
and tried to create the impression that, if it had not 
been for this announcement, Japan possibly would have 
withdrawn her troops. Mr. Morris was induced to put 
at least some reliance in this suggestion. 1 

In a book written by K. K. Kawakami, a Japanese 
newspaper man, entitled "Japan's Pacific Policy," on 
page 250, appears this statement with reference to the 
withdrawal of American troops: 

"Had the Washington Government taken Japan 
into confidence, and conferred with her frankly and 
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earnestly, as it did in the Summer of 1918, a complete 
and simultaneous evacuation, in the Spring of 1920, 
mi'ght have been possible." 

To my .mind, these suggestions constitute a strong 
indictment of Japan as to her sincerity of purpose in 
Siberia, and I do not believe the manner of withdrawal 
of American troops had any influence in shaping the 
determination of Japan to remain in Siberia. The sug­
gestion that Japan might have withdrawn her troops, 
if the United States had consulted her, was undoubt­
edly referred to in Tokyo by some Japanese authority, 
as both Mr. Morris and Mr. Kawakami referred to 
the question, and Mr. Morris spoke to a member of 
my Staff about the time the Americans were withdrawn, 
and seemed to blame me for hasty announcement. 
This attitude of Japan was undoubtedly taken with the 
idea of lessening the criticism that she expected from 
other nations for her continued occupation of Siberia, 
contrary to her announced purpose August 3, 1918. 

Baron Shidehara, in his statement made at the Limi­
tation of Arms Conference in Washington in 192 l-22, 
said thi:rt Japanese troops remained in Siberia because, 
" in the first place, there is a considerable number 
Japanese residents, who had lawfully, and under guar­
antees of treaty, established themselves in Siberia, long 
before the Bolshevik eruption and were there entirely 
welcome ... and that those residents can hardly be 
expected to look for protection of their lives and prop­
erty, to any other authorities than Japanese troops." 

Baron Shidehara also said, at the same time: 
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. "There_is another difficulty by which Japan is fa::ed 
tn proceedmg to recall her troops from the Maritime 
Province .. Du~ to the geographical propinquity, the 
general s1tuat10n around Vladivostok and Nikolsk is 
bound to affect the security of the Korean frontier." 

. Neither of these reasons was mentioned by Japan 
tn her statement of August 3, 1918, announcing her 
reasons for, and objectives to be attained by, interven­
tion in Siberia.1 What caused the Japanese Govern­
ment to believe the lives and property of the Japanese 
residents in Siberia, and on the Korean frontiers, re­
quired protection in 1920, when American troops left, 
and did not require protection in August, 19 I 8? There 
was more resentment against the Japanese in 1920 
than in 1918, but this resentment was against the Japa­
nese Military because of their actions during interven­
tion. In my judgement, the real objectives of Japan in 
Siberia; have never been made public. . 
~hen the American soldiers began returning to the 

Umted States, or as soon as it was known that they 
would soon return, it was brought to my attention that 
some of them were getting married to Russian women. 
Entirely too many of these women would not, under 
the law, be permitted to enter the United States, and 
I felt that some steps should be taken to keep them out. 
I felt that it was un-American and exceeded my au­
thority to tell a soldier he may not get married so, to 
meet the situation, I issued orders stating that if any 
soldier married, without the consent of his immediate 

1 
(Russian-American Relations, 1917-1920, page 239.) 
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Commanding Officer, I would not give his wife trans­
porEation to the United States. At the same time I in­
structed all Commanding Officers to have an investiga­
tion made, with a view of determining whether the 
woman the soldier wanted to marry would be per­
mitted to enter the United States, under the laws, if 
she were not married. If she proved of good moral 
character_, to grant permission to marry but if not of 
good character to refuse permission. This step was in 
the interest of the soldier as well as of the United 
States. Evidently my order did not meet the hearty 
approval of the authorities in Washington, where the 
real situation could not be realized and, at the instiga­
tion of someone in the B.ed Cross, I was ordered to 
give transportation to a most dissolute woman, who 
had married a soldier. I protested ::i.t this order, and 
was finally told to let the soldier's wife come to the 
United States, if I was convinced the soldier married 
her with the idea of rehabilitating her in society. I had 
to admit my inability to determine the real intent 
of the soldier, so I turned the matter over to my 
Chief 01 Staff, class-mate and room-mate at West 
Point, Colonel J. D. Leitch, to handle according 
to his best judgement. I asked the head of the Y. W. 
C. A. to assist in looking up .the character of these 
women who lived in Vladivostok. I felt that my order 
accomplished something, but fell far short of my 
expectations. 

It seems very difficult to keep off the subject of 
Semeonoff and Kalmikoff in writing of occurrences that 
happened in Eastern Siberia, and I must ask the in-
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dulgence of the reader, while I once more turn to 
Semeonoff. 

On January 9, 1920, Semeonoff's armoured car came 
to V erkhne-U dinsk, which was in the sector of the rail­
road guarded by Americans, and arreJted the station­
master. The armoured car was in command of General 
Bogomoletz, one of Semeonoff's generals. Colonel 
Morrow went to General Bogomoletz and asked him 
if he knew he, Colonel Morrow, had charge of that 
sector,. and ~e would not permit him or anyone else to 
come mto his sector and arrest railroad employees. 
General Bogomoletz said: 

" I a.m not supposed to give any account to you of 
our act10ns. I will not converse with you any more in 
regard to such." 

Colonel Morrow replied: 

" Let me tell you this, I do not want to cause any 
trouble for you, however, I have twenty-five hundred 
men here to carry out my orders. I must know why this 
man was arrested, he is under my protection." 

General Bogomoletz replied: 

" I was told he was a Bolshevik and I wanted to 
kil~ h_im tonight, but if you insist, I shall release him. 
It is ~mmaterial, if the station-master is guilty we will 
get him sooner or later." 

The station-master was released. The armoured car 
continued west, and about midnight arrived at Posol­
skaya, where American soldiers under the command of 
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Lieutenant Paul Kendall were on duty guarding the 
railroad. At r A.M., when the American detachment 
was asleep, the armoured car fired into the car in which 
the American troops were quartered. Colonel Mor­
row telegraphed as follows: 

" Semeonoff armored car attacked detachment 
thirty-eight men in their cars at Posolskaya at one A.M. 

January roth. Detachment fought and captured ar­
mored car. One general, six officers and forty-eight 
men held here. American casualties; one died of 
wounds, one seriously wounded. Detailed reports of 
casualties follows; Russian casualties; - five killed 
and several wounded." 

I was sorry that Lieutenant Kendall, who first 
got hold of Bogomoletz, did not hang him to a tele­
graph pole, but he acted within the law and really 
exhibited better soldi~rly qualities in doing as he 
did. This young officer is entitled to great credit for 
his leadership ·in resisting this unwarranted attack, 
and in capturing a force with vastly superior arma­
ment. 

There were no courts for the trial of these people 
and Semeonoff began clamoring for his armoured car, 
and assured Colonel Morrow that if he would turn 
the prisoners over to him they would all be punished. 
Colonel Morrow was to leave Verkhne-Udinsk on 
January 23, and he kept his prisoners until he left, 
when he had to turn them over to Semeonoff's repre­
sentatives. He took the evidence of all these men, 
separately, and their statements as to what had hap-
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pened, on this one armoured car, were remarkably uni­
form. It was established, beyond any doubt, that this 
one car had, between January r and ro, "robbed and 
bru!ally murdered over forty men and three women 
were raped and brutally killed." 

This is the same Semeonoff who, in I 9 I 9, had robbed 
a New York company of a train load of furs, reported 
as being worth one-half a million dollars; this is the 
same Semeonoff who took three Ameriqms, who had 
taken their discharge from the Army, and remained 
in Siberia, and brutally murdered them for no reason 
except that they were wearing the uniform of the Ameri­
can Army. This murder was after I left Siberia, but 
I was informed of this by Mr. John F. Stevens, and I 
sent a report of the same to the War Department~ 
This is the same Semeonoff who later came to the' 
United States through the port of Vancouver, B. C., 
and went direct to Washington and I know conferred 
with one American official, and I imagine he conferred 
with others. 

Colonel Morrow found, as he was coming out of 
Siberia, that the officer who had been sent to Siberia 
to report to Consul General Harris, previously re­
f erred to, had, according to the officer's own state­
ment, attached himself to Semeonoff's headquarters. 
Colonel Morrow said to this officer, when he told him 
that he was with Semeonoff: 

" Do you know what a murderer he is? Do you 
know he has killed some of my men? " 

The officer replied: 
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" Semeonoff is the only thing standing between civi­
lization and Bolshevism, and I do not intend to listen 
to anything against Semeonoff." 

The idea that Semeonoff could add to the benefits of 
present day civilization was carrying absurdity to the 
extreme. 

Why was an American Army officer directed, or per­
mitted by the American Consul General, to join the 
headquarters of this notorious scoundrel and mur­
derer? It is not even possible that Semeonoff's record 
and reputation were unknown to Mr. Harris and if 
Semeonoff had committed, in the United States, one 
one hundredth of the offenses that he committed in 
Siberia, he would have been legally or illegally killed, 
for such a character could not exist in this country. 

Colonel Morrow wished to show this officer the 
testimony taken after the firing into the train, and 
killing two American soldiers, but he replied: 

"You have nothing to do with me, and General 
Graves has nothing to do with me." 

Colonel Morrow then told him he was going to take 
him to Vladivostok to report to General Graves. He 
protested at this, but was told if he caused any trouble 
he would be taken by force. Consul General Harris 
protested to me that this officer was under his control 
and Colonel Morrow had nothing to do with him, and 
he demanded that I order Colonel Morrow to release 
him. This I refused to do and Consul General Harris 
took the question up with the State Department. I got 
a telegram from General .March saying: 
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"Some row between Morrow and--, settle it." 

When Colonel Morrow arrived at Vladivostok, 
about two weeks later, he turned in a report of a medi­
cal officer, whom he had directed to stay with this 
officer on the trip to Vladivostok, and to make a report 
on him. This report was to the effect that the officer 
was not mentally balanced. 

I was not satisfied that an injustice had not been 
done this. officer, and I ordered a board composed of 
three semor medical officers in Vladivostok to examine 
him in connection with the report turned in by Colonel 
Morrow. This board reported to the effect that they 
could not agree with the report of the doctor made 
to Colonel Morrow, but it was their opinion that the 
officer was of a very nervous temperament and they 
thought it unwise and unsafe to leave him in Siberia. 
I approved the report and kept the officer in Vladi­
vostok until I had an opportunity to send him to the 
United States. · 

As to the arrival of Semeonoff in the United States 
in 1922, I have reason for thinking his trip was not 
unexpected by the Immigration Officials of the United 
States, notwithstanding the fact that he had brutally 
murdered Americans. 

I was informed by Mr. C. H. Smith, the United 
States representative on the Inter-Allied Railroad 
Committee, that, prior to the arrival of Semeonoff, 
he, Mr. Smith, went to the telegraph office in the 
McAlpin Hotel in New York City, to send a telegram 
to his wife in California, and in this telegram said 
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something about Siberia. The telegraph operator, a 
woman, said to Mr. Smith, that a very influential man 
was coming to the United States from Siberia. Mr. 
Smith asked who it was, and the operator told him 
it was Semeonoff. Mr. Smith asked how she knew; and 
she said that she had sent a message saying if he would 
come through the Port of Vancouver, B. C., about such 
a time, there would be no objection to his entry into 
the United States. Semeonoff came through Vancouver, 
at approximately the time the operator had told Mr. 
Smith he would come. 

While Colonel Morrow was in Chita, Semeonoff's 
headquarters, he saw an American Red Cross train, 
with the doors of the cars open and Semeonoff's sol­
diers helping themselves to the Red Cross supplies. 
Colonel Morrow made an official report of this to 
American Headquarters in Vladivostok, signed by him­
self and four other officers. This report said the offi­
cers were unable to find any Red Cross representatives 
superintending the issue of these supplies. I .sent the 
report to Dr. Teusler, requesting comment. He said 
a representative of the Red Cross was present, and 
watching the issue. He did not deny that this vile mur­
derer of Russians and of American soldiers, whose ac­
tions had placed him. beyond the pale of civilization, 
was being given American Red Cross supplies, for the 
use of his troops, such supplies having been purchased 
by money contributed by the generous people of the 
United States. 

x 
THE DEBACLE 

GENERAL ROZANOFF, in Vladivostok was 
driven from power on January 31, 1920. There 

was no fighting in this turnover, and, as I remember, 
t~ere was only one shot fired, and that was from a 
piece of field Artillery at the house occupied by Gen­
eral Rozanoff. That shot missed its mark, but the 
sound seemed to be sufficient for Rozanoff and his sup­
porters, the Japanese, to lose their nerve, as the J apa­
nese clothed Ro~~noff in a Japanese officer's long cape, 
and Japanese military cap, and conducted him to Japa­
nese Headquarters, which ended his crooked career in 
Siberia. 

At the time of this coup d' hat, Mr. MacGowan 
was American Consul at Vladivostok, and as soon as 
it was certain that Rozanoff was to be overthrown . 
he rushed to Major Johnson, who was the America~ 
in charge of the military police in Vladivostok, and 
requested him to place a guard of American soldiers 
at the home of a certain Russian, in order to prevent 
any of. the new regime from entering the house. 

Ma3or Johnson, unfortunately, complied with the re­
quest, without consulting me. Later, when Mr. Mac­
Gowan wanted the guard increased, Major Johnson 
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then suggested that they see me about it and I not 
only refused to increase the guard, but directed Major 
Johnson to remove it from the house. 

It was later reported to me that Mr. MacGowan 
went f.rom my office to the Russian's house and that 
he and the Russian put some papers in a sheet and 
took them to the American Consulate, before the 
guard could be removed. I never knew and could 
never understand why Mr. MacGowan was so solici­
tous about the premises and papers of this particular 
Russian, as he was noted as being one of the most vio­
lent anti-American unofficial Russians in Vladivostok. 
It was stated frequently that he was in the habit, at 
weekly luncheons of a certain anti-American Russian 
group, of making the most immoderate talks about 
the Americans. 

In October, 1920, when en route to Nagasaki, Japan, 
from Manila, I was told by the captain of the trans­
port, that this same Russian was to board the trans­
port at Nagasaki for San Francisco. 

I immediately wirelessed to General Kernan in Ma­
nila, protesting against this man's going to the United 
States, and suggested that he confer with Major Eichel­
berger, and Major T. W. King at his Headquarters, 
as to the anti-American attitude taken by this Russian 
while we were in Siberia. General Kernan revoked his 
permit to go on the transport, and we left him in 
Nagasaki. 

I was later informed, however, that he did get to 
the United States. Something is wrong with our im­
migration laws or the application of our laws, when 
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such Russians as the one under consideration and Se­
meonoff could be picked out as of the favoured few 
to receive a permit to enter the United States. . 

I naturally supposed that Consul MacGowan was 
behind permitting this Russian to enter the United 
States, an~ I have often wondered what his object 
was. The circumstances connected with this whole case 
were such as to cause unfortunate conjecture. 

Major P. R. Faymonville, U. S. Army, on duty on 
board the U.S.A. T. Mount Vernon, used in trans­
porting Czechs from Vladivostok to their home, in­
formed me of the following communication received 
by him upon his arrival in Panama, May 24, 1920: 

" Reliable report indicates presence on board Mount 
V er~on, du~ Pana~a shortly, of two dangerous Bol­
shevik officials, natives of Vladivostok, Krakovetsky 
and Telucheff. These men refused admittance to 
United States a't San Francisco. Will probably try to 
leave ship at Panama. 

(Signed) Churchill, 
Director Military Intelligence." 

Major Faymonville replied to this communication: 

" These two men are aboard but they are neither 
Bol.shevi~s nor dangerous. They were from January 
until their departure the best friends America had in 
Si?eria. ~o far as ki:own they were not refused ad­
~mttance m S~n Francisco, as they did not apply. There 
is not the famtest chance of their trying to leave the 
ship at Panama." 
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Major Faymonville wrote me a personal letter 
about this incident in which he said : " the Bolsheviks 
have been ashore, and the Gatun Dam has not 
yet been blown up I " As the MacGowans left the 

, ship at San Francisco, I think they must be the 
" reliable authorities " on which General Churchill 
depended. 

This and other Russian cases were the outcropping 
of Mr. MacGowan's bitterness at the American Mili­
tary in Siberia, and the only foundation for this bitter­
ness was the refusal of the Army to follow the lead 
of Consul General Harris, and himself, in supporting 
the autocratic class of Russians. 

By this time, the Americans had ceased guarding 
the railroad, except where it was necessary for Ameri­
cans and Czechs to reach Vladivostok to embark for 
their homes. 

The Japanese acted as if they had some idea of 
offering resistance when Rozanoff was deposed at 
Vladivostok, although they evidently did not expect 
the anti-Rozanoff troops to arrive from the country 
district away from the railroad, and were, therefore, 
very much surprised when they marched into Vladi­
vostok early in the morning. Some American officers 
heard of their approach and hurried out to witness the 
entry into the city. They reported to me that the 
Japanese Military were at sea as they had expected 
troops to enter by the railroad, and had posted troops 
along the line to Nikolsk. They did not like to give 
up, even after Vladivostok had been taken, and it 
seems incredible that they had no plan of action, but 
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it certainly looked that way. I was sick in bed with 
tonsillitis and could not leave my bedroom with safety. 

About IO o'clock in the morning of the 3 rst, three 
or four hours after the overthrow, a message came 
to my Headquarters that the Japanese had posted their 
troops on the American sector of the railroad, en­
dangering the safety of the road in case of hostilities. 
I resented the action of the Japanese, as they were 
interfering with the operation of the Railroad Agree­
ment, which interference might result in destroying 
a tunnel between Vladivostok and Nikolsk and f rus­
trate the plans of evacuation of the Americans and 
Czechs. 

I knew I had to see General Oi, tonsillitis or not, 
so I ordered m,y car, and went to Japanese Head­
quarters. I found General Oi in a very ugly mood 
but I at once told him my business, and demanded the 
removal of his troops from my sector. He replied that 
he ranked me, and by reason of that fact he com­
manded me and all American troops in Siberia. I told 
him he knew he did not command American troops 
and I knew he never would command American troops~ 
He then said that I was a military man and knew 
there could not be two heads to any military expedition. 
I replied, that might be his opinion and it might 
be mine, but he knew that I could not release com­
mand of American troops without instructions from 
my Government, and he could not give up com­
mand of the Japanese troops without instructions 
from the Japanese Government. He said, almost 
immediately: 
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" I must admit the logic of your statement, the 
Japanese troops will be removed." 

I returned to my Headquarters, and in order that 
the record would be straight, I wrote him the following 
letter: 

" I. Referring to our conversation this forenoon, I 
desire to notify you that I formally and officially pro­
test against the interference with the operation of the 
railroad this morning when an echelon of partisan 
troops was stopped by Japanese troops at Station 
Okeanskaya, on a sector guarded by American troops'. 

" 2. My duty in connection with the guarding of 
this sector of the railroad is in accordance with the 
Inter-Allied Railway Agreement, with which the J apa­
nese representative was a party." 

When Rozanoff was driven out of office, the incom­
ing forces did not establish a new Government but 
supported the existing Zemstvos, who had been ready 
and willing to function, but since the advent of Kol­
chak, they not only could not regularly function but 
were forbidden to discuss questions concerning Kol­
chak's government. The question as to whether the 
Partizans desired the Zemstvo as a government or the 
Soviets is perhaps best answered by events subsequent 
to the withdrawal of foreign troops, but the fact re­
mains that they requested the Zemstvo to take charge 
as the only legal authority in the district. 

By virtue of this action, Mr. Medviedeff became 
head of the Primorsk district, which included Vladi­
vostok. This was a very difficult and trying position 
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for the Zemstvo representatives, as there were foreign 
troops and Russian troops still in the Province and 
they knew well Japan's resentment at their temporary 
elimination from "the power behind the throne." 
Other Allied national representatives, as well as Con­
sul General Harris, showed by their actions that 
the Zemstvo could not expect the same treatment 
as had been extended to Kolchak. For instance, Con­
sul General Harris failed to respond to an invi­
tation to a dinner, given by the new Provincial 
representatives. This was a clear indication of his 
attitude. 

I received no further complaints from the State De­
partment at my failure " to steady any efforts at self­
government or self-defense in which the Russians may 
be willing to accept assistance." The State Department, 
through General Churchill, charged me with failure to 
carry out my instructions because I did not help to 
" steady the effort of self-government " of Kolchak. 
If it had been logical for me, without specific instruc­
tions, to help Kolchak, it would have been equally 
logical for me to help the new Zemstvo Government, 
because all Russians were willing to accept assistance, 
which was the only condition stated in my orders be­
fore assistance could be given. Of course, the Presi­
dent, or whoever wrote my instructions, could not 
logically expect that the Military, without specific in­
structions from Washington, should help any contend-

' ing faction in Siberia. 
. The Zemstvo representatives took their new duties 

very seriously. Mr. Medviedeff came to see me and, 
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without doubt, went to see other foreign representa­
tives, ap.d made the following statement: 

" Russia has already spilt too much blood. As lo~g 
as I am the head of this Government, no person will 
be deprived of life, liberty, or property except ~y de­
cree of our civil courts. We will no longer permit the 
military to decide to kill some one, .and then conve~e 
a military tribunal so as to make this murder legal m 
the eyes of the civilized world. 

" I want to call your attention to the fact that we 
have not changed a single judge, and we do not intend 
to make any changes. The Chief Justice here was ap­
pointed by the Czar, and has b~en ~n. the bern~h for 
eighteen years, and the Zemstvo is willing to abide by 
the decrees of the civil court." 

I was very much impressed by this statement, as it 
indicated a tendency towards justice which I had not 
seen since my arrival in Siberia. I have no means of 
knowing for certain that this policy was followed, dur­
ing the two months I was in Vladivostok while the 
Zemstvos were in power, but I do know that no one 
ever complained to me of unjust treatment by the 
Zemstvo officials. If anyone had been killed, I am sure 
word of the killing would have been brought to me 
at once, as there were too many people in Vladivostok 
looking for a chance to criticize this new regime. 

I observed these Zemstvo officials carefully for the 
two months I remained in Siberia, and I never saw 
anyone try harder to be fair and just to .everyone t~an 
did these people. I was very much surprised to receive 
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newspapers in which it was stated, in effect, that the 
streets of Vladivostok were flowing in blood; the Bol­
sheviks were killing everyone with money or an edu­
cation. These reports were so unjust I could not help 
wondering where they originated. 

It was well known in Vladivostok that from No­
vember 18, 1919, to January 31, 1920, Rozanoff had 
killed between five and six hundred men, without any 
comment relative to his murders. The method to de­
cide to execute and then convene a military tribunal 
to legalize the intended murder, was the method used 
by Rozanoff. This procedure was well known in Vladi­
vostok, and I tested the accuracy of the information 
in one case, at the request of a Russian woman who 
had lived in New York at one time. · 

The Japanese remained quiescent, in the Primorsk 
province, during the remainder of my stay in Siberia, 
but Mr. Smith, American representative on the Inter­
Allied Committee, telegraphed from Trans-Baikal that 
they were doing everything they could to retard the 
evacuation of the Czechs. They refused to let the 
Czechs go into the railroad shops to repair engines 
that were to be used in hauling them to Vladivostok. 
Mr. Smith stated: 

" The Czechs will not permit this state of affairs to 
continue much longer, but will take matters into their 
own hands." 

The Japanese, however, as was characteristic of 
them during the entire intervention, never went quite 
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to the extent of having a clash, and the Czechs con­
tinued to come east. 

The Americans had a very uneventful two months, 
from the overthrow of Rozanoff to the departure of 
the last" echelon" on April I, 1920, with which I left 
Siberia. 

It was evident that the Russians in Vladivostok 
hate~ ~o see the Americans leave, with the Japanese 
remammg. 

The Japanese and the Russians both requested me 
to inspect a battalion of their troops, as my last offi­
cial act on Russian soil. The Japanese had been the 
first to extend the invitation to me, and I agreed to. 
accept, so I inspected the Russian troops an hour be­
fore boarding the transport, and the Japanese troops 
just before going on board. 

Just before sailing, a representative of the Associ­
ated Press, whose permanent assignment was in Tokyo,. 
rushed on board to tell me that something was planned 
by the Japanese, but he did not know just what was 
contemplated. I asked him how he knew, and he replied 
that a Japanese official representative, whom he had 
known in Tokyo, had just said to him that he hoped·· 
the Americans would not think the Japanese people 
approved of what the Japanese Military contemplated 
doing as soon as I had gone. 

This seemed to me to be of enough importance to 
cable to Washington, and I wrote the following:. 

"I have just been informed, by a reliable American, 
that a Japanese representative has just told my inform­
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ant not to be surprised at anything that may happen. 
He said he. did not personally approve of the contem­
plated action of the Japanese Military, nor did he be­
lieve the Japanese people approved. When asked if the 
Japanese would declare war, he said Japan belonged to 
the League of Nations, and could not declare war 
without authority of the League, but the Japanese 
Military would act independently in Siberia. He also 
~aid that the Russian Staff had not exaggerated, when 
it stated that the Japanese had concluded an armistice 
with the Russian troops, at Nikolaevsk; had professed 
friendship and then had treacherously attacked the 
Russian Headquarters at one o'clock in the morning, 
with incendiary bombs and machine guns. In these two 
days fighting the Japanese were forced to surrender, 
after heavy losses." 

I left the message with Colonel Eichelberger, who 
had been ordered to go to Tokyo, before going to 
Manila, and directed him to code, and send it that day. 
This was done and the message must have been in 
Washington not later than the second of April. 

This comment of the Japanese representative un­
doubtedly referred to the action taken by the Japanese, 
on the night of April 4, in Vladivostok. 

I received a complete account of the occurrence, and 
have it before me now, and there can be no doubt, in 
the mind of any fair-minded man, that it was a hostile 
occupation of Vladivostok, accompanied by reckless 
firing in the streets, resulting in the loss of human lives. 
The Zemstvo representatives had agreed to the de­
mands of the Japanese, and as far as Mr. Medviedeff 
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knew, th"ere was no friction between them and the 
Japanese. 

There are sufficient details in the report I have, 
which was made by an American official, to show con­
clusively that the Japanese started the firing, and the 
signal for the firing to commence was two red flashes, 
which were seen by the naval officer on watch on the 
U. S. S. "Albany." The J apane$e justified the attack 
by claiming they had been attacked. Two days before 
I left Vladivostok, I went in my car around the out­
skirts of the city. I had Colonel Eichelberger with me, 
and near First River we saw the Japanese digging 
trenches and filling sandbags as if they were preparing 
for a strong defense. 

My personal relations with the Japanese left noth­
ing to be desired, but, as the United States and Japan 
went to Siberia with the same announced purpose, and 
our paths of procedure went in opposite directions, 
official clashes were inevitable. 

General Oi kindly sent a band to the dock to furnish 
music before the sailing of the" Great Northern,", the 
transport on which I left for Manila, and as the boat 
backed away from the dock the Japanese band began 
playing the good old American tune, "Hard Times 
Come Again no More." Some looked upon this tune as 
amusing, others as indicative of past official relations. 

I feel that this statement of my experiences in Si­
beria would be incomplete without mentioning the 
American organizations, and individuals cooperating 
with me in my work. I also believe the reader would 
get a clearer picture of Siberian intervention, if I give 
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a short summary of my conclusion as to the intention 
of the various Governments with troops in Siberia. 
The conclusions were formed from the actions of the 
representatives of these Governments. 

As to the American troops in Siberia, I can not suffi­
ciently express my gratitude for their loyal support. 
In guarding the railways, the organizations had to be 
broken up into very small detachments, of sometimes 
only eight or ten men, and they all performed their 
duties in a manner worthy of the best traditions of the 
American soldier. They knew what was right and they 
did the right thing, regardless of the calumny and 
abuse heaped upon them by the press and people in­
terested in misrepresenting them. 

I was not surprised, but none the less gratified, that 
the American officers and enlisted men were, almost 
to a man, firm believers in the traditional policy of the 
United States, as old as the Government itself, that 
all Countries should settle their own differences, with­
out interference of the United States soldier. Mis­
representations of the American troops, as well as the 
cry of " bolshevism " did not swerve the American 
officer or soldier from his conception of what was right 
and just. 

The Military were indebted to the Navy for very 
cordial cooperation, support and helpfulness, and I, 
personally, am particularly indebted to Admiral 
Knight and Admiral Rodgers for helpful suggestions 
as to procedure in times of stress. 

The Y. M. C. A. carried out the traditional policy 
of that organization of giving succour and assistance 
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where needed, regardless of politics or strata of so­
. ciety, and they rendered help to Americans as well 
as to all other Nationals. The. fact that the Y. M. 
C. A. was giving assistance direct to Russians, rather 
than through the Russian official class, was the 
cause of unjust charges of improper and unethical 
activities. 

The Knights of Columbus gave most of their time, 
attention, and funds to providing recreation and enter­
tainment, as well as some small articles for the 
American soldiers and sailors. The service furnished 
by this organization was very helpful. 

As far as I could see, all American welfare organi­
zations, excepting the Red Cross, were not only in 
favour of, but followed the policy of non-interference 
in the internal affairs of the Russian people. 

The American Red Cross was used in supplying the 
Kolchak military forces. In a report made by the Red 
Cross in Vladivostok, of the work of the American 
Red Cross in Siberia, appears the following: 

" The present work of the Red Cross is divided into 
two main lines of activity - military and refugee re­
lief. The military relief, that is, the establishing, 
equipping, and operating of hospitals; the supplying 
of the All-Siberian Army with clothing, underwear, 
and other necessities, and the providing of drugs, 
medicine, and hospital supplies for Russian hospitals." 

These hospitals were military hospitals, which ac­
corded with my observations. Again the report con­
tinues: 
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" The second activity is being taken in co-operation · 
with the Government at Omsk. It is the ordering of 
medical supplies, through the Red Cross, and for the 
Kolchak Government of drugs and medicines to the 
value of at least two million dollars. This huge order, 
the largest, it is said, that has ever been sent to Siberia 
from America, is being filled as fast as possible. In the 
line ?f immediate service to the Russian troops, is the 
sendmg West of three hundred thousand suits of light 
underwear. The first shipment of these suits to Vladi­
vostok was due to arrive about May r 5, and will be 
immediately shipped West. Other big underwear ship­
ments are to follow." 

This reported aid to Kolchak was given, judging 
from the last statement, prior to May 15, 1919. I have 
no means of knowing what amount was expended by 
the Red Cross to assist the military forces of Kolchak, 
but I heard, while in Siberia, that it amounted to sev­
eral million dollars. I hope this is excessive. 

I personally thought it most unfortunate that such 
a pronounced action, against the announced policy of 
the United States, should be taken by a welfare agency 
of the United States because it was not possible to 
separate, in the minds of the Russian people, the acts 
of the Red Cross from the responsibility of the United 
States Government. 

It does not seem possible to reconcile the actions of 
the various Governments in Siberia with the announced 
objects of intervention. 

On August 8, 1918, the British made the following 
statement: 
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"We are coming as friends to help you save your­
self from dismemberment and destruction at the hands 
of Germany, which is trying to enslave you:r people 
and use the great resources of your country to its own 
ends. We wish to solemnly assure you that we shall not 
retain one foot of your territory. The destinies of 
Russia are in the hands of the Russian people. It is for 
them, and them alone, to decide their forms of Govern­
ment, and to find a solution for their social problems." 

I am unable to find any similar statement made by 
the French Government. 

On August 3, 1918, the United States made this an­
nouncement, relative to sending troops to Russia: 

"As the Government of the United States sees the 
present circumstances, therefore, military action is ad­
missable in Russia now, only to render such protection 
and help, as is possible to the Czecho-Slovaks, against 
the armed Austrian and German prisoners who are 
attacking them, and to steady any efforts at self-gov­
ernment or self-defense in which the Russians them­
selves may be willing to accept assistance. Whether 
from Vladivostok or from Murmansk and Arch­
angel, the only present object for which American 
troops will be employed, will be to guard Military 
stores which may subsequently be needed by Russian 
forces." 

The complete policy of the United States, which the 
troops were to follow, will be found in Chapter One. 

The Japanese also made an announcement on Au­
gust 3, I 9 I 8, in part, as follows : 
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" In adopting this course, ( interv~ntion) the .J apa­
nese Government remains constant m their desire to 
promote relations of en?uring friend~hip, and t~ey ~e­
affirm their avowed policy of respectmg the tern~onal 
integrity of Russia, and of abstaining from all mter­
ferences in her national politics." 

The Czecho-Slovak National Council at Washing­
ton made this statement on July 2 7, l 9 l 8 : 

" The Czecho-Slovak Army in Russia was created 
in order to fight the Germans and Au~trians, and when 
Russia deserted the cause of the Allies, arrangements 
were made by Profess~r T. G. M~saryk, president of 
the Czecho-Slovak N at10nal Council, and Commander­
in-Chief of the Czecho-Slovak forces with the Allied 
representatives in Russia, and also with the Bolshe­
viks to march the Czecho-Slovaks out of Russia and 
tak~ them to the Western front. It should. be kei:t 
clearly in mind that the occupation of Russian terri­
tory or the restoration of an Eastern Front was n~t 
thought of when these arrangements were made, m 
February, 1918. It was due to one of th~se ~erman 
blunders, like the one that brought Amenc:a mto ~he 
War that the Czecho-Slovaks, instead of withdrawmg 
frord Russia, are now in control of Siberia and a con­
siderable territory west of the Urals .. · · ~ week 
ago (July 20th), professor Masaryk received a 
lengthy cable report from the le~der of the Czecho­
Slovak forces in which the followmg words are found, 
indicative of the present desires of the :r;nen; ' In my 
opinion, it is most desirable an~ also possible to recon­
struct a Russia-Germany front m the East. We ask for 
instructions as to whether we should leave for France 
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or whether we should stay here to fight in Russia by 
the side of the Allies, and of Russia.' Professor Masa­
ryk has since then instructed the forces in Siberia to 
remain there for the present." 

All these statements are taken from Russian­
American Relations, 1917-1920, Documents and Pa­
pers. The complete statements will be found on pages 
243, 237, 239, and 235. The dates these statements 
were made should be kept in mind. 

In considering the British statement it will be ob­
served that they did not make a definite statement that 
they would not interfere in the internal affairs of Rus­
sia, but the statement was so worded as to give the im­
pression that their contemplated action in Russia was 
wholly altruistic. 

In the discussion of the causes for intervention, one 
must now realize that .one of the main reasons, if not 
the main reason, was carefully and designedly kept 
concealed. 

The Allies were much disturbed because the Soviets 
had extended their authority throughout Siberia long 
before the decision to intervene, and it is evident Eng­
land, France, and Japan went to Siberia with the dis­
tinct idea of fighting bolshevism but, for some reason, 
they tried to cover up this design by advocating the 
formation of an Eastern front, which they also hoped 
could be accomplished. It is very significant that all the 
Governments taking part in intervention in Siberia 
considered it unwise to let the world know that they 
intended to try to destroy the Soviets. Definite reasons 
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for concealing this objective are, generally speaking, 
still unrevealed to the public. 

In Russian-American Relations, under the heading, 
" Notes on Conversations held in the office of 
M. Pinchon, at the Quai d' Orsay, on January l 6, 
1919, page 285, appears: 

"Mr. Lloyd George stated that there seemed to be 
three possible policies, l. - Military intervention. It 
is true that the Bolshevik movement is as dangerous to 
civilization as German Militarism, but as to putting it 
down by the sword, is there any one who proposes it? 
If he now proposed to send a thousand British troops 
to Russia for that purpose, the armies would mutiny. 
The same applies to United States troops in Siberia; 
also the Canadians and the French as well." 

Mr. Lloyd George also said, at this same time: 
"Moreover, from information received, it ~ould 

appear that Kolchak had been collecting members of 
the old regime around him, and would seem to be at 
heart a monarchist." Kolchak had then been in power 
less than two months. 

With reference to this same discussion, on page 287, 
Mr. Wilson is reported as saying in reply to the ob­
servation of Mr~ Lloyd George: " He did not see how 
it was possible to controvert the statement of Mr. 
Lloyd George. . . . He did not believe that there 
would be sympathy anywhere, with the brutal aspect 
of bolshevism, if it were not for the fact of the domina­
tion of large vested interests in the political and eco­
nomic world. • • • " 
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President Wilson stated that he would not be sur­
prised to find that the reason why British and United 
States troops would not be ready to enter Russia to 
fight the Bolsheviks was explained by the fact that 
the troops were not at all sure that if they put down 
bolshevism, they would not bring about a reestablish­
ment of the ancient order. 

This was a remarkable statement for the President 
to have made, as the history of the United States does 
not disclose an incident where troops hesitated to obey 
the orders of the Government, regardless of their own 
personal views. 

These statements are very significant as to why no 
mention of Soviets or Bolsheviks were made when the 
announcements to the world were published in August, 
1918. 

As to the attitude of the British in Siberia, General 
Knox, who had more to do with shaping the British 
policy than any other Britisher, did not share the views 
of Lloyd George, but considered Kolchak a liberal Rus­
sian, and felt that after the British had put Kolchak in 
power as Supreme Ruler, bolshevism would soon dis­
appear. The definite statement, that the British put 
Kolchak in power, is based upon the following state­
ment of Mr. Winston Churchill in the House of Com­
mons, with reference to the Kolchak Government: 

" The British Government had called it into being, 
for our own aid, at a time when necessity demanded it." 

This statement, coupled with the action of the British 
troops in Omsk, the night the Directorate was over­
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thrown and Kolchak was announced" Supreme Ruler," 
seems indicative of British intent. 

General Knox had served in Russia as Military At­
tache during the Czarist regime. He could speak the 
Russian language, and undoubtedly thought he under­
stood the Russian people. He probably did understand 
the character and the peculiarities of the Russian Peo­
ple with whom he associated in Petrograd, but I can 
not believe he understood the aspirations of the great 
mass of the Russian people. If he had understood these 
people, he could not have thought, as he apparently 
did, that the Russian peasants and workmen would 
take up arms and fight to put in power the Kolchak 
supporters, who were committing such atrocities 
against the people to whom they looked for military 
support. General Knox expressed to me the thought 
that " the poor Russians were only swine." 

I, personally, never thought that Kolchak had any 
chance of establishing a Government in Siberia, but the 
belief of Knox and others like him, that the mass of 
the people were swine, and could be treated as such, 
hastened the downfall of Kolchak. 

General Knox was disillusioned by the time he left 
Siberia. He came to see me and said that he had com­
pletely failed, that he had done nothing for Russia, his 
own country or himself. He might have gone further 
and stated that, in addition to accomplishing nothing, 
he had brought the resentment of the great mass of 
Russians upon himself and his country. 

No Government engaging in intervention in Siberia 
could have escaped the resentment of the Russian peo-
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ple, but General Knox was so pronounced and so per­
sistent in his interference in their internal affairs that 
the resentment was stronger against him than it was 
against any other foreigner in Russia. 

It should be of record that all British representa­
tives had, by no means, the same ideas as to the situa­
tion in. Siberia as did Sir Charles Eliot and General 
Knox. When General Knox left, Colonel Wickham 
was, by virtue of seniority, in charge of the British 
Mission. In a few days he came to see me and told me 
he did not expect to last, as he was not willing to let 
his Government remain in ignorance of the real condi­
tion, and he had submitted a report, which he believed 
the British Government would not like, and he thought 
he would be relieved. He also told me that he had 
found, in his office, a report from a British officer, who 
was with Denikin, and this report showed that the con­
ditions under Denikin were similar to conditions in 
Siberia; that by changing names of places and indi­
viduals the atrocities committed in Siberia could be 
made to apply in the country dominated by Denikin. 

The French attitude in Siberia, as exemplified by 
General J anin, was identical, as far as I could see, with 
that of the British. 

The Czechs, as represented in Siberia, believed in a 
Parliamentary Government as opposed to an Abso­
lutist form of Government. Notwithstanding their 
democratic ideas, and their aversion to the treatment 
accorded by the Kolchak adherents to the masses, 
under the protection of the Czechs and other foreign 
troops, the Czech leaders were very desirous of work-
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ing in harmony with the Allies, because of gratitude 
for what the Allies had done for the Czech people. 

The statement of Dr. Girsa, Czech representative, 
in November, 1919, previously quoted in Chapter IX, 
expressed the real sentiment of the Czechs, as to the 
atrocities being committed against the mass of the Rus­
sian people, by a small fraction of the Russians. who 
were being protected against punishment for their of­
fenses, by foreign troops. When the Czechs, in May 
and June, 19 1 8, drove the Soviets out of the towns 
along the Trans-Siberian Railway, and established a 
Government in accordance with their views, they did 
not realize that they were taking part in a Russian 
conflict that was predestined to establish either an 
Autocratic Government or an extreme Socialistic Gov­
ernment in Russia. 

I certainly did not realize, and I imagine few for­
eigners did, how deep seated the factional feeling was 
in the Russian classes. We all knew there were many 
times the number of Bolsheviks in Siberia, at the down­
fall of Kolchak, as when we first went to Siberia. My 
Intelligence officer, after considering reports, from all 
parts of the Trans-Siberian Railway,. con:Iude~ the 
bolsheviks had increased ten fold. I thmk his estimate 
was very conservative. 

It is difficult to understand how Japan could make 
the solemn statement to the Russian people in August, 
1918, that they intended to refrain from all interfer­
ence in the internal politics of Russia, and then take 
action which I imagine no Japanese authority will now 
claim did not constitute interference in the internal 
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affairs of the Russian people. In fact, Baron Kato, 
head of the Japanese delegation to the Limitation of 
Arms Conference, in Washington, in l 92 l-22, offi­
cially stated that the Japanese, about the time the 
AIIied contingents were sent to Siberia in 1918, de­
cided to give Semeonoff material support in order to 
aid him in checking the Bolshevik influence from per­
meating the Far East. 

Baron Shidehara, a member of the Japanese dele­
gation to the Limitation of Arms Conference, offi­
cially said to the Conference : 

.".The Military expedition of Japan to Siberia was 
origmally undertaken in common accord and in co­
ope~ati~n with the United States in 1918. It was pri­
marily Intended to render assistance to the Czecho­
S!ov~k troops, who, in their homeward journey across 
Siberia from European Russia, found themselves in 
grave and pressing danger, at the hands of hostile 
forces under German command." 

The first official statement given out by the Japanese 
Government as to intervention in Siberia, was on 
August 3, 1918. 

The Czecho-Slovak National Council at Washing­
ton, D. C., on July 27, 1918, one week before the 
J a~anese and Americans decided to go to Siberia to 
relieve the Czechs, stated, as previously noted: 

"That ~he Czecho-~lovaks, instead of withdrawing 
from Russia, are now m control of Siberia and of con­
siderable territory West of the Urals." 
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As a matter of fact, the Czechs had taken control 
of the Trans-Siberian Railway, and most of the towns 
on this line and had definitely decided not to leave, 
TWO MONTHS BEFORE JAPAN AND THE UNITED STATES 

DECIDED TO GO TO THEIR RELIEF, AND HELP THEM TO 

GET OUT OF SIBERIA. 

This is established by the very complete stenographic 
report of Colonel Emerson, previously quoted, an? 
confirmed by Professor Masaryk's statement, as presi­
dent of the Czecho-Slovak National Council, that he 
had instructed the Czech " forces in Siberia to re­
main there for the present." These instructions were 
given in response to a. ca bl~ report ~rom the Czech 
leader in Siberia, received m Washmgton July 20, 

1918. . . 
In my judgement, the J apane~e, without. cessati?n, 

and in the most obnoxious way, mterfered m Russian 
affairs from the day I entered Siberia until the day I 
left. They did not deny supporting Ser:ieonoff and 
Kalmikoff, whose actions under the protect10n and sup­
port of Japan, were sure to. cause resentment _by the 
Siberian people, not only agamst Jap~n, but aga~nst _all 
other nations taking part in interventton. The Siberian 
people were sure to reason that the presence of foreign 
soldiers made it possible for the Cossacks to murder, 
beat, and rob men, women and children. They are sure 
to come to this conclusion, because the stubborn facts 
justify it. These facts have been, and may continue to 
be hidden from the American people, but they are not 
hidden from the Russian people. 

The acts of these Cossacks, and other Kolchak lead­
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ers under the protection of foreign troops, were the 
greatest asset to bolshevism that could have been de­
vised by man. The atrocities were of such a nature, that 
they are sure to be remembered by, and recounted to, 
th.e Russian people for fifty years after they were com­
m1 tted. 

. That the Japanese had some object in giving finan­
~1al, moral, material, and military aid to the Cossacks, 
is a self-evident fact. Their statement, made at the 
Limitation of Arms Conference, as to the objects to be 
attained by intervention in Siberia, is not convincing 
to one on the ground with the Japanese Military. All 
of those not in the inner circle as to the intention of 
the Japanese, of which I was one, expected Japan to 
have Semeonoff declare himself dictator of Siberia, 
east of Lake Baikal, in order to be in a position to con­
trol Eastern Siberia, without being charged with bad 
faith in failing to carry out her solemn assurance to 
the Ru.ssian p~ople, in August, l 9 l 8. The difficulty 
comes m dec1dmg why this action was not taken, as 
two or three times the fruit seemed ready for Japan 
to pluck: .I' of course, only saw the action of the Japa­
nese Military, and had no means of knowing if the 
Japanese Government approved the action of the Mili­
tary in Siberia, but the failure of the Japanese Mili­
ta~y t? complete their .apparent designs seemed to me 
to md1cate that somethmg interfered; whether the atti­
tude of their own government, ot others, including 
our own. 

The .Chi.nese troops in Siberia were very faithful to 
the obligations they assumed, attended strictly to their 
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own business and did not meddle in the affairs of other 
people. 

It is more difficult to come to a logical conclusion as 
to the reasons fo~ intervention in Siberia by the United 
States, than that of any other nation. I can come to a 
conclusion, satisfactory to myself, as to why other na­
tions took part, but have never been able to come to 
any satisfying conclusion as to why the United States 
ever engaged in such intervention. 

I must conclude that the reasons for intervention 
by the United States as given out on August 3, 1918, 
were not frank and complete, and my instructions, 
quoted in the first chapter, stated " Military action is 
admissible in Russia only to help the Czecho-Slovaks 
consolidate their forces and get into successful co­
operation with their Slavic kinsmen." This was dated 
July J7, 1918, but was not made known to me, or to 
the public, until August 3, 1918. 

It was known to Consul General Harris, in Siberia, 
and to Mr. DeWitt C. Poole, Consul General in Euro­
pean Russia, at least one month before I received my 
orders, that the Czechs were not in need of help; that 
they had taken the Trans-Siberian Railway an? had 
driven the Soviets out of the towns along the railroad 
and had organized new Governments for these towns; 
and that they did not intend to leave Siberia, as con­
firmed by the Czech National Council in Washington, 
at least one week before I was ordered to go to Si­
beria, for the purpose of their relief. It is difficult to 
believe that Professor Masaryk, who was head of the 
Czech National Council functioning in Washington, 
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was not consulted as to the move of the United States 
troops to go to the assistance of the Czechs in far­
away Siberia. 

Consul General Harris, in Irkutsk, notified Colonel 
Emerson that, on July 2, 19 I 8, he had received from 
the " Peking Legation," information that the Czechs 
were not go~ng to leave Siberia. This is very indefinite, 
when one tries to reach a specific responsible official. 

Mr. Harris did not say the information came from 
the American Legation, but as he considered it definite 
enough for him to take action, it must have come from 
someone in the American Legation in Peking, and I 
suppose this. information came from Washington, 
through Pekmg, because Mr. Harris could be more 
surely reached that way than through the American 
Ambassador to Russia, who was at that time at 
Vologda. 

It is known, from Colonel Emerson's report that 
t~e S_oviets had been trying to get the Czechs ~ut of 
~1bena for two months before I received my instruc­
trons, and that they would not go. The Soviets had 
offered to send officials with them, to see that they 
':ere not delayed in transit to Vladivostok. My instruc­
tion~ stated that there was immediate necessity for 
helpmg the Czechs. As has just been shown, this was 
an error, or a deliberate misrepresentation. Was it 
possible, that the facts about the Czechs were not 
known in Washington, when my instructions were 
prepared? 

The United States had Consular representatives in 
Siberia at the time. Consul General Harris was in 
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Irkutsk, and to the west, in order to see about aiding 
the Czechs to get out of Siberia, and knew well, before 
my instructions were issued, that the Czechs were not 
going to leave and were not in need of help. N atu­
rally one wonders if the facts were reported by the 
United States representatives and ignored in Wash­
ington, or were my instructions based upon the propa­
ganda relative to the Czechs, and without any informa­
tion from the consular representatives in Siberia? It 
has been established that the Czechs had possession of 
all the Trans-Siberian Railway, and if the condition of 
the Czechs, still in European Russia, demanded relief, 
such a situation could have no bearing on my instruc­
tions, as I was directed not to go west of Irkutsk, un­
der any circumstances. 

The United States was led to believe that the So­
viets had released the German and Austrian prisoners, 
who were confined in Siberia, which was not a fact as 
shown by reports of United States representatives, 
who were sent to make an investigation of these re­
ports, as well as by subsequent information which has 
come to light. 

The Americans were also sent to guard the military 
stores, that might be needed in future by the Russian 

. forces, but the lack of cooperation by the various rep­
resentatives in Siberia made it impossible to accomplish 
much in this respect. 

The only part of the original policy remaining was 
" to steady any efforts at self-government or self-de­
fense in which the Russians themselves may be willing 
to accept assistance." This was the peg upon which 
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the State Department hung its complaint by Mr. 
Poole, through General Churchill, that I failed to com­
ply with this part of my order, because I did not help 
" steady " Kolchak. ' 

It seems to me very evident that it was never con­
templated by the War Department that the Military 
should pick out a faction of the Russians, and extend 
help to that faction without any decision in Washing­
ton as to the desirability of helping that particular 
faction. In any case the War Department looked upon 
my instructions as I did. 

I can not escape the conviction that Mr. Poole, in 
Washington, and Mr. Harris, in Siberia, both State 
Department officials, were very anxious for me to use 
American troops in fighting Bolsheviks. Mr. Poole had 
been Consul General in Archangel before going to 
Washington, and had seen American troops so used. 
I also believe these two officials, by criticism and by 
suggestion, hoped I would use American troops as they 
wished them used, rather than as ordered by the Secre­
tary of War. 

The different policies of the various representatives 
in Siberia was reflected in the attitude towards propo­
sitions coming before the Allied Commanders. It was 
noticeable that, when differences occurred, the English, 
French, and Japanese Commanders, almost without 
exception, were in accord on one side, and the Ameri­
can, Chinese, Canadians, Czechs, and Italians were 
on the other side. 

The United States troops tried, very conscientiously, 
to carry out the policy of avoiding the conflicts between 
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the Russian factions, and this could be done until the 
Military was ordered to guard the railroads, which 
made it necessary for them to take sides, as the rail­
roads were, in practice, operated by Kolchak adherents 
for the specific benefit of the Kolchak forces. 

I was the agent for delivering arms and ammuni­
tion to Kolchak, for use by his fighting forces, the 
President having, on June 12, 1919, agreed to help 
Kolchak with "munitions, supplies, and food." I could 
not reconcile these acts with the principle of non­
interference with the internal affairs of the Russian 
people. Although the State Department seemed able 
to do so, as on November 7, 1919, after the munitions, 
at least, had been given to Kolchak, it stated: 

" This Government does not propose to depart in 
any way from its principles of non-interference in Rus­
sian internal affairs." 

I doubt if any unbiased person would ever hold 
that the United States did not interfere in the internal 
affairs of Russia. By this interference, the United 
States helped to bolster up, by its military forces, a 
monarchistically inclined and unpopular Government, 
of which the great mass of the people did not approve. 
The United States gained, by this act, the resentment 
of more than ninety per cent of the people of Siberia. 

It was known in the Far East that there was a dis­
tinct difference in the policy of the American troops 
from the policy of the troops of other nations, and 
I believe all Russians, except the autocratic class, were 
very grateful to the United States for their efforts to 
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a void taking sides by the Military in their internal 
conflicts. 

To the great mass of Russians who had no personal 
knowledge of the situation in Siberia, the fact and 
circumstances of intervention will dominate and ob­
scure every specific act connected with the intervention, 
and the resulting obloquy will fall almost equally upon 
all nations taking part. 

What was the justification, in international law, 
for this intervention? There was no question as 
to the protection of life or property of American 
citizens involved, nor was there any prospect of future 
damage to American life or property, nor can the 
United States plead the act of intervention was a war 
measure, as it definitely refused to look upon it as 
such. 

I doubt if history will record, in the past century, 
a more flagrant case of flouting the well-known and 
approved practice of States in their international re~ 
lations, and using instead of the accepted principles 
of international law, the principle of Might makes 
right. 

I think it can not be refuted that there were no 
beneficial results flowing from intervention in Russia, 
so far as all foreigners are concerned, and it un­
doubtedly resulted ,in placing the mass of Russians even 
more solidly behind the Soviets. This is shown by the 
promptness with which the Siberian people accepted the 
Moscow Government, after the departure of the Allies. 
I realize it was very hard to learn the real sentiment 
of the people, under the conditions I faced in Siberia, 

[ 348] 

THE DEBACLE 

but subsequent events have indicated that they were 
really socialistic. 

For a few months after I arrived in Siberia, I 
thought if England, France, Japan, the United States, 
and the Czechs could whole-heartedly get behind a 
more liberal Government, such as the All Russian 
Provisional Government, overthrown on November I 8, 
I 9 I 8, principally by the British because it was too 
liberal for them, it would have had a chance to succeed. 
This opinion was formed, after talking to many Rus­
sians, of different shades of political thought, but I 
gradually came to the conclusion that the mass of the 
Russians had a stronger conviction, as to the kind of 
Government Russia needed, than I first realized. 

It is human nature, and therefore a self-evident fact, 
that no Government can add to its strength from its 
people, while being held in power by foreign bayonets. 
Kolchak realized this, as I heard him tell Mr. Morris 
that he did not want foreigners to fight for him, as 
the Russian character was such that the Russians 
would desert him if he received active military sup­
port from foreigners. This is not a characteristic of 
Russians alone, it is characteristic of all Nationals. 

The fact that the Kerensky Government, a liberal 
and partly socialistic Government, could stand only 
eight months, clearly indicated that the Russians were 
foreordained to have an Autocratic or an extreme so­
cialistic Government, and by the time I left Siberia, 
April 1, 1920, I was convinced that Russia was des­
tined for one or the other. 

The complete collapse of the efforts of Kolchak, 
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Denikin, Yudenich, and Wrangle did not look as if 
the Russian people favoured Autocra,cy. 

Situated as I was, I could not determine how much 
the foolish acts of the supporters of Kolchak influenced 
the mass of the people against him, but it is interest­
ing to study the conclusions of the different writers 
on Siberian intervention, as to the results of inter­
vention. 

Dr. Schuman, in his "American Policy towards 
Russia, Since I 9 l 7," on page l 7 l says: " The Ameri­
can ~xpedition to Siberia failed as completely and in­
gloriously as the force sent to Archangel to achieve 
the purpose for which it was intended." 

Dr. Schuman further states: 

"Military intervention was undertaken under the 
guise of rescuing the Czecho-Slovaks, and assisting 
Russian efforts at self-government." 

I take this to mean that Dr. Schuman charges the 
United States with lack of sincerity in announcing the 
reasons for intervention, and I have come to the same 
conclusion. 

Dr. Schuman again says: 

" An attempt has been made to overthrow the Soviet 
Republic, under the appearance of guarding railways 
and extending economic assistance to Siberia." 

The results of guarding the railways justified Dr. 
Schuman's conclusions but I do not believe the United 
States, as represented by Ambassador Roland S. Mor­
ris, had in mind the overthrow of the Soviet Re-
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public. when he negotiated the Railway Agre.ement. 
He hoped and expected this Agreement to bring re­
lief to the long-suffering Russian people. I personally 
did not anticipate that the Kolchak adherents wo~ld 
oppose extending assistance to the people as they di~, 
and I do not believe Mr. Morris expected the Rail­
way Agreement to be used for the benefit of the Kol­
chak adherents only. 

Mr. Louis Fisher in his " The Soviets in World 
Affairs," Vol. I, page 228, states: 

" American intervention in Siberia, was a fruitless, 
dismal tragedy-comedy. Similarly in North Russia." 

Both Dr. Schuman and Mr. Fisher fail to make it 
clear whether they consider the failure was due to 
the policy of the Governn:ent, or .to the f~ilure o.f the 
United States representatives takmg part in the inter­
vention, but the " dismal tragedy-comedy " was enact~d 
the' moment the United States agreed to take part in 
military intervention in Siberia. . . . , 

Despite the fiction of charactenzin? Amenca s role 
as " Military Action," the fact remains th~t such ~c­
tion was intervention and as such was a deliberate in­
terference in the internal affairs of the Russian people 
prolonging the Civil War and entailing untold loss of 
life and property. 

With reference to the British reaction to inter­
vention, Dr. Straikhovsky, Department of History, 
Georgetown University, in an article published in Cur­
rent History, March, 1931, says: 
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" There need be no surprise, then, that the special 
report of the committee to collect information on Rus­
sia, presented to Parliament, by command of the King, 
should contain the following bitter but frank feeling in 
1920-21; 'With regards to the efforts of intervention, 
the abundant and almost unanimous testimony of our 
witnesses shows that the Military intervention of the 
Allies in Russia, assisted to give strength and cohesion 
to the Soviet Government. . . . There is evidence to 
show that up to the time of Military Intervention, the 
majority of the Russian intellectuals were well dis­
posed towards the Allies, and more especially to Great 
Britain, but that the later attitude of the Russian peo­
ple towards the Allies, became characterized by indif­
ference, distrust and antipathy.' Such was the reward 
that Great Britain and France received for their ac­
tivity in Russia." 

As indicating the Japanese view, as to results of 
intervention, I take the views of Mr. K. K. Kawakami, 
a Japanese journalist of many years experience. In his 
book, " Japan's Pacific Policy," page 244, he writes: 

"Of course Japan blundered most, but the United 
States and Great Britain are not free from mistakes. 
... Japan's primary purpose, in the Siberian expedi­
tion, was to oppose the spread of Bolshevism and to 
restore law and order, and she had consistently pur­
sued that policy." 

Mr. Kawakami has a diff~rent idea from most of us; 
as to what constitutes law and order. It was customary 
in Siberia, for the British and the Japanese to refer to 
the Russians they were supporting as the forces of 
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law and order. This designation was not justified by 
the facts and they more nearly represented the forces 
of lawlessness and disorder. 

Mr. Kawakami further says on page 250: 

" From the beginning, the American idea of the 
Siberian undertaking was different from that of the 
Japanese. The Americans belie.v~d that t?~Y had noth­
ing to do with the internal poh.tica~ condit10ns of Rus­
sia and that they were not m Siberia to attack Bolshe­
vism or the Bolsheviki. On the contrary, the Japanese 
soldiers believed, or were made to believe, that the 
Bolsheviki were their enemies and that they were sent 
to Siberia to combat Bolshevism. On the whole the 
American attitude was wise and right." 

On page 236 Mr. Kawakami states: 

"The Siberian expedition has been a great fiasco, 
for which all the Allied Nations must be blamed. It 
was a great mistake to send any expedition a.t .all. 
America should have stood firm upon her original 
stand, refusing to subscribe to any idea of i~terv:ntio?. 
When the American Government changed its mmd, m 
the summer of l 9 l 8, it committed a most deplorable 
blunder. Of course England blundered just .a~ badly. as 
Japan and the United States. It w~s British policy 
which set up the Kolchak government m Oms~. To fur­
ther that policy, Britain supplied Kolchak with money 
and munitions." 

I can entirely agree with Mr. Kawakami in his state­
ments, just quoted. The action of foreign representa-
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tives was not always entirely unselfish ancl free from 
an anticipated future advantage. 

Undoubtedly the British expected special considera­
tions, if Kolchak succeeded in establishing a Russian 
Government, while Japan hoped to be the dominant 
power with any Government established in Siberia, as 
was shown by their attitude towards Kolchak for some 
time after he assumed power. 

There seems to be no difference of opinion, that in­
tervention was a fundamental error, and the only 
possible benefit that can accrue to any of the Allied 
nations, or to the United States, must come from the 
realization that there was an inexcusable departure 
from the generally accepted practic'e of nations in their 
dealings with other nations, and the results have not 
fallen far short of being disastrous. 

I was in command of the United States troops sent 
to Siberia and, I must admit, I do not know what the 
United States was trying to accomplish by military 
intervention. 

As has been clearly shown, one must discard the 
statements of the United States, in August, l 9 l 8, that 
troops were being sent to rescue the Czechs from the 
German and Austrian prisoners, who were reported as 
having been released from prisons, and were organiz­
ing with the object of getting the military supplies 
at Vladivostok, taking the Trans-Siberian Railroads, 
~nd sending the supplies to Germany. These reports 
were untrue. Ma jar Drysdale, U. S. Army, from 
Peking, and Mr. Webster from Moscow, were sent 
to investigate and ascertain if these reports were 
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true, and had reported they had no foundation m 
fact. 

Dr. Schuman, as previously stated, concludes: 

" War had been waged under the pretext of show­
ing the Russian people the path to peace and Democ­
racy. An attempt had been made to overth~ow t~e 
Soviet Republic under the appearance of guarding rail­
ways and extending economic assistance to Siberia." 

The action of the State Department representatives 
in helping Kolchak, whose sole object was the destruc­
tion of the Soviets, justifies the conclusion that the 
United States was a party to the efforts to overthrow 
the Soviets, as Kolchak was unquestionably fighting 
them. 

The agreement entered into by President Wilson 
and the Allies on June 12, 1919, "To assist the gov­
ernment of Admiral Kolchak, with munitions, supplies 
and food, to establish themselves as the government 
of all Russia " also justifies this conclusion. 

It will be noted that President Wilson does not 
agree that United States troops would be used to help 
Kolchak destroy the Soviets. In substantiation of the 
belief that President Wilson did not intend to use 
United States troops to help Kolchak, he stated on 
June 26, 1919, just two weeks after he agreed to help 
him with munitions, supplies, and food, in reply to a 
Senate resolution: 

"The instructions to General Graves direct him not 
to interfere in Russian affairs." 
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There is no question the War Department construed 
the American policy in Russia, which constituted my 
orders, as meaning that the American troops were not 
to take sides in the internal conflicts, as is shown by 
the cable from General March, Chief of Staff, on 
March 28, r9r9, telling me to follow the policy of 
non-interference, which I had been following, until 
my instructions had been changed by the President, 
which was never done. 

It is my personal belief that this policy was fol­
lowed because no other course could be adopted with­
out the Executive running counter to the provisions 
of the Constitution of the United States, by making 
war without a declaration by Congress. 

If the American troops were not to be used in sup­
port of the policy followed by the State Department, 
why were they sent to Siberia? If the United States 
had been deceived, as to the menace from German and 
Austrian prisoners, and had sent troops to Siberia to 
block this menace, why were they not sent home after 
the Armistice, instead of being kept in Siberia with 
nothing to do from November, r9r8, to April, r9r9, 
the date of the Railway Agreement? 

The absence of information from the United States 
and the Allied Governments, about military interven­
tion in Russia, indicates that the various Governments 
taking part in the intervention take very little pride 
in this venture. 

Who can blame them? 
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